METRIC-AFFINE GAUGE THEORY OF GRAVITY: FIELD EQUATIONS, NOETHER IDENTITIES, WORLD SPINORS, AND BREAKING OF DILATION INVARIANCE

Friedrich W. HEHL^{*}, J. Dermott McCREA^b, Eckehard W. MIELKE^{*}, Yuval NE'EMAN^{c, d}

 ^a Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Cologne, D-50923 Köln, Germany
 ^b Department of Mathematical Physics, University College and Dublin Institute for Advanced Studies, Dublin 4, Ireland
 ^c Wolfson Chair Extraordinary in Theoretical Physics, Raymond and Beverley Sackler Faculty of Exact Sciences, Tel-Aviv University, Tel-Aviv 69978, Israel
 ^d Center for Particle Theory, University of Texas, Austin, Texas 78712, USA



AMSTERDAM -- LAUSANNE -- NEW YORK -- OXFORD -- SHANNON -- TOKYO

ELSEVIER

Physics Reports 258 (1995) 1-171

PHYSICS REPORTS

Metric-affine gauge theory of gravity: field equations, Noether identities, world spinors, and breaking of dilation invariance *

Friedrich W. Hehl^a, J. Dermott McCrea^b, Eckehard W. Mielke^a, Yuval Ne'eman^{c,d}

^a Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Cologne, D-50923 Köln, Germany

^b Department of Mathematical Physics, University College and Dublin Institute for Advanced Studies, Dublin 4, Ireland

⁶ Wolfson Chair Extraordinary in Theoretical Physics. Raymond and Beverley Sackler Faculty of Exact Sciences, Tel-Aviv University, Tel-Aviv 69978, Israel

^d Center for Particle Theory, University of Texas, Austin, Texas 78712, USA

Received November 1994; editor: R. Slansky

Contents:

1.	Deformable spacetime structures in physics		5
	1.1.	Introduction: The need to go beyond	
		Riemannian manifolds	5
	i.2.	Spacetime as a continuum with	
		microstructure	5
	1.3.	Hadrons as extended structures - effective	
		'strong gravity'	6
	1.4.	The early universe (cosmogony)	7
	1.5.	Organization of the paper and notation	8
2.	Mot	ivation: search for quantum gravity	9
	2.1.	No Einstein theory at quantum level	
		perturbatively	9
	2.2.	Dimensional analysis and renormalizability	
		of Yang-Mills gauge theories	10
	2.3.	Dimensions in Einstein's GR and in	
		Poincaré gravity; the gauge field of	
		translations	- 11
	2.4.	The groups gauged in gravity	12
	2.5.	Gravity theories with a 'dynamically	
		truncated' gauging of the Poincaré group	13

2.6. Unitarity violation in a gauge theory with			
quadratic Lorentz curvature	14		
2.7. Metric-affine gauge theories: gauging the			
A(4, R) and relaxing the constraint of			
metricity	15		
2.8. Supergravity and renormalizability?	16		
2.9. Quantum superstring?	18		
3. Geometry			
3.1. Rigid affine group $A(n, R)$ and its			
Lie-algebra	19		
3.2. Affine gauge approach	21		
3.3. Reduction to the metric-affine framework	24		
3.4. Differentiable manifold M_n , frames, and			
coframes	25		
3.5. Connection, exterior covariant derivative,			
torsion and curvature	26		
3.6. Affine gauge transformations versus active			
diffeomorphisms	31		
3.7. Metric	32		
3.8. Nonmetricity	35		
3.9. Bianchi identities and Chern-Simons terms	- 36		

^{*} Supported by the German-Israeli Foundation for Scientific Research and Development (GIF), Jerusalem and Munich, contract no. I-52-212.07/87.

	3.10.Decomposing the linear connection into		
	Riemannian and post-Riemannian pieces	39	
	3.11.Deformation of a connection	40	
	3.12. Volume-preserving connection	43	
	3.13.Local scale transformations	44	
	3.14.Conformal changes in an (L_n, g)	45	
	3.15.Orthonormal, holonomic, conformal, and		
	pure gauges	47	
4.	Matter fields: manifields and world spinors	49	
	4.1. Existence of a double covering of the		
	special linear group	49	
	4.2. The deunitarizing automorphism A:		
	covariance and equivalence as algebraic		
	constraints	51	
	4.3. Manifields and some of their applications	54	
	4.4. World spinors and world infinitensors, new		
	concepts in field theory	59	
	4.5. Manifield equations	61	
	4.6. Manibeins	63	
	4.7. Conformal properties of world spinor		
	densities	65	
5.	Lagrange-Noether machinery	67	
	5.1. The external currents of a matter field	67	
	5.2. Noether identities for material energy-		
	momentum and hypermomentum	71	
	5.3. Decomposition of the Noether identities	- 75	
	5.4. Gauge field momenta and Noether identities		
	for the gauge Lagrangian	77	
	5.5. Metric-affine field equations	79	
	5.6. Belinfante-Rosenfeld relation via change of		
	variables	81	
	5.7. Energy-momentum and hypermomentum		
	complexes	83	
	5.8. Variational principle with constraints	87	
	5.9. Teleparallelism	91	
	5.10.Ashtekar type complex field momenta		
	generated by Chern-Simons terms	93	
6,	Dynamics	94	

6.1. Conformal gravity: quadratic model	
Lagrangians	94
6.2. Coupling to the dilaton	98
6.3. Improved energy-momentum current	100
6.4. Breaking of the dilation symmetry: induced	
Einsteinian gravity	101
6.5. Triggering spontaneous symmetry	
breakdown of $\overline{SL}(4, R)$	104
6.6. Extended inflation	107
6.7. Cosmic strings with non-trivial Weyl vector	
or with torsion?	ш
Appendix A. Differential geometric formalism	113
A.I. Exterior calculus on the 'bare' manifold	
Mn	113
A.2. Derivatives of the bases in a linearly	
connected manifold	119
A.3. Euler four-form and generalized	
Bach-Lanczos identity	120
Appendix B. Irreducible decompositions	121
B.1. Irreducible decomposition of nonmetricity	121
B.2. Irreducible decomposition of torsion	122
B.3. Irreducible decomposition of curvature in	
an La	125
B.4. Irreducible decomposition of curvature in	
an (L_n, g)	126
B.5. Irreducible decompositions of the zeroth	
and first Bianchi identities	129
B.6. Irreducible decomposition of the second	
Bianchí identity	131
Appendix C. Group representations	135
C.1. Unirreps of the $\overline{SL}(2, R)$	135
C.2. Unirreps of the $\overline{SL}(3, R)$	137
C.3. Unirreps of the $\overline{SL}(4, R)$	138
C.4. Casimir invariants of the $SA(n, R)$	141
C.5. Classification of the unirreps of the	
$\overline{SA}(4,R)$	143
C.6. Induced representations of the $\overline{SA}(n, R)$	145
References	147

Abstract

In Einstein's gravitational theory, the spacetime is Riemannian, that is, it has vanishing torsion and vanishing nonmetricity (covariant derivative of the metric). In the gauging of the general affine group A(4, R) and of its subgroup GL(4, R) in four dimensions, energy-momentum and hypermomentum currents of matter are canonically coupled to the coframe and to the connection of a metric-affine spacetime with nonvanishing torsion and nonmetricity, respectively. Fermionic matter can be described in this framework by half-integer representations of the $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ covering subgroup. We set up a (first-order) Lagrangian formalism and build up the corresponding Noether machinery. For an arbitrary gauge Lagrangian, the three gauge field equations come out in a suggestive Yang-Mills like form. The conservation-type differential identities for energy-momentum and hypermomentum and the corresponding complexes and superpotentials are derived. Limiting cases such as the Einstein-Cartan theory are discussed. In particular we show, how the A(4, R) may "break down" to the Poincaré (inhomogeneous Lorentz) group. In this context, we present explicit models for a symmetry breakdown in the cases of the Weyl (or homothetic) group, the SL(4, R), or the GL(4, R).

This article is dedicated to the memory of Rev. Dr. J. Dermott McCrea, OFM, who passed away on 21 May 1993. We lost a dear friend and an esteemed colleague whom we closely collaborated with since the early eighties.

1. Deformable spacetime structures in physics

1.1. Introduction: The need to go beyond Riemannian manifolds

A number of developments in physics in recent years have evoked the possibility that the treatment of spacetime might involve more than just the Riemannian spacetime V_4 of Einstein's general relativity:

- (1) The vain effort so far to *quantize gravity* is, perhaps, the strongest piece of evidence for going beyond a geometry which is dominated by the classical distance concept.
- (2) The generalization of the three-dimensional theory of elastic *continua with microstructure* to the four-dimensional spacetime of gravity suggests, in a rather convincing manner, physical interpretations for the newly emerging structures in post-Riemannian spacetime geometry.
- (3) The description of hadron (or nuclear) matter in terms of *extended structures*: In particular, the quadrupole pulsation rates of that matter and, in a rest frame, their relation to representations of the volume-preserving three-dimensional linear group SL(3, R) with the rotation group SO(3) as subgroup have been established experimentally.
- (4) The study of the *early universe* in the light of the various theorems about a singular origin, the ideas about unification of the fundamental interactions (mostly involving additional dimensions, later compactified) and inflationary models with dilaton-induced Weyl covector

... and each of these developments necessitates the study of dynamical theories involving post-Riemannian geometries, whether in the context of local field theories or within the framework of string theories. We explain the interest in continua with microstructure, in extended structures, and the problematics of the early universe – as far as these are relevant as motivations for a relaxation of the Riemannian constraint in gravity – in the rest of this chapter, leaving the rather involved issue of quantum gravity to section 2.

The smallest departure from a V_4 would consist in admitting *torsion*, the field strength of local translations, arriving thereby at a Riemann-Cartan spacetime U_4 and, furthermore, *nonmetricity*, resulting in a *metric-affine* (L_4, g) spacetime [275]. In what follows, starting with section 3, we will deal with the geometry of spacetime, the Euler-Lagrange field equations, the Noether identities generalizing flat conservation laws, the conformal properties, and with a specific model of spontaneous symmetry breakdown – and all this in the framework of such metric-affine spacetimes. For reasons that will become clear in the sequel, we study in particular spacetime models arising from a Weyl/Yang-Mills-like gauge theory approach to gravity.

1.2. Spacetime as a continuum with microstructure

In Einstein's general relativity theory (GR), the linear connection of its Riemannian spacetime is (i) metric(-compatible), that is, the length and angle measurements are integrable, and (ii) symmetric. The symmetry of the Riemannian (or Levi-Civita) connection translates into the closure of infinitesimally small parallelograms, that is, in spaces with an asymmetric connection such parallelograms could carry a closure failure. Already the transition from the flat gravity-free Minkowski spacetime to the Riemannian spacetime in Einstein's theory can locally be understood as a *deformation* process. A strain tensor ε_{AB} in continuum mechanics [385] measures by its very definition $\varepsilon_{AB} := (\frac{defor}{g_{AB}} - \frac{undef}{g_{AB}})/2$ the change of the metric between the undeformed and the deformed state.

Thus, because of the pairing of stress and strain, it does not come as a surprize that in GR, according to Hilbert's definition, the *stress*-energy-momentum tensor couples the Lagrangian to the *metric*.

The lifting of the constraints of metric-compatibility and symmetry yields nonmetricity and torsion, respectively. The continuum under consideration, here classical spacetime, is thereby assumed to have a non-trivial microstructure, similar to that of a liquid crystal or a dislocated metal or the like. In particular, to drop the metricity condition, i.e. to allow for nonmetricity $Q_{\alpha\beta} := -Dg_{\alpha\beta} \neq 0$, and to "touch" thereby the lightcone, if parallelly displaced, is classically a step of unusual boldness, but may be unavoidable in quantum gravity. It is gratifying, though, to have the geometrical concepts of nonmetricity and torsion already arising in the (three-dimensional) continuum theory of lattice defects – and there they have concrete interpretations as densities of point defects and line defects (dislocations), respectively, cf. [373,375]. But even more, certain types of "hyperstress" are induced by these post-Riemannian structures: Double-stress without moment relates to nonmetricity, spin moment stress to torsion.¹

Just as ordinary stress is the analogue of the (Hilbert) energy-momentum density, hyperstress finds its field-theoretical image in the density of hypermomentum which consists of

spin current \oplus dilation current \oplus shear current. (1.2.1)

And these currents ought to couple to the corresponding post-Riemannian structures, a hypothesis which brought the metric-affine gravity theory under way in the first place [277,278].

According to Sakharov [584,585], gravitation represents a "metrical elasticity" of space which is brought about by quantum fluctuations of the vacuum. Here we pursue this analogy with continuum mechanics much further and introduce additional nonmetric and torsional degrees of freedom into spacetime, but, we believe, it is done in the same spirit.

1.3. Hadrons as extended structures - effective 'strong gravity'

With the discovery of a spatial spread for the hadrons – first in experiments measuring the electromagnetic form factors, then in the identification of the baryons with an SU(3) octet (rather than with the fundamental representation of the group, as in the Sakata model) and the conception of quarks as constituents – it became important to describe the dynamics and kinematics of quantum extended structures (extendons). The 1965 work dealt with three-dimensional vibrating and rotating "lumps" [167]. Then came dual models [699] and their reinterpretation as a quantum string [475,663], a one-dimensional extendon. It was later understood as an "effective" description of QCD flux tubes, extending between point-quarks [517].

Extendons can be deformed, and thus represent affine geometries in themselves. Hadron excitations show up as Regge trajectories, and the massive states fit $\overline{SL}(3, R)$ representations – as would indeed be expected from the pulsations of a (consider it as an approximation) fixed-volume three-extendon

¹ There exists an extended literature on continua with microstructure, see, for example, Ericksen [186], Jaunzemis [319], Mindlin [462], and Nye [527]. Kröner's articles (372-376,281] on lattice defects are particularly illuminating, since they relate differential geometric notions to distributions of lattice defects. His article on the lattice interpretation of nonmetricity [376] seems remarkable; however, no use of it has been made so far. The gauge-theoretical point of view is stressed by Kleinert [352]. The analogies between three-and four-dimensional continua with microstructure have been particularly worked out in [246,267,291,437]. In [274] the dislocation as a model for torsion and its similarity to spacetime structures in the Einstein-Cartan theory of gravity has been emphasized; for a recent development, see [678].

[167]. The quantum d-extendon involves covariance of a (d + 1) manifold (e.g. the world-sheet for the string), the extendon's time evolution. This resembles gravity, involves gauging geometrical groups, and often reproduces the same equations that were derived in the pursuit of quantum gravity.

It is thus not surprising that "effective strong-gravity" theories, in which the Planck length l is replaced by the Compton wavelength of the proton, were derived in the same context. One such example [292] with a confining Pöschl-Teller type potential [447] in the effective radial Schrödinger equation arose in the Poincaré gauge theory and its generalization to SL(6, C) flavor models of Salam et al. [587,588,443]. By including the SU(3) color group of QCD, one ends up with the $SL(6, C)^f \otimes SL(6, C)^c$ model of color geometrodynamics [445,447]. Another such treatment has used affine manifolds [490,498]. In these models, "low energy" means "hadron energies", i.e. 1-100 GeV. The slope of the trajectories is of the order of 1 GeV, as against the 10¹⁹ GeV of the theories we mentioned in section 1.1 above.

In a recent version of this approach, "chromogravity" [499,501,629,631] is derived from QCD itself, as an "effective" theory. A gravitation-like component is identified in the infrared limit of QCD, its contribution providing for color confinement, for the systematics of the excitations in the hadron spectrum (Regge sequences), and for the forces of longer-range responsible for the nuclear excitation spectrum. This QCD-generated graviton-like component is the analog of van der Waals forces in molecules, where a J = 2 combination of two photons is exchanged between atoms; in QCD, a J = 2-mediated zero-color component, plus all higher spin zero-color combinations of QCD gluons, make up this pseudo-gravitational component. The emergence of a J = 2 contribution from a J = 1 force (QCD) in higher orders is similar to the generation of two open strings – an open string corresponding in the massless sector to a J = 1-mediated force.

1.4. The early universe (cosmogony)

Already in the seventies, various theorems implied that, with a cosmology based on Riemannian geometry, the universe was forced either to have come out of a singularity – or, inevitably, to fall into one in the future. The simplest way of avoiding such a result is to assume that in the distant past – or the distant future – the geometry is not Riemannian.

In the late seventies and in the eighties, the same conclusion emerged from the new studies of the early universe connected with gauge unification theories² (GUT) [541] and their supersymmetric extensions – later replaced by unification and superunification as derived from the quantum superstring. In these theories the early universe has additional dimensions (and superdimensions). It is assumed that these extra dimensions spontaneously compactify, leaving internal symmetries as residual effects in the final four-dimensional spacetime, cf. [711]. The symmetries that we have identified phenomenologically include those of the $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$ group of the standard model embedded within higher rank groups such as E(6) or SU(5). All of this implies geometries ranging from Kähler and Calabi-Yau to affine manifolds.

² Although the initials GUT were originally taken to mean Grand Unified Theories, it was later agreed (1979 HEPAP Conference) to read them as Gauge Unification Theories, in order to leave room, as might be needed, for 'grander' theories some day.

The eighties also ushered in *inflationary cosmology* [251,395,7], a new conception of the very early universe, now from the point of view of cosmology itself, rather than particle physics (though it does affect it too). In the more advanced "extended" models [382] one finds it necessary to abandon the Riemannian constraints [651], at the very least replacing Einstein's geometry by Weyl's. We deal with this situation in an example in section 6.

1.5. Organization of the paper and notation

In section 2 we take a tour d'horizon around quantum gravity. We mention the main open questions and unsolved problems.

In section 3 we show how, by starting with the affine group A(n, R) and its Yang-Mills type gauging, we eventually arrive at a metric-affine geometry of spacetime, the structures and properties of which we explicate in the rest of this chapter. In particular, the potentials emerging from the affine connection are the coframe and the linear connection. The latter is decomposed into Riemannian and post-Riemannian pieces, and the interrelations of the Chern-Simons terms to the Bianchi identities are exhibited. The rules of exterior calculus we defer to appendix A and the irreducible decompositions of nonmetricity, torsion, curvature, and of the Bianchi identities to appendix B. All this is more or less traditional wisdom. However, we emphasize the post-Riemannian structures, such as the nonmetricity, the Weyl one-form, and the volume-preserving piece of the connection, within a coherent geometrical framework.

In section 4 the question is answered of how one can present especially *fermionic* matter in such a metric-affine spacetime. The results of this chapter are fairly new and have been found during the last 15 years or so by one of us (Y.N.) and his collaborators. World spinors are defined and their conformal properties studied. Technical details of the unitary irreducible representations of the $\overline{SA}(4, R)$ and the corresponding subgroups are collected in appendix C.

Having now a spacetime arena available and matter fields 'moving' therein, we can build up a Lagrangian of this gravitationally interacting matter system and an action function as well. This is done in section 5 in the conventional way. We postulate affine gauge invariance and switch on the Lagrange-Noether machinery. Besides the conventional canonical energy-momentum current, we define, generalizing the spin current, a hypermomentum current that is coupled to the linear connection, i.e. to the new gravitational potential of spacetime.

The Noether identities (5.2.10), (5.2.16) and the general form of the gravitational field equations (5.5.3), (5.5.4), (5.5.5) are derived. We discuss the Belinfante-Rosenfeld symmetrization of the energy-momentum current and study different limiting cases of the gravitational field equations by means of the Lagrange multiplier technique. Finally Astekhar type complex variables are generated by means of a metric-affine Chern-Simons term in the gauge Lagrangian. Whereas most of the material of this chapter appeared before, we claim some originality as to the *completeness* and the *rigor* of our presentation.

Up to including section 5, *no* gravitational gauge Lagrangian is specified explicitly. Thus we provided a 'kinematical' framework for metric-affine gauge gravity which has to be filled with physical life. This is done in section 6 in a preliminary way. Conformally invariant gravitational gauge Lagrangians, including dilaton fields, are studied and compared to alternative approaches in the literature. Various schemes of symmetry reduction from the linear to the Lorentz group are given explicitly. The physically relevant procedure is one of the main open problems. We believe, however,

that the solution of exactly this problem is indispensable for future progress in gravity. Moreover, we discuss generalizations of recent inflationary models in our post-Riemannian framework.

In the list of literature all material relevant to our task is compiled as a service for the reader. Should we have overlooked some articles, we would like to ask the authors to let us know, possibly by email to hehl@thp.uni-koeln.de. We may want to supply this additional information in an Addendum.

In the body of the paper, special relativity (theory) will be abbreviated as SR, whereas the gravitational models used carry the following acronyms:

- GR = general relativity (theory), also called Einstein gravity (Riemannian spacetime V_4) [180].
- GR_{\parallel} = teleparallel (version of general relativity) theory (Weitzenböck spacetime W_4 : Riemann-Cartan spacetime with vanishing (Cartan-)curvature and non-vanishing torsion), see [523,614].
- EC theory = Einstein-Cartan(-Sciama-Kibble) theory (of gravity); non-propagating torsion (Riemann-Cartan spacetime U_4 : Metric and metric-compatible connection), see [683,275].
- PG (theory) = Poincaré gauge theory (of gravity); propagating torsion (Riemann-Cartan spacetime U_4), see [272].
- MAG = Metric-affine (gauge theory of) gravity (metric-affine spacetime (L_4, g) : Independent GL(4, R)-connection and independent metric), see [288].
- We denote the covering of a certain group by an overline. We have, for instance, $SL(2, C) = \overline{SO}(1,3)$. Sometimes we dispense with the overline for convenience provided it is clear from the context in any case.

2. Motivation: search for quantum gravity

2.1. No Einstein theory at quantum level perturbatively

It is now probably safe to state that GR, though fully validated "in the large", does not exist in the perturbative sense at the quantum level. This statement relies on the following two facts:

- (i) Although the one-loop "vacuum" amplitude (i.e. gravitons interacting with gravitons, with no "matter" fields present) had been shown [306] to be finite, with the infinities cancelling through the unexpected action of a specific identity (Bach-Lanczos identity [21,384], cf. appendix A.3), no such "miracle" happens for the two-loop amplitude [232,233]. Explicit calculation shows it to be infinite.
- (ii) In a renormalizable theory, such infinities are removed by appropriate counter-terms. However, the fact that in this case, the theory's coupling constant, i.e. Newton's constant, has dimensions $d_N = -2$, leads to a need for an infinite number of different renormalization counterterms, one for each order of the perturbation expansion. It does not appear possible that this would represent a "manageable" renormalization procedure.

It is, of course, still possible that quantum gravity might be correctly represented by GR, but solely with non-perturbative realizations (cf. Ashtekar's new variables [15] within a Hamiltonian approach). The alternative would be to assume that the perturbation expansion does exist, but that it is Einstein's theory which is an incomplete description of gravity. It is because of the latter eventuality that the quest for quantum gravity adds an important motivation to go beyond Riemannian manifolds – the subject of this work. Noticing that the renormalizable paradigmatic *standard model* is entirely constituted of local gauge theories, and that GR itself is already a gauge theory at the classical level

[674] (as a matter of fact it had served as the model for the newer Weyl/Yang-Mills quantum gauge theories making up the standard model), we assume that quantum gravity is also a gauge theory. In this view, one should thus look for the "complete" gauge theory "G" of quantum gravity, existing fully at the quantum level. The Einstein theory (or Einstein-Cartan or any other theory reproducing the observational results of GR) would then just represent the "long-range" or "low-energy" component (and also limit) of "G". Since the quantum regime takes over at Planck mass M_{Planck} , defined as the mass (or energy) at which the (quantum) Compton wave length is equal to the (gravitational) Schwarzschild radius, what is meant here by "low-energy" is "below Planck energies", i.e. below 10^{19} GeV. We are aware of the conceptual problems [309] which this perturbative extension to the Planck scale encounters with our usual macroscopic notions of space, time and causality.

2.2. Dimensional analysis and renormalizability of Yang-Mills gauge theories

Comparing with the successfully quantized Yang-Mills theories, we note that one key difficulty with GR as a relativistic quantum field theory resides in the abnormal dimensionality of its Lagrangian density. In Yang-Mills theories, the gauge potential is a Lie algebra-valued connection one-form and it reads³

$$A = A_i \, dx^i = A_i^K \lambda_K \, dx^i \,, \tag{2.2.1}$$

where the λ_{κ} are the generators of the gauged Lie algebra. Its components A_i have the dimension $d_{\Lambda} = -1$ of a spacetime derivative, since its very definition is related to its role as guaranteeing parallel-transport, as a piece of the gauge-covariant exterior derivative

$$D = d - A, \qquad D_i := e_i | D = \partial_i - A_i. \tag{2.2.2}$$

As a result, the components F_{ij}^{K} of the field strength or "curvature" two-form $F = \frac{1}{2}F_{ij}^{K}\lambda_{K} dx^{i} \wedge dx^{j}$, a generalized curl of the potential or "connection" A, has $d_{F} = -2$; the classical piece of the Yang-Mills Lagrangian density, which is *quadratic in the curvature*, thus has dimension $d_{L} = -4$.

Having $d_{\rm L} = -4$ for the Lagrangian density is an important result, since it will directly yield a dimensionless expression for the Lagrangian four-form and consequently also for the action, after the integration over four-dimensional spacetime. This is as it should be; however, this also implies that the coupling constant in such theories (it appears as a coefficient of the squared curvature term) is necessarily dimensionless. As a result, we obtain two aspects essential to renormalizability:

- (i) In the perturbative expansion, all powers of this coupling are then also dimensionless, and thus do not impose any constraints on the counter terms.
- (ii) In calculating amplitudes, integrations, by definition, should be cut-off independent. This is generally identical to requiring scale invariance, i.e. no dependence on dimensional parameters

 a requirement thus fulfilled in Yang-Mills theories, with their dimensionless couplings.

³ The index K runs from 1 to q, the dimension of the group manifold; the coordinate (or holonomic) indices are denoted by $i, j, k, \ldots = 0, 1, 2, 3$; the coordinate basis of our tangent space is e_i , and \rfloor denotes the interior product. We use the notations of [272], where detailed definitions and derivations can be found. Incidentally, the use (à la Landau-Lifshitz [386]) of Latin indices for coordinates and Greek indices for frames is the opposite of what is generally adopted among particle physicists.

2.3. Dimensions in Einstein's GR and in Poincaré gravity; the gauge field of translations

This is not the situation in GR, with its Lagrangian, linear in the Lorentz curvature, i.e. with $d_{\rm R} = -2$; the same is true in the simplest PG model [275], the EC theory, in which torsion is locally present but does not propagate. A partly similar situation occurs in generic PG [272], residing in a U_4 spacetime with propagating torsion (in addition to curvature as in GR). In PG, although the Lorentz group's squared curvatures do yield $d_{\rm R^2} = -4$ terms, like a canonical Yang-Mills theory, one nevertheless has $d_{\rm T^2} = -2$ contributions, this time from the torsion-square terms. This is due to the anomalous dimensionality $d_{\rm P} = -1$ of the (inhomogeneous) translation generators in the Poincaré group (as against $d_{\lambda} = 0$ in the Yang-Mills gauge groups of the standard model and in the (homogeneous) Lorentz subgroup of the Poincaré group). In the connection (2.2.1) and in the covariant derivative (2.2.2), the $\lambda_{\rm K}$ is now replaced by a spacetime derivative, forcing the gauge-compensating mechanism to act multiplicatively with tetrad frame fields, rather than through a connection:

$$D_{\alpha} = \tilde{e}^{i}_{\ \alpha} D_{i} , \qquad D_{\alpha} := e_{\alpha} \big] D , \qquad (2.3.1)$$

where $e_{\alpha} = \hat{e}_{\alpha}^{i} \partial_{i}$ is the local Lorentz frame (the superscript \circ stands in for *orthonormal* and anholonomic indices are denoted by $\alpha, \beta, \ldots = 0, 1, 2, 3$).

The operator D_{α} thus replaces ∂_i and forms a semi-direct product with the $\overset{\circ}{L}_{\alpha\beta}$ of the $\overline{SO}(1, n-1) =$ spin(1, n-1) [in four dimensions SL(2, C)] on the frames and involves the frame field as the (multiplicative mode) gauge field for translations. Alternatively, we can use the non-degenerate coframe (or one-form) $\vartheta^{\beta} = \overset{\circ}{e}_i^{\beta} dx^j$, which relates to the frame field via the relation

$$e_{\alpha} | \vartheta^{\beta} = \hat{e}^{i}_{\alpha} \hat{e}^{\beta}_{i} = \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha} .$$
(2.3.2)

Moreover, the coordinate components of the metric tensor field

$$g_{ij} = o_{\alpha\beta} \, \hat{e}_i^{\ \alpha} \, \hat{e}_j^{\ \beta}, \quad o_{\alpha\beta} = \text{diag}(-1, 1, 1, 1),$$
 (2.3.3)

will enter the gravitational model, where $o_{\alpha\beta}$ is the local Minkowski metric. The components $\hat{e}_i^{\ \beta}$, \hat{e}_{α}^i , g_{jj} are all dimensionless.

The gravitational "gauge field" of the translations is thus dimensionless. The translational field strength is the torsion,⁴ the components of which thus have $d_T = -1$, as a curl of the $\hat{e}_j{}^\beta$. Its square in the Lagrangian density then has $d_{T^2} = -2$. In PG and in the teleparallelism theory (in which one keeps only the torsion-square term, putting the curvature to zero), it is this $d_{T^2} = -2$ term which replaces Einstein's curvature scalar in describing macroscopic gravity – the distinction between these theories and Einstein's arising only in 5th order in the parametrized post-Newtonian (PPN) treatment [613,637,523].

To obtain a dimensionless action in GR or in PG, one is therefore forced to assign to the coupling constant (Newton's) a dimensionality $d_N = -2$, in order to make up for having only d = -2 from the fields and their derivatives. As mentioned above, this fact then interferes with the possibility of

⁴ As we will discuss in section 3.2, the translational field strength of the affine (or the Poincaré) group does contain the torsion, but it also carries an additional piece, see (3.2.13).

developing a perturbation-theoretical renormalization procedure – in addition to introducing a scale (Planck mass) and thus indirectly making the amplitudes cut-off dependent.

Basically, the unconventional dimensionality is due to the fact that spacetime appears both as the base space and as a subspace of the gauged group manifold (spacetime being the manifold of the translations' parameters): In GR it allows gauge group indices of the curvature – due to the soldering of the Lorentz bundle to the base manifold – to be contracted with the frame indices of spacetime. In PG, it generates the anomalous dimensionality of the generators of translations. As a matter of fact, MacDowell and Mansouri [416] have shown that the Hilbert-Einstein Lagrangian can be obtained as an Inönü-Wigner contraction of a quadratic curvature Lagrangian gauging SO(1, 4); in this derivation, the Riemannian curvature scalar is a degenerate bilinear in which one factor is a contracted curvature whose connection has become the coframe with $d_{\vartheta} = 0$, and the $d_{\text{HE}} = -2$ dimensionality of the Hilbert-Einstein Lagrangian density can thus again be blamed on the anomalous dimensionality of the translation generators – just as in PG.

2.4. The groups gauged in gravity

"...gravity is that field which corresponds to a gauge invariance with respect to displacement transformations" Richard Feynman (1963)

Before returning to our dimensional analysis, in the search for a candidate "complete" gauge theory of gravity, with a $d_{\rm L} = -4$ Lagrangian density, we discuss the gauge groups relevant to gravity.

In Einsteinian gravity proper, there is only one such group, namely, the double covering $\overline{\text{Diff}}(4, R)$ of the group of differentiable coordinate transformations or covariance group [461], acting on the (holonomic) spacetime indices (i, j, k...). Mostly, it is applied passively ("alias" transformations, only changing "names" amongst the curvilinear coordinates); sometimes, however, these locally dependent orbital Poincaré transformations, merging with the other diffeomorphisms, are interpreted actively. On the face of it, local diffeomorphisms can be considered as locally gauged translations; this view gains some additional justification from the fact that the gravitational field is coupled to the energy-momentum tensor density, i.e. to the translational current. However, in contrast to the Yang-Mills construction, the Lagrangian density involves only curvatures – the field strengths of the (homogeneous) Lorentz subgroup. In the presence of spinorial matter fields, when Lorentz labelled local frames have to be introduced, or in EC theory – in these cases there is in addition a local (homogeneous) Lorentz group acting on those frames as a separate gauge group. Here the compensating role of the gauge field is fulfilled by the connection (with anholonomic indices) $\Gamma^{\alpha\beta} = -\Gamma^{\beta\alpha}$ in a canonical Yang-Mills mode.

In the PG, the aim is for the full Poincaré group to be treated as a local gauge group. In a full Yang-Mills like mode [457], one starts from a generalized affine connection which contains the Lorentz and the true translational connection. The field strength contains the Lorentz curvature and a translational curvature. Only after a certain reduction, the translational connection and curvature are converted into coframe and torsion, respectively; see sections 3.1-3.5 for details.

Then, in order to preserve the action of the Lorentz group generators on the translations, the latter have to be defined by the frames, i.e. they should carry anholonomic indices. In PG, the Lorentz connection and the coframe are independent and we have the two modes of gauge compensation acting together. As we noted in our dimensional analysis, in the construction of a Yang-Mills-like quadratic Lagrangian for the Poincaré group, the squared torsion pieces are added to the squared Lorentz curvatures (torsion being the translational field-strength), providing for a Yang-Mills like dynamical local Poincaré gauge, aside from the action of $\overline{\text{Diff}}(4, R)$.

However, it is partly possible (and physically more plausible) to unify the two local gauge groups – Poincaré on the frames and general covariance – and at the same time obtain a reinterpretion of the transformations wrought by $\overline{\text{Diff}}(4, R)$, reproducing them by one and the same gauge group, "almost" in a Yang-Mills like mode. This is done by gauging a deformed and anholonomized version of the translations. More precisely, we have to take as translation generators D_{α} , i.e. the local tangent-space version ("anholonomic") of the Lorentz-covariant parallel-displacements [275,479,504], i.e. of the covariant exterior derivatives (2.3.1). Geometrically, these covariant parallel-displaceable frame-defined translations [275] (the "anholonomized general coordinate transformations" AGCT of [479], or "shift" and "laps" of the Hamiltonian formalism) are linked to Lie derivatives, see section 3.6, and their commutation relations involve "structure functions" instead of structure constants, i.e. they do not close:

$$[D_{\alpha}, D_{\beta}] = -T_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma}(x) D_{\gamma} + R_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma\delta}(x) \overset{\circ}{L}_{\gamma\delta}.$$
(2.4.1)

The structure functions are given by the components of torsion and curvature [275,488,504]. Effectively, the D_{α} generate the equivalent of the infinite-dimensional algebra of local translations, a topic

we will discuss in section 3. Note that the commutation relations between the Lorentz generators $L_{\alpha\beta}$ are unmodified [275,488,498]; in the language of the "soft group manifold" approach [488,671,643], the Poincaré algebra undergoes a "spontaneous fibration" in which the Lorentz SO(1,3) subgroup becomes the fiber of an on-mass-shell effective bundle – as a result of the equations of motion. The motions over the residual quotient base-manifold "Poincaré/Lorentz" after the "spontaneous selection" of the fiber, are still generated by the parallel-transport guaranteeing covariant derivatives.⁵

2.5. Gravity theories with a 'dynamically truncated' gauging of the Poincaré group

Let us now inspect the GR and PG gravitational theories from the point of view of a Yang-Mills like gauging of the Poincaré group. In both, the Hilbert-Einstein and the EC Lagrangian densities, it is only the Lorentz SO(1,3) subgroup which is treated dynamically, i.e. with its curvature entering the Lagrangian. Thus, the connection generally plays a Yang-Mills like dynamical role. The translation generators – with their multiplicatively acting compensating fields (i.e. cancelling gradient terms in the variations) for local translations (i.e. diffeomorphisms) – are not independently gauged dynamically; indeed, the Lagrangian density does not contain a kinetic energy term for the tetrads or the metric. The opposite occurs in teleparallelism models, in which the curvature is constrained to zero and the physical degrees of freedom are solely carried by the coframe. In these theories, the connection is additionally constrained by the metricity condition

$$D_{\alpha} g_{\beta\gamma} = 0, \qquad (2.5.1)$$

which guarantees the metric-compatibility of the connection.

⁵ This quotient manifold is the spacetime for gravity, or the superspace in supergravity, where in addition to the above mentioned spacetime "AGCT", there are "local supersymmetry transformations" consisting in a similar set of "AGCT" modified translations, this time in the spinor sector of superspace.

The EC Lagrangian density is linear in the Lorentz curvature (which, as noted above, has the same dimensionality $d_{\rm R} = -2$ as in the Yang-Mills case), so that only after counting the coupling constant $1/l^2$ it ends up having $d_{\rm HE} = -4$:

$$V_{\rm HE} = (1/2l^2) \det[\hat{e}_k^{\gamma}] R_{ij}^{\alpha\beta} (\partial\Gamma, \Gamma) \hat{e}^i_{\ \beta} \hat{e}^j_{\ \alpha} .$$
(2.5.2)

This Lagrangian involves two fields, the coframe $\vartheta^{\alpha} = \hat{e}_i^{\alpha} dx^i$ and the so(1,3)-valued connection $\Gamma^{\alpha\beta}$. There is only the derivative $d\Gamma^{\alpha\beta}$ appearing in the curvature, so that only one field propagates physically, i.e. has kinetic energy. In addition, one gets an algebraic equation (Sciama's [615,616] and Kibble's [344,345]) as a second equation of motion. It just reexpresses the torsion in terms of the spin current of the matter fields (or states that torsion is vanishing, if matter carries no spin). This is then a theory with local but non-propagating torsion. Simple (N = 1) supergravity can be derived from an EC Lagrangian plus the Lagrangian of a minimally coupled massless spin-3/2 Rarita-Schwinger field (spinor-valued one-form) [155,207,696], with the spin density of the Rarita-Schwinger gravitinos as sources of torsion.

Note that in PG theories in which a torsion-square term is present solely, as in teleparallelism theory [272,363,451], sometimes used as an alternative to the Hilbert-Einstein Lagrangian, or when it appears in addition to the curvature-squared term, as in Poincaré gauge theories [263,272], we have propagating torsion either instead of the metric graviton or in addition to it. However, although this approach may thus have an advantage in adding new true physical degrees of freedom, it leaves the dimensional issue unresolved as we already remarked, the squared torsion term in the Lagrangian having again $d_{T^2} = -2$ and thus interfering with renormalizability. There is one case in which this dimensionality issue can be overcome. However, as we shall see, there then arises a difficulty with unitarity.

2.6. Unitarity violation in a gauge theory with quadratic Lorentz curvature

The wrong dimensionality of the Hilbert-Einstein Lagrangian is not yet the full difficulty. Leaving out the torsion and staying in V_4 geometry, we could still have hoped to emulate the Yang-Mills case, through the use of a Lagrangian quadratic in the Lorentz curvature [302,348,654,728]. As we noted above, this will have d = -4 as in the Yang-Mills case; it does indeed lead to renormalizable theories, at least in vacuum [652]. Nevertheless, even using such Lagrangian densities, quadratic in the curvatures, does not resolve the problem. Taking *only* quadratic terms in the curvatures, there is no decent Newtonian limit. This then forces us to include the Hilbert-Einstein Lagrangian (to cover macroscopic gravity), in addition to the quadratic curvature terms, in the hope that the latter dominate in the high energy limit, which would make the theory renormalizable. This was indeed achieved by Stelle [652].

However, there then appear new difficulties, this time with unitarity. Catastrophic unitarity violations will occur in situations in which the Lorentz connection can be reexpressed in terms of the metric or the (co-)frame, i.e. when the metricity condition (2.5.1) holds, the connection then being given by the Christoffel formula.

Whenever the connection is given in terms of first derivatives ∂g of the metric or of the coframe, the Yang-Mills type gravity will be converted into a higher derivative theory, see section 5.8.3 for details. The curvature-squared terms will contain terms of the form

$$(\partial g)^4$$
, $(\partial^2 g)^2$, $(\partial^2 g)(\partial g)^2$. (2.6.1)

As a result, for a Lagrangian quadratic in the Lorentz curvature, the propagator, which is the inverted Fourier transform of the linearized Lagrangian, is quartic in the momenta. Such propagators automatically contain double poles, such as

$$\frac{1}{p^2(p^2-m^2)} = \frac{1}{m^2} \left(\frac{1}{p^2-m^2} - \frac{1}{p^2} \right),$$
(2.6.2)

so that one of the two poles has the wrong sign for its residue (leading to negative probabilities, i.e. ghosts, cf. [378] and references).

This may be remedied by adding new degrees of freedom, provided they do not reintroduce $d \neq -4$ terms. The connection $\Gamma^{\alpha\beta}$ should then still have d = -1 but it should become an independent field. One straightforward way of constructing precisely such a connection appears to lead to the abandonment of the metricity condition (2.5.1).

2.7. Metric-affine gauge theories: gauging the A(4, R) and relaxing the constraint of metricity

In a general (L_4, g) , the metric $g_{\alpha\beta}$, the coframe ϑ^{α} , and the linear connection $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$, all are independent "potentials". In Table 1, we list the currents, potentials, field strengths, and Bianchi identities in such a framework.

Since a metric is given, the linear connection can, according to (3.10.12), be decomposed as follows:

$$\Gamma_{\alpha\beta} = \Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\{1\}} - K_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}Q_{\alpha\beta} + (e_{\alpha}]Q_{\beta\gamma})\vartheta^{\gamma}.$$
(2.7.1)

Here $\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\{\}}$ is the Riemannian part of the connection depending solely on metric, frame, coframe, and their derivatives. The contortion one-form $K_{\alpha\beta} = -K_{\beta\alpha}$ is implicitly given in terms of the *torsion* two-form T^{β} by

$$T^{\beta} := D\vartheta^{\beta} = \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge K_{\alpha}^{\beta} . \tag{2.7.2}$$

The nonmetricity one-form

$$Q_{\alpha\beta} := -Dg_{\alpha\beta} \tag{2.7.3}$$

measures the deformation of length and angle standards during parallel-transport. In Riemann-Cartan spacetime U_4 it vanishes,

$$Q_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad (2.7.4)$$

Table 1

Currents of MAG and their associated gauge fields.

Current	Potential	Field strength	Bianchi identity
sym. enmom. $\sigma^{\alpha\beta}$ can. enmom. Σ_{α} hypermom. $\Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$	metric $g_{\alpha\beta}$ coframe ϑ^{α} connection $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$	$Q_{\alpha\beta} = -Dg_{\alpha\beta}$ $T^{\alpha} = D\vartheta^{\alpha}$ $R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = d\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} - \Gamma_{\sigma}^{\ \mu} \wedge \Gamma_{\mu}^{\ \beta}$	$DQ_{\alpha\beta} = 2R_{(\alpha\beta)}$ $DT^{\alpha} = R_{\mu}^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\mu}$ $DR_{\alpha}^{\beta} = 0$

15

and, consequently, is not present in GR or EC theory. Moreover, if spinor fields – that would have induced torsion – are absent, Eq.(2.7.1) reduces just to the familiar Christoffel formula, in its anholonomic version.

Foregoing the metricity condition thus carries us over to metric-affine spacetimes (L_4, g) , the physical picture should then be as follows:

(i) At very high energy $(E \ge M_{\text{Planck}})$, as in Yang-Mills gauge theories, gravity is described by $d_{\text{L}} = -4$ quadratic Lagrangians in which the connection $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ is an independent field. The group to be gauged G has to include the translations and should contain an homogeneous subgroup

$$\overline{G} \supset SL(2,C) . \tag{2.7.5}$$

The theory should thus be both unitary (no metricity condition, thus leading to an independent connection and no p^{-4} propagators) and renormalizable ($d_{\rm L} = -4$ Lagrangian density).

(ii) At low energies $(E \leq M_{Planck})$, spontaneous breakdown should occur, $G' \Rightarrow SL(2, C)$ so that with an orthogonal (or pseudo-orthogonal) local invariance group the metricity condition becomes operational; yet this cannot be a "strong" statement about field operators, only a "weak" statement about matrix elements between low-energy states (l.e.s.);

$$\langle \mathbf{l.e.s.} | Q_{\alpha\beta} | \mathbf{l.e.s.} \rangle = 0. \tag{2.7.6}$$

As a result, the metric enters the game. The components of the Lie algebra-valued connection for that part of the group which does not survive as a residual local gauge group, in GR, EC, PG, or teleparallelism theory, i.e. in the low energy effective Lagrangian, all become massive $(M \sim M_{\text{Planck}})$.

Such models have recently been investigated [26,287,496,388,389,387], with $\overline{SL}(4, R) \supset SL(2, C)$ as the homogeneous part of the gauge group. This is denoted as the "affine" gauge approach, the affine group $\overline{A}(4, R) := R^4 \ll \overline{GL}(4, R)$ consisting of the semi-direct product of the general linear group $\overline{GL}(4, R)$ and the Abelian group $T^4 = R^4$ of spacetime translations. For the representation of spinor fields we need their respective double-covering groups, see [495,628], denoted by an overline. We will discuss the role and structure of the double covering of the linear and diffeomorphism groups in our treatment of the matter fields in section 4 and in our construction of the spontaneous symmetry breakdown in section 6. Certain metric-affine gauge models have been proved to be renormalizable [388,389,387]; however, there is as yet no certainty with respect to the theory's unitarity.

We have thus sketched this particular logical chain that has led to the interest in metric-affine spacetimes, and in particular spacetimes that are generated by a local gauge.

A related, though different program [184] has centered on a Weyl-type gauge formalism; the obstacles to quantization do stem from the same basic dimensional analysis we have presented here.

2.8. Supergravity and renormalizability?

In all generality, \overline{G} can be any group that contains SL(2, C), as stated in (2.7.5). The most obvious possibilities are the Weyl, conformal, or linear groups and their respective supergroups. The Weyl or homothetic group (containing Lorentz transformations and dilations) is contained in both the 15-parameter group of conformal transformations and the general linear group $\overline{GL}(4, R)$. Conformal gauge theories have been investigated at the classical and the quantum level [184,185].

The inclusion of the Poincaré group in supersymmetry,⁶ leading to supergravity [207,155], generated hopes of improved renormalizability. The bosonic homogeneous subgroup, however, is still SL(2, C), or $SL(2, C) \times O(N)$ for N-extended supersymmetry. The enlargement happens in the system of translations, i.e. in the inhomogeneous quotient. For the flat case, this is

super
$$\left(R^4 \otimes \overline{SO}(1,3)\right)/SL(2,C)$$
. (2.8.1)

For the (curved space) gauged group, the spinorial local supersymmetry transformations are yet another example of a symmetry generated by Lie-derivatives as in (2.4.1).

Supergravity itself was developed within the same context of constructing a renormalizable "complete" gauge theory "G" of quantum gravity as explained in section 2.1. Its spacetime realization involves torsion and is thus a U_4 manifold, embedded in a superspace, the quotient (2.8.1). It has been shown, however, that though supergravity does induce finite results in many of the cases in which Einstein's theory gave infinities, it will not "cure" cases such as those discussed in [232,233]. Local supersymmetry in supergravity generalizes Einstein's theory so that a "vacuum" result in gravity (i.e. only gravitons, interacting with gravitons), becomes a vacuum result in supergravity (in which the graviton is part of a gauge multiplet, including at least one J = 3/2 spinorial field). Thus, after the discovery of supergravity, the finiteness of the one-loop vacuum amplitude in gravity [306], which had prior to that been shown [150,151] to fail in the presence of spins $0, \frac{1}{2}, 1$ matter fields, was now proved to hold in the one-loop "supergravity vacuum", which contains, aside from gravitons, the matter fields belonging to the graviton's supermultiplet. In extended supergravity with any $N \leq 8$, it was shown [331] that all vacuum amplitudes are finite, up to N loops. The graviton gauge supermultiplet in theories with $N \le 4$ includes fields with spins $J = 0, \frac{1}{2}, 1, \frac{3}{2}, 2$, thus curing defects such as had been encountered by Deser and van Nieuwenhuizen [150,151]; but the same generalization caused by supersymmetry also causes the negative two-loops result in gravity [232,233] to reappear in (N+1)-loops in N-extended supergravity.

With only SL(2, C) left as local gauge symmetry, only the graviton stays massless. The fields in the gauge supermultiplet acquire mass, through a Goldstone-Higgs mechanism. In supersymmetrized gauge unification theories (superGUTs), this mass may be related to the scale of the weak interaction, as part of a solution of the "hierarchy" problem: How to constrain the electroweak symmetry-breaking Higgs field so that its GUT- and gravity-induced radiative corrections do not bring its mass up to GUT (10^{15} GeV) or to Planck energy regions.⁷

The quantum gravity program that was based on supergravity has thus been useful, but cannot resolve the issue completely. It may prove necessary to the full program, but it is certainly insufficient. Nevertheless, one may speculate that, at the end, the *metric-affine program* may yet have to be reinforced through supersymmetrization. This would involve infinite-component spinor translation generators, a subject that has barely been "touched" to date [489].

⁶ According to recent experiments [1], supersymmetric partners of the quarks and gluons of the standard model are excluded at a 90% confidence level below 126 GeV. Since the allowed energy region for these supersymmetric particles' masses (e.g. gluinos, squarks, etc..) is centered on 500 GeV and extends to 1 TeV, the final verdict will have to await the activation of the 8-10 TeV accelerator LHC at CERN (near Geneva), which will provide such center-of-mass values for the energy; see also the newly proposed uc of next footnote.

⁷ The uc ("ultimate collider") up to Planck energies is described by Akahito [5] as an "experiment of the month".

2.9. Quantum superstring?

With William Thomson's idea of "vortex atoms" [675] coming of age in the shape of string and superstring theories, in recent years hopes for a *finite* theory of quantum gravity have centered on the quantum superstring (QSS) [612]. Although the perturbation expansion yields finite terms, the summations do involve infinities [248]. However, that would still be true in quantum electrodynamics (OED); in perturbative treatments in quantum field theory these infinities are assumed to arise because of non-perturbative solutions and are regarded as an indication of the latter's existence. Should we then consider the search for a theory of quantum gravity as having reached its goal and should we therefore cross it out as a motivation for the study of non-Riemannian gravitational theories? The basic assumption in the post-1984 treatment of the quantum superstring [238] "theory of everything" (TOE), an on-mass-shell S-matrix type theory, is that its truncation below Planck mass should go over smoothly into an off-mass-shell relativistic quantum (point) local field theory⁸ (including a version of ten-dimensional supergravity, in one sector of the "heterotic string" [247], for instance); thus, even if the search were over, the same geometrical-gravitational question then relates to that truncated "low-energy" field theory and its gravitational sector. Moreover, it has been pointed out [105] that consistency would then require the low-energy field theory to be finite by itself! This then implies the existence of a finite or renormalizable relativistic quantum field theory of gravity.

As an S-matrix theory, the TOE should, for instance, provide the precise energy levels of positronium, including the (very small) gravitational contribution. QED gives us – to any order of the perturbation expansion – the electromagnetic component of these energy levels; the difference between the TOE and QED levels is then a finite contribution of quantum gravity, which should be calculable within that low energy quantum field theory of gravity.

Moreover, the success of the QSS as the *final* theory is not evident yet. In contrast to the psychological impact resulting from the apparent uniqueness of the original superstring, with only $E_8 \times E_8$ or SO(32) as allowed internal symmetries, a very large number of superstring theories have subsequently been shown to exist, when reducing from the original 26 or 10 to our macroscopic four dimensions. These different theories have to be reinterpreted as different vacuum solutions of a meta-theory; the actual suggestion is to look for the non-perturbative solutions of a *string field theory* and to hope that some stability criteria will select the physical vacuum. Such string field theories have been constructed, but the search for a theory with a finite set of candidate vacua is still on, resembling at this stage the traditional search for a needle in a haysack.

String theory was originally developed in a flat embedding manifold (the "target space") with linearized gravity. To go beyond weak fields and to include the successful tests of GR, it had to be adapted to curved spacetime, while relating the spin-2 graviton in the string Hilbert space to the presence of macroscopic curvature. Einstein had originally realized that the symmetric energy-momentum tensor density is the source of a curvature field; quantum field theory had pointed to this field's particle realization as J = 2 gravitons, coupling to that energy-momentum tensor density. In the flat-embedding string the intermediate step is missing – and with it such effects as the precession of Mercury.

Two approaches have been followed, in dealing with the embedding of the string in a curved manifold. Both lines of work have consisted in constraining the embedding space so as to preserve

^{*} Point-local as against string-local.

the features required by quantization: (a) Unitarity through critical dimensionality, i.e. the cancellation of the conformal anomaly – or of the Liouville field, breaking Weyl invariance of the world sheet description, in the quantized string; (b) tachyon cancellation through the preservation of the action of the super-Poincaré (flat supersymmetry) group; (c) the cancellation of the chiral anomaly, as obtained through the selection of the gauged internal symmetry group, e.g. $E_8 \times E_8$. The main line of work has taken a renormalization group approach, i.e. imposing the above results by requiring the cancellation of the radiative corrections to the critical dimensionality, etc. [203,97,98,413]. Einstein's vacuum equation then emerges as a result of such constraints; in first order, the theory involves in addition a scalar "dilaton" and an antisymmetric field. For strings which become "rigid" through the addition of extrinsic curvature terms [563] to the conventional Nambu-Goto action, a Weyl-invariant formulation was developed [398-401], relaxing the metricity condition (2.7.4), for instance. The alternative route [494] has consisted in developing a curved version of supersymmetry.

Two further developments in string theory are relevant to the quest for quantum gravity. Work on non-critical strings, i.e. strings that therefore do not have the Liouville field cancelling in the quantized version (i.e. a breakdown of Weyl invariance on the world sheet). The technique of *matrix models* [249] has yielded for the first time information about non-perturbative solutions to quantum gravity – but only in two dimensional quantum gravity, which therefore makes for inconclusive results as far as non-Riemannian aspects are concerned. The other line of work has consisted in the study of *extendons*, i.e. classical and quantum extended structures with more than one spatial dimension, e.g. a quantum membrane [484]. In these constructions, the main criterion for utilizability as a TOE or as a theory of quantum gravity is to ascertain whether or not the model has massless solutions fitting the graviton. The most favorable model, in this sense, appears to consist [55] of an embedding of the ten-dimensional superstring in a quantized membrane, through the addition of one new spatial dimension to both ten-dimensional supergravity – the underlying low energy field theory – and to the string and its world sheet. In the low energy field theory, this is set to yield eleven-dimensional supergravity.

Having said all this, we will now turn to the affine group and its gauging, leading eventually to a metric-affine geometric "arena" with fully liberated nonmetricity and torsion.

3. Geometry

3.1. Rigid affine group A(n, R) and its Lie-algebra

In the flat *n*-dimensional affine space \mathbb{R}^n , the rigid affine group $A(n, \mathbb{R}) := \mathbb{R}^n \otimes GL(n, \mathbb{R})$ is the semidirect product of the group of *n*-dimensional *translations* and *n*-dimensional *general linear transformations*. This transformation group acts on an affine *n*-vector $x = \{x^{\alpha}\}$ according to

$$x \to x' = Ax + \tau \tag{3.1.1}$$

where $A = \{A^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}\} \in GL(n, R)$ and $\tau = \{\tau^{\alpha}\} \in R^n$. [The range of the Greek indices is: $\alpha, \beta, ... = 0, 1, 2, ..., (n-1)$.] Thus it is a generalization of the Poincaré group $P := R^4 \ll SO(1, 3)$, with the pseudo-orthogonal group SO(1, n-1) being replaced by the general linear group GL(n, R), cf. [347]. The semi-direct product property of both groups is reflected in the rather complicated law of group multiplication:

$$(\Lambda, \tau) \circ (\Lambda', \tau') = (\Lambda\Lambda', \Lambda\tau' + \tau).$$
 (3.1.2)

Therefore in the following it is more convenient to work with a Möbius type representation [355,447] for which we take the same symbol A(n, R): It is that subgroup of GL(n + 1, R) which leaves the *n*-dimensional hyperplane $\overline{R}^n := \{\overline{x} = \binom{x}{1} \in R^{n+1}\}$ invariant:

$$A(n,R) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} A & \tau \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in GL(n+1,R) \mid A \in GL(n,R), \ \tau \in \mathbb{R}^n \right\}.$$
(3.1.3)

Thus, by an affine transformation, we obtain $\bar{x}' = \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ r & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} x \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} Ax+r \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$, as is required for the action of the affine group on the flat affine space.

The Lie algebra a(n, R) consists of the generators P_{γ} , representing *n*-dimensional translations, and the $L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$, which span the Lie algebra gl(n, R) of *n*-dimensional linear transformations. Their commutation relations read:

$$[P_a, P_\beta] = 0, (3.1.4)$$

$$[L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, P_{\gamma}] = \delta^{\alpha}_{\gamma} P_{\beta}, \qquad (3.1.5)$$

$$[L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, L^{\gamma}{}_{\delta}] = \delta^{\alpha}_{\delta} L^{\gamma}{}_{\beta} - \delta^{\gamma}_{\beta} L^{\alpha}{}_{\delta}.$$
(3.1.6)

Observe that the physical dimensions of these generators are $[L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}] = \hbar$ and $[P_{\alpha}] = \hbar/\text{length}$. However, throughout this paper, natural units with $\hbar = c = 1$ are chosen.

For $n \ge 2$, the general linear group GL(n, R) has two connected pieces, one with positive and the other one with negative determinant. The most important component is the *special* (or unimodular) linear group $SL_o(n, R)$ the elements of which are *continously connected* to the identity and, additionally, satisfy the condition det A = 1. Guided by the four-dimensional spacetime, we distinguish, besides the group unit 1, the operators $T, P, J := TP \in GL(n, R)$, which would correspond to time, space (parity), and total *reflections*, respectively. For $n \ge 3$, we can invariantly characterize them, after factoring out $SL_o(n, R)$ -transformations, by the following properties:

T: det
$$T = -1$$
, tr $T = n - 2$,
P: det $P = (-1)^{n-1}$, tr $P = 2 - n$,
J: det $J = (-1)^n$, tr $J = -n$. (3.1.7)

The unconstrained determinant of GL(n, R) contains, aside from the R^+ corresponding to the Abelian Lie subgroup of group elements $A \in GL(n, R)$ with positive determinant, the time reflection $T \in GL(n, R)$ with det T = -1 by definition. For dimensions $n \ge 2$, we are thus lead to the isomorphic decomposition

$$GL(n,R) \approx [T \otimes SL(n,R)] \times R^+.$$
(3.1.8)

This decomposition induces the following splitting of the infinitesimal generators of the general linear group into the generators of traceless⁹ linear transformations $\mathcal{E}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ and dilations¹⁰ \mathcal{D} :

⁹ Quite generally, for an arbitrary quantity $B_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ with two indices, we define its traceless part, the so-called "deviator" of continuum mechanics, according to $\beta_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} := B_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} - (1/n)B\delta_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$, with $B := B_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma}$.

¹⁰ Dilatations or dilations? "Since darkness dilates the pupils of our eyes and does not dilatate them, we see no reason for the extra 'ta' ". Cited from [642, p.37].

$$L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = \mathcal{L}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + (1/n)\delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}\mathcal{D}, \quad \mathcal{D} := L^{\gamma}{}_{\gamma}. \tag{3.1.9}$$

For the dilation generator, we find the following commutation relations:

$$[\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{D}] = 0, \qquad [\mathcal{D}, P_{\alpha}] = P_{\alpha}, \qquad [\mathcal{D}, \mathcal{E}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}] = 0. \tag{3.1.10}$$

3.1.1. Additional structures in the presence of a metric

If the flat affine space carries a metric $g = g_{\alpha\beta} dx^{\alpha} \otimes dx^{\beta}$ with components $g_{\alpha\beta}$, one can lower indices and a finer splitting of the general linear group can be achieved:

$$L_{\alpha\beta} = \check{L}_{\alpha\beta} + \mathscr{L}_{(\alpha\beta)} + (1/n)g_{\alpha\beta}\mathcal{D}.$$
(3.1.11)

Here $\mathring{L}_{\alpha\beta} := L_{[\alpha\beta]}$ are the generators of Lorentz rotations, $\mathscr{L}_{(\alpha\beta)} = L_{(\alpha\beta)} - (1/n) g_{\alpha\beta} L^{\gamma} represent shears, whereas <math>\mathcal{D} := L^{\gamma} r_{\gamma}$ generates dilations. The first two pieces on the right-hand side of (3.1.11) correspond to the decomposition

$$sl(n,R) = \underline{k} \oplus \underline{n} = so(n) \oplus \underline{n} \tag{3.1.12}$$

of the simple real Lie algebra sl(n, R) of SL(n, R) into the maximal compact subalgebra <u>k</u> and its noncompact part <u>n</u>. In our case this amounts to the well-known decomposition of a traceless square matrix into its skew-symmetric and its traceless symmetric parts.

As noted above, the A(n, R) is an *n*-dimensional generalization of the Poincaré group $P := R^4 \ll SO(1,3)$, with the pseudo-orthogonal group SO(1, n-1) replaced by the general linear group GL(n, R). This point of view, however, is no longer useful when one compares the two groups with respect to algebraic deformations of larger semi-simple geometrical transformation groups. Whereas the Poincaré group can be obtained by a Wigner-Inönü contraction from the de Sitter groups SO(2, 3) or SO(1, 4), cf. [234] for the corresponding gauge theories, the A(n, R) cannot be derived by a group contraction, neither from GL(n+1, R), nor from any other semi-simple group.¹¹

3.2. Affine gauge approach

In a matrix representation analogous to (3.1.3), we can write the affine gauge group¹² as

¹¹ Contraction of GL(n + 1, R) or of the SL(n + 1, R), or of the related projective group PGL(n, R) = SL(n + 1, R)/Z, with Z denoting the center, yields the graded affine group $A^*(n, R)$, with two Abelian subgroups instead of one. The origin of the two sets of "translations" can be exhibited by rewriting [355, p.132] the sl(n + 1, R) algebra, that generates these groups, as the graded algebra $a^* = R^n \oplus gl(n, R) \oplus R^{*n}$. Although this decomposition of sl(n + 1, R) seemingly looks like a generalization of the conformal group, with so(1, n - 1) replaced by gl(n, R), one cannot identify the R^n and R^{*n} pieces with translations and special conformal transformations, respectively. This is related to the fact that it is impossible to find both sl(n, R) and the conformal generators' algebra conf(n, R) as subalgebras of the same finite dimensional Lie algebra. Indeed, Ogievetsky [533] has proved the following important theorem: The algebraic closure of sl(n, R) and conf(n, R), when these algebras are defined over the same n-dimensional manifold [non-linearly for conf(n, R)], is the infinite-dimensional algebra of analytical diffeomorphisms Diff(n, R): [sl(n, R), conf(n, R)] = diff(n, R). A corollary to this theorem then states: There is no finite matrix embedding sl(n, R) in its defining form simultaneously with the generators of special conformal transformations on the same manifold.

¹² In contrast to the structure group G = A(n, R), the gauge group \mathcal{G} consists of spacetime-dependent group elements g(x) and is thus *infinite-dimensional*. This intuitive notion is made more precise in the fiber bundle approach [226,356,684,685], where one introduces first the *bundle of affine frames* $A(M) := P(M_n, A(n, R), \pi, \delta)$; here π denotes the projection to the

$$\mathcal{A}(n,R) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda(x) & \tau(x) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \mid \Lambda(x) \in \mathcal{GL}(n,R), \quad \tau(x) \in \mathcal{T}(n,R) \right\}.$$
(3.2.1)

In accordance with a Yang-Mills type gauge approach, we introduce the *generalized affine* connection [356] (cf. also [213,214,525,564,694]):

$$\widetilde{\widetilde{\Gamma}} = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma^{(L)} & \Gamma^{(T)} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma^{(L)\beta}_{\alpha} L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} & \Gamma^{(T)\alpha} P_{\alpha} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.2.2)

It is a one-form $\tilde{\Gamma} = \tilde{\Gamma}_i dx^i$ and transforms inhomogeneously under an affine gauge transformation:

$$\widetilde{\widetilde{\Gamma}} \xrightarrow{A^{-1}(x)} \widetilde{\widetilde{\Gamma}}' = A^{-1}(x) \widetilde{\widetilde{\Gamma}} A(x) + A^{-1}(x) dA(x), \qquad A(x) \in \mathcal{A}(n, R).$$
(3.2.3)

Following Mack [417], we regard a transformation as an *active* 13 one, if it is formed with respect to the group element

$$A^{-1}(x) = \begin{pmatrix} A^{-1}(x) & -A^{-1}(x)\tau(x) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.2.4)

which is inverse to $A(x) \in \mathcal{A}(n, R)$.

The corresponding affine curvature is given by

$$\widetilde{\widetilde{R}} := d\widetilde{\widetilde{\Gamma}} + \widetilde{\widetilde{\Gamma}} \wedge \widetilde{\widetilde{\Gamma}} = \begin{pmatrix} R^{(L)} & R^{(T)} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} d\Gamma^{(L)} + \Gamma^{(L)} \wedge \Gamma^{(L)} & d\Gamma^{(T)} + \Gamma^{(L)} \wedge \Gamma^{(T)} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.2.5)$$

where the exterior product of Lie algebra-valued forms has to be evaluated with respect to the adjoint representation Ad A(B) = [A, B]. It transforms covariantly under the affine gauge group:¹⁴

$$\widetilde{\widetilde{R}} \stackrel{A^{-1}(x)}{\longrightarrow} \widetilde{\widetilde{R}}' = A^{-1}(x) \stackrel{\widetilde{\widetilde{R}}}{\longrightarrow} A(x).$$
(3.2.6)

The exterior covariant derivative $\tilde{D} := d + \tilde{\Gamma} \wedge$ acts on an affine *p*-form $\tilde{\Psi} = \begin{pmatrix} \Psi \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$ as follows

$$\widetilde{\widetilde{D}} \overset{\approx}{\Psi} = \begin{pmatrix} d\Psi + \Gamma^{(L)} \wedge \Psi + \Gamma^{(T)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} D\Psi + \Gamma^{(T)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.2.7)

base manifold and δ the (left or right) action of the structure group A(n, R) on the bundle. Gauge transformations are vertical automorphisms of P. These are diffeomorphisms of the bundle P which preserve each fiber, i.e. act trivially on the base space. In general, the infinite-dimensional gauge group can be identified with $\mathcal{G} = C^{\infty}(P \times_{Ad} G)$, where the cross section in the associated bundle is abbreviated by C^{∞} and Ad denotes the adjoint representation with respect to G, cf. [73]. The affine gauge group $\mathcal{A}(n, R) := C^{\infty}(A(M) \times_{Ad} A(n, R))$ contains the group $\mathcal{GL}(n, R) := C^{\infty}(A(M) \times_{Ad} GL(n, R))$ of linear gauge transformations and the group $\mathcal{T}(n, R) := C^{\infty}(A(M) \times_{Ad} R^n)$ of local translations as subgroups. Due to its construction, the group $\mathcal{T}(n, R)$ is locally isomorphic to the group of active diffeomorphisms Diff(n, R) of the manifold [533,656]. We will not go any further into the bundle action of gauge groups, but refer the reader to [73,196,447,656] for details. In the more intricate case of the semidirect affine group, there may also exist a close interrelation of nonlinear gauge realizations [408,589,592,326] and induced representations [681,619,620,444], cf. appendix C.6.

¹³ We regard, in accordance also with DeWitt, cf. [157], *active* diffeomorphisms or vertical automorphisms as those transformations which arise from a shift of a point in the manifold or in the fiber, respectively. Infinitesimally these actions can be expressed by Lie derivatives. Thus activ diffeomorphisms are equivalent to *local translations*, whereas vertical automorphisms yield (3.2.3) for the pull-back of the connection. On the other hand, passive transformations correspond to a mere relabeling of the coordinates, under which Cartan's exterior differential forms [103] are invariant by construction.

¹⁴ Our matrix formalism, cf. [447,427] and references therein, is a spacetime generalization of the so-called *motor calculus* of von Mises [465,466].

Only by imposing the gauge $\Gamma^{(T)} = 0$, one would recover the covariant exterior derivative $D := d + \Gamma^{(L)}$ with respect to the linear connection $\Gamma^{(L)} = \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \rho(L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta})$. Its action on (geometrical) fields depends on the representation type ρ to be specified later on. The Ricci identity takes the form

$$\widetilde{\widetilde{D}} \widetilde{\widetilde{P}} \widetilde{\widetilde{\Psi}} = \begin{pmatrix} DD\Psi + D\Gamma^{(T)} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \widetilde{\widetilde{R}} \widetilde{\widetilde{\Psi}}.$$

. . . .

1

After substitution of (3.2.2) and (3.2.4), the inhomogeneous transformation law (3.2.3) splits into

$$\Gamma^{(L)} \xrightarrow{A^{-1}(x)} \Gamma^{(L)'} = A^{-1}(x) \Gamma^{(L)} A(x) + A^{-1}(x) \, dA(x), \tag{3.2.8}$$

$$\Gamma^{(T)} \xrightarrow{A^{-1}(x)} \Gamma^{(T)'} = A^{-1}(x) \Gamma^{(T)} + A^{-1}(x) D\tau(x).$$
(3.2.9)

The local translations $\tau(x)$ automatically drop out in (3.2.8) due to the one-form structure of $\Gamma^{(T)}$. Thereby (3.2.8) acquires the conventional transformation rule (with the exterior derivative d) of a Yang-Mills-type connection for $\mathcal{GL}(n, R)$. Thus we can identify $\Gamma^{(L)} = \Gamma = \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ with the linear connection. Due to the covariant exterior derivative term $D\tau(x) := d\tau(x) + \Gamma^{(L)}\tau(x)$ in (3.2.9), the translational part $\Gamma^{(T)}$ does not transform as a covector as is required for the coframe $\vartheta := \vartheta^{\alpha} P_{\alpha}$, i.e. a one-form with values in the Lie algebra of R^n .

However, it is suggestive to follow Trautman [683] and to introduce a vector (vector-valued zero-form) $\tilde{\xi} = (\tilde{\xi}) = (\tilde{\xi}^{P_n})$ which transforms as $\tilde{\xi}' = A^{-1}(x)\tilde{\xi}$, i.e. as

$$\xi^{A^{-1}(x)}\xi' = A^{-1}(x) \left(\xi - \tau(x)\right)$$
(3.2.10)

under an active affine gauge transformation. Then

$$\vartheta := \Gamma^{(T)} + D\xi \tag{3.2.11}$$

transforms¹⁵ as a vector-valued one-form under the $\mathcal{A}(n, R)$, as required:

$$\vartheta \xrightarrow{A^{-1}(x)} \vartheta' = A^{-1}(x) \vartheta. \tag{3.2.12}$$

By differentiation of (3.2.11), the translational part of the affine curvature turns out to be

$$R^{(T)} := D\Gamma^{(T)} = (T^{\alpha} - R^{(L)\alpha}_{\beta}\xi^{\beta})P_{\alpha}, \qquad (3.2.13)$$

that is, the translational curvature contains, besides the torsion, a piece¹⁶ induced by the linear curvature $R^{(L)}$. The vector field ξ is also found, perhaps in a more natural way, in the context of a group theoretical analysis of the gauged non-linear realizations of the translation group, see [408,340,341,326].

If $\Gamma^{(T)}$ vanished throughout the manifold, the vector field ξ would represent a *n*-dimensional version of Cartan's generalized radius vector [103]. The integrability condition is, in this instance, given by the vanishing of the translational part of the affine curvature (3.2.5), i.e. $R^{(T)} = 0$, which implies $T^{\alpha} = R_{\alpha}^{(L)\alpha} \xi^{\beta}$. Incidentally, we correct hereby a sign error in [457].

¹⁵ The canonical soldering one-form $\delta := \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} \vartheta^{\alpha} \otimes e_{\beta} = \vartheta^{\alpha} \otimes e_{\alpha}$ would transform trivially under affine gauge transformation, cf. [617, p.342].

¹⁶ One of us appreciates extended discussions which he had on this point with Luciano Mistura (Rome).

In a spacetime with a metric, a specific solution of the integrability condition would be $R^{(L)\alpha\beta} = R^{\alpha\beta} = a\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}$ and $T^{\alpha} = -ag_{\beta\gamma}\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}\xi^{\gamma}$, with the dimensionful constant *a*. For teleparallelism models with $R^{(L)\beta}_{\alpha} = 0$, the integrability condition yields a vanishing torsion.

3.3. Reduction to the metric-affine framework

In components, our key relation (3.2.11) takes the form

$$\Gamma_i^{(T)\alpha} = e_i^{\alpha} - D_i \xi^{\alpha}, \qquad (3.3.1)$$

which, for $D_i\xi^{\alpha} = \delta_i^{\alpha}$, makes contact with the approach of Hayashi et al. [262-264], see also [471]. This condition identifies the coset space $A(n, R)/GL(n, R) \approx R^n$ with the cotangent space $T^*(M_n)$, cf. Niederle [513]. In a recent paper [243] on the Poincaré gauge approach, the ξ^{α} are kinematically interpreted as "Poincaré coordinates"; note that in Eq.(2.14) of that paper, vielbein and translational connection are identified opposite to our notation. Observe also that we do not have to put the "Poincaré coordinates" ξ^{α} to zero, in order to obtain the affine gauge transformation law (3.2.12) of the coframe. The reason is that the local translations are now "hidden" in the invariant transformation behavior of the exterior one-form ϑ under (passive) diffeomorphisms. Note also that in our approach in [457] we have shown of how to avoid a degenerate coframe. In contrast to Sexl and Urbantke [617, p.381], we do not need to break the affine gauge group kinematically via $D\tau(x) = 0$. There are attempts [593] to motivate the translational connection (3.3.1) from the theory of dislocations, whereas Hennig and Nitsch [300] provide an explanation in terms of jet bundles.

Since $\xi = \xi^{\alpha} P_{\alpha}$ acquires its values in the "orbit" (coset space) $A(n, R)/GL(n, R) \approx R^{n}$, it can be regarded as an affine vector field¹⁷ (or "generalized Higgs field" according to Trautman [684]) which "hides" the action of the local translational "symmetry" T(n, R). We believe that the story of the ξ has not yet come to an end and that future developments on this point are possible. Probably one has to come up with an idea of how to construct an explicit symmetry breaking mechanism. For the time being, however, we require the condition [561]

$$D\xi = 0 \tag{3.3.2}$$

to hold. Then the translational connection $\Gamma^{(T)}$, together with the coframe ϑ , is soldered to the spacetime manifold, cf. [641], and the translational part of the affine gauge group is "spontaneously broken", cf. [540-542]. We may even postulate the stronger constraint of a "zero section" vector field $\xi = 0$. Then the generalized affine connection $\tilde{\Gamma}$ on the affine bundle A(M) reduces to the *Cartan connection* [355]

$$\vec{\Gamma} = \begin{pmatrix} \Gamma^{(L)} & \vartheta \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.3.3)

on the bundle L(M) of linear frames. Due to (3.2.12), this is not anymore a connection in the usual sense.

¹⁷ In the anti-deSitter gauge model of gravity of Stelle and West [653], the ξ^{α} parametrize the coset space SO(2,3)/SO(1,3). The coframe ϑ^{α} and the Lorentz connection $\mathring{\Gamma}^{\alpha\beta} = -\mathring{\Gamma}^{\beta\alpha}$ can then be derived from the original SO(2,3)-connection via a nonlinear realization of that group involving the ξ -field. Such a Cartan connection arises not only from a reduction of (anti)-deSitter bundles [234], but also from conformal G-structures [298].

This affects also the measurability of a connection. Quantum interference measurements depend on the non-integrable phase factor $U(A, \gamma) = P \exp[(i/\hbar) \oint A]$, where $A = A_i^J \lambda_J dx^i$ is a Yang-Mills type connection. If the loop γ lies in a field-free region, i.e., one with Yang-Mills curvature $F = dA + A \wedge A = 0$, but encloses a region with "magnetic" flux $F \neq 0$, the potential A can still be measured (Aharanov-Bohm effect) via the amount of phase shift for closed loops. The same would hold true for a gravitationally induced phase factor $U(\tilde{\Gamma}, \gamma) = P \exp[(i/\hbar) \oint (\Gamma^{(T)\alpha} P_{\alpha} + \Gamma_{\alpha}^{(L)\beta} L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta})]$: For a field Φ carrying no GL(4, R) excitations, i.e. no spin, no shear, and no dilation, we need a closed loop γ to detect the gravitational analog of the Aharanov-Bohm effect in a conical space, since outside the (rounded) apex of the cone there is $\Gamma^{(T)\alpha}=0$ locally. This analogy would break down, however, if one considered, instead of the true translational potential $\Gamma^{(T)\alpha}$, the coframe ϑ^{α} soldered to the spacetime manifold, cf. Anandan [10]. Because the coframe is non-degenerate by definition, it could be measured even by a non-closed loop, showing its essential classical character. Since the dimension of P_{α} is $2\pi\hbar/l$, the gravitational analog of Dirac's quantization condition would be $U(\tilde{\Gamma}, \gamma) = (2\pi\hbar\mathcal{M}_n G/\hbar lc^2) = 2\pi n$, i.e. the mass would turn out to be a multiple $\mathcal{M}_n = n\mathcal{M}_{\text{Planck}}$ of the Planck mass.

Anyways, if additionally a metric is given, we recover the familiar metric-affine geometrical arena¹⁸ with nonmetricity, torsion, and curvature, as is summarized in Table 1.

3.4. Differentiable manifold M_n , frames, and coframes

A geometrical arena which is large enough to eventually carry the Cartan connection (3.3.3) is an *n*-dimensional differentiable manifold M_n . At each point P of M_n , there is an *n*-dimensional vector space $T_P(M_n)$, the tangent vector space at P. We introduce a local vector basis, the *local frame* (or vielbein) e_{α} . Here we adhere to the following conventions: $\alpha, \beta, ... = 0, 1, 2, ..., (n-1)$ are anholonomic or frame indices, i, j, k, ... = 0, 1, 2, ..., (n-1) are holonomic or coordinate indices, and \wedge denotes the exterior product. In terms of the local coordinate basis $\partial_i := \partial/\partial x^i$, the frame e_{α} can be expanded according to

$$e_{\alpha} = e_{\alpha}^{i} \partial_{i} . \tag{3.4.1}$$

In order for e_{α} to serve as an anholonomic basis, the e_{α}^{i} are required to be non-degenerate, i.e. det $e_{\alpha}^{i} \neq 0$. In the cotangent space $T_{p}^{*}(M_{n})$ there exists a one-form basis or a *coframe*

$$\vartheta^{\beta} = e_{j}^{\beta} dx^{j} . aga{3.4.2}$$

As a cobasis, the e_j^{β} have to be non-degenerate as well. Moreover, the 'duality' of the frame e_{α} and the coframe with respect to the *interior product* | requires for the frame and coframe coefficients that

$$e_{\alpha} \left[\vartheta^{\beta} = e^{i}_{\ \alpha} e^{\beta}_{i} = \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha} \right]. \tag{3.4.3}$$

For the translational gauge potential $\Gamma^{(T)\alpha}$ this condition implies

$$e_{\alpha} \rfloor \Gamma^{(T)\beta} = \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha} - D_{\alpha} \xi^{\beta} = \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha} , \qquad (3.4.4)$$

¹⁸ Among the few textbooks which stress the importance of the interplay between affine and metric structures in the set-up of a theory of spacetime, we mention those of Kopczyński and Trautman [367] and of Ludwig [414], cf. Weyl [717] and Cartan [103].

since $D\xi^{\alpha} = 0$ for a Cartan connection. This is another manifestation of the 'soldering' of the frames to the manifold.

In an M_n , the frame e_{α} is determined only up to a local linear transformation (general frame *deformation*)

$$e_{\alpha} \rightarrow e_{\beta}' = \Lambda(x)_{\mu}{}^{\nu} \rho(L^{\mu}{}_{\nu})_{\beta}{}^{\gamma} e_{\gamma} = \Lambda_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}(x) e_{\alpha}, \qquad (3.4.5)$$

whereas the coframe, as part of the Cartan connection (3.3.3), transforms according to (3.2.12) or, more explicitly, as

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \to \vartheta^{\prime\beta} = A^{-1}(x)_{\mu}{}^{\nu} \rho(L^{\mu}{}_{\nu})_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \vartheta^{\alpha} = A^{-1}(x)_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \vartheta^{\alpha} .$$
(3.4.6)

The basis of gl(n, R) acts on a geometrical object of representation type ρ via $\rho(L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta})$. In the case of the frame (3.4.5), for instance, the corresponding representation is the Cartan-Weyl basis given by Kronecker deltas, i.e., $\rho(L^{\mu}{}_{\nu}){}_{\beta}{}^{\gamma} = \delta^{\mu}_{\beta} \delta^{\gamma}_{\nu}$.

In the M_n we can use the operator of exterior derivation d and, of course, exterior \wedge and interior multiplication. We call

$$C^{\gamma} := d\vartheta^{\gamma} = \frac{1}{2} C_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\gamma} \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}$$
(3.4.7)

the anholonomity two-form, which is not a gauge-covariant object. The components of the anholonomity C^{γ} can be obtained by repeated interior multiplication with the frame e_{α} :

$$C_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\gamma} = e_{\beta} \left[e_{\alpha} \right] C^{\gamma} = 2 e_{\alpha}^{i} e_{\beta}^{j} \partial_{|i} e_{j}|^{\gamma} .$$
(3.4.8)

In the 'holonomic gauge' where C^{γ} vanishes, we have a natural (or coordinate) coframe.

It has been noted already by Bergmann and Komar [53] that the apparent additional geometrical degrees of freedom, which are represented by the n^2 coefficients $e_i^{\alpha}(x)$ of the coframe one-form $\vartheta^{\alpha} = e_i^{\alpha}(x) dx^i$, can be absorbed by the action of the infinite-dimensional gauge group $\mathcal{GL}(n, R)$ of local linear transformations. An element of this group of automorphisms of the linear frame bundle may be locally represented by $\Lambda(x) = \Lambda_{\alpha}^{\beta}(x) L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$. The spacetime-dependent parameters $\Lambda_{\alpha}^{\beta}(x)$ consist of *n*-dimensional rotations (or Lorentz transformations), shear transformations, and scale transformations of the frames ("local Weyl transformations" [359]).

In an M_n we can define the *Lie derivative* of a scalar-valued *p*-form Ψ with respect to a vector field v as a rate of change of the *p*-form if transported along the vector. One finds (see [121]):

$$l_v \Psi := v \rfloor d\Psi + d(v \rfloor \Psi) . \tag{3.4.9}$$

The properties of this derivative are listed in (A.1.37). This expression is not gauge-covariant for tensor-valued forms and needs to be generalized.

3.5. Connection, exterior covariant derivative, torsion and curvature

In order to allow for a covariant differentiation of a tensor-valued form, we use the linear part of the Cartan connection (3.3.3) characterized by a one-form Γ which has values in the Lie algebra gl(n, R) of the general linear group GL(n, R). Hence Γ is expressible as

$$\Gamma = \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, \qquad \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \Gamma_{i\alpha}^{\ \beta} dx^{i}, \tag{3.5.1}$$

where the $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$'s are one-forms. A manifold M_n that is equipped with a linear connection Γ will be called [606] a linearly connected manifold L_n .

According to (3.2.8), the components of the linear connection transforms *inhomogeneously* under a local linear gauge transformation

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \to \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\prime \beta} = \Lambda(x)_{\alpha}^{\ \gamma} \Gamma_{\gamma}^{\ \delta} \Lambda^{-1}(x)_{\delta}^{\ \beta} - \Lambda(x)_{\alpha}^{\ \gamma} d\Lambda^{-1}(x)_{\gamma}^{\ \beta}.$$
(3.5.2)

This is still a passive transformation, but with inverted factor ordering. The difference between two *different* connections behaves tensorial again:

$$\Delta \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} := {}^{(1)}\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} - {}^{(2)}\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}, \qquad \Delta \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\prime \ \beta} = A(x)_{\alpha}^{\ \gamma} \Delta \Gamma_{\gamma}^{\ \delta} A^{-1}(x)_{\delta}^{\ \beta}. \tag{3.5.3}$$

If in (3.5.2) we pick a transformation which leads from a holonomic to an anholonomic frame, ¹⁹ that is, $\Lambda^{-1}(x)_i^{\alpha} = e_i^{\alpha}$, then we find

$$de_{i}^{\alpha} + \Gamma_{\beta}^{\alpha} e_{i}^{\beta} - \Gamma_{i}^{j} e_{i}^{\alpha} = 0.$$
(3.5.4)

This is not a separate condition " $\mathcal{D}e_i^a = 0$ " on the tetrads, as often erroneously stated in the literature, but merely a relation which allows to compute the holonomic components Γ_i^j in terms of the anholonomic ones Γ_{β}^a , or vice versa.

For a tensor-valued p-form density of representation type ρ , the GL(n, R)-covariant exterior derivative is given by

$$D := d + \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \rho(L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}) \wedge . \tag{3.5.5}$$

As an example, a vector-valued p-form Φ^{α} differentiates as

$$D\Phi^{\alpha} = d\Phi^{\alpha} + \Gamma_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}\Phi^{\beta}.$$
(3.5.6)

For a lower GL(n, R)-index, as in Ψ_{α} , a minus sign should be used instead. If we have a density, say $\hat{\Psi}_{\alpha}$, of anholonomic weight ω , then the trace $\Gamma := \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha}$ of the connection appears, due to $\rho(L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta})^{\mu}_{\nu} = -\delta^{\alpha}_{\nu}\delta^{\alpha}_{\beta} - \omega\delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}\delta^{\mu}_{\nu}$, explicitly in the covariant derivative:

$$D\hat{\Psi}_{\alpha} = d\hat{\Psi}_{\alpha} - \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}\hat{\Psi}_{\beta} - \omega\Gamma\hat{\Psi}_{\alpha}. \tag{3.5.7}$$

In general the weight ω is different from the dimension d_{Ψ} of the field Ψ .

Alternatively, one can derive this relation from the postulates that the Levi-Civita *n*-form density of (A.1.15) is covariantly constant and that the Leibniz rule is valid even if a density is involved. Note that the minus sign in front of the ω -term in (3.5.7) also occurs if a quantity with an upper Lie algebra index is differentiated, see [605]. By applying the exterior covariant derivative twice, we arrive at the Ricci identity

$$DD = R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \rho(L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}) \wedge, \tag{3.5.8}$$

which, if applied to a vector-valued zero-form, is often used for defining the curvature two-form R_{α}^{β} , see (3.5.10).

¹⁹ This transformation provides a transition from an anholonomic to a holonomic cross section of the linear bundle.

The field strengths associated with the coframe and the linear connection are given by the torsion two-form

$$T^{\alpha} = D\vartheta^{\alpha} = d\vartheta^{\alpha} + \Gamma_{\beta}{}^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta} = \frac{1}{2}T_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha} \vartheta^{\mu} \wedge \vartheta^{\nu}, \qquad (3.5.9)$$

and the linear part of the Lie-algebra-valued *curvature* two-form (3.2.5), respectively. From the commutation relation (3.1.5) and (3.1.6) of the affine algebra, we find for the components of the curvature:

$$R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = d\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} - \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma} \wedge \Gamma_{\gamma}{}^{\beta} = \frac{1}{2} R_{\mu\nu\alpha}{}^{\beta} \vartheta^{\mu} \wedge \vartheta^{\nu}.$$
(3.5.10)

The left hand sides of (3.5.9) and (3.5.10) constitute Cartan's first and second structure equation, respectively.

A big boost for the application and in the visualization of torsion was Kazuo Kondo's 1952 discovery [360] (see also [373,352]) of the possibility of describing a quasi-continuous distribution of dislocations in three-dimensional crystals by means of a torsion field. From this example it is immediately clear that the torsion field can encompass singularities. For the curvature this sort of behavior is well-known from GR. There, a singular metric may induce a singularity in the curvature as, for example, in the vacuum Schwarzschild solution at the origin (vanishing radial coordinate). However, *torsion singularities* – being induced by a singular coframe and/or a singular linear connection – are qualitatively different therefrom and should be studied in their own right, as was first pointed out by Nester and Isenberg [511], see also Baker [30], Edelen [177], Garcia de Andrade [217], Tod [678], and Zhang and Chen [736].

We have demonstrated explicitly that torsion and curvature are merely parts of the generalized curvature of the Cartan connection discussed above. According to (3.4.6) and (3.5.2), torsion and curvature transform as

$$T^{\alpha} \to T^{\prime \alpha} = \Lambda^{-1}(x)_{\beta}{}^{\alpha} T^{\beta}, \qquad (3.5.11)$$

$$R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \to R_{\alpha}^{\prime \beta} = A(x)_{\alpha}^{\ \gamma} A^{-1}(x)_{\delta}^{\ \beta} R_{\gamma}^{\ \delta}$$
(3.5.12)

under a linear gauge transformation.

Having now a prescribed connection at our disposal, we can, in generalizing the notion of the ordinary Lie derivative (3.4.9) of a scalar-valued form, come up with the notion of gauge covariant Lie derivative of a Lie algebra-valued form Ψ with respect to a vector v (see [504,506,510,674,704]):

$$\mathbf{L}_{v}\boldsymbol{\Psi} := v \mathbf{J} \boldsymbol{D} \boldsymbol{\Psi} + \boldsymbol{D} \left(v \mathbf{J} \boldsymbol{\Psi} \right). \tag{3.5.13}$$

In deriving the Noether identities in section 5.2, this gauge-covariant notion²⁰ will be of great help. Alternatively, Eq. (3.5.13) can be put into the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{c}\Psi = l_{c}\Psi + (v \rfloor \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta})\rho(L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta})\Psi.$$
(3.5.14)

Later on in (3.11.9), we will employ the covariant exterior derivative D with respect to the *transposed* connection (see [607,682])

$$\widehat{\Gamma}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} := \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} + e_{\alpha}]T^{\beta}.$$
(3.5.15)

²⁰ The 'ordinary' Lie derivative f_c of (A.1.38), which is already defined in an $M_{\pi i}$ does not coincide with the L_c of above. These two operators are interrelated by $f_v \Psi = L_v \Psi - (\widehat{D}_{\alpha} v^{\beta}) \rho (L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}) \Psi$, $\widehat{D}_{\alpha} := e_{\alpha} | \widehat{D}$.

Its somewhat unclear role becomes more transparent by the following observation: If applied to vector components v^{α} , the transposed derivative is identical to the gauge-covariant Lie derivative of the coframe with respect to the vector, i.e.

$$\mathbf{E}_{v}\,\boldsymbol{\vartheta}^{\alpha}\equiv\widehat{D}\,v^{\alpha}.\tag{3.5.16}$$

3.5.1. Geometric interpretation of torsion and curvature

In section 3.2 the affine connection $\tilde{\tilde{r}}$ and the affine curvature $\tilde{\tilde{R}}$ are defined in the standard Yang-Mills manner. If, by means of $\tilde{\tilde{r}}$, an affine vector $\tilde{\tilde{v}}$ is parallelly transported around a small closed loop, an affine transformation of $\tilde{\tilde{v}}$ is induced, the linear piece of which is determined by the linear curvature $R^{(L)}$ and the translational piece by the translational curvature $R^{(T)}$, see (3.2.13). In order to recover this sort of behavior on the level of the L_n , we have to introduce the so-called Cartan transport:

In a flat L_n – that is an L_n with $R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = 0$ – a *parallel* vector field $\zeta = \zeta^{\alpha} e_{\alpha}$ is one that satisfies the equation

$$D\zeta^{\alpha} = 0, \qquad (3.5.17)$$

compare also (3.3.2). In an *arbitrary* linearly connected space L_n , the integrability condition for (3.5.17) is

$$DD\zeta^{\alpha} = R_{\beta}^{\ \alpha} \zeta^{\beta} = 0. \tag{3.5.18}$$

If the curvature tensor R_{β}^{α} does not vanish, we may still integrate (3.5.17) along a curve in order to get a vector which is parallelly transported along this curve. A standard calculation shows that if a vector ζ is parallelly transported around an *infinitesimal closed loop*, it is linearly deformed by an amount proportional to the curvature \times area enclosed by the loop. An explicit statement of this result will be included in a more general result to be derived below, see (3.5.24). Note that the torsion plays no role here.

In order to find a context in which torsion does enter, let us consider an extension of the propagation law (3.5.17) along the lines of Cartan [103] (cf. [683]). Returning to the flat L_n , we may define a *radius vector* field (or position vector field) ξ as one that satisfies the equation

$$D\xi^{\alpha} = \vartheta^{\alpha}, \tag{3.5.19}$$

which corresponds to $\Gamma^{(T)\alpha} = 0$, compare (3.2.11). Let us refer to (3.5.19) as the equation of a *Cartan transport* ('rolling without sliding'). In terms of a Cartesian coordinate basis ∂_i with $\xi = \xi^i \partial_i$, Eq.(3.5.19) is simply $\partial_j \xi^i = \delta^i_j$ and hence $\xi^i = x^i + A^i$, with A^i as a constant vector, so that ξ^i is the radius (or position) vector of x^i with respect to an origin $x^i = -A^i$. In an L_n , the integrability condition for (3.5.19) is

$$DD\xi^{\alpha} - D\vartheta^{\alpha} = R_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}\xi^{\beta} - T^{\alpha} = 0.$$
(3.5.20)

Hence a necessary condition for the existence of global radius vector fields ξ is vanishing translational curvature; sufficient for this is zero torsion and zero linear curvature. Note that a *metric* is not necessary in the context of these considerations.

Suppose now that the torsion and curvature are non-zero and we integrate (3.5.19) around a closed infinitesimal curve C, with tangent vector v, beginning and ending at a point P having coordinates x^i . Let Q be any point on the curve with coordinates $x^i + y^i$ and Q' a neighboring point with coordinates $x^i + y^i + dy^i$. The equation of the curve is of the form $y^i = y^i(t)$ and the tangent vector field is $v = (dy^i/dt) \partial_i$. Then (3.5.19) becomes

$$\frac{d\xi^{\alpha}}{dt} = e_i^{\ \alpha} \frac{dy^i}{dt} - \Gamma_{i\beta}^{\ \alpha} \xi^{\beta} \frac{dy^i}{dt}.$$
(3.5.21)

Thus the change in ξ^{α} in the displacement from Q to Q' is

$$d\xi^{\alpha} = (e_{i}^{\alpha} dy^{i} - \Gamma_{i\beta}^{\alpha} \xi^{\beta} dy^{i})|_{(x^{i}+y^{i})}.$$
(3.5.22)

Following Cartan [103], we may interpret this equation by looking upon the tangent spaces at Q and Q' as affine spaces. Eq. (3.5.22) tells us that the mapping bringing the point ξ^{α} in the tangent space at Q to $\xi^{\alpha} + d\xi^{\alpha}$ at Q' consists of a soldered translation $e_i^{\alpha} dy^i$ and a linear deformation $-\Gamma_{i\beta}^{\alpha} dy^i \xi^{\beta}$.

If we now make a Taylor expansion about x^i of the functions $e_i^{\alpha}(x+y)$ and $\Gamma_{i\beta}^{\alpha}(x+y)$ and apply (3.5.22) to the infinitesimal displacement $x^i \to x^i + y^i$ to get $\xi^{\beta}(x+y) = \xi^{\beta}(x) + e_j^{\beta}y^j - \Gamma_{j\mu}^{\beta}(x)\xi^{\mu}(x)y^j$, then Eq. (3.5.22) becomes

$$d\xi^{\alpha} = d(e_{i}^{\ \alpha}y^{i} - \Gamma_{i\beta}^{\ \alpha}\xi^{\beta}y^{i}) + (T_{ij}^{\ \alpha} - R_{ij\beta}^{\ \alpha}\xi^{\beta})y^{[i}dy^{i]}.$$
(3.5.23)

Hence, on integrating around C, it is found that the total change in ξ^{α} is

$$\Delta \xi^{\alpha} \simeq (T_{ij}{}^{\alpha} - R_{ij\beta}{}^{\alpha} \xi^{\beta}) \oint_{C} y^{\dagger i} dy^{j \dagger} = \frac{1}{2} (T_{ij}{}^{\alpha} - R_{ij\beta}{}^{\alpha} \xi^{\beta}) \int_{S} dy^{i} \wedge dy^{j}, \qquad (3.5.24)$$

where S is the two-dimensional plane element enclosed by C. The \simeq sign indicates that the surface S is so small that the components of curvature and torsion are constant in this area and can be taken in front of the surface integral. Thus, in going around the infinitesimal closed loop C, the vector ξ undergoes a translation and a linear deformation of the same order of magnitude as the area of S, the *translation* being determined by the *torsion* and the *linear deformation* by the *curvature*.

The Cartan transport may also be understood from the affine point of view. The affine version of (3.5.17) reads

$$\widetilde{\widetilde{D}}\widetilde{\xi}^{\alpha} = \begin{pmatrix} d\xi^{\alpha} + \Gamma^{(L)} \wedge \xi^{\alpha} + \Gamma^{(T)\alpha} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} D\xi^{\alpha} + \Gamma^{(T)\alpha} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} = 0, \qquad (3.5.25)$$

see (3.2.7). Parallel-transport along a tangent vector y of the Cartan circuit yields

$$\widetilde{\widetilde{E}}_{y}\widetilde{\widetilde{D}}\widetilde{\widetilde{\xi}}^{\alpha} = y \rfloor \left(\widetilde{\widetilde{D}}\widetilde{\widetilde{D}}\widetilde{\widetilde{\xi}}^{\alpha}\right) + \widetilde{\widetilde{D}}\left(y \rfloor \widetilde{\widetilde{D}}\widetilde{\widetilde{\xi}}^{\alpha}\right) = y \rfloor \left(\frac{DD\xi^{\alpha} + R^{(T)\alpha}}{0}\right) = 0.$$
(3.5.26)

Integration of the first one-form on a closed loop parametrized by y yields

$$\Delta \xi^{\alpha} = -\oint_{C} y \big[(DD\xi^{\alpha}) = \oint_{C} y \big] R^{(T)\alpha} = \int_{S} R^{(T)\alpha} \simeq \frac{1}{2} (T_{ij}{}^{\alpha} - R_{ij\beta}{}^{\alpha} \xi^{\beta}) \int_{S} dy^{i} \wedge dy^{j}, \qquad (3.5.27)$$

see (3.2.13). This derivation is much nicer than the component approach starting with (3.5.19).

3.6. Affine gauge transformations versus active diffeomorphisms

The affine gauge transformations in (3.2.3) are finite transformations. If we expand them up to first order according to

$$A(x) = \mathbf{i} + \omega_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + \cdots, \qquad (3.6.1)$$

$$\tau(x) = 0 + \varepsilon^{\alpha} P_{\alpha} + \cdots, \qquad (3.6.2)$$

we obtain from (3.2.8) and (3.2.9), respectively,

$$\delta_{A^{-1}}\Gamma^{(L)} = (D\omega_{\alpha}^{\beta})L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + \cdots, \qquad (3.6.3)$$

$$\delta_{A^{-1}}\Gamma^{(T)} = (D\varepsilon_{\alpha} + \omega_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}\Gamma^{(T)\beta})P_{\alpha} + \cdots$$
(3.6.4)

Incidentally, for the "product" of Lie generators we use the Lie brackets of section 3.1, since we work in the adjoint representation. It is gratifying to note that the leading exterior covariant derivatives reveal, in particular, that the translational connection $\Gamma^{(T)}$ is really the "compensating" field for infinitesimal local translations ε in the Yang-Mills sense.

Let us compare this result with the "diffeomorphism" approach, which was orginally developed for the Poincaré subgroup of the A(n, R): In essence, the translational part $\varepsilon = \varepsilon^{\alpha} P_{\alpha}$ of the transformation

$$\Pi = 1 + \varepsilon + \omega = 1 + \varepsilon^{\alpha} P_{\alpha} + \omega_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, \qquad (3.6.5)$$

is embedded as an *n*-parameter subgroup in the infinite-dimensional group of *active* diffeomorphisms of spacetime. In order to calculate the effect on the linear conection and the coframe, one has to consider the action [268] of the Lie derivative $\mathcal{L}_{\varepsilon}$ with respect to the vector field ε together with an infinitesimal frame rotation parametrized by ω . Since $\mathcal{L}_{\varepsilon} = l_{\varepsilon}$ holds for geometrical objects which are invariant under changes of the basis, a straightforward calculation yields

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\varepsilon} + \delta_{\omega})\Gamma = \left[D(\omega_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} + \varepsilon]\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}) + \varepsilon\right]R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, \qquad (3.6.6)$$

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\varepsilon} + \delta_{\omega})\vartheta = \left[D\varepsilon^{\alpha} - (\omega_{\beta}{}^{\alpha} + \varepsilon]\Gamma_{\beta}{}^{\alpha})\vartheta^{\beta} + \varepsilon]T^{\alpha}\right]P_{\alpha}.$$
(3.6.7)

The "annoying" linear connection terms in (3.6.6) and (3.6.7) can be dismissed by going over to the *parallel transport* version of the theory, as presented in [275,479], for example, in which, instead of P_{α} , the covariant derivative components $D_{\alpha} := e_{\alpha} | D$ are adopted as generators of local translations: Then the infinitesimal transformations read

$$\tilde{\Pi} = 1 + \varepsilon^{\alpha} D_{\alpha} + \omega_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = \Pi - \varepsilon] \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}.$$
(3.6.8)

Since this amounts to a redefinition $\tilde{\omega} := \omega - \varepsilon |\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ of the parameters of the infinitesimal linear transformation, we can simply read off, from (3.6.6) and (3.6.7), the new results

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\varepsilon} + \delta_{\bar{\omega}})\Gamma = \left[D\omega_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + \varepsilon\right]R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$$
(3.6.9)

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\varepsilon} + \delta_{\tilde{\omega}})\vartheta = \left[D\varepsilon^{\alpha} - \omega_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}\vartheta^{\beta} + \varepsilon\right]T^{\alpha}\right]P_{\alpha}.$$
(3.6.10)

In this *parallel transport* version, the leading covariant derivative pieces are the same as in the affine gauge approach. In particular, the "hidden" translational piece in the *affine* transformation (3.2.9) of the coframe gets thereby "uncovered" in (3.6.10). In the end, is it "...somewhat a matter of taste...", as

Nester [504] has put it, whether or not one prefers the parallel transport interpretation of translations over the affine gauge approach? One could argue that the Pauli-type curvature and torsion terms in the infinitesimal transformations (3.6.9) and (3.6.10) violate the spirit of the principle of *minimal coupling*, a cornerstone of a conventional Yang-Mills type gauge approach.

These terms also show up in the commutation relations for the operator D_a of parallel-transport, if applied to a zero-form. Let us start with the identity $\vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge (e_{\gamma} \downarrow \Psi) = p\Psi$ for any *p*-form Ψ . Then we get from

$$(p+1)DD\Psi = D \wedge \vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge (e_{\gamma}]D\Psi) = T^{\gamma} \wedge (e_{\gamma}[D\Psi) - \vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge D(e_{\gamma}]D\Psi)$$
(3.6.11)

and the Ricci identity (3.5.8), the relation

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta} \left(e_{\alpha} \rfloor D(e_{\beta} \rfloor D \Psi) \right) = -(p+1)T^{\gamma} \wedge (e_{\gamma} \rfloor D \Psi) + (p+1)^{2} R_{\mu}{}^{\nu} \rho(L^{\mu}{}_{\nu}) \Psi.$$
(3.6.12)

If Ψ is a zero-form, Eq.(3.6.12) reduces to the commutation relation (see [275,479])

$$[\mathcal{L}_{e_{\alpha}}, \mathcal{L}_{e_{\beta}}] = [D_{\alpha}, D_{\beta}] = -T_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma} D_{\gamma} + R_{\alpha\beta\mu}^{\nu} \rho(L^{\mu}_{\nu}), \qquad (3.6.13)$$

cf. (2.4.1). Thus in a space with torsion and curvature the translations do not commute any longer, their Lie-algebra gets deformed and the former structure constants become x-dependent functions.

Such a *softening* [345] of the Lie algebra structure cannot be avoided in a diffeomorphism-type approach. Using the covariant derivatives (or Lie derivatives) has the advantage of being physically meaningful as a parallel transport, as explained in Ref. [272,275], once we put up a frame, and, in a corresponding first order approach, these 'non-minimal' structures do *not* touch the explicit form of the Lagrangian. However, they are algebraically less useful because (3.6.13) is not a Lie algebra any more.

3.7. Metric

For building up a macroscopical physical theory, we need a geometric structure which will enable us to measure lengths and angles. This is provided by the Riemannian metric g, a non-degenerate second order covariant symmetric²¹ tensor field. In the L_n we introduce, besides the connection $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$, an *independent* local metric structure by

$$g = g_{\alpha\beta}\vartheta^{\alpha} \otimes \vartheta^{\beta}, \quad g_{\alpha\beta} = g(e_{\alpha}, e_{\beta}). \tag{3.7.1}$$

A simple way to introduce a metric tensor field explicitly is to specify its n(n+1)/2 independent components $g_{ij} \equiv g(\partial_i, \partial_j)$ with respect to a given holonomic basis ∂_i :

$$g = g_{ij} dx' \otimes dx', \quad g_{ij} = g(\partial_i, \partial_j) = g_{ji}. \tag{3.7.2}$$

The transition between the holonomic and anholonomic formulation is given by

$$g_{\alpha\beta} = e^i{}_{\alpha}e^j{}_{\beta}g_{ij}. \tag{3.7.3}$$

We assume that the metric is non-degenerate, i.e. det $g_{\alpha\beta} \neq 0$.

²¹ In contradistiction to Moffat's approach [467], we do not allow an *antisymmetric* part in the metric tensor, since it does not lend itself to a direct geometrical interpretation.

Let us consider, using standard results from linear algebra [241], the properties of the matrix $g_{\alpha\beta}$ at an arbitrary point *P* of the manifold: Because the matrix $g_{\alpha\beta}$ is symmetric, we can diagonalize it. Starting with a general frame field e_{α} with respect to which the metric components are given by (3.7.1), it is always possible to make a suitable local deformation $\Lambda_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}(x)$ to another frame $e'_{\alpha} = \Lambda_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}(x) e_{\beta}$ such that

$$g'_{\alpha\beta} = \Lambda_{\alpha}^{\ \mu}(x)\Lambda_{\beta}^{\ \nu}(x) g_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag} \ (\lambda_0, \lambda_1, \lambda_2, \cdots, \lambda_{n-1})$$
(3.7.4)

is diagonal. We can normalize and rearrange the basis vectors e'_{α} in such a way that they yield

$$g(\mathring{e}_{\alpha}, \mathring{e}_{\beta}) = \mathring{g}_{\alpha\beta} = \operatorname{diag}\left(\underbrace{-1, \dots, -1}_{\operatorname{Ind}(g)}, \underbrace{+1, \dots, +1}_{n-\operatorname{Ind}(g)}\right) =: o_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(3.7.5)

We call such a basis \mathring{e}_{α} a (pseudo)*orthonormal basis*. The natural number Ind(g) is the index²² of the metric. According to Sylvester's law of inertia, the index is an invariant which is independent²³ of the particular orthonormal basis one arrived at. Only if we allow for degenerate metrics, see [174,586,183,147,143], then the index may change in different parts of the manifold.

The matrices $\mathring{A}(x) \in G(n, R)$, which 'rotate' one orthonormal basis into another one, are determined by the equation $\mathring{A}_{\alpha}{}^{\mu}(x)\mathring{A}_{\beta}{}^{\nu}(x)o_{\mu\nu} = o_{\alpha\beta}$. They build up the pseudo-orthogonal group $O(\operatorname{Ind}(g), n - \operatorname{Ind}(g))$.

If the metric is not positive (negative) definite, then there exists the 'lightcone'

$$LC_P := \{K \in T_P(M_n) \setminus \{0\} \mid g(K, K) = 0\}$$

It uniquely determines the metric g in $T_P(M_n)$ up to a factor $\Omega \in R \setminus \{0\}$. If we act with an element of $O(\operatorname{Ind}(g), n-\operatorname{Ind}(g))$ on a vector, its length does not change. Accordingly, the $O(\operatorname{Ind}(g), n-\operatorname{Ind}(g))$ leaves the lightcone invariant.

So far we considered the properties of the metric on every $T_P(M_n)$. We now require the metric to be a smooth tensor field over M_n . It can then be shown that the index $\operatorname{Ind}(g)$ has to be constant ²⁴ on M_n . If we restrict ourselves to a metric of *Minkowskian index*, that is, to $o_{\alpha\beta} = \operatorname{diag}(-1, 1, \dots, 1)$, we find the n(n-1)/2-dimensional Lorentz group O(1, n-1) as subgroup of the n^2 -dimensional GL(n, R). The "length square" of a vector $V = V^{\alpha}e_{\alpha}$ is defined by $V^2 := g(V,V) = V^{\alpha}V^{\beta}g(e_{\alpha}, e_{\beta}) = V^{\alpha}V^{\beta}g_{\alpha\beta}$. A vector V is called *timelike*, *lightlike* (null) or spacelike, according to whether g(V,V) < 0, g(V,V) = 0, or g(V,V) > 0, respectively.

The metric g induces an isomorphism $\phi : T_P(M_n) \longrightarrow T_P^*(M_n)$ by $\phi(V) \equiv g(V, \cdot)$ for each $V \in T_P(M_n)$. This isomorphism does not depend on a choice of a basis. Since the metric $g_{\alpha\beta}$ is non-degenerate, we can form the inverse metric $g^{\alpha\beta}$ such that $g_{\alpha\gamma}g^{\gamma\beta} = \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta}$. Now we can identify $T_P(M_n)$ with $T_P^*(M_n)$ or, technically speaking, we can raise and lower indices.

²² More geometrically, we may define the index Ind(g) to be the maximal number of linearly independent timelike vectors $\in T_P(M_n)$.

²³ In order to change the signature in, for example, two dimensions from the Minkowskian form $\{o_{\alpha\beta}\} = \begin{pmatrix} -i & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ to the Euclidian metric $\{\bar{g}_{\alpha\beta}\} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$, one has to transform $o_{\alpha\beta}$, according to (3.7.4), by a necessarily *complex* matrix. In our example, it is given by $A = \{A_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}\} = \begin{pmatrix} i\sqrt{1+\lambda^2} & i\lambda \\ \sqrt{1+\lambda^2} & \sqrt{1+\lambda^2} \end{pmatrix} \in GL(2,C)$, det A = i.

²⁴ More exactly: constant on every connected part of M_n , see [259].

An L_n with an additional metric field will be called a metric-affine space (L_n, g) . A connected four-dimensional oriented²⁵ differentiable manifold M_4 together with a linear connection $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ and a metric g of index 1 will be called a SPACETIME (L_4, g) . Conventionally a spacetime is defined as an M_4 with a metric, see Sachs and Wu [582]. Our insistence on the independence of the linear connection basically results from the experience that one has made with gauge theories in which Lie-algebra valued connections play a prominent role as gauge potentials.

Owing to the existence of a metric, we can define the scalar density $\sqrt{|\det g_{\mu\nu}|}$ and, in view of (A.1.34), the g-volume element *n*-form²⁶

$$\eta := \sqrt{|\det g_{\mu\nu}|} \vartheta^{\hat{1}} \wedge \dots \wedge \vartheta^{\hat{n}} = \frac{1}{n!} \sqrt{|\det g_{\mu\nu}|} \epsilon_{\alpha_1 \dots \alpha_n} \vartheta^{\alpha_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha_n} = *1, \qquad (3.7.6)$$

dual to the unit zero-form. The Hodge star * will be defined below. Picking a (pseudo) orthonormal positively oriented coframe $\mathring{\vartheta}^{\alpha}$, the g-volume element simplifies to

$$\eta = \overset{\circ}{\vartheta}^{i} \wedge \dots \wedge \overset{\circ}{\vartheta}^{\hat{n}}.$$
(3.7.7)

Having an *n*-form at our disposal, we can successively, as in (A.1.35), contract it by means of the frame e_{α} , thereby arriving at an (n-1)-form, an (n-2)-form, etc., until we terminate the series with a zero-form:

$$\eta_{\alpha_{1}} := e_{\alpha_{1}} \rfloor \eta = \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \eta_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}\cdots\alpha_{n}} \vartheta^{\alpha_{2}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha_{n}} = {}^{*} \vartheta_{\alpha_{1}},$$

$$\eta_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}} := e_{\alpha_{2}} \rfloor \eta_{\alpha_{1}} = \frac{1}{(n-2)!} \eta_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}\alpha_{3}\cdots\alpha_{n}} \vartheta^{\alpha_{3}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha_{n}} = {}^{*} (\vartheta_{\alpha_{1}} \wedge \vartheta_{\alpha_{2}}),$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\eta_{\alpha_{1}\cdots\alpha_{n}} = e_{\alpha_{n}} \rfloor \cdots \rfloor e_{\alpha_{1}} \rfloor \eta = {}^{*} (\vartheta_{\alpha_{1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta_{\alpha_{n}}).$$
(3.7.8)

The η -bases span the graded algebra of dual exterior forms on each cotangent space $T^*(M_n)$.

3.7.1. Hodge star

The Hodge star operator * maps a p-form into an (n-p)-form. Already in (3.7.6) and in (3.7.8) we specified how the star operator acts on zero-forms, one-forms, two-forms, etc.. Note that we had to lower the index of the coframe in (3.7.8) by means of the metric in order to achieve such a correspondence, that is, the star operator can only be defined if a (pseudo)Riemannian metric is at hand. Explicitly, the Hodge dual of a p-form Ψ is defined by

$${}^{*}\Psi := \frac{1}{(n-p)!p!} \sqrt{|\det g_{\mu\nu}|} g^{\alpha_{1}\gamma_{1}} \cdots g^{\alpha_{p}\gamma_{p}} \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\alpha_{1}\cdots\alpha_{p}\beta_{1}\cdots\beta_{n-p}} \Psi_{\gamma_{1}\cdots\gamma_{p}} \vartheta^{\beta_{1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{\beta_{n-p}}.$$
(3.7.9)

²⁵ Because of CP-violation in the Kaon system, space cannot be non-orientable, see Zel'dovich and Novikov [735].

²⁶ Following early attempts of Einstein, one may consider theories which are invariant merely under the special groups SL(n, R) or SDiff(n, R) with determinant plus one. Then the determinant of the metric in (3.7.6) appears as an additional structure which is, at times, identified with the dilaton field σ according to $\sigma = \sqrt{\det g_{\mu\nu}}$ (as a result of symmetry breaking, cf. section 6 for details).

If f is a zero-form, Ψ and Φ p-forms, the Hodge star has the properties $*(f\Psi) = f^*\Psi$ and $*(\Psi + \Phi) = *\Psi + *\Phi$. These rules allow us to compute the Hodge dual of any p-form.

Possibly up to a sign, double application of the Hodge star to a p-form reproduces the original p-form,

$${}^{**}\Phi = (-1)^{p(n-p) + \operatorname{Ind}(g)}\Phi, \tag{3.7.10}$$

where we used the normalization $\epsilon_{\alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_n} \epsilon^{\alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_n} = (-1)^{\ln d(g)} n!$. For Φ and Ψ of the same degree p, we find

and for a *p*-form Φ

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge (e_{\alpha} | \Phi) = p\Phi, \tag{3.7.12}$$

$${}^{*}(\Phi \wedge \vartheta_{\alpha}) = e_{\alpha}]{}^{*}\Phi. \tag{3.7.13}$$

3.8. Nonmetricity

In an (L_n, g) , the field strengths are then given by the components of the *nonmetricity* one-form (relates to the relativistic mass *quadrupole* moment)²⁷

$$Q_{\alpha\beta} := -Dg_{\alpha\beta} = -dg_{\alpha\beta} + 2\Gamma_{(\alpha)}{}^{\gamma}g_{\gamma|\beta} = Q_{i\alpha\beta}\,dx^{i}, \qquad (3.8.1)$$

the torsion two-form (3.5.9), and the curvature two-form (3.5.10). The Weyl one-form (note the conventional factor 1/n)

$$Q := (1/n)Q_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma} = -(1/n)g^{\alpha\beta}Dg_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (3.8.2)$$

is one irreducible piece of the nonmetricity. Thus the traceless part of the nonmetricity reads

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha\beta} := Q_{\alpha\beta} - Qg_{\alpha\beta}. \tag{3.8.3}$$

For the complete irreducible decompositions of the field strengths (and of the Bianchi identities), we refer to Appendix B. The explicit expressions for their tensor components are given, e.g., in [24], [26]. Note that from (3.8.1) there result the contra- and covariant relations

$$Q^{\alpha\beta} = Dg^{\alpha\beta}$$
 and $T_{\alpha} := g_{\alpha\beta}T^{\beta} = D\vartheta_{\alpha} + Q_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}$. (3.8.4)

The covariant derivatives of the η -bases read:²⁸

$$D\eta_{\alpha_1} = -\frac{1}{2}nQ \wedge \eta_{\alpha_1} + T^{\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha_1\beta},$$

$$D\eta_{\alpha_1\alpha_2} = -\frac{1}{2}nQ \wedge \eta_{\alpha_1\alpha_2} + T^{\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha_1\alpha_2\beta}$$

 $^{^{27}}$ In the textbook of Landau-Lifshitz [386] it is proved that the nonmetricity of a spacetime manifold has to vanish. We leave it as an exercise to our readers to show that this "proof" consists in a *petitio principii*. Incidentally, also the proof in [386] of the vanishing of torsion of spacetime is of similar quality. With an analogous technique one could prove the vanishing of the curvature, too.

²⁸ This set of formulae has also been derived by Tresguerres, see [687-689].



Fig. 1. Parallel displacement of vectors V and W along a closed contour (not shown). The (shaded) null-vectors at the beginning may become, due to shear, both time-like at the end.

:

$$D\eta_{\alpha_1\cdots\alpha_n} = -\frac{1}{2}nQ \wedge \eta_{\alpha_1\cdots\alpha_n}.$$
(3.8.5)

Clearly, the relation $D\eta \equiv 0$ for the *n*-form η is identically fulfilled. We remark that, due to the appearance of the nonmetricity, the (conformal) lightcone structure will, in general, not be preserved during parallel-transport. The parallel-displacement of vectors V and W along a curve with tangent vector u is given by the gauge covariant Lie derivative $L_u V^\alpha = u \rfloor DV^\alpha = 0$ and $L_u W^\alpha = 0$. Then, in a metric-affine spacetime, the scalar product $\langle V, W \rangle := g(V, W)$ is generally displaced as follows:

$$\mathcal{L}_{u}\langle \mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}\rangle = -u \left[(\mathcal{Q}^{*}_{\alpha\beta} \, V^{\alpha} \mathcal{W}^{\beta} + \mathcal{Q}\langle \mathcal{V},\mathcal{W}\rangle). \right]$$
(3.8.6)

It shows that the Weyl one-form Q will leave the (conformal) light-cone structure intact, whereas the traceless $Q_{\alpha\beta}$, which corresponds to the shear in (3.1.11), deforms this structure, if transported along the vector u (cf.[174,260]). The local lightcone will not be touched therefrom. We will return to this issue in section 6 after our presentation of the symmetry-breaking mechanism and its induced geometry.

3.9. Bianchi identities and Chern-Simons terms

The field strengths nonmetricity, torsion, and curvature obey the following Bianchi identities:

$$DQ_{\alpha\beta} \equiv 2R_{(\alpha}{}^{\gamma}g_{\beta)\gamma}, \qquad (0\text{th}),$$

$$DT^{\alpha} \equiv R_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\gamma}, \qquad (1\text{st}),$$

$$DR_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \equiv 0, \qquad (2\text{nd}). \qquad (3.9.1)$$

This 0th identity comes into existence, ²⁹ because the curvature two-form in an (L_n, g) enjoys no symmetry in the Lie algebra indices. In a Riemann-Cartan spacetime, however, where the curvature is antisymmetric in α and β , the 0th identity becomes trivial. In Riemannian spacetime, the 1st identity degenerates to the familiar symmetry condition $R_{\chi}^{1,\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\gamma} = 0$ of the Riemannian curvature. The

²⁹ Its trace reads $dQ_{\gamma}^{\gamma} \equiv 2R_{\gamma}^{\gamma}$ or $dQ \equiv (2/n)R_{\gamma}^{\gamma}$.
irreducible decompositions of these Bianchi identities can be found in full detail in sections B.5 and B.6 of the appendix.

In metric-affine gravity for $n \ge 3$, there exist analogs of the Chern-Simons three-form of a non-Abelian gauge theory. However, let us first introduce the volume preserving connection

$${}^{\dagger}\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} - \frac{1}{2}Q\delta^{\beta}_{\alpha}, \tag{3.9.2}$$

which will be derived in section 3.12. The GL(4, R) Chern-Simons term [116,117] reads

$$C_{RR} := -\frac{1}{2} (\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge R_{\beta}{}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{3} \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge \Gamma_{\beta}{}^{\gamma} \wedge \Gamma_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha})$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} (\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge d\Gamma_{\beta}{}^{\alpha} - \frac{2}{3} \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge \Gamma_{\beta}{}^{\gamma} \wedge \Gamma_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha})$$

$$= {}^{\dagger}C_{RR} + \frac{1}{4} C_{\mu R \mu R}, \qquad (3.9.4)$$

see also Bardeen [35] and the earlier construction of Buchdahl [86] in the case of the Riemannian curvature, and that associated with *dilations* is

$$C_{trR\,trR} := -\frac{1}{2}\Gamma \wedge R = -Q \wedge R - \frac{1}{4}d(R\,\ln|\det g_{\alpha\beta}|), \qquad (3.9.5)$$

where $\Gamma = \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \alpha}$ and $R = d\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \alpha}$. As can be seen from (3.9.4), C_{RR} can be decomposed into an SL(4, R)-part ${}^{\dagger}C_{RR}$ and a dilation piece as given in (3.9.5). Hence (3.9.5) represents an independent Chern-Simons term for dilations.

These are the Chern-Simons three-forms proper which are independent of the metric.³⁰ Nevertheless, in the sense of our unified affine approach,³¹ we may also expect Chern-Simons type terms attached to the translation. And indeed, a *translation* Chern-Simons type term (cf. [449,280] and references therein) can be found according to

$$C_{TT} := \frac{1}{2l^2} g_{\alpha\beta} \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge T^{\beta} = \frac{1}{2l^2} (\vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge d\vartheta^{\alpha} - \vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta} \wedge \Gamma_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}) = {}^{\dagger}C_{TT}.$$
(3.9.6)

With respect to the Clifford algebra-valued one- and two-forms $\gamma := \vartheta^{\alpha} \gamma_{\alpha}$, $\sigma := (i/2)\gamma \wedge \gamma$, and $D\gamma = T^{\alpha} \gamma_{\alpha}$, respectively, cf. [449,282], the translational Chern-Simons term can be rewritten as

$$C_{TT} = \frac{1}{8l^2} \operatorname{Tr}(\gamma D \gamma) = \frac{i}{8l^2} \operatorname{Tr}(D\sigma).$$

³⁰ In odd dimensions n = 2k - 1, the Chern-Simons term for the Lie algebra-valued linear connection (3.5.1) can be written in rather compact form as $C_R^{2k-1} = -(k/2) \int_0^1 dz \operatorname{Tr} \{\Gamma \wedge (z \, d\Gamma - z^2 \Gamma \wedge \Gamma)^{k-1}\}$, cf. [725].

³¹ There may also be a Inönü-Wigner type contraction approach, where one does not use the Cartan connection (3.3.3), but instead starts off with a sl(5, R)-valued i.e. trace free connection on a four-dimensional manifold: $\hat{\Gamma} = \Gamma_A^{\ \ B} E^x \ \ ^A_B = \Gamma_a^{\ \ B} L^a{}_{\ \ \beta} + \Gamma_4^{\ \ B} L^4{}_{\ \ \beta} + \Gamma_a^{\ \ A} L^a{}_4 =: \Gamma_a^{\ \ B} L^a{}_{\ \ \beta} + (1/l) \vartheta^{\ \ B} L^4{}_{\ \ \beta} + (1/l) \vartheta^{\ \ A} L^a{}_4$, where A, B, \ldots runs from 0 to 4. The SL(5, R) Chern-Simons term reads $\hat{C} = -\frac{1}{2} (\Gamma_A^{\ \ B} \wedge d\Gamma_B^{\ \ A} - \frac{2}{3} \Gamma_A^{\ \ B} \wedge \Gamma_B^{\ \ C} \wedge \Gamma_C^{\ \ A})$. Not surprisingly, it contains the Chern-Simons term (3.9.3) corresponding to GL(4, R)-gauge transformations. In order to isolate the remaining terms, we perform an expansion and find $\hat{C} = C_{RR} - (1/2l^2) [\vartheta^{\ \ B} \wedge d\theta_{\ \ B} + \theta_{\alpha} \wedge d\vartheta^{\alpha} - \frac{2}{3} (\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \ B} \wedge \theta_{\beta} \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha} + \theta_{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge \Gamma_{\gamma}^{\ \ \alpha} + \vartheta^{\ \ B} \wedge \Gamma_{\beta}^{\ \ \gamma} \wedge \theta_{\gamma})] = C_{RR} - (1/2l^2) [\vartheta^{\ \ B} \wedge d\theta_{\ \ B} + 2\theta_{\alpha} \wedge \Gamma_{\beta}^{\ \ \alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\ \ B}] = C_{RR} - (1/2l^2) [\vartheta^{\ \ B} \wedge D\theta_{\ \ B} + \theta_{\alpha} \wedge T^{\ \ C}]$. After a Inönü-Wigner type group contraction, the one-forms $\vartheta^{\ \ B}$ and θ_{α} correspond to the R^4 and ${}^{\ \ R}$ and ${}^{\ \ R}$ and ${}^{\ \ R}$ are usual form, if we identify θ_{α} , after some symmetry reduction which eliminates the antisymmetric components of g, with the conventional coframe $\vartheta^{\ \ B}$ by means of $\theta_{\alpha} = g_{\alpha\beta}\vartheta^{\ \ B}$. Thus one may speculate that the metric has a topological origin which is induced by a SL(5, R) Chern-Simons term. Since the term $\vartheta^{\ \ A} \wedge \vartheta^{\ \ A} \wedge \vartheta^{\ \ A} - 2C_{RR} - 2C_{TT}$.

In any case, it is metric dependent, and it is unclear whether it has any topological meaning without taking recourse to dynamical identifications, cf. (6.7.8) and (6.7.10). Nevertheless, as we will see immediately, its exterior derivative behaves in the standard manner.

Namely, the exterior derivatives B = dC of these three-forms are GL(4, R) invariant and effectively constitute Lagrangians from which the three Bianchi identities (3.9.1) may be derived as Euler-Lagrange equations. [In order to obtain a non-trivial result from a boundary term, the structure equations (3.8.1), (3.5.9), and (3.5.10) have to be added by means of Lagrange multipliers, see [280] for details.] By differentiation and by using the volume-preserving connection we find, respectively,

$$B_{TT} = dC_{TT} = (1/2l^2) \{ g_{\alpha\beta} (^{\dagger}T^{\alpha} \wedge^{\dagger}T^{\beta} + {}^{\dagger}R_{\gamma}^{\ \alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}) - {}^{\dagger}Q_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge^{\dagger}T^{\beta} \},$$
(3.9.7)

$$B_{RR} = dC_{RR} = -\frac{1}{2}R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \wedge R_{\beta}^{\ \alpha} = -\frac{1}{2}(\,^{\dagger}R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \wedge^{\dagger}R_{\beta}^{\ \alpha} + \frac{1}{4}R \wedge R), \qquad (3.9.8)$$

$$B_{trR,trR} = dC_{trR,trR} = -\frac{1}{2}R \wedge R. \tag{3.9.9}$$

Adding these boundary terms B to a dynamical Lagrangian does not affect the field equations, but may serve as generating functions for canonical transformations [449-451] in an Ashtekar type Hamiltonian formulation, cf. section 5.10.

By performing the variational derivative $\delta/\delta\Psi := \partial/\partial\Psi - (-1)^p d(\partial/\partial d\Psi)$ of (3.9.6) and (3.9.4), we find the beautiful formulae for the translation

$$\frac{\delta C_{TT}}{\delta g_{\alpha\beta}} = \frac{1}{2l^2} \vartheta^{(\alpha} \wedge^{\dagger} T^{\beta)}, \qquad (3.9.10)$$

$$\frac{\delta C_{TT}}{\delta \vartheta^{\alpha}} = \frac{1}{l^2} (g_{\alpha\beta} \,^{\dagger} T^{\beta} + \frac{1}{2} \vartheta^{\beta} \wedge^{\dagger} Q_{\alpha\beta}), \qquad (3.9.11)$$

$$\frac{\delta C_{TT}}{\delta \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}} = \frac{1}{2l^2} g_{\beta\gamma} \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\gamma}, \qquad (3.9.12)$$

and for the linear deformation

$$\delta C_{RR} / \delta \Gamma_a{}^\beta = -R_\beta{}^a. \tag{3.9.13}$$

Again, Eq.(3.9.13) can be split into a volume-preserving and a volume-changing piece:

$$\frac{\delta^{\dagger}C_{RR}}{\delta^{\dagger}\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}} = -^{\dagger}R_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}, \qquad \frac{\delta C_{IRR\,IR}}{\delta\Gamma} = -R.$$
(3.9.14)

These equations show that the field strengths torsion/nonmetricity, curvature, and curvature trace are reproduced if we vary the corresponding Chern-Simons (type) term with respect to the appropriate potential. This fact can be exploited in setting up three-dimensional topological gravity models, cf. [29,392], that is, in three dimensions "we have a Lagrangian without having a Lagrangian". At the same time we recognize that, up to a sign, the constants in the definitions (3.9.3), (3.9.5), and (3.9.6) are reasonably chosen and that we were required to introduce a fundamental length l in (3.9.6) in order to guarantee for C_{TT} , C_{RR} , and $C_{IrR\,IrR}$ the same physical dimension.

3.10. Decomposing the linear connection into Riemannian and post-Riemannian pieces

Although torsion and nonmetricity are genuine field strengths, they can be reinterpreted as parts of the connection. The linear connection can be expressed in terms of metric, coframe, torsion, and nonmetricity.

To this end, we use the *anholonomity* two-form which was defined in (3.4.7)

$$C^{\beta} := d\vartheta^{\beta} = \frac{1}{2} C_{\mu\nu}{}^{\beta} \vartheta^{\mu} \wedge \vartheta^{\nu}, \qquad C_{\alpha} := g_{\alpha\beta} C^{\beta}, \qquad (3.10.1)$$

and display the formula (3.8.1) for the nonmetricity:

$$Q_{\alpha\beta} := -Dg_{\alpha\beta} = -dg_{\alpha\beta} + \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}g_{\gamma\beta} + \Gamma_{\beta}{}^{\gamma}g_{\alpha\gamma}.$$
(3.10.2)

This relation provides an explicit expression for the symmetric part of the connection

$$\Gamma_{(\alpha\beta)} = \frac{1}{2}(dg_{\alpha\beta} + Q_{\alpha\beta}). \tag{3.10.3}$$

Moreover, by means of (3.4.7), we can express the covariant torsion $T_{\alpha} := g_{\alpha\beta}T^{\beta}$ in terms of the anholonomity two-form C_{α} :

$$T_{\alpha} = g_{\alpha\beta} D\vartheta^{\beta} = g_{\alpha\beta} d\vartheta^{\beta} + g_{\alpha\beta} \Gamma_{\gamma}^{\ \beta} \wedge \vartheta^{\gamma} = C_{\alpha} + \Gamma_{\beta\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}.$$
(3.10.4)

In analogy with (3.10.3), we put the piece with the connection on the left hand side of the equation:

$$\Gamma_{\beta\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta} = -C_{\alpha} + T_{\alpha}. \tag{3.10.5}$$

Eqs. (3.10.3) and (3.10.5) represent $[n^2(n+1)/2] + [n^2(n-1)/2] = n^3$ linear equations for the determination of the n^3 components of $\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}$ in terms of the variables $dg_{\alpha\beta}, Q_{\alpha\beta}, C_{\alpha}$, and T_{α} . Using the algebraic relation (A.1.32) for $\Phi_{\alpha} = T_{\alpha} - C_{\alpha}$ and $\psi_{\alpha\beta} = \Gamma_{\beta\alpha}$, these two sets of equations lead to the following expression for the connection:

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{\alpha\beta} &= \frac{1}{2} dg_{\alpha\beta} + (e_{\lceil \alpha \rfloor} dg_{\beta \rceil \gamma}) \vartheta^{\gamma} + e_{\lceil \alpha \rfloor} C_{\beta \rceil} - \frac{1}{2} (e_{\alpha} \rfloor e_{\beta}] C_{\gamma}) \vartheta^{\gamma} \qquad (V_n) \\ &- e_{\lceil \alpha \rfloor} T_{\beta \rceil} + \frac{1}{2} (e_{\alpha} \rfloor e_{\beta}] T_{\gamma}) \vartheta^{\gamma} \qquad (U_n) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} Q_{\alpha\beta} + (e_{\lceil \alpha \rfloor} Q_{\beta \rceil \gamma}) \vartheta^{\gamma} \qquad (L_n, g). \end{split}$$
(3.10.6)

Note that $e_{\alpha} |e_{\beta}| = -e_{\beta} |e_{\alpha}|$, so that the symmetric and antisymmetric pieces of $\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}$ are clearly displayed in (3.10.6). With the Schouten braces of (A.1.24), Eq. (3.10.6) becomes

$$\Gamma_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} \left[e_{\{\gamma\}} dg_{\beta\alpha\}} + e_{\{\gamma\}} e_{\alpha} \right] C_{\beta\}} + e_{\{\gamma\}} Q_{\beta\alpha\}} - e_{\{\gamma\}} e_{\alpha} T_{\beta\}} \partial^{\gamma}.$$
(3.10.7)

The components $(1/2)e_{\{\gamma\}}dg_{\beta\alpha\}}$ correspond to the Christoffel symbol of the first kind. In components, Eq. (3.10.7) reads [606]:

$$\Gamma_{\gamma\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\partial_{\{\gamma}g_{\beta\alpha\}} + C_{\{\gamma\beta\alpha\}} + Q_{\{\gamma\beta\alpha\}} - T_{\{\gamma\beta\alpha\}} \right]. \tag{3.10.8}$$

The first line of Eq. (3.10.6) represents the Riemannian piece of the connection. It will be abbreviated as (see also [435]):

$$\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\{\}} := \frac{1}{2} dg_{\alpha\beta} + (e_{[\alpha]} dg_{\beta})_{\gamma}) \vartheta^{\gamma} + e_{[\alpha]} C_{\beta} - \frac{1}{2} (e_{\alpha}]e_{\beta}]C_{\gamma}) \vartheta^{\gamma}.$$
(3.10.9)

The additional pieces in (3.10.6) are of a tensorial nature. Let us introduce the *contortion* one-form $K_{\alpha\beta} = -K_{\beta\alpha}$ implicitly by

$$T^{\alpha} =: K^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}, \tag{3.10.10}$$

or explicitly, cf. (A.1.23), by

$$K_{\alpha\beta} = e_{[\alpha]}T_{\beta]} - \frac{1}{2}(e_{\alpha}]e_{\beta}]T_{\gamma}\vartheta^{\gamma} = 2e_{[\alpha]}T_{\beta]} - \frac{1}{2}e_{\alpha}]e_{\beta}](T_{\gamma}\wedge\vartheta^{\gamma}).$$
(3.10.11)

Observe that $(T_{\gamma} \wedge \vartheta^{\gamma})$ in the last term is proportional to the irreducible axial piece of the torsion, see (B.2.7). Then our geometrical decomposition (3.10.6) of the linear connection can be summarized in

$$\Gamma_{\alpha\beta} = \Gamma^{\{\}}_{\alpha\beta} - K_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}Q_{\alpha\beta} + (e_{\alpha}]Q_{\beta\gamma})\vartheta^{\gamma}.$$
(3.10.12)

Since the Weyl one-form Q is explicitly given by (3.8.2) in any (L_n, g) , the following useful relation for the trace, i.e., the dilation part of the connection one-form can be derived which is itself neither a connection nor a $\mathcal{GL}(n, R)$ -scalar:

$$\Gamma_{\gamma}^{\ \gamma} = \frac{1}{2}nQ + \frac{1}{2}g^{\alpha\beta}dg_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2}nQ + d\ln\sqrt{|\det g_{\alpha\beta}|}.$$
(3.10.13)

Not unexpectedly, the torsion piece drops out. Alternatively, using the covariant exterior derivative, this formula can be written as

$$\frac{D\sqrt{\det|g_{\alpha\beta}|}}{\sqrt{\det|g_{\alpha\beta}|}} = -\frac{1}{2}nQ.$$
(3.10.14)

An (L_n, g) with the constraints of a vanishing traceless nonmetricity $\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ and a vanishing torsion $T^{\alpha} = 0$ is called a W_n . In 1918, Weyl [716,719] used such a W_4 as a framework for spacetime in which he unsuccessfully attempted to construct a field theory unifying electromagnetism and gravitation. If $T^{\alpha} \neq 0$, we call such a spacetime a Y_n , see Fig. 2 and also (3.10.6) cum (3.8.3). An (L_n, g) with $Q_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ is called a Riemann-Cartan spacetime U_n . A U_n with $T^{\alpha} = 0$ corresponds to the Riemannian spacetime V_n of GR.

3.11. Deformation of a connection

Since any tensor-valued one-form A transforms homogenously with respect to linear gauge transformations, its subtraction from a connection can be regarded as a continuous *deformation*³² within the space C of connections:

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \quad \to \quad \bar{\Gamma}_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + \varepsilon A_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + \varepsilon \left(A_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + \frac{1}{n} \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} A \right), \qquad \Gamma, \ \bar{\Gamma} \in \mathcal{C}.$$
(3.11.1)

The trace part $A := A_{\gamma}^{\gamma}$ represents the *projective* piece of the deformation. In order to retain $\bar{\Gamma}_{\alpha}^{\beta}$ as a connection, A_{α}^{β} has to be tensor-valued. The deformation (3.11.1), which involves *no metric*, can

³² These deformations may include the difference (3.5.3) of two gauge-equivalent connections as well as more general "gauge field copies" [149] as special cases. Our concept of a deformation seems to be a special case of a prolongation, see [22], where also $\overline{\vartheta}^{\alpha} = \vartheta^{\alpha} + \varepsilon^{\alpha}$ is considered.



Fig. 2. MAGic cube: Classification of a metric-affine spacetime (L_4, g) . $Q^* \triangleq$ tracefree nonmetricity, $Q \triangleq$ Weyl one-form, and $T \triangleq$ torsion.

be turned on and off via the continous parameter ε . In Ashetkar-like reformulations of GR and its teleparallelism equivalent [448,451], this parameter is allowed to become complex or, in particular, purely imaginary.

Any such deformation induces corresponding relations for nonmetricity, torsion, and curvature:

$$\bar{Q}_{\alpha\beta} = Q_{\alpha\beta} + 2\varepsilon A_{(\alpha\beta)}, \qquad \bar{Q} = Q + 2\varepsilon A_{\gamma}^{\gamma}/n, \qquad (3.11.2)$$

$$\bar{T}^{\alpha} = T^{\alpha} + \varepsilon A_{\mu}{}^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\mu}, \qquad (3.11.3)$$

$$\bar{R}_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + \varepsilon D A_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} - \varepsilon^2 A_{\alpha}^{\ \mu} \wedge A_{\mu}^{\ \beta} = R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + \varepsilon \bar{D} A_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + \varepsilon^2 A_{\alpha}^{\ \mu} \wedge A_{\mu}^{\ \beta}, \tag{3.11.4}$$

$$\bar{R}_{\nu}^{\ \gamma} = R_{\nu}^{\ \gamma} + \varepsilon dA_{\nu}^{\ \gamma}. \tag{3.11.5}$$

These decompositions can be transferred to the Bianchi identities (3.9.1) in a straightforward way. It requires, however, tedious calculations. It turns out that the Bianchi identities are *not* sensitive to a deformation of the connection at all.³³ Formally the same identities hold after passing to the deformed field strengths and the modified exterior covariant derivative \overline{D} arising from the deformed connection:

$$\bar{D}\bar{Q}_{\alpha\beta} = 2\bar{R}_{(\alpha\beta)}, \qquad \bar{D}\bar{T}^{\alpha} = \bar{R}_{\beta}{}^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}, \qquad \bar{D}\bar{R}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = 0.$$
(3.11.6)

The deformations of the Chern-Simons terms (3.9.6), (3.9.3), and (3.9.5) are, respectively, given by

³³ This excludes the possibility that Noether identities resulting from dilation invariance can ever be related to the Bianchi identities. In contrast, within the Einstein-Cartan theory, the energy-momentum and the angular momentum theorems can be formulated, via the field equations, in terms of the contracted Bianchi identities [286].

$$\bar{C}_{TT} = C_{TT} + (\varepsilon/2l^2) A_{1\alpha\beta 1} \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta},
\bar{C}_{RR} = C_{RR} - \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon [A_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge d\Gamma_{\beta}{}^{\alpha} + \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge (DA_{\beta}{}^{\alpha} - \varepsilon A_{\beta}{}^{\gamma} \wedge A_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha})],
\bar{C}_{trR\,trR} = C_{trR\,trR} - \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon d(A \wedge \Gamma) - \varepsilon A \wedge R.$$
(3.11.7)

In the projective subcase $A_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} P$ of the deformation (3.11.1), the curvature transforms in a particularly simple way:

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \to \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} + \varepsilon \,\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} P \quad \Rightarrow \quad R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} + \varepsilon \,\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} \,dP \,. \tag{3.11.8}$$

If a metric is available, the projective term can be written as $g_{\alpha\beta} dP$, that is, it contributes only to the symmetric part of the curvature. Thus $R_{|\alpha\beta|} = R_{(\alpha\beta)}$, a result which is important in GR and in the EC-theory of gravity.

The transposed connection (see [607], [682, paper IV])

$$\widehat{\Gamma}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} := \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} + e_{\alpha} \rfloor T^{\beta}$$
(3.11.9)

or, in components

$$\widehat{\Gamma}_{\gamma\alpha}{}^{\beta} = \Gamma_{\alpha\gamma}{}^{\beta} + C_{\alpha\gamma}{}^{\beta}, \qquad (3.11.10)$$

with $C^{\alpha} = d\vartheta^{\alpha}$, is another example of a deformation in an L_n . In holonomic coordinates, and only then, we find, indeed, a transposition in the lower pair of indices. Moreover, in an (L_n, g) , we can introduce the modified connection

$$\check{\Gamma}_{\alpha}^{\ \ \beta} := \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \ \beta} + e_{\alpha} \left[T^{\beta} - \frac{1}{2} n Q \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} \right]$$
(3.11.11)

with the property that the corresponding covariant exterior derivative of the vector-valued g-volume form η_a vanishes:

$$\check{D}\eta_a = 0. \tag{3.11.12}$$

A certain deformation yields, for example, the Christoffel connection $\bar{\Gamma}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\{\}\beta}$. Then one should note, however, that the *deformed* nonmetricity and torsion vanish, i.e. $Q_{\alpha\beta}^{\{\}} = 0$ and $T^{\{\}\alpha} = 0$, so that the first two Bianchi identities degenerate to the familiar algebraic conditions $R_{(\alpha\beta)}^{\{\}} = 0$ and $R_{\beta}^{\{\}\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta} = 0$ of the Riemannian curvature $R_{\alpha}^{\{\}\beta}$. This deformation process can also be understood in the following way: In an (L_n, g) we have two classes of connections, the linear and the Riemannian one. Their difference ought to be a tensor-valued form, namely that corresponding to the contortion and nonmetricity pieces in (3.10.12).

In an (L_n, g) , the most general *field redefinitions* of the basic variables, metric, coframe and linear connection, generated by some (n-2)-forms H_{α} and $H^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ and an *n*-form $m_{\alpha\beta}$, read

$$\overline{g}_{\alpha\beta} = g_{\alpha\beta} + e_{(\alpha]} [e_{\gamma}]^* H_{|\beta}{}^{\gamma} + {}^*m_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (3.11.13)$$

$$\overline{\vartheta}^{\alpha} = \vartheta^{\alpha} + e_{\beta} \rfloor^* H^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (3.11.14)$$

$$\overline{\Gamma}_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + e_{\alpha} \rfloor^{*} H^{\beta} . \tag{3.11.15}$$

In a dynamical approach these *m* and the *H* will be gauge field momenta canonically conjugated to the metric, the coframe, and the connection, respectively. Due to the semidirect structure of the affine group, the gauge field momenta contribute just to the intertwined gauge potentials. The field redefinition (3.11.13) of the metric generalizes 't Hooft's ansatz [305], used in an attempt at perturbative renormalization of GR. For a general counterterm ΔV in the effective gauge Lagrangian, our geometrical variables become redefined according to the "intertwining relations" (3.11.13), (3.11.14), (3.11.15). In the four-dimensional Poincaré gauge theory, the Hodge star for gauge field momenta *H* can be dismissed, cf. [455]. However, in the coupling to matter, the field redefinitions may induce violations of the macroscopic principle of equivalence, cf. Brans [80]. Incidentally, our construction is more explicit than the rather formal field redefinition of Dixon [159] for non-Abelian gauge theories

$$\overline{A} = A + \delta G / \delta j, \tag{3.11.16}$$

where $j := \delta G / \delta A$ is the gauge current (n - 1)-form of a generating *n*-form G.

3.12. Volume-preserving connection

An example of a deformation of a connection is provided by the construction of a *volume*preserving connection ${}^{\dagger}\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$. By definition, it should leave the volume *n*-form η , or the associated η -basis, covariantly constant under parallel-transport:

$${}^{\dagger}D\eta_{\alpha_{1}\cdots\alpha_{n}} = 0 \Rightarrow {}^{\dagger}D\sqrt{\left|\det g_{\mu\nu}\right|} = d\sqrt{\left|\det g_{\mu\nu}\right|} - {}^{\dagger}\Gamma_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma}\sqrt{\left|\det g_{\mu\nu}\right|} = 0.$$
(3.12.1)

This merely determines the trace of our new connection. By means of a comparison with (3.10.14) we find the *standard volume-preserving* connection:

$${}^{\dagger}\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} := \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} - \frac{1}{2}Q\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta}, \qquad {}^{\dagger}\Gamma_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma} = \Gamma_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma} - \frac{1}{2}nQ = d\ln\sqrt{|\text{det}g_{\alpha\beta}|}.$$
(3.12.2)

Consequently, the new connection is related, via A = -(n/2)Q, to the linear connection $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ by a projective transformation.

Note that a connection is not a gauge-invariant object. Instead, the vanishing of the contracted part of the curvature built from the connection ${}^{\dagger}\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$, i.e.,

$${}^{\dagger}R_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma} = 0,$$
 (3.12.3)

is a necessary and sufficient condition that scalar densities and, in particular, the volume *n*-form η , are teleparallel under transport by means of this connection (cf. Schouten [606]). The indeterminacy of the volume-preserving connection of an (L_n, g) is related to the fact that, in an (L_n, g) , DILCURV R_{γ}^{γ} as such is *not* an irreducible piece of the curvature, but surfaces as an independent quantity only on the level of a Weyl-Cartan space Y_n . The vanishing of the DILCURV distinguishes a Riemannian V_n from a Weylian W_n and, as shown in Fig. 2, this is, mutatis mutandis, also true for a U_n and a Y_n , respectively.

The new volume-preserving nonmetricity

$${}^{\dagger}Q_{\alpha\beta} = Q_{\alpha\beta} - Qg_{\alpha\beta} =: Q^{\dagger}{}_{\alpha\beta} \Rightarrow {}^{\dagger}Q = 0$$
(3.12.4)

is traceless, and the new torsion and its trace read ³⁴

$${}^{\dagger}T^{\alpha} = T^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}Q \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha}, \qquad e_{\alpha} \rfloor {}^{\dagger}T^{\alpha} = e_{\alpha} \rfloor T^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}(n-1)Q.$$
(3.12.5)

For the curvature we have

$${}^{\dagger}R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} - \frac{1}{2}\delta^{\beta}_{\alpha} dQ , \qquad (3.12.6)$$

where dQ denotes the dilation field strength derived from the one-form Q (Weyl covector). In a metric-affine spacetime (L_n, g) , there arise two possible types of contractions of the curvature: One with respect to the frame indices (cf. Eddington [174, p.215]) and, after raising one index, a further contraction involving twice the interior product of the two-form:

$${}^{\dagger}R_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma} = R_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma} - \frac{1}{2}n \, dQ = 0, \qquad e_{\alpha}] e_{\beta}] ({}^{\dagger}R^{\alpha\beta} - R^{\alpha\beta}) = 0. \tag{3.12.7}$$

The last relation is valid for any projective transformation, cf. (3.11.8).

For an arbitrary tensor-valued *p*-form density of type $\binom{\mu}{\nu}$ of anholonomic weight ω , see (A.1.2), the exterior covariant derivative (3.5.5) splits into a volume-preserving piece and a dilation piece:

$$D\hat{\Psi} = {}^{\dagger}D\hat{\Psi} + (\mu - \nu - n\omega)\frac{1}{2}Q\hat{\Psi}.$$
(3.12.8)

We will call

$$\omega' := \mu - \nu - n\,\omega \tag{3.12.9}$$

the dilation weight of $\hat{\Psi}$, see (A.1.4). If we compare (3.12.8) with (3.12.4) and (3.12.5) for $Dg_{\alpha\beta}$ and $D\vartheta^{\alpha}$, respectively, we find $\omega'_{\varrho} = -2$ and $\omega'_{\vartheta} = 1$.

3.13. Local scale transformations

Let us first turn to local scale transformations³⁵ in a single (L_n, g) : Following partly Komar and Bergmann [358,359,53], such a scale transformation arises naturally from a local action (3.4.5) of the general linear group $GL(n, R) = [T \otimes SL(n, R)] \times R^+$ on the frames. Inasmuch as these gauge transformations do not change the metrical relations of spacetime, they may be regarded as passive transformations. A mere scale transformation ³⁶ corresponds to the subcase

$$\bar{A}_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}(x) = \Omega(x)\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} \tag{3.13.1}$$

which generates the volume-changing part of the GL(n, R)-gauge transformation. Then we have

$$e_{\alpha} \to e_{\alpha}' = \mathring{A}_{\alpha}^{\gamma}(x)e_{\gamma} = \Omega e_{\alpha} \qquad (e_{\alpha}'' = \Omega e_{\alpha}'), \qquad (3.13.2)$$

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \to \vartheta^{\prime \alpha} = \Lambda^{+} {}^{-1}{}_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha}(x) \vartheta^{\gamma} = \Omega^{-1} \vartheta^{\alpha} \qquad (e_{j}^{\prime \alpha} = \Omega^{-1} e_{j}{}^{\alpha}), \qquad (3.13.3)$$

$$g_{\alpha\beta} \to g'_{\alpha\beta} = \overset{+}{\Lambda}_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}(x) \overset{+}{\Lambda}_{\beta}{}^{\delta}(x) g_{\gamma\delta} = \Omega^2 g_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(3.13.4)

³⁴ A related result has been found by Bregman [82].

³⁵ They are also called dilations or homothetic transformations.

³⁶ With respect to the nomenclature, we follow the thesis of Kastrup [336] in which, for instance, $I m = \Omega cm$, with $\Omega = 100$, is a transformation of the scale that leaves the length $l = (o_{\alpha\beta} v^{\alpha} v^{\beta})^{1/2}$ invariant.

By applying the inhomogeneous transformation law (3.5.2) for the linear connection, we find in the special case of local scale transformations:

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\prime\,\beta} = \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} d\ln\Omega. \tag{3.13.5}$$

For later purposes we note also the local scale transformation of the trace of the connection, namely

$$\Gamma_{\gamma}^{\prime\,\gamma} = \Gamma_{\gamma}^{\,\gamma} + n \, d \ln \Omega \,. \tag{3.13.6}$$

These rules determine the local scale properties of the other geometric objects uniquely: The nonmetricity and the Weyl covector are invariant under local rescaling:

$$Q_{\alpha}^{\prime \beta} = Q_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}, \qquad (^{\dagger}Q)_{\alpha}^{\prime \beta} = ^{\dagger}Q_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \qquad Q^{\prime} = Q.$$
 (3.13.7)

This is what one would expect anyhow for tensor-valued forms with respect to a subgroup of local GL(n, R)-transformations. (In contradistinction to this local scale invariance, the Weyl covector will turn out to transform inhomogeneously under conformal changes.) For the translational field strength and the curvature we have

$$T^{\prime \alpha} = \Omega^{-1} T^{\alpha}, \qquad R^{\prime \beta}_{\alpha} = R^{\beta}_{\alpha}, \qquad (^{\dagger}R)^{\prime \beta}_{\alpha} = {}^{\dagger}R^{\beta}_{\alpha}. \tag{3.13.8}$$

It is straightforward to deduce the corresponding formulae for the various contractions of the curvature tensor.

3.14. Conformal changes in an (L_n, g)

It is a consequence of the GL(n, R) gauge approach that local scale transformations are almost trivial for scalar- or tensor-valued forms. However, we may generalize local scale transformations (3.13.1) by admitting arbitrary exponents in the Ω factors. Thereby we arrive at a *conformal change* of the metric, which generalizes the original approach of Weyl [716]. Let us compare *two* metric-affine spacetimes (L_n, g) and (L_n, \tilde{g}) which have conformally related metrics, but invariant gl(n, R)-valued curvatures. Since the second requirement does not fix the connection completely, but still allows it to be related via Einstein's λ -transformation $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \to \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} + \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha} d\lambda$ ([180, appendix 2], [52], see also Smalley [638]), we consider the *combined* transformations:

$$\widetilde{g}: \begin{cases} \widetilde{g}_{\alpha\beta} = \Omega^{L-2F} g_{\alpha\beta}, & \widetilde{\vartheta}^{\alpha} = \Omega^{F} \vartheta^{\alpha}, & \widetilde{e}_{\alpha} = \Omega^{-F} e_{\alpha}, \\ \widetilde{\Gamma}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} - C \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha} d \ln \Omega \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \widetilde{R}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}. \end{cases}$$
(3.14.1)

This puts a conformal equivalence structure on (L_n, g) in which g and $\tilde{g} = \Omega^L g$ are conformally related. Due to

$$\widetilde{g} = \widetilde{\vartheta}^{\alpha} \otimes \widetilde{\vartheta}^{\beta} \ \widetilde{g}_{\alpha\beta} = (\widetilde{\vartheta})^{\prime \alpha} \otimes (\widetilde{\vartheta})^{\prime \beta} \ (\widetilde{g})^{\prime}{}_{\alpha\beta} = \Omega^{L} g, \tag{3.14.2}$$

the conformal change of the anholonomic frame is determined only up to local GL(n, R) transformations. Consequently, the weights L, F, and C for the conformal change of metric, coframe, and of the connection will, in general, be independent of each other. Let us now consider the consequences of our combined conformal change (3.14.1): The curvature is invariant for a projective transformation which is, as in (3.14), constructed from an exact form, cf. (3.11.8):

$$\widetilde{R}_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}, \qquad (\widetilde{T}R)_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = {}^{\dagger}R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}. \tag{3.14.3}$$

For the nonmetricity and the Weyl covector, we find

$$\widetilde{Q}_{\alpha\beta} = -\widetilde{D}\widetilde{g}_{\alpha\beta} = \Omega^{L-2F}[Q_{\alpha\beta} - (L-2F+2C)g_{\alpha\beta}d\ln\Omega], \qquad (3.14.4)$$

$$(\tilde{Q})_{\alpha\beta} = \Omega^{L-2F} \, Q_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \tilde{Q} = Q - (L - 2F + 2C) \, d\ln\Omega, \qquad (3.14.5)$$

respectively. For the translational field strength T^{α} and the torsion trace one-form $T := e_{\alpha} J T^{\alpha}$, we obtain

$$\widetilde{T}^{\alpha} = \Omega^{F} [T^{\alpha} + (F - C) d \ln \Omega \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha}]$$
(3.14.6)

$$\widetilde{(\mathcal{T})}^{\alpha} = \Omega^{F} \left[\, {}^{\dagger}T^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}L \, d \ln \Omega \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha} \right], \qquad \widetilde{T} = T + (C - F)(n - 1) \, d \ln \Omega. \tag{3.14.7}$$

Note that the inhomogeneous term in $(3.14.7)_2$ parallels the corresponding term in $(3.14.5)_2$ for the Weyl covector [144,528]. As expected, the conformal change of the volume-preserving connection (3.12.2) is independent of C:

$${}^{\dagger}\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = {}^{\dagger}\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} + \frac{1}{2}(L - 2F)\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta} d\ln\Omega.$$
(3.14.8)

For the translational Chern-Simons term C_{TT} we find

$$\tilde{C}_{TT} = \Omega^L C_{TT} \,. \tag{3.14.9}$$

The volume-preserving Chern-Simons term is conformally invariant

$$({}^{\dagger}C)_{RR} = {}^{\dagger}C_{RR},$$
 (3.14.10)

whereas the corresponding dilation piece transforms as

$$\widetilde{C}_{trRtrR} = C_{trRtrR} + \frac{1}{2}nCR \wedge d\ln\Omega.$$
(3.14.11)

By adjusting the weights L, F, and C appropriately, we can recover all subcases earlier discussed in the literature. Formally, the local scale transformations are included in this scheme as a special case with L = 0, F = C = -1.

The λ -transformation of the linear connection in (3.14.1) does not influence the conformal change of the Riemannian part (3.10.9) of the connection. In view of $\tilde{\vartheta}_{\alpha} = \tilde{g}_{\alpha\beta} \tilde{\vartheta}^{\beta} = \Omega^{L-F} \vartheta_{\alpha}$, we find

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}_{\alpha\beta}^{\{\}} = \Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\{\}} + \frac{1}{2}(L - 2F)\Omega^{L-2F}[g_{\alpha\beta}d\ln\Omega + 2(e_{|\alpha}]d\ln\Omega)g_{\beta|\gamma}\vartheta^{\gamma}] - \frac{1}{2}(L - F)\Omega^{L-2F}[(e_{\alpha}]e_{\beta}](d\ln\Omega \wedge \vartheta_{\gamma}))\vartheta^{\gamma} - 2e_{[\alpha}](d\ln\Omega \wedge \vartheta_{\beta})].$$
(3.14.12)

Moreover, from the transformation formula (3.14.1) of metric and coframe we find the relation

$$\widetilde{\Phi}^{(p)} = \mathcal{Q}^{(n-2p)L/2} \ast \widetilde{\Phi}^{(p)}$$
(3.14.13)

for the Hodge dual of a p-form. Thus for an exterior form in the "middle dimension" p = n/2 for n even, the Hodge operator is conformally invariant, cf. Dray et al. [170] for the four-dimensional case.

In order to further clearify our notion of conformal change, let us consider the space \mathcal{M} of all (pseudo)Riemannian metrics g [50]. The infinite-dimensional superspace S is defined as the coset space $S := \mathcal{M}/(\text{Diff}(n, R))$ and, consequently, identifies all metrics g which are equivalent with respect to diffeomorphisms Diff(n, R). This infinite-dimensional group, which acts as transformation group on \mathcal{M} , can be enlarged to the group of conformorphisms Diff $(n, R) := C_+^{\infty} \notin \text{Diff}(n, R)$, where C_+^{∞} denotes the Abelian group of all positive, infinitely differentiable functions Ω . The group Diff(n, R) acts on \mathcal{M} by pulling back conformally eqivalent metrics $\tilde{g} = \sigma^*(\Omega^L g)$, where σ denotes a cross section. If $J = \{J_i^i\} \in \text{Diff}(n, R)$ are the (passive) diffeomorphisms of appendix A.1, the left action of $(J, \Omega) \in \text{Diff}(n, R)$ on a metric $g \in \mathcal{M}$ is more explicitly given by $(J, \Omega)g(x) := J\Omega^L(x)g(x) = \Omega^L(Jx)g(Jx)$. In accordance with the pull-back notion, J acts directly on the coordinates x. Applying this rule twice, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} (J_1, \Omega_1) \circ (J_2, \Omega_2) g(x) \\ &= J_1 \Omega_1^L(x) \Omega_2^L(J_2 x) g(J_2 x) = \Omega_1^L(J_1 x) \Omega_2^L(J_2 J_1 x) g(J_2 J_1 x) = \Omega_2^L(x') \Omega_1^L(J_2^{-1} x') g(x'), \end{aligned}$$

where $x' = J_2 J_1 x$. Thus the group multiplication [197] resulting from the composition of transformations, denoted by \circ , is determined by $(J_1, \Omega_1) \circ (J_2, \Omega_2) = (J_1 \circ J_2, \Omega_2(\Omega_1 \circ J_2^{-1}))$. This reveals that $\widetilde{\text{Diff}}(n, R)$ is, under composition, the *semidirect product* of Diff(n, R) with the Abelian group C_+^{∞} .

In the conformal superspace $\tilde{S} := \mathcal{M}/\widetilde{\mathrm{Diff}}(n, R) \subset S$, conformally equivalent metrics are identified, see also Swift [664]. It should be pointed out that the (n + 1)(n + 2)/2-parameter isotropy group $C(M_n, g) \subset \mathrm{Diff}(n, R)$ of conformal transformations of spacetime such that $\tilde{g} = g$ can be regarded as an isometry within the conformal superspace \tilde{S} ([442], see Giulini [225] for the homotopy groups of S).

3.15. Orthonormal, holonomic, conformal, and pure gauges

There exist certain gauge conditions on the frame field for which the description of our geometrical arena simplifies considerably.

The most obvious gauge condition is the *orthonormal gauge*. We choose the frame to be orthonormal, i.e.

$$e^i_{\alpha} \stackrel{*}{=} \stackrel{\circ}{e}^i_{\alpha}. \tag{3.15.1}$$

The 'star equal' sign indicates a specific gauge that has been introduced. Because of (3.7.3) and (3.7.5), we then have the 'metrical' subsidiary condition

$$g_{\alpha\beta} \stackrel{*}{=} g_{ij} \stackrel{*}{e} \stackrel{i}{}_{\alpha} \stackrel{e}{e} \stackrel{i}{}_{\beta} = o_{\alpha\beta} \tag{3.15.2}$$

(which resembles those known from nonlinear σ models [556]). Geometrically, this gauge condition is intimately connected with the celebrated 'reduction theorem' for linear frame bundles [356, p.88].

A much more stringent condition is the *holonomic gauge* [406] which one imposes ordinarily in GR:

$$C^{\alpha} := d\vartheta^{\alpha} \stackrel{*}{=} 0 \quad \text{or} \quad e^{i}{}_{\alpha} \stackrel{*}{=} \delta^{i}_{\alpha}. \tag{3.15.3}$$

Then the frame is a *natural* frame and looses its independent degrees of freedom. No linear gauge transformation of the vielbeins are permitted anymore. What remains is the action of the diffeomorphism group and, along with it, a differential identity for energy-momentum. With metric and holonomic connection as remaining geometrical variables, we can derive two field equations (ZE-ROTH and SECOND of section 5.5) and one Noether identity from diffeomorphism invariance. The 2nd Noether identity, however, would then be concealed since the holonomic hypermomentum identity would be implicitly contained in the momentum identity. This gauge should not be confused with the *harmonic* or Hilbert gauge $d\eta_{\alpha} = d^* \vartheta_{\alpha} \stackrel{*}{=} 0$ which appears, for instance, in the formulation of the Cauchy problem in GR.

In the framework of two conformally related spacetimes (L_n, g) and (L_n, \tilde{g}) , we may pick in each spacetime a natural frame field, that is, we impose the *conformal holonomic gauge*

$$C_a = d\vartheta_a = d\vartheta_a \stackrel{*}{=} 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad L = F. \tag{3.15.4}$$

Then, according to (3.14.12), the Riemannian piece of the linear connection reduces, to

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}^{\{\}}_{\alpha\beta} = \Gamma^{\{\}}_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2}L\Omega^{-L}[g_{\alpha\beta}d\ln\Omega + 2(e_{1\alpha}]d\ln\Omega)g_{\beta\gamma}\vartheta^{\gamma}].$$
(3.15.5)

Since, according to (3.14.1), the contravariant components of the metric change as $g^{kl} \rightarrow \tilde{g}^{kl} = \Omega^L g^{kl}$, we recover for the holonomic components, i.e., the Christoffel symbol, the familiar transformation law under a conformal change of metric:

$$\widetilde{\Gamma}_{ij}^{\{\}k} = \Gamma_{ij}^{\{\}k} - \frac{1}{2}L\{\delta_i^k\partial_j + \delta_j^k\partial_i - g_{ij}\partial_i^k\}\ln\Omega.$$
(3.15.6)

In order to study conformal properties in a Riemann-Cartan space U_n or in the purely holonomical framework (cf. [287]) of the Riemannian spacetime (V_n) , one has to fix again a 'gauge'. In order to achieve the passage from the natural (L_n, g) to an U_n (or even to a V_4), let us require, besides vanishing nonmetricity (and torsion), the *conformal gauge* (cf. Lindström et al. [398]) in which the *conformally invariant* metric density is identified with the Minkowski metric:

$$\hat{g}^{\alpha\beta} := |\det g_{\mu\nu}|^{1/n} g^{\alpha\beta} \stackrel{*}{=} o^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \hat{g}_{\alpha\beta} := |\det g_{\mu\nu}|^{-1/n} g_{\alpha\beta} \stackrel{*}{=} o_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(3.15.7)

This gauge is qualified by the fact that the local Minkowski metric becomes conformally invariant, i.e.

$$\tilde{o}^{\alpha\beta} = \Omega^{-nL/n} \Omega^L o^{\alpha\beta} = o^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \tilde{o}_{\alpha\beta} = o_{\alpha\beta}. \tag{3.15.8}$$

Incidentally, in the context of SDiff(*n*, *R*)-invariant models (diffeomorphisms with determinant one), metric densities of the type $g_{\alpha\beta}/|\det g_{\mu\nu}|$ have been considered [89].

In the parlance of Yang-Mills theories, one speaks of a *pure gauge* connection when its field strength vanishes. Take a flat and uncontorted Minkowski spacetime. According to (3.10.9), in curvilinear coordinates and arbitrary frames, its connection reads

$$\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\{\}} = \frac{1}{2} dg_{\alpha\beta} + (e_{1\alpha}] dg_{\beta\gamma} \vartheta^{\gamma} + e_{1\alpha}] C_{\beta\gamma} - \frac{1}{2} (e_{\alpha}] e_{\beta}] C_{\gamma} \vartheta^{\gamma}.$$
(3.15.9)

It has to fulfill the constraint

$$R_{\alpha\beta}^{()} = 0. \tag{3.15.10}$$

Eqs.(3.15.9) and (3.15.10) represent a pure gauge. Suppose we pick on top of that an orthonormal gauge. Then (3.15.9) specializes to

$$\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\{\}} \stackrel{*}{=} e_{[\alpha]} C_{\beta]} - \frac{1}{2} (e_{\alpha}] e_{\beta} C_{\gamma} \vartheta^{\gamma}. \tag{3.15.11}$$

In these orthonormal frames, the anholonomity C_{β} looks like a torsion $-T_{\beta}$, as a glance at (3.10.6) will tell. In the orthonormal pure gauge, a torsion can locally be *simulated* by an anholonomity. In the sense of the equivalence principle, this supports the existence of torsion as long as one has reason to believe in the fundamental meaning of a local SO(1, n-1).

By the same token, in a holonomic pure gauge we have

$$\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\{\}} = \frac{1}{2} dg_{\alpha\beta} + (e_{1\alpha}] dg_{\beta\gamma} \vartheta^{\gamma}.$$
(3.15.12)

A comparison with (3.10.6) shows that a nonmetricity $Q_{\alpha\beta}$, in this holonomic gauge, can be simulated by a non-vanishing $dg_{\alpha\beta}$. Thus by means of a non-orthonormal frame locally a nonmetricity of the pure gauge type can be generated.

4. Matter fields: manifields and world spinors

. .

4.1. Existence of a double covering of the special linear group

For a long time, progress in affine gauge models of gravity was delayed by an error. Throughout the community of researchers in GR, there was a prevailing belief that the linear groups possess no non-trivial universal covering, ³⁷ i.e. that it is impossible to construct spinor states, i.e. states carrying two-valued unitary representations of (in the Euclidean case) the SO(n) compact subgroup, or in Minkowski spacetime, of the *spin*, i.e. the mathematical "stability subgroup" (for massive states this is the subgroup SO(n-1) of spatial rotations) and thus also of the linear groups themselves. For the same reason, it was thought that it is impossible to construct spinor *fields* transforming linearly under GL(n, R) or SL(n, R). As a result, it was also thought that there could be no "world" spinors, i.e. that Diff(n, R) too has no *universal* (double for $n \ge 3$) covering group. Statements of that nature exist (and unfortunately continue to appear) in almost every textbook in GR and should be disregarded (see the examples cited in Ref.7 of [495]; we refer the reader to that article for proofs of the algebraic and topological theorems in the following discussion). The existence of a universal covering of the entire group inclusion

$$SL(n,R) \subset GL(n,R) \subset A(n,R) \subset \text{Diff}(n,R)$$
(4.1.1)

was first pointed out in [476,477] and proved in [478]. This result has only recently been incorporated in a textbook on spinors [94] and noted in a corrective footnote in another text [617].³⁸

³⁷ An exception is Post [565] who was aware of the double covering of the linear group; Bargmann [36] had even constructed the unitary representations of the (infinite) universal covering of SL(2, R), but this remained unknown in the GR community, where the supposed inexistence of such representations for SL(2, R) was quoted as a mathematical argument in physical discussions.

³⁸ Although no such structural error appears in the mathematical literature, very little attention was given to the representations of the double-covering of the SL(n, R) for $n \ge 3$, prior to [648], in which the physically motivated [623] is referred to; see also [664], paper II, using [628].

The misunderstanding was due to the fact that representations [702] of the universal covering groups of the GL(n, R) exist only as infinite matrices (this is no worse than in the case of the Heisenberg algebra, for which the same statement is true). The inexistence of *finite* representations was misconstrued as implying the inexistence of *any* representations.

Let us remember that any semisimple Lie group G can be decomposed according to the Iwasawa decomposition, which reads

$$G = K \times A \times N, \tag{4.1.2}$$

where K, A, N are analytic subgroups of G: K is the maximal compact subgroup, A is an Abelian subgroup, and N is a nilpotent subgroup, i.e. one with "triangular" matrices, whose non-vanishing matrix elements are all on one side of the diagonal. Since A and N are simply connected [296, p.234] and, by definition, are such as to be trivially deformable to the identity, the first homotopy group π_1 of the Lie group G is the same as that of its maximal compact subgroup K. In other words, the topology of a non-compact Lie group G is that of its maximal compact subgroup K.

If, as happens for the special linear groups, K is the group $SO(n) \subset SL(n, R)$, then we know that there is a covering group for K, namely $\overline{K} = Spin(n)$; in any case in which K itself is not yet simply connected, we can replace it by its universal covering group \overline{K} , and, in the wake of it, we shall have thus defined and constructed the universal covering of G, namely $\overline{G} = \overline{K} \times A \times N$.

In general, the connectivity properties of the connected component $SO_{\circ}(n)$ of the orthogonal group is marked by the first homotopy groups [296, p.346]

$$\pi_1(SO_{\circ}(n)) = \begin{cases} Z_2 & \text{for } n = 2k+1 \\ Z_2 \oplus Z_2 & \text{for } n = 4k \\ Z_4 & \text{for } n = 2(2k+1), \end{cases}$$
(4.1.3)

where Z_k is the group of integers modulo k, with respect to arithmetic addition, or the group of the k complex k^{th} roots of the identity. These homotopy groups determine the types of spinors existing in each case [94] – namely Weyl, Majorana, or Weyl-Majorana – and the structure of the related supersymmetry.

Thus, to define and construct the universal covering groups $\overline{SL}(n, R)$, remembering that for the special linear group SL(n, R) we have the Iwasawa decomposition, $SL(n, R) = SO(n) \times A \times N$, we have

$$\overline{SL}(n,R) := \operatorname{Spin}(n) \times A \times N, \qquad (4.1.4)$$

and applying the relationship between GL(n, R) and SL(n, R) as described in equation (3.1.8), this extends to

$$\overline{GL}(n,R) = [T \otimes \overline{SL}(n,R)] \times R^+, \qquad (4.1.5)$$

$$\overline{A}(n,R) = R^n \otimes \overline{GL}(n,R) .$$
(4.1.6)

In a playful spirit, with $\overline{SO}(n) = \text{Spin}(n)$, the mathematicians have adopted the notation $\overline{O}(n) =:$ Pin(n). Thus, for the covering group $\overline{GL}(n, R)$, the maximal compact subgroup is denoted by $\overline{O}(n) = \text{Pin}(n)$.

The infinite-dimensional group Diff(n, R) is Einstein's covariance group, realizing the passive symmetry under general coordinate transformations, which is trivially represented in our exterior

form notation. According to Stewart's theorem [657], in the neighborhood of the identity, it can be decomposed ³⁹

$$\operatorname{Diff}_{o}(n,R) \approx GL(n,R) \times H \times R^{n},$$
(4.1.7)

where the subgroup H is contractible to a point. As a result, O(n) is the deformation retract of Diff(n, R), and there exists a double covering group

$$\overline{\text{Diff}}_{\alpha}(n,R) \approx \overline{GL}(n,R) \times H \times R^{n}, \qquad (4.1.8)$$

i.e. we shall be able to construct "world" spinors, in addition to the possibility of having anholonomic spinors under a GL(4, R) or A(4, R) gauge group acting on local frames. We shall name the latter "affine frame spinors", generalizing the conventional finite Dirac (Lorentz) frame spinors as introduced by Tetrode, Wigner, Weyl, as well as by Fock and Ivanenko (see, for example, [447] for references). Affine frame spinors undergo, in addition to local Lorentz-rotations, deformations which have the shear current as conjugate Noether current.

It is not proven that $\overline{\text{Diff}}(n, R)$, as given by (4.1.8), represents the full universal covering group, when considering transformations which are not close to the identity. It is possible that much richer structure exists globally (cf. [461]), especially in four dimensions, where an infinity of *exotic* R^4 has been demonstrated to exist [208,162], no two of which are globally diffeomorphic to each other and to the standard one [81], even though they are globally topologically equivalent. However, Eq.(4.1.8) is all that we shall need in the following.

4.2. The deunitarizing automorphism A: covariance and equivalence as algebraic constraints

For the construction of our so-called *manifield* representations, a decomposition involving the (n-1)-dimensional subgroup $SL(n-1, R) \subset SL(n, R)$ is instrumental. For u, v, w = 1, ..., n-1 let us define

$$S := \mathcal{L}^{u}_{\ u} = -\mathcal{L}^{\dot{0}}_{\ \dot{0}}, \tag{4.2.1}$$

$$\overset{(\pm)}{B}_{u} := \frac{1}{2} (\mathcal{L}^{\acute{0}}_{u} \mp \mathcal{L}^{u}_{\acute{0}}).$$
(4.2.2)

With respect to these boost-like generators, S acts as

$$[\mathcal{S}, \overset{(\pm)}{B}_{u}] = \overset{(\mp)}{B}_{u}, \qquad (4.2.3)$$

which will give rise to an inner automorphism.

Since we are distinguishing between the time index $\hat{0}$ - we assume Ind(g) = 1, i.e. the signature (-+++) - and the space indices denoted by $u, v \dots$, we can now identify more directly the following generators:

³⁹ Note that active Diff(n, R) is isomorphic to the infinite-dimensional group of local translations, i.e. Diff $(n, R) \approx T^n := C^{\infty}(A(M) \times_{Ad} R^n)$, where A(M) is the affine bundle on which the translations R^n act via the adjoint representation [656,447] with respect to GL(n, R).

The important subalgebras and the relevant generators are

- so(n-1): the spatial rotations, generated by the $J_{\dots\mu}$,
- sl(n-1): the (n-1)-dimensional volume-preserving algebra of the J_{mu} and $\mathcal{L}_{(uv)}$,
- R^+ : a one-dimensional Abelian algebra generated by S,
- so(n): the maximal compact subalgebra, generated by $J_{\dots u}$ and B_{u} ,
- so(1, n-1): the *n*-dimensional Lorentz algebra, generated by $J_{\dots u}$ and B'_{u} .

The following *First Manifield Theorem*, proved in [628], is an immediate consequence of the commutation relations: For any sl(n, R), n > 3, there exists an inner automorphism

$$\mathcal{A} = \exp(\frac{1}{4}i\pi\mathcal{S}),\tag{4.2.5}$$

which leaves the subalgebra $[R^+ \times sl(n-1, R)]$ invariant and transforms

$$\mathcal{A}J_{\dots\mu}\mathcal{A}^{-1} = J_{\dots\mu}, \qquad \mathcal{A}\mathcal{E}_{\mu\nu}\mathcal{A}^{-1} = \mathcal{E}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad \mathcal{A}\mathcal{S}\mathcal{A}^{-1} = \mathcal{S}, \qquad \mathcal{A}\mathcal{D}\mathcal{A}^{-1} = \mathcal{D}, \qquad (4.2.6)$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{B_{u}}^{(+)}\mathcal{A}^{-1} = i \frac{i}{B_{u}}^{(-)}, \qquad \mathcal{A}_{B_{u}}^{(-)}\mathcal{A}^{-1} = i \frac{i}{B_{u}}^{(+)}, \qquad (4.2.7)$$

i.e. it replaces the compact $\stackrel{(+)}{B}_{u}$ by $\stackrel{(-)}{i}_{B}_{u}$, i.e. an imaginary (and thereby formally compactified) Lorentz-boost, at the same time replacing the noncompact $\stackrel{(-)}{B}_{u}$ by an imaginary (and thereby decompactified) time-space shear $\stackrel{(+)}{i}_{B}_{u}$.

The automorphism \mathcal{A} is the key to the construction of physically fitting infinite-component fields, our *manifields* from the infinite unitary irreducible ("bandor") representations of SL(n, R), including the two-valued spinorial ones (cf. appendix C.3). The fields have to be non-unitary, like ordinary tensors [these are constructed as finite and thus non-unitary representations of SL(n, R)] or Lorentz spinors [finite and thus non-unitary representations of SO(1, n-1)].

To understand the interplay between the homogeneous and inhomogeneous groups, it is important to remember that the algebraic foundations of *relativistic quantum field theory* (RQFT) stand on Einstein's two *principles* of *covariance and equivalence*, a fact which is generally glossed over in textbooks in RQFT, when these are not group-oriented or specifically related to GR.

The principle of covariance requires the physical fields to appear in expressions invariant under the group Diff(n, R). In order to realize this principle and a smooth transition to curved spacetime, fields (differential forms) are therefore constructed as representations of the homogeneous, holonomic, linear group $SL(n, R)_H \subset \text{Diff}(n, R)$; in Minkowski space, the symmetric spin two tensor field $\phi_{ij}(x)$, for example, includes all ten components of the relevant finite irreducible representation of SL(4, R), reducing under the orthogonal subgroup SO(4) (or under the pseudo-orthogonal SO(1,3)) as 10 = 9 + 1, i.e. $(1,1) \oplus (0,0)$, when seggregating the trace. Note that in holonomic constructions, the linear group plays a specific auxiliary role: As the irreducible linear subgroup of the diffeomorphism group, it provides a standard "realization" of that group, with the quotient Diff(n, R)/SL(n, R) being represented non-linearly over the matrices of the linear subgroup.⁴⁰ For Lorentz spinor fields, with a finite number of components, there is no linear embedding in SL(n, R), and the non-linear action of the diffeomorphisms is transmitted through the local frames; in this case, the linear subgroup action is that of the Lorentz group $\overline{SO}(1, n-1) \subset \text{Diff}(n, R)$, acting on the (tangent) frame indices, and the non-linear realization of the quotient group is given by the frame fields themselves.

At the same time, the principle of equivalence is embodied in the *affine* properties of the tangent space. It requires the physics of GR and PG to contain the transition to a frame which now carries the gravitational degrees of freedom and the kinematics is that of special relativity (SR), i.e. that of the Poincaré group, now acting in Minkowski spacetime. Reciprocally, in flat spacetime and RQFT, this kinematics is such as to provide, here too, a smooth transition. It is realized through the structure of the particle Hilbert space: It carries the representations of the *inhomogeneous* Lorentz group, i.e., the Poincaré group. When returning to GR and PG, this action, though hidden by spacetime curvature and torsion, is nevertheless omnipresent in the anholonomic frames, as constrained by the equivalence principle, cf. sections 3.2 and 3.3.

Note, however, that in metric-affine gravity (MAG), we have to consider a two-step transition. The action on the frames (in curved spacetime) is that of the affine group A(n, R); this cannot be applied as a symmetry to flat spacetime, when extinguishing the gravitational field. The complete treatment [496] thus requires the intermediate stage, e.g. the long-range or low-energy regime, still within curved spacetime, of section 6.5, corresponding then to the Riemannian case, as in Einsteinian GR.

RQFT requires a smooth overlap between the algebraic realizations of the two principles, as examplified by the following case:

The constraint of non-unitarity of the field representations is imposed by the physical requirements, stemming from the above: With the physical $g_{\alpha\beta} \stackrel{*}{=} o_{\alpha\beta}$ identification of the metric g, the Lorentz boosts become non-compact generators. Should we use unitary representations, the Lorentz subgroup would be represented by the unitary infinite-dimensional representations of Gel'fand and Naimark

[218,219]. These are representations that excite the spin degree of freedom: Acting with $\stackrel{(-)}{B}_{u}$ on a state of spin *j*, we get states with spins j-1 or j+1, ad infinitum. After all, these are representations of the (homogeneous) Lorentz group, i.e. a group that does not include translations and, consequently, the momenta, and can only excite that which it contains, namely spins.

Such representations for the fields, however, do not give the correct overlap with the representations of the particle Hilbert space, which are those of the Poincaré group, the inhomogeneous group that does induce the momenta. In practice, indeed, the spin-exciting representations for the boosts do not fit our understanding of the known particles or states corresponding to the known fundamental fields (quarks and leptons, W and Z bosons, etc.) and their particle realizations on a Hilbert space. Observationally, we find that the Lorentz boosts act to accelerate a particle, i.e. to modify its momentum and its kinetic energy, without changing its spin, which is in fact one of the permanent characteristics identifying a particle: It is the quantum number describing the representation of the

 $[\]frac{40}{10}$ This is the reason for the appearance of the SL(4, R) matrices in the covariant derivative, even though Riemannian gravity is not the Yang-Mills gauge theory of that group [156].

stability subgroup, $\overline{SO}(3)$ for massive states, over which one induces, following Wigner and Mackey, the unitary representations of the Poincaré group, cf. [38].

For ordinary tensors and for Lorentz spinors, the representation is finite and thus non-unitary. The Lorentz boosts' intrinsic action is realized by antihermitian operators. When derived from a Noether theorem, they just cancel, because the physically acceptable Lagrangian four-form L itself is guaranteed to be hermitian (or made hermitian by taking $\frac{1}{2}(L + h.c.)$, i.e. adding to it the hermitian conjugate). The surviving piece of the boost is then its orbital part, such as $tP_z - zP_t$. It is unitary because it acts in the infinite-dimensional Hilbert space of momenta; its effect is, indeed, to change the momentum and not the spin.

To achieve the same result when using infinite-dimensional "bandor" type representations, whether spinorial or tensorial, we apply the deunitarizing automorphism \mathcal{A} in the following manner:

- (1) We first apply \mathcal{A} to the generator algebra sl(n, R) and get an $sl(n, R)_{\mathcal{A}}$ algebra in which the Lorentz boosts are given by $i\overset{(+)}{B}_{u}$ and the time-space shears by $i\overset{(-)}{B}_{u}$.
- (2) We construct unitary irreducible representations for this algebra $sl(n, R)_{\mathcal{A}}$: the $i\overset{(-)}{B}_{u}$ generators close with the $J_{\dots u}$ on the compact $so(n)_{\mathcal{A}}$ and will be represented by an infinite sum of finite unitary representations, those corresponding to the maximal compact subalgebra, onto which one induces the entire $sl(n, R)_{\mathcal{A}}$ unirrep. The noncompact $so(1, n-1)_{\mathcal{A}}$, formed by the $i\overset{(+)}{B}_{u}$

with the $J_{\dots u}$, will be represented by infinite unirreps à la Gel'fand and Naimark.

(3) After the construction of this unirrep of $sl(n, R)_A$, we apply A^{-1} . As a result, we regain the original identification of the generators of sl(n, R), as defined by taking the Minkowskian signature for $g_{\alpha\beta}$; the boosts $B_u^{(-)}$ are given by finite and non-unitary (they are multiplied by 1/i) representations of so(n), precisely as it is in ordinary tensor and spinor fields; the timespace shears $B_u^{(+)}$ are represented by non-unitary (because of the same 1/i) infinite Gel'fand-Naimark representations. They too, like the boosts, will have their intrinsic action cancelled for a hermitianized Lagrangian and will therefore only act orbitally. The construction is thus given by the sequence

$$L \to \mathcal{A}^{-1}[U(\mathcal{A}L\mathcal{A}^{-1})]\mathcal{A}, \tag{4.2.8}$$

where U denotes the unitary irreducible representation.

Returning to our considerations as based upon covariance and equivalence, we note that in the above construction, we have managed to produce a consistent overlap of the two principles' application: The selection of the representations of the covariance subgroup $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ has been fitted to the constraints imposed by equivalence, namely having a Poincaré group particle Hilbert space.

4.3. Manifields and some of their applications

In flat spacetime, structureless particles are thus represented by induced unitary representations of the Poincaré group $P = R^4 \otimes SO_0(1,3)$ or, in the case of spinor fields, by its simply connected covering group $\overline{P} = R^4 \otimes SL(2, C)$. In the presence of gravity with its curved spacetime, this group then functions "vertically", i.e. as a structure group, acting on the local frames ("anholonomic tangent group").

The study of the phenomenological systematics of Hilbert space representations shows that such a description in terms of the Poincaré group (with spin and mass squares as invariants) is sufficient for the leptons, even though even in this case there is a need for other "internal" algebraically defined quantum numbers, to explain interactions (such as "weak" isospin and hypercharge) and phenomenological conservation laws (the various types of "lepton numbers", chiralities, etc.). For the various gauge fields, we require in addition the quantum numbers corresponding to the adjoint representation of the relevant gauge groups. On the other hand, for hadrons and nuclei – states in Hilbert space which do not coincide with the simplest materialization of a fundamental field – aside from "internal" symmetries, such as flavor-isospin SU(2) and unitary symmetry SU(3), there is an extremely rich struture of correlated dynamical excitations (tens of thousands of states in nuclei, tens in hadrons) which have been shown to emerge from the dynamics, like the spectrum of states of a hydrogen atom or of a harmonic oscillator.

For the hadrons, the basic phenomenological description, to begin with, was in terms of the Smatrix poles along a *Regge trajectory* in the analytically continued complex angular momentum plane. It was then shown that an appropriate algebraic description could be provided by the action of a *spectrum generating group* (SGG) [166,167,39,68], emerging from the dynamics and correlating an infinite sequence of representations of the Lorentz group (i.e. *energy levels*). SR and the O'Raifeartaigh/Coleman-Mandula theorems [539,126] do not allow an embedding of the Poincaré (or, for massless systems, of the conformal) group in larger symmetry groups (except for supersymmetry [253]) but the SGGs are not symmetries of the S-matrix, they only correlate a sequence of dynamically related Poincaré group representations.⁴¹

The most obvious choice [166,167] for the description of Regge sequences appeared to involve the infinite-dimensional unitary *bandor* representations of SL(3, R), with an SO(3) subgroup defined as the difference between the total angular momentum of a hadron and the "quark spin" contained in SU(6), the latter being given by current algebra [220]. With the post-1974 picture, as given by the *standard model* of the physics of particles and fields, such sequences represent the system of bound and resonant states, either of three quarks (the baryons), of quark-antiquark structures (the mesons), or of three antiquarks (the antibaryons).

At the time, there appeared, however, to be one difficulty with the use of SL(n, R) systematics, either as a SGG for the hadrons in Minkowski space, or as an anholonomic local tangent group for metric-affine gravity – in which the "vertical" group acting on the frames is enlarged by embedding the Lorentz group $SO_0(1,3)$ in $SL(4, R) \subset GL(4, R)$ (or of the Poincaré group in $SA(4, R) \subset A(4, R)$). Since SL(4, R) or the affine group $SA(4, R) := R^4 \ll SL(4, R)$, respectively, were (erroneously) considered to possess no double covering, this seemed to restrict the applications of both the hadronic SL(3, R) in flat spacetime and of metric-affine gravity to bosonic matter. The issue was settled, first for $\overline{SL}(3, R)$ [324,708], and then for all $\overline{SL}(n, R)$, when the existence of the covering group was demonstrated [478] and when Ne'eman et al. could show that $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ possesses "bandor" type unitary infinite-dimensional representations.

For the hadrons, although there exist several other candidate SGGs [68], note that $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ is unique, in providing the only possible field representation ("manifields"), thus allowing for a covariant

⁴¹ Dothan [165] has shown that the SGG can be considered as coordinate-dependent (time-dependent, in a non-relativistic context) symmetries of the S-matrix, which, on the other hand, do not commute with the Hamiltonian, their generators thus raising and lowering the energy levels, somewhat like Lorentz boosts.

description, within the context of phenomenological field theory. The same description in terms of manifields fits the needs of metric-affine gravity. Moreover, the manifield description of the hadrons lends itself in the usual way to the replacement of flat Minkowski space by curved spacetime, in the presence of gravity, whatever the nature of the manifold (Riemannian torsionless V_4 , torsion containing U_4 , metric-affine (L_4, g) , etc.).

A similar need exists in the description of nuclear excitation systematics, except that the nuclear structure methodology makes much less use of field methods. The application of these ideas in that domain therefore exploits the Hilbert space representation structure and the action of transition operators between them, rather than manifields. Moreover, it is often practical in nuclei to truncate the infinite bandors and replace them by finite unitary representations of a compact real form with the same algebra, i.e. replace $SU(2) \subset \overline{SL(3, R)}$ by $SU(2) \subset SU(3)$ [68].

In sections C.1, C.2 and C.3 of the appendix we list the unitary (infinite-dimensional) irreducible representations of $\overline{SL}(n, R)$ for $2 \le n \le 4$, which we also apply, using the automorphism \mathcal{A} , as non-unitary field representations. In appendix C.4 we also present the unitary representations of $\overline{SA}(n, R)$ in a particle Hilbert space and explain the possible induced representations, see also appendix C.6. For spinor matter fields and for infinite tensor fields – in other words, for manifields, assuming they create massive particles, the Hilbert space will support unitary infinite-dimensional representations of $\overline{SA}(n, R)$, actually given by the little group's representations (in Wigner's nomenclature). These will be unitary irreducible representations of $\overline{SL}(n-1, R)$, unmodified by \mathcal{A} , or "bandors": Bands of states with mounting spins; in the cases of $\overline{SL}(3, R)$ as a stability subgroup of $\overline{SA}(4, R)$, in the simplest representations the spin intervals are restricted to $\Delta J = 2$; otherwise we encounter $\Delta J = 1$ or 2.

Returning to the Minkowski space dynamics of hadrons and nuclei, we note that the bandor or manifield algebraic structure suggests that the mounting levels can be excited by the action of a tensor field such as gravity – or of an effective tensor field originating elsewhere, but with properties resembling gravity ("strong gravity" [587,588,445,570]). Several different approaches [448,499,205,41,415] have pointed to the emergence of such an effective tensor field in QCD, thereby explaining the latter's geometrical features, ⁴² as expressed in color confinement. The approach also fits the fact that in *string* theory, while the open string reduces under truncation (doing away with the Planck mass sector) to a Yang-Mills theory (such as QCD), the closed string reduces in the same truncation to gravity. Indeed, the closed string is a contraction of two open strings (summed over the color index) and appears in the quantum corrections of the open string – in just the same manner as happens in QCD for *chromogravity* or *pseudogravity* in the models discussed by the above authors, with the tensor field appearing as a bilinear in the Yang-Mills field (either the potential or the field strengths, depending on the model).

Note that in the Ne'eman-Šijački approach, the geometric effects are limited to the *infrared* region [499,501,500], whereas the other approaches appear at this point to cover the entire energy spectrum – although still indirectly linked with the IR region through the fact that the description does not involve the color index. Several effects in hadron [629] and nuclear [630] physics can be attributed to such a "chromogravity". Among the features explained by chromogravity in hadrons are the observed Regge trajectories [166], corresponding to the unitary irreducible representations of the little group $\overline{SL}(3, R)$, thus fitting the relativistic treatment based on $\overline{SA}(4, R)$. The key question with respect to

⁴² For the SU(2)-Yang-Mills case, as mapped to a Riemann-Cartan space, see [458].

the spectrum is to know whether or not there are kinematical constraints on the "Regge trajectories", i.e. the spin versus mass square correlation, within a given representation. In the past, such constraints have either made it extremely hard to construct a physical representation (e.g. the "angular condition" for local current algebra [220]) or shown the field representation to have properties which clash with experiment (e.g. the Majorana equation). This is the main reason for our being interested in the Casimir invariants of SA(n, R) and for including them in appendix C.4.

The most important result we have in this context is that for the representations used in our manifields (world spinors and infinitensors), i.e. the representations of class IIA, cf. appendix C.4, the Casimir invariant C(4) vanishes, and there are *no constraints*. Representations of class IIB 2b, for instance, have a non-vanishing Casimir – but we do not use them in physics at this stage.

In the corresponding excitation bands in nuclei, cf. [708,579], the SL(3, R) has been enlarged to Sp(3, R). The theory has also provided for the first time a derivation of the j = 0, 2 ground state of the successful *interacting boson model* ("IBM" [13]) in nuclei. In hadrons, aside from the direct mathematical demonstration of the emergence in QCD (in the infrared region) of a system of pseudo-diffeomorphisms⁴³ for which the "chromogravity" effective tensor field acts as a Riemannian metric, the notion is heuristically justifiable by the geometric, bag-like nature of color confinement. The energy levels represent the deformation-pulsation frequencies of these compound systems. Note that SL(4, R) is then the invariance group of a bag-like extended structure evolving in spacetime (just as an evolving string is SL(2, R) invariant [600]) and the little group SL(3, R) represents the invariance of the three-volume of the color-confining bag, throughout its vibrations-pulsations. The theory is also unique in providing a derivation of the observed linear relation in hadron Regge trajectories between the spins and squared masses⁴⁴ [499,501].

In gravity, aside from providing for matter fields affine and metric-affine theories, the new structures can be used for phenomenological studies and calculations in Einsteinian gravity, when protons or neutrons, for instance, are involved. In a fundamental Lagrangian, we would have quark fields and QCD gluons. From these it would be almost impossible to calculate precise effects on their bound states, the protons and neutrons. In the past, the method used was to treat the protons and neutrons as phenomenological Dirac fields; this, however, is an incorrect prescription, since nucleons are not Dirac particles. Not only do they have large anomalous magnetic moments, but in addition, they possess a large sequence of excited states for which there is no description in the Dirac equation. The correct covariant formalism is that described in this chapter.

Returning now to our algebraic constructs, we note that the simplest $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ manifields are the multiplicity-free ones (appendix C.3). In particular, the two conjugate representations in the discrete series

$$\mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{\text{disc.}}(\frac{1}{2},0) \oplus \mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{\text{disc.}}(0,\frac{1}{2})$$
(4.3.1)

⁴³ Recently it has been proved [500] that the exchange of *n*-gluon sets with the color index contracted (example: $d_{abc} B_i^a B_j^b d^c_{de} B_k^d B_l^e$ etc..., with a, b, ..., SU(3) indices and i, j, ... indices for spacetime) generates a representation of the *n*-dimensional Ogievetsky algebra.

⁴⁴ This relation also emerges in a different context – perhaps related through gravity/chromogravity parallelism – namely for the Kerr-Newman metric in GR [342,503], as pointed out by Salam [587], [also in a personal communication to Y.N.] and made more exact in [443,445,447] by employing the Christodoulou-Ruffini notion of the irreducible mass of a black hole. Chromogravity and the other treatments of QCD as a geometrical theory will be reviewed in greater detail in a coming review of the applications of QCD to the understanding of the hadron spectrum [501].



Fig. 3. The basic spinor manifield $\mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{\text{disc.}}(\frac{1}{2},0) \oplus \mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{\text{disc.}}(0,\frac{1}{2})$, extending the Minkowski space Dirac spinor field of the same 'name' into SL(4, R). This reducible SL(4, R) representation is the direct sum of two infinite, \mathcal{A} -deunitarized irreducible representations, denoted by hollow and full circles respectively, cf. [477,481,628].

contain, as representations of the little group SL(3, R), sequences of $\mathcal{D}_{SL(3,R)}^{\text{ladd}}(\underline{j} = \frac{1}{2}; \sigma_2 = 0)$, the special unirrep of (C.2.4). This unirrep reduces to an infinite sum of SU(2) representations $(\underline{j}, \underline{j} + 2, ...)$

$$j = \frac{1}{2} \oplus \frac{5}{2} \oplus \frac{9}{2} \oplus \cdots$$
 (4.3.2)

The $\mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{\text{disc.}}(\frac{1}{2},0) \oplus \mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{\text{disc.}}(0,\frac{1}{2})$ is the direct sum of two finite, chiral, and non-unitary representations of the Lorentz group, related by parity. In the Dirac case, this describes the Lorentz behavior of the Dirac field; for the SL(4, R) representation, this is the behavior of the lowest Lorentz submultiplet. Thus it contains a Dirac-like spinor at the lowest level. In a region where the shears and dilations are switched off, with no tensor field to relate the various $\Delta j = 2$ levels, this ground state decouples and becomes a true Dirac spinor field.

Other important manifields appearing in the ladder series in (C.3.10) are

$$\mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{\text{hdd.}}(\underline{j}=0,e_2), \qquad e_2 \in R, m=n=j, \quad j \cong \underline{j} \pmod{1}, \tag{4.3.3}$$

those yielding bosonic bands corresponding to the SL(3, R) bandors in (C.2.4)

$$\mathcal{D}_{SL(3,R)}^{\text{ladd.}} \left(\underline{j} = 0; \sigma_2 \right), \qquad \sigma_2 \in R, \ \{ j^n \} = \{ \underline{j}, \underline{j} + 2, \cdots \} ,$$

i.e. $j = 0 \oplus 2 \oplus 4 \oplus \cdots ,$ (4.3.4)

$$\mathcal{D}_{SL(3,R)}^{\text{ladd.}}(\underline{j}=1;\sigma_2), \qquad \sigma_2 \in R, \ \{j^n\} = \{\underline{j}, \underline{j}+2, \cdots\},$$

i.e. $j=1 \oplus 3 \oplus 5 \oplus \cdots,$ (4.3.5)

and the manifield

$$\mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{\text{ladd.}}(\underline{j}=\underline{1},e_2), \qquad e_2 \in R, \ m=n=j, \quad j \cong \underline{j} \pmod{1}, \tag{4.3.6}$$

yielding the same SL(3, R) bandors as (4.3.4) and (4.3.5).

These infinite-dimensional representations of $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ are realized by infinite component spinor fields, i.e. spinorial manifields; taking first the case in which the action of the group is defined

on the frames, i.e. representing the anholonomic $\overline{SL}(4, R)_A$, the manifield is $\Psi^{\vec{x}}(x)$, where the anholonomic (upper case Greek) indices $\vec{x}, \Pi, \Theta = 1, 2, ..., \infty$ run over the countable infinity of the components of the manifield representations, namely, in the usual case, the quantum numbers of the representations of the Spin(1,3) = $\overline{SO}(1,3)$ – finite and non-unitary, by construction – isomorphic to the (finite) unitary representations of $\overline{SO}(4, R)$. For example, we may have a sequence $(0,0), (1,1), (2,2), \ldots$, i.e. single-valued representations, in the case of the *infinitensor* (4.3.3), or the sequence $(1/2,0), (3/2,1), (5/2,2) \ldots$, double-valued representations, for one of the two "ladders" in the spinorial manifield in (4.3.1).

For these spinor representations, the group-structure can be stepwise enlarged, e.g. according to a subgroup chain, beginning with the Lorentz group,

$$SL(2,C) \subset \overline{P} = R^4 \otimes SL(2,C) \subset \overline{SA}(4,R) \subset \overline{\text{Diff}}(4,R).$$
 (4.3.7)

This is, however, an inclusion in the abstract. To realize, for instance, the covariance group, we have to specify $\overline{SL}(4, R)_H$, the *holonomic* special linear subgroup of $\overline{\text{Diff}}(4, R)$; in addition, we shall have to correct for the action of the covariance group on the coordinates in the argument of the manifield. We shall study one such construction in the next section.

If we lift the Lie generators L_j^i of the linear connection Γ_i^j to the manifield representation, denoting it by $\rho(L_j^i) = \{(L_j^i)_p^Q\}$ (for this holonomic case we use upper case Latin indices), we can introduce the exterior covariant derivative

$$D\Psi^{P}(x) = (\delta_{Q}^{P}d + \Gamma_{i}^{j}(L_{j}^{i})\varrho^{P})\Psi^{Q}(x).$$
(4.3.8)

The manifield representation is irreducible, because the shear generators (still in the holonomic case) $\mathcal{E}_{(ij)}$, i.e., the generators of the coset space $\overline{SL}(n, R)/\overline{SO}(n)$, connect all these various substates over the $|\Delta j| = 2$ intervals. Physically, it is the gravitational field (or the effective field of "chromogravity", in the flat spacetime physics of the hadrons) which connects these substates, since they are coupled through the covariant derivative by means of the matrices $\{(L_j^i)_Q^P\}$. Note that to the extent that we are treating (in MAG) the case of an anholonomic action of $\overline{SL}(4, R)_A$ on the frames, a similar covariant derivative can be defined, with the indices P, Q replaced by Ξ, Π ; the manifield (infinitesimal) variation, in that case, does not directly involve the variation $x^i \to x^i + \xi^i(x)$.

4.4. World spinors and world infinitensors, new concepts in field theory

The relationship between $\overline{SL}(4, R)_A$ and $\overline{SL}(4, R)_H$ is somewhat less straightforward than the one existing between the Lorentz groups in the anholonomic and holonomic physical realizations. We have mentioned previously that SR does not allow a symmetry larger than the Poincaré group. Thus, the frames over which the anholonomic group is acting are not the orthonormal frames as in GR. We shall however have occasion to use the anholonomic linear group and its double-covering in flat space; in such situations, the manifield breaks down and reduces to an infinite sum of Minkowski spacetime fields. Phenomenologically, $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ is then used as a SGG [68].

There are, however, other physical situations in which the frame manifield remains irreducible – e.g. in models of quantum gravity in which the high-energy (above Planck mass) regime is non-Riemannian. In either case, we can introduce a local *manibein* frame [493], by lifting the usual frame fields $e^i_{\alpha}(x) - (4 \times 4)$ field-valued matrices, relating here $SL(4, R)_A$ to $SL(4, R)_H$ in their

(1/2, 1/2) four-vector representations⁴⁵ – via the manifield representation, to the infinite-dimensional matrix $E^{P}_{H}(x)$. As a result, we can define holonomic world spinors,

$$\Psi^{P}(x) = E^{P}_{H}(x)\Psi^{H}(x), \qquad E^{P}_{H}(x) \coloneqq E(e^{i}_{\alpha})^{P}_{H}, \qquad (4.4.1)$$

where $\Psi^{II}(x)$ is now a spinorial manifield under the action of $\overline{SL}(4, R)_{H}$; with the action of the covariance group double-covering $\overline{\text{Diff}}(4, R)$ following the usual prescription of a non-linear realization over its linear subgroup, we have thereby obtained a field which will carry faithful representations of that covariance group's double-covering, fitting the "world" spinor description. Before dealing in detail with the transformation properties of both world spinors and affine-frame spinor manifields, we note that for a general world tensor field $\Phi_{y \cdots \xi}^{\alpha \cdots \beta}$, there are two ways of describing the transformations under SL(4, R): (a) As a direct product of p covariant and q contravariant four-vector "fundamental" representations, or, (b) after contractions over indices of complementary types, and symmetrization and antisymmetrization over indices of the same type, the (now irreducible) tensor carries an *irreducible* representation of SL(4, R). There is one single type of manifield, constructed as a ladder representation (see appendix C), which can be considered as a limiting case of some types of ordinary tensors – namely the totally symmetric contravariant $\Phi^{\alpha\cdots\beta}$ and its covariant analog - when the number of indices goes to infinity (for a spinor, ϕ itself is a Lorentz spinor). In that case, option (a) is available. In the general case, however, we have to use option (b), i.e. we deal with the field as the carrier of an irreducible (non-unitary) representation. For an ordinary tensor field we have the infinitesimal variation.

$$\delta\phi^{m}(x) = -i \,\partial_{i}\xi^{j}(x) \left[\rho(L_{j}^{i})\right]^{m}_{n} \phi^{n}((\sigma_{j}^{i})^{-1}x) + \xi^{i} \,\partial_{i}\phi^{m}(x), \qquad (4.4.2)$$

where $\xi^{i}(x) = \delta x^{i}$, the indices *m*, *n* denote components of the field representation, $\rho(L)$ is the appropriate matrix representation and $\sigma(L^{-1})$ is the (4×4) matrix representation of the inverted action of that generator. The $SL(4, R)_{H}$ matrix is multiplied by a parameter which is the relevant component of the gradient of x^{i} , resulting from the Jacobian determinant [156] and producing the non-linear action of Diff $(4, R)/SL(4, R)_{H}$ quotient.

The infinitesimal variation of the world spinor manifield under the action of the diffeomorphism $x^i \rightarrow x^{i'} = x^i + \xi^i$ will be very similar, except that the action on the spinorial manifield will be realized through the infinite matrices of $\overline{SL}(4, R)_H$,

$$\delta\Psi^{M}(x) = -i\partial_{i}\xi^{j}(x)[\rho(\overline{L}_{j}^{i})]^{M}{}_{N}\Psi^{N}((\sigma_{j}^{i})^{-1}x) + \xi^{i}\partial_{i}\Psi^{M}(x).$$

$$(4.4.3)$$

We note that the generators of $\overline{SL}(4, R)_H$ are given, in terms of the anholonomic ones, by

$$(\overline{L}'_{j})^{M}{}_{N} = E^{M}{}_{\overline{z}}(x)(\overline{L}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta})^{\overline{z}}{}_{II}H_{N}{}^{II}(x), \qquad (4.4.4)$$

where $H = E^{-1}$ is the inverted manibein, lifted from the one-form basis.

The "infinitesimal" parallel-transport of a manifield under a one-parameter subgroup of $\mathcal{T}^n \approx \text{Diff}(n, R)$ with generator ξ is provided by the GL(n, R)-gauge covariant Lie derivative

$$\mathbf{L}_{\xi} \Psi^{H}(x) = \xi \left[D \Psi^{H}(x) + D \xi \right] \Psi^{H}(x) .$$
(4.4.5)

⁴⁵ We denote the finite unirreps of SL(4, R) by the largest unirrep of its compact SO(4) subgroup, or by the non-unitary unirrep of SO(1,3) in the Minkowski case.

Holonomically, i.e., for world spinor $\Psi^{M}(x)$, Eq. (4.4.5) simplifies to the usual covariant Lie derivative $l_{\xi} = \xi [d + d\xi]$.

Fermionic holonomic manifields (with half-integer Lorentz subgroup spin) are world spinors, to be clearly distinguished from bosonic ones. The bosonic ones contain the same information as ordinary tensor fields, in as much as they belong to Diff(n, R). They are thus better known as infinitensors. The fermionic world spinors, on the other hand, display the action of the covering group $\overline{\text{Diff}}(n, R)$ faithfully and are therefore more general.

In order to introduce covariant differentiation for world spinors, the linear connection (3.5.1) has to be lifted to the manifield and then written holonomically. Similarly as in (3.5.2), we find the following inhomogeneous relation

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\prime \beta} (L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta})_{II}^{\theta} = E^{P}{}_{II} \Gamma_{j}^{k} (L^{j}{}_{k})_{P}^{T} H_{T}^{\theta} - E^{P}{}_{II} dH_{P}^{\theta}$$
(4.4.6)

between the anholonomic (Greek indices) and the holonomic (Latin indices) connection for a manifield with respect to a manibein transformation.

In the minimal coupling prescription, the coupling to the connection, is then achieved by means of the covariant manifield derivative $(D_i := \partial_i]D)$

$$D_{i}\Psi^{M}(x) = [\delta_{N}^{M}\partial_{i} + \Gamma_{ij}^{k}(L^{j}_{k})_{N}^{M}]\Psi^{N}(x) . \qquad (4.4.7)$$

Then, in our first order formalism, the world spinor matter Lagrangian reads

$$L_{\rm mat} = L_{\rm mat}(H_L^A(x), \Psi^M(x), D_i \Psi^M(x)).$$
(4.4.8)

The applications of our new concepts – the world infinitensors and spinors, especially the latter – range over a number of areas, which we touched upon in section 4.3. The above mentioned gauge coupling to gravity provides the key for applications in gravity itself and in theories involving a phenomenological or effective field resembling gravity, aside from providing for matter fields in affine and metric-affine theories. We mentioned phenomenological studies and calculations in Einsteinian gravity, when protons or neutrons, for instance, are involved. Nucleons should be treated as components of a phenomenological world spinor, coupled to gravity through the connection as in (4.4.7). Falling into a black hole, for instance, they might well get their sequences of resonances excited by the strong gravitational field of the hole. In the case of *chromogravity* (QCD induced), the dynamics provide mass formulae for the Regge sequences, for instance.

4.5. Manifield equations

For the rest of section 4, we will assume the dimension of the differential manifold to be n = 4, that is, we will consider spacetime. Two key theorems constrain the construction of manifield equations [99], the *First Manifield Theorem* of section 4.2 and the

Second Manifield Theorem: In $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ or $\overline{Diff}(4, R)$ covariant equations, the manifield cannot correspond to a multiplicity-free representation.

This can be readily seen in Fig. 4: In a curved space and covariant equation of motion, the ' γ -type matrices' X_{α} span a four-vector representation (1/2, 1/2) under sl(4, R), i.e. $[\mathcal{E}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, X_{\alpha}] = \delta^{\alpha}_{\gamma} X^{\beta}$, cf. (3.1.5). Taking the commutator between states connected by the X_{α} , we find that for the left hand side not to vanish, $\mathcal{E}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ has to act (non-trivially) as a (0,0) transition.



Fig. 4. The action of the (1,1) 'symmetric' algebraic generators spanning the quotient sl(4, R)/so(1,3) ~ and the second algebraic theorem for world spinor dynamics, the curved space multiplicity theorem [99]. The $(|\Delta j_1|, |\Delta j_2|) = (1,1)$ ninefold action of the shears spans a 'Union Jack' – eight arrows and the central point itself, namely (in the helicity representation), (1,1,), (1,0), (1,-1), (0,1), (0,0), (0,-1), (-1,1), (-1,0), (-1,-1) representing the raising and lowering action on the so(1,3) (Lorentz) subgroup representations. Of these, naturally, only (0,0) preserves a state's eigenvalues. Multiplicity-free representations, by definition, do not leave a state unchanged and always connect it to higher or lower states; here, the Lorentz submultiplets are connected by the 'St.Andrew' ×-like transitions to higher or lower Lorentz submultiplets. The (0,0) transitions' action is thus trivial here; this is also true of the 'St.George' ('+'-like) transitions, acting trivially, in both the 'ladder' and in these specific 'discrete'-type representations.

Fig. 5. The action of the infinite (constant) ' γ -matrices' X_{α} .

An sl(4, R) generator, such as $S = -\not{L}^{\hat{0}}_{\hat{0}}$, maps the infinite matrices X_{α} through $[S, X_{\alpha}] = -\delta^{\hat{0}}_{\alpha}X_{\hat{0}}$, since X_{α} is a four-vector under sl(4, R). Since S is a spin zero object (as a time-time component of the shears), this requires S to couple a state to itself, so as to get the same bra state on both sides of these commutation relations. However, in a multiplicity-free representation, the generators take you only up or down, by definition.

Thus equations for "holonomic" or world spinors, being $SL(4, R)_H$ invariant, exist only for manifields which are not multiplicity-free. This is an inconvenience in any approach in which one tries to use the simplest manifields. Mickelsson [440] first wrote down such a covariant equation. The Mickelsson equation, however, for vanishing gravitational field (i.e. in the flat limit), remains invariant under global $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ and thus does not reduce to simple SL(2, C)-invariance. This can be remedied through a mechanism of spontaneous symmetry breakdown with a Goldstone-Higgs field or manifield. We shall discuss such a model in section 6.4. The

Third Manifield Theorem: In the absence of the gravitational field, a Lorentz invariant equation decouples the states of $\mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{disc.}(1/2,0) \oplus \mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{disc.}(0,1/2)$ outside of the main diagonal.

This can be seen in Figs.3 and 5: the infinite γ -like matrices X_i are still a Lorentz four-vector, i.e. a (1/2, 1/2) representation. Such operators cannot connect a state to any other state, except between both sides of the main diagonal "alley".

The constraints imposed by these two theorems notwithstanding, there is a simple method [99] in which one can still use the simplest (multiplicity-free) manifields, which we listed in section 4.3, and can construct a holonomic equation, i.e. one describing a world spinor. We first construct a

Lorentz-invariant (i.e. flat space) equation, e.g. for the manifield $\mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{\text{disc.}}(1/2,0) \oplus \mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{\text{disc.}}(0,1/2)$ (while applying the deunitarizing automorphism of section 4.2),

$$\left[i\,o^{ik}X_i\partial_k - m(p)\right]\Psi = 0. \tag{4.5.1}$$

The anholonomic X_{α} are constructed in the following way [493]: first we embed $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ in $\overline{SL}(5, R)$ and then select a pair of parity conjugate principal series representations which are contained in the SL(4, R) reduction of our spinorial representations. Let the generators of $\overline{SL}(5, R)$ be $\overline{L}_A{}^B$, $A, B = 0, \dots, 4$. We define

$$X_{\alpha} = \overline{L}_{[4\alpha]}, \qquad \alpha = 0, 1, 2, 3,$$
 (4.5.2)

which yields an SL(4, R) four-vector. Note that the X_{α} operators constructed in this way yield, upon commutation, the SL(2, C) generators, generalizing a property of Dirac's γ -matrices. The holonomic matrices in (4.5.1) are then given by $X_i = e_i^{\alpha} X_{\alpha}$.

In the presence of gauge transformations (or of curvature), the partial derivative of the world spinor $\Psi^{M}(x)$ is replaced by the covariant exterior derivative (4.4.7), in which $(L^{j}_{k})_{N}^{M}$ is an infinite $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ matrix. This matrix will connect states outside of the diagonal alley, with $\Delta J = 0, 1, 2$. Note that even though $X_{i} = e_{i}^{\alpha} X_{\alpha}$ will now contain a tetrad field, it is still a four-vector under the holonomic $SL(4, R)_{H} \subset \overline{\text{Diff}}(4, R)$. In addition the Minkowski metric has, of course, to be replaced by the relevant metric.

The third manifield theorem, for world spinor dynamics, the "flat space disconnection" theorem: The $(|\Delta j_1|, |\Delta j_2|) = (1/2, 1/2)$ action of the X_{α} , namely, in the helicity representation, the four possible transitions (1/2, 1/2), (1/2, -1/2), (-1/2, 1/2), (-1/2, -1/2), is represented in two cases: Acting anywhere within the $\mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{disc}(1/2, 0) \oplus \mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{disc}(0, 1/2)$ representation, e.g. on the (2, 9/2) submultiplets, it yields nothing (entirely trivial action). However, when acting within the shaded zone, a non-trivial action becomes possible, connecting submultiplets belonging to the two different irreducible components. As a result, in flat space, the states lying outside of the shaded zone disconnect, in a Dirac-like Lorentz invariant equation [481]. In the presence of a gravitational field, the covariant derivative in (4.3.8) replaces the ordinary derivative in the Dirac-type equation. It involves the connection, contracted with an infinite representation of the $\mathcal{L}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$, with the 'Union Jack' action described in Fig.4 – and all states become connected.

In the following section, we shall see that the above special-relativistic anholonomic equation is transformed into a covariant equation for a world spinor by means of the application of infinite frames (manibeins).

4.6. Manibeins

In accordance with the principle of equivalence, we construct first the equation for a spinor manifield anholonomically, i.e. in a local frame, and then holonomize it [99].

We start with a manifield, which is an A-deunitarized representation of SL(4, R), but we impose Lorentz invariance only, as for an ordinary finite spinor. We thus have a direct sum of an infinite sequence of spins 1/2, 3/2, etc.. If we use (4.3.1), i.e., a multiplicity-free representation

$$\mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{\text{disc.}}(\frac{1}{2},0) \oplus \mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{\text{disc.}}(0,\frac{1}{2}), \tag{4.6.1}$$

then the γ -matrices are just the infinite direct sum of corresponding Bargmann-Wigner γ 's for the special-relativistic equation at each level. In curved space, the "minimal coupling" prescription, i.e. replacement in the Lagrangian of the partial derivative by a covariant derivative, will connect the levels within $\Delta J = 2$.

To go over to a world spinor field, we use "manibeins", i.e. tetrad-like infinite ⁴⁶ components $E^{P}_{H}(x) := E(e^{i}_{\alpha})^{P}_{H}$ of the local frame, cf. [493]. We denote by $\Psi^{P}(x)$ the *P*-component of the holonomic manifield, carrying a realization of Diff(4, *R*). According to the second theorem of above, this is no more a multiplicity-free representation. This is not surprising, considering that the manibein $E^{P}_{H}(x)$ represents the translational part of the gravitational field.

In the local (anholonomic) frame, the components $\Psi''(x)$ of the discrete series representation of above correspond to its reduction over the A-deunitarized (Lorentz) subgroup $\overline{SO}(4)$. We have

$$\Psi^{P}(x) = E^{P}_{H}(x)\Psi^{H}(x), \qquad P, \Pi = 1, \dots, \infty.$$
(4.6.2)

The $E_{H}^{P}(x)$ and their inverses, the components $H_{P}^{H}(x)$ of the coframe, are thus infinite matrices with the infinitesimal transformation properties

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\varepsilon} + \delta_{\widetilde{\omega}}) E^{P}{}_{H}(x) = -\omega_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}(x) (\mathcal{L}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta})_{H}{}^{\theta} E^{P}{}_{\theta}(x) + (D_{i}\varepsilon^{j} + \varepsilon^{k}T_{ki}{}^{j}) (\mathcal{L}^{i}{}_{j})_{N}{}^{P} E^{N}{}_{H}(x), \qquad (4.6.3)$$

where ε is the generator of a one-parameter subgroup of $\overline{\text{Diff}}(4, R)$ and $\mathcal{L}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ the generators and $\omega_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ the infinitesimal parameters of the SL(4, R), cf. (3.6.10).

The conventional transition between holonomic and anholonomic indices for tensors is mediated by the vielbein coefficients e_i^{α} such that $g_{ij} = e_i^{\alpha} e_j^{\beta} g_{\alpha\beta}$. Denoting by X^0 the constant γ^0 -like matrix in the X^i set, we can form the Dirac-type adjoint $\overline{\Psi} := \Psi^{\dagger} X^0$ and find similarly from the scalar product of world spinors,

$$\overline{\Psi}(x)\Psi(x) := \Psi^{\dagger M}(x)H_M^{\Xi}H_N^{H}(X^0)_{\Xi H}\Psi^N(x) =: \Psi^{\dagger M}(x)G_{MN}(x)\Psi^N(x), \qquad (4.6.4)$$

where the symmetric infinite-component tensor $G_{MN}(x)$ is a functional of the gravitational field realizing the metric g_{ij} on the world spinor components. After spontaneous symmetry breakdown to Riemann-Cartan or even to Riemannian spacetime, as discussed in section 6.4, we expect to get, in accordance with the principle of equivalence, a "weak" equation for "low energy states":

$$\langle \mathbf{l.e.s.} | D_i G_{MN}(\mathbf{x}) | \mathbf{l.e.s.} \rangle \cong \mathbf{0}. \tag{4.6.5}$$

In writing the Ψ -Lagrangian, we thus have to use coframes. In this case, the coframes have their components' labels ranging over a countable infinity. Such coframes are matrix-valued translational potentials, relating $\overline{GL}(4, R)_A$ to $\overline{GL}(4, R)_H$ [99]. For bosonic manifields, the double covering is collapsed and the coframe can then be given [490,491] in terms of the conventional coframes ϑ^{β} by

$$\theta^{\Xi} = C^{\Xi}{}_{\beta}\vartheta^{\beta} = H_{J}{}^{\Xi}G^{J}{}_{i}dx^{i} \qquad \begin{cases} H_{J}{}^{\Xi} = C^{\Xi}{}_{\beta}e_{j}{}^{\beta}G^{J}{}_{J}, \\ E^{i}{}_{II} = G^{i}{}_{i}e^{i}{}_{\alpha}C^{\alpha}{}_{II}, \end{cases}$$
(4.6.6)

where the $C^{\Xi}{}_{\beta}$ and $G^{J}{}_{i}$ are rectangular $n \times \infty$ transition matrices of SL(2, C) and SL(4, R), respectively, connecting the <u>4</u> (*i*-index) and (1/2, 1/2) (β -index) to the infinite-dimensional representations

⁴⁶ Instead of tetrads we now have "No-ads".

 $(\Xi$ and J indices, respectively). The $C^{\Xi}{}_{\beta}$ consist of a reduced infinite sum of rectangular matrices. They relate, within one single \mathcal{A} -deunitarized representation of $\overline{SL}(4, R)_A$, the A, B labels of the finite (non-unitary) representations of SL(2, C) – replacing here the $\overline{SO}(4)$ compact subgroup representations in the \mathcal{A} -deunitarized representation of $\overline{SO}(4, R)_A$ itself – to the four-dimensional α , β indices of the local Lorentz group, also saturating a four-dimensional representation of $SL(4, R)_A$. The G'_i relate the four-dimensional i, j indices of $\overline{SL}(4, R)_H$ to the infinite-dimensional I, J indices of the \mathcal{A} -deunitarized representation of that group.

Having followed the transition from the anholonomic to the holonomic equation, we can understand how the manibein frames transform a representation of the discrete series, which is multiplicity-free, into a representation with multiplicity, presumably a reducible sum, following a Clebsch–Gordan expansion.

However, if we are interested in a holonomic equation, we can, following Mickelsson [440], also start out directly with an appropriate non-multiplicity-free pair of parity-conjugate representations.

4.7. Conformal properties of world spinor densities

In a metric-affine spacetime, the exterior covariant derivative for the manifield takes the general form of (4.3.8). In the context of Lagrangians, the manifield as a SL(4, R) representation has to be lifted to a GL(4, R) representation and thus to be regarded as a density $\hat{\Psi}$ of appropriate dimension d_{Ψ} . Thus, following Schouten [604], it is more natural to consider (world) spinor densities, cf. section A.1.1, of a suitable dimension d_{Ψ} . Then (4.3.8) converts, according to the prescription (3.5.7), into

$$D\hat{\Psi}^{\Xi}(x) = [D\hat{\Psi}^{\Xi}(x)]_{\text{manif.}} - \omega_{\Psi}\Gamma\delta_{\Pi}^{\Xi}\hat{\Psi}^{\Pi}(x).$$
(4.7.1)

Here the first piece on the right hand side denotes the covariant exterior manifield derivative as if the Ψ did not carry a hat.

We adopt the convention that a (mani-)field density $\hat{\Psi}(x)$ transforms under a conformal change $\tilde{g} = \Omega^L g$ of the underlying metric structure, cf. section 3.14, according to

$$\hat{\Psi}(x) \to \tilde{\tilde{\Psi}}(x) = \Omega(x)^{d_{\Psi}L/2} \hat{\Psi}(x) \qquad \begin{cases} d_{\eta} := n & \text{volume density } \eta, \\ d_{0} := -\frac{1}{2}(n-2) & \text{scalar field } \sigma, \\ d_{1/2} := -\frac{1}{2}(n-1) & \text{spinor field } \psi. \end{cases}$$
(4.7.2)

In n = 4 dimensions, the dimension of a scalar field is given by $d_0 = -1$, whereas $d_{1/2} = -3/2$ holds for a conventional Dirac spinor. For the weight L = 2 of the metric, this corresponds to the *canonical* (physical) dimensions which, for a scalar field, e.g., is (length)⁻¹. For a world spinor density we are assuming that it transforms as

$$\hat{\Psi}^{\vec{z}}(x) = \Omega^{-(n-1)L/4} \hat{\Psi}^{\vec{z}}(x), \tag{4.7.3}$$

which, for L = 2 and n = 4, is in conformity with the canonical dimension d = -3/2 of conventional Dirac fields, cf. [419,733]. Then the trace of the connection acts as a compensating potential in the manifield derivative (4.7.1) for densities, which suffices to ensure conformal covariance. In a (L_n, g) , according to (3.14.1), the exterior covariant derivative (4.7.1) of a world spinor density (cf. [726] for the Riemannian case) transforms under conformal changes as follows (cf. also [145,515,528]):

$$\tilde{D}\tilde{\Psi}^{\Xi}(x) = \Omega^{-(n-1)L/4} \{ D + [(n\omega_{\Psi} - 1)C - \frac{1}{4}(n-1)L] d\ln\Omega \} \hat{\Psi}^{\Xi}(x).$$
(4.7.4)

Consequently, conformal covariance of the exterior GL(n, R)-gauge covariant derivative can be achieved:

$$\tilde{D}\hat{\Psi}^{\Xi}(x) = \Omega^{-(n-1)L/4} D\hat{\Psi}^{\Xi}(x), \quad \omega_{\Psi} = (1/n)[1 + \frac{1}{4}(n-1)L/C].$$
(4.7.5)

Let us consider a Dirac-type Lagrangian L_{Ψ} and take into account the definition

$$X(x)^{\Xi}_{H} := (X_{\alpha} \vartheta^{\alpha})^{\Xi}_{H} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \tilde{X}(x)^{\Xi}_{H} = \Omega^{F} X(x)^{\Xi}_{H}$$

$$(4.7.6)$$

of the vielbein-deformed γ -type matrices X_a , together with the conformal property (3.14.1) of the coframe ϑ^{α} . Moreover, we employ the transformation formula (3.14.13) for the Hodge dual of a *p*-form. Taken together, this implies that the Dirac-type hermitian Lagrangian

$$L_{\hat{\Psi}} = \frac{1}{2} i [\widehat{\Psi_{\Xi}}(x) X(x)^{\Xi}{}_{H} \wedge^{*} D \widehat{\Psi}^{H}(x) - \overline{D \widehat{\Psi}_{\Xi}}(x) \wedge^{*} X(x)^{\Xi}{}_{H} \widehat{\Psi}^{H}(x)]$$
(4.7.7)

for massless world spinor densities is conformally invariant in any dimension,

$$\tilde{L}_{\psi} = \Omega^{F - L/2} L_{\psi} = L_{\psi}, \qquad (4.7.8)$$

provided the conformal weight of the coframe is given by F = L/2, which, for L = 2, is the canonical value.

Compared to a conventional Dirac field carrying only spin, the hypothetical manifields, in addition, supply a shear and a dilational current, which will become the source of a symmetric connection field.

These world spinors cannot be equipped with a rest mass⁴⁷ in a conformally invariant manner. However, we may introduce a Yukawa-type coupling to the dilaton field σ such that the resulting interaction Lagrangian is conformally invariant in n = 4 dimensions:

$$L_{\sigma\Psi} = -\sigma \hat{\Psi}^{\bar{z}}(x) \ \hat{\Psi}_{\bar{z}}(x) \eta, \qquad \tilde{L}_{\sigma\Psi} = \Omega^{-(n-4)L/4} L_{\sigma\Psi}.$$
(4.7.9)

The manifield equation, resulting from the combined Lagrangian (4.7.7) and (4.7.9) by variation with respect to $\hat{\Psi}$, reads (cf. [447,282, p.114] for the Riemann-Cartan case):

$$i[X \wedge {}^{*}D + \frac{1}{2}(D {}^{*}X) + i\sigma\eta]\hat{\Psi} = 0.$$
(4.7.10)

A constant mass term $m \approx \langle \sigma \rangle$ for world spinors can be induced as a result of the breaking of the local scale symmetry by means of a non-trivial vacuum expectation value $\langle \sigma \rangle = \sqrt{\chi}/l_0$ of the dilaton field σ , see sections 6.4 and 6.5.

In a model of Audretsch et al. [18], which was devised in order to understand the relation between a Weylian and a Riemannian spacetime, a condition Dm(x) = 0 for a so-called mass function m(x)is necessary and sufficient for the existence of geodesic particle trajectories in the WKB-limit. The manifield mass of our model, however, will be induced by a breaking of the dilation symmetry, see section 6.4. Thereby the corresponding condition $D\sigma = 0$ should surface as a requirement for the

66

~

⁴⁷ To us, a mildly spacetime dependent mass m = m(x) à la Hayashi et al. [261] and Audretsch et al. [18] seems to be an inappropriate device, since, according to Coleman [124], "...scale transformations ... do not change numerical parameters – that is to say, they stay within a given physical theory".

groundstate. As it turns out, this implies the vanishing of the dilation current and, accordingly, the emergence of a preferred pseudo-Riemannian structure as well.

5. Lagrange-Noether machinery

5.1. The external currents of a matter field

The external currents of a matter field are those currents which are related to spacetime symmetries. On a fundamental level, we adopt the view that tangible matter is described in terms of infinitedimensional spinor⁴⁸ or tensor representations of SL(4, R), the manifields Ψ of the preceeding section.

In a first order formalism we assume that the material Lagrangian *n*-form for these manifields depends most generally on Ψ , $d\Psi$, and the potentials $g_{\alpha\beta}$, ϑ^{α} , $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$. According to the *minimal* coupling prescription, derivatives of these potentials are not permitted. We usually adhere to this principle. However, Pauli type terms such as $R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}\Psi L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}{}^{*}(\sigma\Psi)$, where $\sigma := (i/2)X_{\mu}X_{\nu}\vartheta^{\mu} \wedge \vartheta^{\nu}$, and the Jordan-Brans-Dicke type term $|\Phi| R^{\alpha\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta}$ may occur in phenomenological models or in the context of symmetry breaking. Therefore, we develop our Lagrangian formalism in sufficient generality in order to cope with such models by including in the Lagrangian also the derivatives $dg_{\alpha\beta}$, $d\vartheta^{\alpha}$, and $d\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ of the gravitational potentials:

$$L = L(g_{\alpha\beta}, dg_{\alpha\beta}, \vartheta^{\alpha}, d\vartheta^{\alpha}, \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}, d\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}, \Psi, d\Psi) .$$
(5.1.1)

As a further bonus, we can then also read off the Noether identities for the gravitational gauge fields in $n \ge 2$ dimensions.

The requirement of invariance under the local affine group $\mathcal{A}(n, R)$, as we will discuss at the beginning of section 5.2 below, means that the Lagrangian L should be invariant under both, linear gauge transformations of the frame and (active) diffeomorphisms. Invariance under frame transformations leads immediately to the result that L depends on $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ only via the exterior covariant derivative D (or via the nonmetricity $Q_{\alpha\beta}$, torsion T^{α} , and curvature $R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ in Pauli type terms). To see this, one simply has to note that we can always choose the coframe field ϑ^{α} such that $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \stackrel{*}{=} 0$ at a given event P, in which case

$$L(g_{\alpha\beta}, dg_{\alpha\beta}, \vartheta^{\alpha}, d\vartheta^{\alpha}, \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}, d\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}, \Psi, d\Psi) \stackrel{*}{=} L(g_{\alpha\beta}, Q_{\alpha\beta}, \vartheta^{\alpha}, T^{\alpha}, R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}, \Psi, D\Psi)$$
(5.1.2)

at P. Now, since the right-hand side of (5.1.2) is a scalar-valued *n*-form constructed from tensorial and spinorial manifields, it is invariant under linear frame transformations. Also the left-hand side is similarly invariant by hypothesis. It follows that, at an event P, Eq. (5.1.2) holds in general for an arbitrary frame field. Applying the same argument at every event P of spacetime, the result (5.1.2)follows quite generally. Here the GL(n, R)-gauge covariant exterior derivative is given by

$$D\Psi^{\Xi}(x) = \left[\delta_{II}^{\Xi}d + \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}(L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta})_{II}{}^{\Xi}\right]\Psi^{II}(x).$$
(5.1.3)

⁴⁸ In treating the matter Lagrangian L, the covering groups of GL(n, R), SL(n, R), and A(n, R) or SA(n, R) occur and thus should be overlined, since the matter fields are spinor manifields. Only for the gauge Lagrangian V, it can remain non-overlined. For convenience, we often drop the overline, if it is clear from the context anyways.

where $(L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta})_{\mu}{}^{\bar{z}}$ denotes a lifting of the GL(n, R) generators to the manifield representation. Independent variations of $g_{\alpha\beta}$, $Q_{\alpha\beta}$, ϑ^{α} , T^{α} , $R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$, Ψ , and $D\Psi$ yield

$$\delta L = \delta g_{\alpha\beta} \frac{\partial L}{\partial g_{\alpha\beta}} + \delta Q_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}} + \delta \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial \vartheta^{\alpha}} + \delta T^{\alpha} \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\alpha}} + \delta R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}} + \delta \Psi \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial \Psi} + \delta (D\Psi) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial (D\Psi)}, \qquad (5.1.4)$$

where the partial derivatives are implicitly defined by (5.1.4). Note that for a tensor-valued p-form $\Phi_{\alpha\beta}$ which is symmetric or antisymmetric in α and β , expressions like $\delta \Phi_{\alpha\beta} \wedge (\partial L/\partial \Phi_{\alpha\beta})$ are only formal. In order to avoid counting the nondiagonal components twice in the variation procedure, a *strict ordering* of the indices is necessary. This is to be understood in the first two terms of (5.1.4). Since we assume that the variation δ and the exterior derivative d commute, i.e. $[\delta, d] = 0$, we can transform the variations with respect to $Q_{\alpha\beta}$, T^{α} , and R_{α}^{β} defined by (3.8.1), (3.5.9), and (3.5.10), via "partial integration", into variations with respect to the original variables $g_{\alpha\beta}$, ϑ^{α} , and Γ_{α}^{β} . We find

$$\delta L = \frac{1}{2} \delta g_{\alpha\beta} \sigma^{\alpha\beta} + \delta \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha} + \delta \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge \Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + \delta \Psi \wedge (\delta L/\delta \Psi)$$

$$+ d \left(-\delta g_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}} + \delta \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\alpha}} + \delta \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}} + \delta \Psi \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial D \Psi} \right),$$
(5.1.5)

where the variational derivative

$$\frac{\delta L}{\delta \Psi} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \Psi} - (-1)^p D \frac{\partial L}{\partial (D\Psi)},\tag{5.1.6}$$

for a gauge-invariant Lagrangian L, becomes identically the GL(n, R)-covariant variational derivative of L with respect to the p-form Ψ . The matter currents in (5.1.5) are given by ⁴⁹

$$\sigma^{\alpha\beta} := 2\frac{\delta L}{\delta g_{\alpha\beta}} = 2\frac{\partial L}{\partial g_{\alpha\beta}} + 2D\frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}},$$
(5.1.7)

$$\Sigma_{\alpha} := \frac{\delta L}{\delta \vartheta^{\alpha}} = \frac{\partial L}{\partial \vartheta^{\alpha}} + D \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\alpha}}, \tag{5.1.8}$$

$$\Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} := \frac{\delta L}{\delta \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}} = (L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}\Psi) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial (D\Psi)} + 2g_{\beta\gamma}\frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\alpha\gamma}} + \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\beta}} + D\frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}}.$$
(5.1.9)

Since $D\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ is not defined, the variational derivative $\delta L/\delta\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ in (5.1.9) cannot be understood according to the covariant version of (5.1.6). Rather, it is just an abbreviation of the right-hand side of (5.1.9), which is the outcome of the transition from (5.1.4) to (5.1.5). The last term on the right hand side of (5.1.5) is an exact form which does not contribute to the action integral because of the

68

⁴⁹ In some textbooks, see Thirring and his associates [674,704], the matter currents are defined with the Hodge star introduced on the left-hand sides of these equations, such as ${}^*\tilde{\Sigma}_{\alpha} := \cdots$. Then the currents are one-forms by definition. The price one has to pay for this "convenience" is that the matter currents $\tilde{\Sigma}_{\alpha} = {}^*(\cdots)$ etc., via the Hodge-star, become *explicitly* contaminated with the gravitational potential $g_{\alpha\beta}$. There is, however, no need for such a convention. We try to keep matter and gravitation cleanly separated in order to get insight into their structural interdependence.

usual assumption that $\delta g_{\alpha\beta} = 0$, $\delta \vartheta^{\alpha} = 0$, $\delta \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = 0$, and $\delta \Psi = 0$ on the boundary ∂M of the domain M of integration.

A classical convective model of the matter currents (5.1.7), (5.1.8), (5.1.9) has been developed by Obukhov and Tresguerres [532] following the pattern of the Weyssenhoff ansatz.

5.1.1. Energy-momentum

The *n*-form $\sigma^{\alpha\beta}$ and the (n-1)-form Σ_{α} are the *metrical* (Hilbert) and the *canonical* (Noether) energy-momentum currents, respectively. These currents occur, though in a more restricted sense, also in GR. In Lagrangian field theory, a current is fundamentally an (n-1)-form (some quantity spread over a hypersurface) and not an *n*-form such as the metric energy-momentum "current" given by (5.1.7). This suggests that we consider the equivalent (n-1)-form

$$\sigma_{\beta} \coloneqq e_{\alpha} \left[\sigma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, \quad e_{\beta} \right] \sigma^{\beta} \equiv 0. \tag{5.1.10}$$

Later, when we will have the Noether theorems at our disposal, we will relate the symmetric σ_{α} , via a Belinfante-Rosenfeld type formula, to the canonical current Σ_{α} .

From the canonical energy-momentum current we can extract its *trace* $\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha}$ with one independent component ⁵⁰ according to

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\alpha} \coloneqq \mathcal{Z}_{\alpha} - (1/n)e_{\alpha}](\vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge \mathcal{Z}_{\gamma})$$
(5.1.11)

such that \mathcal{Z}_{α} is traceless:

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \boldsymbol{\mathcal{Z}}_{\alpha} = 0. \tag{5.1.12}$$

The antisymmetric piece $\vartheta_{1\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta}$ has n(n-1)/2 independent components, exactly as the (n-2)-form

$$\Sigma := g^{\alpha\beta} e_{\alpha} \rfloor \Sigma_{\beta} = e_{\alpha} \rfloor \Sigma^{\alpha}.$$
(5.1.13)

Via some contractions, we find

$$\vartheta_{|\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta|} = \frac{1}{2} \vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta_{\beta} \wedge \Sigma.$$
(5.1.14)

Consequently, the irreducible decomposition of the canonical energy-momentum (n-1)-form Σ_{α} into a symmetric tracefree, trace, and antisymmetric piece reads

$$\Sigma_{\alpha} = \widetilde{\Sigma}_{\alpha} + (1/n)e_{\alpha} j(\vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge \Sigma_{\gamma}) + \frac{1}{2}\vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma, \qquad (5.1.15)$$

where this equation can be understood as defining the symmetric tracefree piece Z_{α} with its (n-1)(n+2)/2 components. For the symmetric piece

$$\widehat{\Sigma}_{\alpha} = \Sigma_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} \vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma, \qquad (5.1.16)$$

⁵⁰ It is called the trace because in terms of the components $\mathcal{T}^{\beta}_{\alpha}$ of the conventionally defined energy-momentum tensor density, with $\Sigma_{\alpha} = \mathcal{T}^{\beta}_{\alpha}\epsilon_{\beta}$, we have $\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha} = \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \mathcal{T}^{\beta}_{\alpha}\epsilon_{\beta} = \mathcal{T}^{\alpha}_{\alpha}\epsilon$. Here ϵ is the (metric-independent) Levi-Civita four-form density and $\epsilon_{\alpha} = e_{\alpha}]\epsilon$, see (A.1.18) and (A.1.19). Analogously, the expression $g_{\gamma|\alpha}\vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta|} = \vartheta_{\{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta|} = \mathcal{T}_{\{\alpha\beta\}}\epsilon$ represents the antisymmetric piece.

we find

$$e_{\alpha} \int \widehat{\Sigma}^{\alpha} = 0, \qquad \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \widehat{\Sigma}_{\alpha} = 0, \qquad e_{\alpha} \int \widehat{\Sigma}^{\alpha} = 0.$$
 (5.1.17)

Moreover, in analogy to (5.1.14), we have

$$\vartheta_{(\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta)} = \vartheta_{(\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta)} + (1/n)g_{\alpha\beta}(\vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge \Sigma_{\gamma}).$$
(5.1.18)

5.1.2. Hypermomentum

A rather new concept [277,278] is that of the hypermomentum current which is given by the (n-1)-form $\Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$. According to the direct product structure $GL(n, R) = [T \otimes SL(n, R)] \times R^+$ of the general linear group, its trace

$$\Delta := \Delta^{\gamma}{}_{\gamma} = \delta L / \delta \Gamma_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma}, \tag{5.1.19}$$

the dilation current, can be split off, leaving over the traceless hypermomentum current

$$\mathcal{A}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} := \mathcal{\Delta}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - (1/n)\delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}\mathcal{\Delta}. \tag{5.1.20}$$

This separation is somewhat reminiscent of the decomposition (3.12.2) of the connection into volumechanging and volume-preserving pieces.

In an (L_n, g) , a metric is available which allows us to lower the index α and to split (5.1.9) into a symmetric and an antisymmetric piece. Then we arrive at the decomposition

$$\Delta_{\alpha\beta} = \tau_{\alpha\beta} + (1/n)g_{\alpha\beta}\Delta + A^{\gamma}{}_{\alpha\beta}$$

~ spin current \oplus dilation current \oplus shear current, (5.1.21)

where

$$\tau_{\alpha\beta} \coloneqq \Delta_{\{\alpha\beta\}} = \vartheta_{\{\alpha} \wedge \mu_{\beta\}} \tag{5.1.22}$$

is the (dynamical) spin current and

$$\mathcal{A}^{\alpha}_{\alpha\beta} := \mathcal{A}_{(\alpha\beta)} - (1/n)g_{\alpha\beta}\mathcal{A}$$
(5.1.23)

the symmetric and tracefree *shear current*. Since $\tau_{\alpha\beta} = -\tau_{\beta\alpha}$ is an (n-1)-form, it can be equivalently expressed in terms of a vector-valued (n-2)-form μ_{α} , as displayed in (5.1.22). The explicit form of the spin energy potential ⁵¹ (n-2)-form μ_{α} , according to (A.1.26), reads

$$\mu_{\alpha} = -2e_{\beta} J \tau_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + \frac{1}{2} \vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge (e_{\beta} J e_{\gamma} J \tau^{\beta\gamma}).$$
(5.1.24)

The symmetric piece of (5.1.21), namely

$$\widehat{\Delta}_{\alpha\beta} := \Delta_{(\alpha\beta)} = (1/n)g_{\alpha\beta}\Delta + \widehat{A}^{*}_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (5.1.25)$$

we will call the strain current.

³¹ In comparison to [366], our conventions with respect to μ differ by a factor of -2. Incidentically, in some earlier articles [454,288,280] we have erroneously claimed that the trace $e_{\alpha} \rfloor \mu^{\alpha}$ of the spin energy potential vanishes.

Observe that the decomposition (5.1.21) is only irreducible with respect to the Lie-algebra indices α and β . In contrast to the decomposition (5.1.21), which will turn out to be useful in section 5.3, a further decomposition of the components $\Delta_{\mu_1 \cdots \mu_{n-1} \alpha \beta}$ of $\Delta_{\alpha\beta} = (1/(n-1)!) \Delta_{\mu_1 \cdots \mu_{n-1} \alpha \beta} \vartheta^{\mu_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{\mu_{n-1}}$, in analogy to section B.6, has found no natural application so far.

The dynamical spin $\tau_{\alpha\beta}$ is a source term which, besides the energy-momentum current Σ_{α} , is crucial in the Poincaré gauge theory of gravity [272,273,434,447], whereas the dilation current Δ is an essential ingredient of conformal models of gravity based on a Weyl geometry [287,288] and familiar from canonical field theory [124,404]. For gravity with its Planck scale, only the shear $\widehat{A}_{\alpha\beta}^{*}$ seems to be more remote from *direct* physical experience ⁵². In the manifield approach of Ne'eman et al. [284,480,490,491], it manifests itself indirectly by the occurrence of states within the infinite-dimensional representations which are lying along Regge trajectories. The shear current has an analogue in the three-dimensional continua with microstructure, see [246,267,462].

The field equation for the manifields Ψ is given by the familiar Euler-Lagrange equation

$$\delta L/\delta \Psi = 0. \tag{5.1.26}$$

If it is assumed to be fulfilled in the derivation of identities, we call them *weak* identities in the following ("on shell" in the parlance of particle physicists).

5.2. Noether identities for material energy-momentum and hypermomentum

According to the Noether theorem, the conservation identities of the matter system result from the postulated invariance of L under a local symmetry group, here the group of local affine transformations. Actually, this is only true "weakly", i.e., provided the Euler-Lagrange equation (5.1.26) for the manifield is satisfied. A direct gauging of the affine group $A(n, R) := R^n \leq GL(n, R)$ would yield a Yang-Mills type "internal" interpretation of local spacetime symmetries, as explained in section 3.2, and would lead to one (combined) Noether identity within a "motor calculus". Here we follow the more conventional route and consider the reduced or "parallel-transport" version of affine gauge transformations, cf. sections 3.3 and 3.6, in which the infinite-dimensional group $T := C^{\infty}(A(M) \times_{Ad} R^n)$ of local translations is replaced by the group of Diff(n, R) of diffeomorphisms on the spacetime manifold M_n itself. Then invariance of L under the group of local affine transformations means that L is invariant under (i) diffeomorphisms on M_n , and (ii) $\mathcal{GL}(n, R)$ deformations of the frame field according to (3.4.5). First we consider the invariance of L under ...

5.2.1. Diffeomorphisms

Let ξ be the generator of an arbitrary one-parameter group \mathcal{T}_i of diffeomorphisms. In order to obtain a covariant Noether identity from invariance of L under a one-parameter group of *local* translations $\mathcal{T}_i \subset \mathcal{T} \approx \text{Diff}(n, R)$, it would be sufficient to use the conventional Lie derivative $l_{\xi} := \xi \lfloor d + d\xi \rfloor$ on M with respect to an arbitrary vector field ξ (cf. [363]). Since our Lagrangian L is also required to

⁵² On a much higher length scale, however, back in 1965 already Dothan et al. [166] showed that the shears represent (orbitally) the *time-derivatives of "gravitational" quadrupoles*, cf. [291]. For a fixed volume, e.g. a nucleus, we obtain the very physical picture of pulsation changing it from looking like a pear to looking like a cigar (these are the "deformed nuclei", cf. [579]). The time-derivatives mean that we are considering the *pulsation rates* for these quadrupoles, i.e., for the various bulges or departures from spherical shape.

be a scalar under GL(n, R)-gauge transformations, we can equivalently replace l_{ξ} by the GL(n, R)covariant Lie derivative $\mathcal{L}_{\xi} := \xi [D + D\xi]$ (cf. [479,488,504,506,510,674]). Then we will obtain
directly a GL(n, R)-gauge covariant Noether identity by substituting \mathcal{L}_{ξ} into (5.1.4):

$$l_{\xi}L = \mathbf{L}_{\xi}L = (\mathbf{L}_{\xi}g_{\alpha\beta})\frac{\partial L}{\partial g_{\alpha\beta}} + (\mathbf{L}_{\xi}Q_{\alpha\beta}) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}} + (\mathbf{L}_{\xi}\vartheta^{\alpha}) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial \vartheta^{\alpha}} + (\mathbf{L}_{\xi}T^{\alpha}) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\alpha}} + (\mathbf{L}_{\xi}R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}} + (\mathbf{L}_{\xi}\Psi) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial \Psi} + (\mathbf{L}_{\xi}D\Psi) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial D\Psi}.$$
(5.2.1)

Recall that $\xi \rfloor$, which formally acts analogously to a derivative of degree -1, obeys a Leibniz rule. Since the Lagrangian L is an *n*-form, its Lie derivative reduces to $\xi L = D\xi \rfloor L$. After expanding the Lie derivatives and performing some "partial integrations", we equivalently get

$$D\xi]L = D\left((\xi]Q_{\alpha\beta}) \frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}} + (\xi]\vartheta^{\alpha}) \frac{\partial L}{\partial \vartheta^{\alpha}} + (\xi]T^{\alpha}) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\alpha}} + (\xi]R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}} \right. \\ \left. + (\xi]\Psi) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial \Psi} + (\xi]D\Psi) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial D\Psi} \right) \\ \left. - (\xi]Q_{\alpha\beta}) \frac{\partial L}{\partial g_{\alpha\beta}} - (\xi]Q_{\alpha\beta}) D \frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}} + (\xi]R_{\beta}{}^{\gamma}) \wedge 2g_{\gamma\alpha} \frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}} \right. \\ \left. - (\xi]\vartheta^{\alpha}) D \frac{\partial L}{\partial \vartheta^{\alpha}} + (\xi]T^{\alpha}) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial \vartheta^{\alpha}} + (\xi]\vartheta^{\alpha})R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\beta}} + (\xi]T^{\alpha}) \wedge D \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\alpha}} \\ \left. + (\xi]R_{\beta}{}^{\gamma}) \wedge \vartheta^{\beta} \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\gamma}} + (\xi]R_{\beta}{}^{\gamma}) \wedge D \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{\beta}{}^{\gamma}} \\ \left. + (\xi]R_{\beta}{}^{\gamma}) \wedge L^{\beta}{}_{\gamma}\Psi \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial D\Psi} + (\xi]D\Psi) \wedge \frac{\delta L}{\delta\Psi} + (-1)^{p}(\xi]\Psi) \wedge D \frac{\delta L}{\delta\Psi}.$$
 (5.2.2)

By collecting those terms which form variational derivatives, we obtain, following Kopczyński [363,364],

$$A + dB = 0, \tag{5.2.3}$$

where

$$A := -(\xi] Q_{\alpha\beta}) \frac{\delta L}{\delta g_{\alpha\beta}} - (\xi] \vartheta^{\alpha}) D \frac{\delta L}{\delta \vartheta^{\alpha}} + (\xi] T^{\alpha}) \wedge \frac{\delta L}{\delta \vartheta^{\alpha}} + (\xi] R_{\beta}^{\gamma}) \wedge \frac{\delta L}{\delta \Gamma_{\beta}^{\gamma}} + (\xi] D \Psi) \wedge \frac{\delta L}{\delta \Psi} + (-1)^{p} (\xi] \Psi) \wedge D \frac{\delta L}{\delta \Psi}, B := \xi] L - \left((\xi] Q_{\alpha\beta}) \frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}} + (\xi] \vartheta^{\alpha} \right) \frac{\partial L}{\partial \vartheta^{\alpha}} + (\xi] T^{\alpha}) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\alpha}} + (\xi] R_{\alpha}^{\beta}) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{\alpha}^{\beta}} + (\xi] \Psi) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial \Psi} + (\xi] D \Psi) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial D \Psi} \right).$$
(5.2.4)

The functions A and B have the form
73

$$A = \xi^{\alpha} A_{\alpha}, \qquad B = \xi^{\alpha} B_{\alpha}. \tag{5.2.5}$$

and hence, by (5.2.3),

$$\xi^{\alpha}(A_{\alpha}+dB_{\alpha})+d\xi^{\alpha}\wedge B_{\alpha}=0, \qquad (5.2.6)$$

where both ξ^{α} and $d\xi^{\alpha}$ are pointwise arbitrary. Hence we can conclude that both B_{α} and A_{α} vanish so that

$$A = 0, \qquad B = 0.$$
 (5.2.7)

From B = 0 we can read off the identity

$$\xi \rfloor L = (\xi \rfloor Q_{\alpha\beta}) \frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}} + (\xi \rfloor \vartheta^{\alpha}) \frac{\partial L}{\partial \vartheta^{\alpha}} + (\xi \rfloor T^{\alpha}) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\alpha}} + (\xi \rfloor R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}} + (\xi \rfloor \Psi) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial \Psi} + (\xi \rfloor D\Psi) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial D\Psi}.$$
(5.2.8)

After replacing the vector field by the vector basis, $\xi \rightarrow e_{\alpha}$, Eq. (5.2.8) yields directly the explicit form of the canonical energy-momentum current

$$\Sigma_{\alpha} = e_{\alpha} \left[L - (e_{\alpha} \right] D\Psi) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial D\Psi} - (e_{\alpha}]\Psi) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial \Psi} - (e_{\alpha}]Q_{\beta\gamma} \frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\beta\gamma}} - (e_{\alpha}]T^{\beta}) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\beta}} + D \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\alpha}} - (e_{\alpha}]R_{\beta}^{\gamma}) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{\beta}^{\gamma}}.$$
(5.2.9)

The first line in (5.2.9) represents the result known in the context of *special* relativistic classical field theory. In the Maxwellian case, for example, the Ψ stands for the electromagnetic potential one-form $A = A_i dx^i$, with the field strength two-form F = DA = dA. Then, by (5.2.9), we find directly Minkowski's U(1)-gauge invariant canonical energy-momentum current of the Maxwell field.⁵³ The last Ψ -dependent term in the first line of (5.2.9) vanishes for a zero-form, as is exemplified by the Dirac field; however, for a Proca field, for example, we get a contribution. Furthermore, our formalism is general enough to account also for a Rarita-Schwinger type spinor-valued one-form field $\hat{\Psi}$. The second line in (5.2.9) accounts for possible Pauli terms as well as for Lagrange multiplier terms in variations with constraints and is absent in the case of minimal coupling.

From A = 0, we can read off the first Noether identity

$$D\Sigma_{\alpha} \equiv (e_{\alpha}]T^{\beta}) \wedge \Sigma_{\beta} + (e_{\alpha}]R_{\beta}^{\gamma}) \wedge \Delta^{\beta}{}_{\gamma} - \frac{1}{2}(e_{\alpha}]Q_{\beta\gamma})\sigma^{\beta\gamma} + W_{\alpha}$$

$$\cong (e_{\alpha}]T^{\beta}) \wedge \Sigma_{\beta} + (e_{\alpha}]R_{\beta}^{\gamma}) \wedge \Delta^{\beta}{}_{\gamma} - \frac{1}{2}(e_{\alpha}]Q_{\beta\gamma})\sigma^{\beta\gamma}, \qquad (1st)$$
(5.2.10)

where

$$W_{\alpha} := (e_{\alpha} \rfloor D\Psi) \frac{\delta L}{\delta \Psi} + (-1)^{p} (e_{\alpha} \rfloor \Psi) \wedge D \frac{\delta L}{\delta \Psi}.$$
(5.2.11)

⁵³ The definition of the canonical energy-momentum tensor of the Maxwell field à la Landau-Lifshitz [386] does not yield a gauge invariant quantity, since they pick the components A_{α} of A, that is covector-valued zero-forms, as their field variables. Because of $A = A_{\alpha}\vartheta^{\alpha}$, the relation $F = DA = dA = DA_{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha} + A_{\alpha}T^{\alpha}$, see [364], links the gauge invariant field strength F = DA = dA, which is assumed to occur in the Lagrangian, see (5.1.2), to the gauge dependent field DA_{α} . Therefore the "canonical" Landau-Lifshitz tensor has to be fixed up by an ad hoc procedure.

Our first result in (5.2.10) is given in the strong form, where no field equation is invoked.⁵⁴

In the differential identity (5.2.10) for the canonical energy-momentum current there occur, on the right-hand side, Lorentz-type forces of the general structure field strength × current. The translational force ⁵⁵ (à la Peach-Koehler, see [281,437]) and the Mathisson-Papapetrou type force are already known from the Poincaré gauge theory [272,275]. The contribution from the nonmetricity is a new feature of the gauge approach to local spacetime deformations; it arises because of the non-vanishing strain piece of the connection. The Lorentz-type contribution (5.2.11) from the matter field Ψ itself is, in quantum field theory, known as the functional differential operator W_{α} of the Ward-identity for translation invariance, cf. [122].

On the other hand, in a new formulation of the ³He superfluid with a Lagrangian $L = L(\rho, s)$, depending on the particle current (n - 1)-form ρ and the entropy (n - 1)-form s, the material Lorentz-type forces in the Noether identity (5.2.10) are given by

$$W_{\alpha} = (-1)^{n-1} \left(e_{\alpha} \rfloor \frac{\delta L}{\delta \rho} \right) d\rho - \rho \wedge e_{\alpha} \rfloor \left(D \frac{\delta L}{\delta \rho} \right) + (-1)^{n-1} \left(e_{\alpha} \rfloor \frac{\delta L}{\delta s} \right) ds - s \wedge e_{\alpha} \rfloor \left(D \frac{\delta L}{\delta s} \right).$$
(5.2.12)

By putting these two forces successively to zero, we recover the force *n*-form constraints of Carter and Khalatnikov [104]. Accordingly, the keeping of these off-shell terms in (5.2.10) yields a better understanding of classical as well as quantum-field-theoretical results.

5.2.2. Linear transformations

The invariance of L with respect to local linear transformations (3.4.5) of the frames gives rise to a further identity: Under an infinitesimal $\mathcal{GL}(n, R)$ -transformation

$$\omega_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}(x) \coloneqq A_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}(x) - \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta}, \tag{5.2.13}$$

the geometrical objects and the matter fields vary according to

$$\delta g_{\alpha\beta} = 2\omega_{(\alpha\beta)}, \qquad \delta\vartheta^{\alpha} = -\omega_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}\vartheta^{\beta}, \qquad \delta\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = D\omega_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}, \qquad \delta\Psi = -\omega_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}\Psi. \tag{5.2.14}$$

If we insert (5.2.14) into (5.1.5), we obtain

$$\delta L = -\omega_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \left(-g_{\beta\gamma} \, \sigma^{\alpha\gamma} + \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta} + D \varDelta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + (L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}\Psi) \wedge \frac{\delta L}{\delta\Psi} \right)$$

⁵⁴ If the Bianchi identities (3.9.1) were not assumed, the term $(e_{\alpha} | B'^{\beta}) \wedge (\partial L/\partial T^{\beta}) + (e_{\alpha} | B_{\beta}^{\mu\gamma}) \wedge (\partial L/\partial R_{\beta}^{\gamma})$ would, in addition, occur on the right-hand side of (5.2.10), cf. [280]. The *weak* identity, which is denoted by \cong , holds only provided the matter field equation $\delta L/\delta \Psi = 0$ is satisfied, cf. [303].

⁵⁵ The difference of the left-hand-side of (5.2.10) and the translational force, by means of the transposed connection (3.11.9), can be written in the compact form $D\Sigma_{\alpha} - (e_{\alpha}]T^{\beta}) \wedge \Sigma_{\beta} \equiv D \Sigma_{\alpha}$. For the special case of a *Riemann-Cartan* space U_n - that is, if the nonmetricity $Q_{\alpha\beta}$ vanishes - we find by using the contortion one-form $K_{\alpha\beta}$, see (3.10.11): $D \Sigma_{\alpha} \stackrel{U_{\alpha}}{=} D^{(1)} \Sigma_{\alpha} + (e_{\alpha}]K^{\beta\gamma}) \vartheta_{(\beta} \wedge \Sigma_{\gamma)} = D^{(1)} \Sigma_{\alpha} + [T_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}e_{\alpha}](\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge T_{\beta})] \wedge \Sigma$. Sometimes this formula (see [456]) is very useful: Should the energy-momentum current be symmetric, then, in a U_n , merely the Christoffel derivative is left over [439], in spite of the possible presence of torsion.

$$+ d \left(\omega_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \left(\Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - \left(L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} \Psi \right) \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial \left(D\Psi \right)} - 2g_{\beta\gamma} \frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\alpha\gamma}} - \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\beta}} - D \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}} \right) \right).$$
(5.2.15)

The boundary term vanishes by virtue of the explicit expression (5.1.9) for the hypermomentum current $\Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$. Then, from the arbitrariness of $\omega_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$, there follows the second Noether identity

$$D\mathcal{\Delta}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \mathcal{\Sigma}_{\beta} - g_{\beta\gamma} \,\sigma^{\alpha\gamma} \equiv -(L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}\Psi) \wedge (\delta L/\delta\Psi) \cong 0. \tag{2nd}$$

Again, the weak Noether identity holds provided the matter field equation (5.1.26) is satisfied.⁵⁶

In Yang-Mills theory with the internal indices of the gauge potential A suppressed, the Noether identity takes the form

$$DJ \equiv \Psi \wedge (\delta L / \delta \Psi), \tag{5.2.17}$$

where the internal current of a field theory with optional Pauli terms reads

$$J := \frac{\delta L}{\delta A} = \Psi \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial D\Psi} + D \frac{\partial L}{\partial F}.$$
(5.2.18)

Needless to say that this structure is, for the GL(n, R), also displayed in (5.2.16) and (5.1.9), respectively. In the gravitational case, however, *additional* terms generated by the translational group occur.

A relation between the metrical ("Hilbert") and the canonical ("Noether") energy-momentum currents $\sigma^{\alpha\beta}$ and Σ_{α} , respectively, which generalizes that of Belinfante and Rosenfeld [46,47,578], can rather straightforwardly be derived in a metric-affine framework: To this end, recall the definition (5.1.10) of the "auxiliary" energy-momentum current σ_{β} . Then, the original second Noether identity (5.2.16), simply by interior multiplication, supplies us with the prototype of the *Belinfante-Rosenfeld relation* in a metric-affine spacetime:

$$\sigma_{\beta} \cong \Sigma_{\beta} + e_{\alpha}] D \Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} \quad \text{with } \vartheta_{[\alpha} \wedge \sigma_{\beta]} \equiv 0.$$
(5.2.19)

The first formula can be understood as a symmetrization of an otherwise asymmetric energymomentum current (see, for example, [271,366]). We will come back to this question in section 5.6.

5.3. Decomposition of the Noether identities

The dilational part of the *second* Noether identity can be easily extracted from (5.2.16) by sheer contraction:

$$d\Delta + \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha} - \sigma^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \equiv -(L^{\gamma}{}_{\gamma}\Psi) \wedge (\delta L/\delta\Psi) \cong 0.$$
(5.3.1)

Note that we have here $D\Delta = d\Delta$, since Δ is a scalar-valued (n-1)-form (with vanishing weight). Only the trace piece $\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha}$ in the decomposition (5.1.15) of the energy-momentum current

⁵⁶ If we had not assumed the structure equations (3.8.1), (3.5.9), (3.5.10) in the transition from (5.1.4) to the the variational expression (5.1.5), we would, in addition, get the term $2S_{\beta\gamma} \wedge (\partial L/\partial Q_{\alpha\gamma}) - S^{\prime\alpha} \wedge (\partial L/\partial T^{\beta}) + S^{\prime\prime\alpha}_{\gamma} \wedge (\partial L/\partial R_{\gamma}^{\beta}) + S^{\prime\prime\gamma}_{\beta} \wedge (\partial L/\partial R_{\alpha}^{\gamma})$ on the right-hand side of (5.2.16).

contributes to this dilational identity. The approximate *Bjorken scaling*⁵⁷ discovered in hadron deepinelastic electron scattering off nucleons is such an example of the *conservation of the dilation current* in flat spacetime, cf. also [277,283].

In order to perform the (anti-)symmetrization of the second Noether identity, we have to use the metric and to lower an index. We obtain

$$D\Delta_{\alpha\beta} + \vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta} + Q_{\alpha\gamma} \wedge \Delta^{\gamma}{}_{\beta} - \sigma_{\alpha\beta} \equiv -(L_{\alpha\beta}\Psi) \wedge (\delta L/\delta\Psi) \cong 0.$$
(5.3.2)

Having also decomposed the nonmetricity into its trace and tracefree pieces according to (3.12.4), a straightforward antisymmetrization of (5.3.2), together with (5.1.21), yields the metric-affine angular momentum identity

$$D\tau_{\alpha\beta} + \vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta} + \mathcal{Q}^{*}_{(\alpha|\gamma} \wedge r^{\gamma}{}_{|\beta]} + \mathcal{Q}^{*}_{(\alpha|\gamma} \wedge \mathcal{A}^{\gamma}{}_{|\beta|} + \mathcal{Q} \wedge \tau_{\alpha\beta} \cong 0, \qquad (5.3.3)$$

in which the first two terms (spin and orbital part) are already known from a Riemann-Cartan spacetime [273]. As could have been expected, the dilation current is not involved in this total angular momentum balance, whereas the shear current contributes a new term to the orbital angular momentum. The symmetric part of (5.3.2) reads

$$D\Delta_{(\alpha\beta)} + \vartheta_{(\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta)} - \sigma_{\alpha\beta} + Q^{\gamma}_{(\alpha|\gamma} \wedge \widehat{\mathcal{A}}^{\gamma}_{|\beta)} + Q \wedge \widehat{\mathcal{A}}^{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{n} Q^{\gamma}_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \Delta + \frac{1}{n} g_{\alpha\beta} Q \wedge \Delta + Q^{\gamma}_{(\alpha|\gamma} \wedge \tau^{\gamma}_{|\beta)} \cong 0.$$
(5.3.4)

Observe that in this balance of the total shear plus dilation current in metric-affine spacetime there occurs a correction term carrying the spin current.

Since (5.3.1) does not depend on the Abelian part of the connection, i.e. the Weyl one-form Q, we may apply the definition (3.12.2) of the volume-preserving connection to (5.2.16) and find

$${}^{\dagger}D\varDelta^{a}{}_{\beta} + \vartheta^{a}\wedge\Sigma_{\beta} - \sigma^{a}{}_{\beta} \cong 0.$$
(5.3.5)

If we use (5.3.1) to project out the trace of (5.3.5), then the tracefree intrinsic hypermomentum current

$$\mathcal{A}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} := \mathcal{A}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - (1/n)\delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}\mathcal{A}^{\gamma}{}_{\gamma} = \mathcal{A}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + \tau^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$$
(5.3.6)

obeys the identity

$${}^{\dagger}D\mathcal{A}^{\gamma}{}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + \vartheta^{\alpha}\wedge\Sigma_{\beta} - \frac{1}{n}\delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}\vartheta^{\gamma}\wedge\Sigma_{\gamma} - \left(\sigma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - \frac{1}{n}\delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}\sigma^{\gamma}{}_{\gamma}\right) \cong 0.$$
(5.3.7)

We lower the index α in (5.3.7) and find, see (5.1.11),

$${}^{\dagger}D\mathscr{A}_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma} + {}^{\dagger}Q_{\mu\alpha} \wedge \mathscr{A}^{\mu}_{\beta} + \vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge \mathscr{Z}_{\beta} - \mathscr{A}_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma} \cong 0.$$
(5.3.8)

⁵⁷ The other issue, which motivated Coleman [123,124] (and before that Feynman and Huggins) to consider scaling laws, is *renormalizability*. As is mentioned already in section 2, for a field theory to be renormalizable, the amplitude has to be cut-off independent, which implies scale invariance. This necessarily occurs at the energy of the cut-off, which could be at any level (even at Planck mass).

Here we introduced the tracefree piece $\sigma_{\alpha\beta}^{\gamma} = \sigma_{\alpha\beta} - g_{\alpha\beta}\sigma_{\gamma}^{\gamma}/n$ of the metrical energy-momentum $\sigma_{\alpha\beta}$. The decomposition of (5.3.8) into its symmetric tracefree and its antisymmetric pieces yields the remarkably compact formulae

$${}^{\dagger}D\mathcal{A}_{\alpha\beta}^{*} + {}^{\dagger}\mathcal{Q}_{\mu(\alpha}\wedge\mathcal{A}^{*\mu}{}_{\beta)} + \vartheta_{(\alpha}\wedge\mathcal{Z}_{\beta)}^{*} - \mathscr{P}_{\alpha\beta}^{*}\cong 0,$$
(5.3.9)

$${}^{\dagger}D\tau_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{\dagger}Q_{\mu|\alpha} \wedge \mathcal{A}^{\mu}{}_{\beta]} + \vartheta_{1\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta} \cong 0.$$
(5.3.10)

Accordingly, Eq. (5.3.1) represents the law for the *dilation* current, Eq. (5.3.9) that for the *shear* current, whereas (5.3.10) is the general version of the *angular momentum* law.

From the dilational part (5.3.1) of the second Noether identity we find, alternatively to (5.1.15), the weakly equivalent decomposition of the energy-momentum current (see [268,289,365,366])

$$\Sigma_{\alpha} \cong \mathcal{Z}_{\alpha} + (1/n)e_{\alpha} \rfloor (\sigma^{\gamma}{}_{\gamma} - d\Delta) + \frac{1}{2}\vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma, \qquad (5.3.11)$$

which subsequently will be instrumental for the derivation of an *improved energy-momentum* current which is required to have a "soft", i.e. derivative-free, trace for scalar fields [96,713].

Let us now turn to the *first* Noether identity (5.2.10). If we use (5.3.1) and express the first Noether identity in terms of the volume-preserving connection (3.12.2), we get

$${}^{\dagger}D\Sigma_{\alpha} \cong (e_{\alpha}]^{\dagger}T^{\beta}) \wedge \Sigma_{\beta} + (e_{\alpha}]^{\dagger}R_{\beta}^{\gamma}) \wedge \mathcal{A}^{\gamma\beta}_{\gamma} - \frac{1}{2}(e_{\alpha}]^{\dagger}Q_{\beta\gamma}) \mathscr{O}^{\gamma\beta\gamma} + \frac{1}{2}[(e_{\alpha}]dQ) \wedge \mathcal{A} - (e_{\alpha}]Q)d\mathcal{A}].$$
(5.3.12)

The terms in the last line represent the explicit Weyl-pieces.

From the first Noether identity, we will also derive, for the sake of completeness, relations for the covariant exterior derivatives of the antisymmetric and the trace pieces of the energy-momentum current, respectively:

$$D\Sigma \cong (e_{\alpha}]T^{\beta}) \wedge (e^{\alpha}]\Sigma_{\beta}) + (e_{\alpha}]R_{\beta}^{\gamma}) \wedge (e^{\alpha}]\Delta^{\beta}{}_{\gamma}) + \frac{1}{2}(e_{\alpha}]Q_{\beta\gamma}) (e^{\alpha}]\sigma^{\beta\gamma}) - e_{\alpha}](Q^{\alpha\beta} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta}) + \mathbb{E}_{e_{\alpha}}\Sigma^{\alpha},$$
(5.3.13)

$$D[e_{\alpha}](\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta})] \cong \mathbb{E}_{e_{\alpha}}(\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta}).$$
(5.3.14)

5.4. Gauge field momenta and Noether identities for the gauge Lagrangian

In a gauge approach to gravity such as in the Poincaré gauge theory [272] or in supergravity [206,207,155], the total Lagrangian L_{tot} is given by

$$L_{\rm tot} = V + L, \tag{5.4.1}$$

where L is the material Lagrangian dealt with in sections 4.1 and 5.1, while V is the gauge field Lagrangian. We assume that the *n*-form V depends on the potentials $g_{\alpha\beta}$, ϑ^{α} , $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ and their first derivatives, $dg_{\alpha\beta}$, $d\vartheta^{\alpha}$ and $d\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$. By an argument similar to the one used in section 5.1, it may be shown that invariance of V under tetrad deformations requires V to be of the form

$$V = V(g_{\alpha\beta}, Q_{\alpha\beta}, \vartheta^{\alpha}, T^{\alpha}, R_{\alpha}^{\beta}) .$$
(5.4.2)

Consequently, we can use the results of section 5.2 and transfer them to the gauge Lagrangian simply by replacing L by V and by dropping all Ψ -dependent terms in the outcome. For an easier bookkeeping we condense our notation and introduce, according to the conventional canonical prescription, the following gauge field momenta: The (n-1)-form

$$M^{\alpha\beta} := 2\frac{\partial V}{\partial dg_{\alpha\beta}} = -2\frac{\partial V}{\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}}$$
(5.4.3)

and the (n-2)-forms⁵⁸

$$H_{\alpha} := -\frac{\partial V}{\partial d\vartheta^{\alpha}} = -\frac{\partial V}{\partial T^{\alpha}}, \qquad H^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} := -\frac{\partial V}{\partial d\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}} = -\frac{\partial V}{\partial R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}}.$$
(5.4.4)

Moreover, the metrical energy-momentum n-form

$$m^{\alpha\beta} := 2\partial V/\partial g_{\alpha\beta},\tag{5.4.5}$$

the *canonical* energy-momentum (n-1)-form

$$E_{\alpha} := \partial V / \partial \partial^{\alpha} \tag{5.4.6}$$

and the hypermomentum (n-1)-form

$$E^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} := \partial V / \partial \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = -\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge H_{\beta} - g_{\beta\gamma} M^{\alpha\gamma}$$
(5.4.7)

for the gauge fields themselves will also occur. If we apply the variational principle with respect to the *independent variables* $g_{\alpha\beta}$, ϑ^{α} , and $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ and compare it with (5.1.7)-(5.1.9), the following relations are obtained:

$$2\delta V/\delta g_{\alpha\beta} \simeq -DM^{\alpha\beta} + m^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (5.4.8)$$

$$\delta V/\delta \vartheta^{\alpha} = -DH_{\alpha} + E_{\alpha}, \tag{5.4.9}$$

$$\delta V/\delta \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = -DH^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + E^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}. \tag{5.4.10}$$

The Noether procedure may be applied to the gravitational Lagrangian (5.4.2) in precisely the same way as it has been applied to the material Lagrangian in section 5.2.

(i) Diffeomorphism invariance yields the explicit structure of the canonical energy-momentum (n-1)-form

$$E_{\alpha} = e_{\alpha} J V + (e_{\alpha} J T^{\beta}) \wedge H_{\beta} + (e_{\alpha} J R_{\beta}^{\gamma}) \wedge H^{\beta}_{\gamma} + \frac{1}{2} (e_{\alpha} J Q_{\beta\gamma}) M^{\beta\gamma}$$
(5.4.11)

of the gauge fields (cf. (5.2.9) for the material case), which implies for its trace piece

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge E_{\alpha} = nV + 2T^{\beta} \wedge H_{\beta} + 2R_{\beta}^{\gamma} \wedge H^{\beta}_{\gamma} + \frac{1}{2}Q_{\beta\gamma} \wedge M^{\beta\gamma}.$$
(5.4.12)

Furthermore we find the first Noether identity

$$D\frac{\delta V}{\delta \vartheta^{\alpha}} \equiv (e_{\alpha}]T^{\beta}) \wedge \frac{\delta V}{\delta \vartheta^{\beta}} + (e_{\alpha}]R_{\beta}^{\gamma}) \wedge \frac{\delta V}{\delta \Gamma_{\beta}^{\gamma}} - (e_{\alpha}]Q_{\beta\gamma})\frac{\delta V}{\delta g_{\beta\gamma}}, \qquad (1st) \quad (5.4.13)$$

which completely parallels the identity (5.2.10) for the matter Lagrangian.

³⁸ In Maxwell's theory the gauge field momentum $H = -\partial V_{Max}/\partial F$, with the field strength F := dA is also called "excitation" field.

(ii) Invariance with respect to (infinitesimal) $\mathcal{GL}(n, R)$ -transformations yields the second Noether identity,

$$D\frac{\delta V}{\delta \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}} + \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \frac{\delta V}{\delta \vartheta^{\beta}} - 2g_{\beta\gamma}\frac{\delta V}{\delta g_{\alpha\gamma}} \equiv 0.$$
 (2nd) (5.4.14)

Observe that the Noether identities for the gravitational gauge fields are both *strong* identities, since no field equation is involved in their derivation. By inserting (5.4.8)-(5.4.10) into the second Noether identity (5.4.14), we obtain the following explicit expression for the metrical gauge energy-momentum current:

$$m^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge E_{\beta} + Q_{\beta\gamma} \wedge M^{\alpha\gamma} - T^{\alpha} \wedge H_{\beta} - R_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha} \wedge H^{\gamma}{}_{\beta} + R_{\beta}{}^{\gamma} \wedge H^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma}.$$
(5.4.15)

Consequently, its trace is given by

$$m^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} = \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge E_{\alpha} + Q_{\alpha\beta} \wedge M^{\alpha\beta} - T^{\alpha} \wedge H_{\alpha}$$

= $nV + \frac{3}{2}Q_{\beta\gamma} \wedge M^{\beta\gamma} + T^{\beta} \wedge H_{\beta} + 2R_{\beta}{}^{\gamma} \wedge H^{\beta}{}_{\gamma}.$ (5.4.16)

In conformally invariant four-dimensional Lagrangians, this identity explains why quadratic Lagrangians in the curvature are admitted, but not those quadratic in nonmetricity or torsion. For the special choice L = 2F - 2C and/or F = C of the conformal weights L, F, C, as given in section 3.14, quartic Lagrangians in nonmetricity and/or torsions could, however, be viable from this point of view.

5.5. Metric-affine field equations

Now we are in the position to formulate the action principle in complete generality: The total action of gravitational gauge fields and minimally coupled matter fields reads

$$W = \int [V(g_{\alpha\beta}, \vartheta^{\alpha}, Q_{\alpha\beta}, T^{\alpha}, R_{\alpha}^{\beta}) + L(g_{\alpha\beta}, \vartheta^{\alpha}, \Psi, D\Psi)].$$
(5.5.1)

The a priori independent variables for the application of the variational principle are Ψ , $g_{\alpha\beta}$, ϑ^{α} , and $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$. Their independent variation yields, by means of (5.4.8)–(5.4.10) and the definitions (5.4.3)–(5.4.7) and (5.1.6)–(5.1.9), the Yang-Mills type gauge field equations of metric-affine gravity:

$\delta L/\delta \Psi = 0, \qquad (N$	(ATTER)	(5	.5	5.2	2))
---------------------------------------	---------	----	----	-----	----	---

$$DM^{\alpha\beta} - m^{\alpha\beta} = \sigma^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (ZEROTH) \qquad (5.5.3)$$

$$DH_{\alpha} - E_{\alpha} = \Sigma_{\alpha}, \qquad (FIRST) \qquad (5.5.4)$$

$$DH^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - E^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = \Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}. \qquad (SECOND) \qquad (5.5.5)$$

Already the gauge covariant exterior derivatives D of the gauge field momenta are of Yang-Mills type.⁵⁹ Due to the universality of the gravitational interaction, there arise additional *self-couplings* which involve the currents of the metrical energy-momentum $m^{\alpha\beta}$, the canonical energy-momentum

⁵⁹ Recall the inhomogeneous Yang-Mills equation $-D(\partial V_{YM}/\partial F) = DH = J$.

 E_{α} , or the hypermomentum $E^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ of the gauge fields, respectively. They, together with the corresponding material currents $\sigma^{\alpha\beta}$, Σ_{α} , and $\Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$, act as sources of the gauge field potentials.

This dynamical framework is very general. It contains the field equations of GR and those of the Einstein-Cartan theory [273] as special, but dynamically degenerate cases. The Poincaré gauge theory [272] results by requiring, by means of a Lagrange multipliers, the connection to be metric compatible, see section 5.8.

As soon as an explicit gauge Lagrangian V is specified, all we have to do is to partially differentiate this Lagrangian with respect to the field strengths $Q_{\alpha\beta}$, T^{α} , and $R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$, respectively. Thereby we find the gauge field momenta in (5.4.3) and (5.4.4). If we substitute those into (5.4.7), (5.4.11), and (5.4.15) and, afterwards, into the field equations (5.5.3)–(5.5.5), then we can display the field equations in their explicit form. Our framework allows to investigate different gauge Lagrangians in a straightforward way. Note, in particular, that we do not need to vary the Hodge star, a computation which would complicate things appreciably.⁶⁰ The explicit introduction of the gauge field momenta as operationally meaningful quantities in their own rights – together with the temporary suspension of the relations between the momenta and the field strengths – this is our trick, taken from the Kottler-Cartan-van Dantzig representation of electrodynamics (see [282]), which does the job.

Compared to the earlier work on this subject, cf. [406,407], including our own work [279,277,273], in which only two field equations occur, we have obtained a system of *three* gauge field equations for the gravitational potentials [287,288]. This can be traced back to the assumption that the coframe field ϑ^a is *not* assumed to be *orthonormal*, as one usually does. This allows for more flexibility in the process of the eventual solving of the field equations.

Instead of the geometrical variables $(g_{\alpha\beta}, \vartheta^{\alpha}, \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta})$, used in (5.5.1), one can also turn to the set $(g_{\alpha\beta}, \vartheta^{\alpha}, Q_{\alpha\beta}, T^{\alpha})$ or $(g_{\alpha\beta}, \vartheta^{\alpha}, Q_{\alpha\beta}, K^{\alpha\beta})$, see [730] and [275,284,285], although this distracts from our Yang-Mills type approach.

The second Noether identities (5.3.2) and (5.4.14) reveal that one of the field equations, ZEROTH or the symmetric part of FIRST, i.e.

$$\vartheta_{(\alpha} \wedge DH_{\beta}) - \vartheta_{(\alpha} \wedge E_{\beta}) = \vartheta_{(\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta}), \qquad (5.5.6)$$

can be deduced from these combined second Noether identities, provided the remaining two field equations, i.e. FIRST or ZEROTH, both together with SECOND, are satisfied. Since the matter field equation (5.5.2) is a prerequisite for the validity of the differential Noether identity, we obtain the important result that one of the first two metric-affine field equations is "weakly" *redundant*.

Not unexpectedly, SECOND does not follow from the other field equations, merely the weaker conditions

$$D(\Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + \delta V / \delta \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}) \equiv 0, \qquad (5.5.7)$$

$$(e_{\alpha}]R_{\beta}^{\gamma}) \wedge (\Delta^{\beta}{}_{\gamma} + \delta V / \delta\Gamma_{\beta}{}^{\gamma}) \equiv 0$$
(5.5.8)

can be derived under these premises.

⁶⁰ This is only correct *cum grano salis*. In calculating $m^{\alpha\beta}$ explicitly according to (5.4.5), we have to determine the partial derivative with respect to $g_{\alpha\beta}$ of an expression which contains a Hodge star * in general. However, provided FIRST and SECOND are fulfilled, ZEROTH is redundant, see below, and we can dismiss it as independent field equation.

5.6. Belinfante-Rosenfeld relation via change of variables

In order to exploit further properties of the Belinfante-Rosenfeld type symmetrization relation (5.2.19), we consider the minimally coupled matter Lagrangian

$$L = L(g_{\alpha\beta}, \vartheta^{\alpha}, \Psi, D\Psi).$$
(5.6.1)

Then the terms $\partial L/\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}$, $\partial L/\partial T^{\alpha}$, and $\partial L/\partial R_{\alpha}^{\beta}$ in (5.1.7)–(5.1.9) vanish.

Next we want to go over from $(g_{\alpha\beta}, \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta})$ to an equivalent set of geometrical variables by expressing the n^3 components of the connection $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$, occuring in the covariant derivative D, in terms of the $n^2(n-1)/2$ components of the torsion T^{α} and the $n^2(n+1)/2$ components of the nonmetricity $Q_{\alpha\beta}$, compare (3.10.7):

$$\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \ \beta} = \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \ \beta}(g_{\mu\nu}, dg_{\mu\nu}, \vartheta^{\mu}, d\vartheta^{\mu}, T^{\mu}, Q_{\mu\nu}).$$
(5.6.2)

Then we have $(g_{\alpha\beta}, \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}) \rightarrow (g_{\alpha\beta}, Q_{\alpha\beta}, T^{\alpha})$. Because this *change of variables* involves implicitly also derivatives of the metric and the coframe, it is not simply a point transformation of the Lagrangian formalism. Formally, we thereby leave the minimal coupling prescription. However, we can apply our general formalism of sections 5.1 and 5.2 and, as a bonus, we obtain momenta which are conjugate to the tensor-valued forms $Q_{\alpha\beta}$ and T^{α} , which have a more direct physical interpretation.

In order to perform this change of independent variables in an consistent manner within the variational procedure, we supplement the matter Lagrangian (5.6.1), applying Lagrange multipliers, by the structure relations $S_{\alpha\beta} := Q_{\alpha\beta} + dg_{\alpha\beta} - \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma}g_{\gamma\beta} - \Gamma_{\beta}{}^{\gamma}g_{\alpha\gamma}$ and $S^{\prime\alpha} := T^{\alpha} - d\vartheta^{\alpha} - \Gamma_{\beta}{}^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}$ which, for $S_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ and $S^{\prime\alpha} = 0$, yield the definitions (3.8.1) and (3.5.9) of nonmetricity and torsion, respectively. Thus (cf. [285,346])

$$\hat{L} = \hat{L}(g_{\alpha\beta}, dg_{\alpha\beta}, \vartheta^{\alpha}, d\vartheta^{\alpha}, \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}, T^{\alpha}, Q_{\alpha\beta}, \Psi, d\Psi, \Xi^{\alpha\beta}, \mu_{\alpha})$$

= $L(g_{\alpha\beta}, \vartheta^{\alpha}, \Psi, D\Psi) + \frac{1}{2}S_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \Xi^{\alpha\beta} + S^{\prime\alpha} \wedge \mu_{\alpha},$ (5.6.3)

in which the (n-1)-form $\Xi^{\alpha\beta} = \Xi^{(\alpha\beta)}$ and the (n-2)-form μ_{α} feature as Lagrange multipliers. The variation of the original Lagrangian L is given by (5.1.4). From the variations of the structure equations for nonmetricity and torsion we obtain (cf. [280]):

$$\delta S_{\alpha\beta} = \delta Q_{\alpha\beta} + D(\delta g_{\alpha\beta}) - g_{\beta\gamma} \delta \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\gamma} - g_{\alpha\gamma} \delta \Gamma_{\beta}{}^{\gamma}$$
(5.6.4)

$$\delta S^{\prime \alpha} = \delta T^{\alpha} - D(\delta \vartheta^{\alpha}) - \delta \Gamma_{\beta}^{\ \alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}.$$
(5.6.5)

After shifting exterior derivatives to boundary terms, the variation of the equivalent Lagrangian \hat{L} yields the result:

$$\delta \hat{L} = \frac{1}{2} \delta g_{\alpha\beta} (\sigma^{\alpha\beta} - D\Xi^{\alpha\beta}) + \delta \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge (\Sigma_{\alpha} - D\mu_{\alpha}) + \delta \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge (\Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \mu_{\beta} - \Xi^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}) + \delta T^{\alpha} \wedge \mu_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} \delta Q_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \Xi^{\alpha\beta} + \delta \Psi \wedge \frac{\delta L}{\delta \Psi} + \frac{1}{2} S_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \delta \Xi^{\alpha\beta} + S^{\prime\alpha} \wedge \delta \mu_{\alpha} + d \left(\delta \Psi \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial D\Psi} - \delta \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \mu_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} \delta g_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \Xi^{\alpha\beta} \right).$$
(5.6.6)

The "constraints" $S_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ and $S^{\prime\alpha} = 0$, arising from the variations $\delta\mu_{\alpha}$ and $\delta\Xi^{\alpha\beta}$ of the multipliers, are nothing but the geometrical definitions (3.8.1) and (3.5.9) of nonmetricity and torsion. Now the

Lagrange multipliers $\Xi^{\alpha\beta}$ and μ_{α} acquire the status of truly dynamical field momenta which are canonically conjugated to nonmetricity $Q_{\alpha\beta} \neq 0$ and torsion $T^{\alpha} \neq 0$. Moreover, the new *relocalized* currents are, in accordance (5.1.7)-(5.1.9), given by

$$\hat{\sigma}^{\alpha\beta} = \sigma^{\alpha\beta} - D\Xi^{\alpha\beta}, \tag{5.6.7}$$

$$\hat{\Sigma}_{\alpha} = \Sigma_{\alpha} - D\mu_{\alpha}, \tag{5.6.8}$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = \mathcal{A}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \mu_{\beta} - \Xi^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}.$$
(5.6.9)

Let us derive from (5.6.6) the Noether identity which results from a frame transformation. Under an infinitesimal $\mathcal{GL}(n, R)$ -transformation (5.2.13), we find, in addition to (5.2.14), the response of nonmetricity and torsion

$$\delta Q_{\alpha\beta} = 2\omega_{(\alpha|\gamma}Q_{\beta)}{}^{\gamma}, \qquad \delta T^{\alpha} = -\omega_{\beta}{}^{\alpha}T^{\beta}. \tag{5.6.10}$$

Then, similarly as in section 5.2, we get the modified second Noether identity

$$D\hat{\Delta}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \hat{\Sigma}_{\beta} - g_{\beta\gamma}\hat{\sigma}^{\alpha\gamma} + T^{\alpha} \wedge \mu_{\beta} - Q^{\alpha\gamma} \wedge \Xi_{\gamma\beta} \cong 0.$$
(5.6.11)

It is again crucial to note that this identity holds weakly ("on shell"), i.e., provided the matter field equation is fulfilled.

Up to now, all variables in (5.6.6) are on an equal footing. Let us now perform the change of independent variables according to (5.6.2). Then the relocalized matter Lagrangian \hat{L} does not depend on the connection $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ anymore. Consequently, the relocalized hypermomentum (5.6.9), conjugate to the connection, has to vanish, and we can read off from (5.6.6) that

$$\hat{\varDelta}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \varDelta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \mu_{\beta} + \Xi^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}. \tag{5.6.12}$$

The $n^2(n-1)/2$ components of its antisymmetric piece read

$$\tau^{\alpha\beta} := \Delta^{[\alpha}{}_{\gamma} g^{\beta]\gamma} = \vartheta^{[\alpha} \wedge \mu_{\gamma} g^{\beta]\gamma} = \vartheta^{[\alpha} \wedge \mu^{\beta]}.$$
(5.6.13)

If we compare this result with (5.1.22), we recognize that we can identify the Lagrange multiplier μ_{α} , defined in (5.6.3), with the spin energy potential (5.1.24).

The metrical energy-momentum (n-1)-form σ_a , corresponding to the set of variables (5.6.2), can be derived by substituting (5.6.12) directly into (5.2.19):

$$\sigma_{\beta} = \Sigma_{\beta} - D\mu_{\beta} + e_{\alpha} \big] (T^{\alpha} \wedge \mu_{\beta}) + g_{\beta\gamma} e_{\alpha} \big] D\Xi^{\alpha\gamma} - e_{\alpha} \big] (Q_{\beta\gamma} \wedge \Xi^{\alpha\gamma}).$$
(5.6.14)

This relation represents the central result of this section.

The U_4 -limit can be recovered by adding, similarly as later on in (5.8.1), the term $(1/2)Q_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \mu^{\alpha\beta}$ to the relocalized Lagrangian (5.6.3). Then we find $Q_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ as a constraint and the canonical conjugate strain current $\Xi^{\alpha\beta} + \mu^{\alpha\beta}$ replaces $\Xi^{\alpha\beta}$ in (5.6.14). Thereby we recover the Belinfante-Rosenfeld relation

$$\sigma_{\beta} = \Sigma_{\beta} - D\mu_{\beta} + e_{\alpha} \left[(T^{\alpha} \wedge \mu_{\beta}) \right]$$
(5.6.15)

of the Poincaré gauge theory [268,366,456]. The Einsteinian V₄-limit

$$\sigma_{\beta} = \Sigma_{\beta} - D^{\{\}} \mu_{\beta}, \qquad (5.6.16)$$

which is the historical Belinfante-Rosenfeld formula [46.47,578], can be obtained in a similar manner.

The decomposition of the hypermomentum current $\Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ in (5.6.12) can be understood as an alternative to the decomposition (5.1.21). As displayed in the second line of (5.6.6), the spin energy potential μ_{α} couples to torsion T^{α} and the strain type current $\Xi^{\alpha\beta}$ to the nonmetricity $Q_{\alpha\beta}$:

$$\delta \hat{L} = \dots + \delta T^{\alpha} \wedge \mu_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2} \delta Q_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \Xi^{\alpha\beta} + \dots$$
(5.6.17)

The quantities torsion and nonmetricity both have an obvious geometrical interpretation. Thus they lend support to the fundamental importance of the "potential" μ_{α} and of the current $\Xi^{\alpha\beta}$. In contrast to $\Xi^{\alpha\beta}$, the strain current $\widehat{\Delta}^{(\alpha\beta)} = \Delta^{(\alpha}{}_{\gamma}g^{\beta)\gamma}$ does not directly couple to a simple geometrical quantity. Both currents are interrelated according to

$$\widehat{\Delta}^{(\alpha\beta)} = \vartheta^{(\alpha} \wedge \mu^{\beta)} + \mathcal{Z}^{\alpha\beta}.$$
(5.6.18)

5.7. Energy-momentum and hypermomentum complexes

From the field equations (5.5.3)-(5.5.5) one can readily construct energy-momentum and hypermomentum complexes in which the gauge field momenta feature as "superpotentials":

$$\check{m}^{\alpha\beta} := \sigma^{\alpha\beta} + m^{\alpha\beta} - 2\Gamma_{\nu}^{\ (\alpha} \wedge M^{\gamma|\beta)} \simeq dM^{\alpha\beta}, \tag{5.7.1}$$

$$\check{E}_{\alpha} := \Sigma_{\alpha} + E_{\alpha} + \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge H_{\beta} \simeq dH_{\alpha}, \tag{5.7.2}$$

$$\check{E}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} := \Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + E^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - \Gamma_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha} \wedge H^{\gamma}{}_{\beta} + \Gamma_{\beta}{}^{\gamma} \wedge H^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma} \simeq dH^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}.$$
(5.7.3)

The complex $\check{m}^{\alpha\beta}$ is an *n*-form and, as such, not really a current. By similar arguments as above, it is redundant. Consequently, we can concentrate on the canonical energy-momentum complex \check{E}_{α} and the hypermomentum complex $\check{E}_{\beta}^{\alpha}$, which are both (n-1)-forms. Both complexes consist of a tensor part, the sum of the corresponding material and gauge currents, and a gauge part of the type connection \wedge field momentum, that is, they are not gauge-covariant with respect to GL(n, R). If the gauge field equations (5.5.4) and (5.5.5) are fulfilled, we get "weakly" (now in the sense that the gauge field equations are satisfied) the right hand sides of (5.7.2) and (5.7.3). Then the complexes are exact forms and the gauge field momenta $M^{\alpha\beta}$, H_{α} , and $H^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ feature as "superpotentials". Hence we find the local conservation laws

$$d\check{E}_{\alpha} \simeq ddH_{\alpha} = 0, \qquad d\check{E}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} \simeq ddH^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = 0. \tag{5.7.4}$$

Therefore these complexes are *locally* conserved (n - 1)-forms which, upon integration over a spacelike hypersurface, provide the corresponding "charges" of the metric-affine gauge theory.

For metric-affine gravity, Eqs. (5.7.2) and (5.7.3) were given already in [23,26] and rewritten in exterior form notation in [609,450], for example. In the proper teleparallelism model of section 5.9, the "superpotential" H_{α} becomes the Freud complex of GR, cf. [468,450,707].

If the geometry admits a global Killing symmetry, there exist conserved currents in metric-affine gravity, cf. [268]. More precisely, we require [524] $\xi = \xi^{\alpha} e_{\alpha}$ to be a Killing vector field for metric and connection,

$$\pounds_{\xi}g = \left(\mathbb{L}_{\xi}g_{\alpha\beta} + 2g_{\gamma(\alpha}e_{\beta)}\right]\mathbb{L}_{\xi}\vartheta^{\gamma}\vartheta^{\alpha}\otimes\vartheta^{\beta} = 0, \qquad \pounds_{\xi}\Gamma_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = 0.$$
(5.7.5)

According to (A.1.38), (3.5.14), and (3.5.16), these conditions can be recast into the form

$$g_{\gamma(\alpha}e_{\beta)}\big]\widehat{D}\xi^{\gamma} - \frac{1}{2}\xi\big]Q_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad D(e_{\alpha}\big]\widehat{D}\xi^{\beta}) + \xi\big]R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = 0.$$
(5.7.6)

Note that the first equation of (5.7.6) can be written alternatively, in terms of the Riemannian derivative, ⁶¹ as $e_{(\alpha)} D^{\{\}} \xi_{\beta} = 0$.

Let us define the current (n-1)-form

$$\varepsilon_{\mathsf{MA}} := \xi^{\alpha} \Sigma_{\alpha} + (e_{\beta}] D \xi^{\gamma}) \Delta^{\beta}{}_{\gamma}.$$
(5.7.7)

We compute its exterior covariant derivative, substitute the two Noether identities (5.2.10) and (5.2.16), and reshuffle the emerging expressions:

$$d\varepsilon_{\mathsf{MA}} = (D\xi^{\alpha}) \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha} + \xi^{\alpha} D\Sigma_{\alpha} + D(e_{\beta} \rfloor D\xi^{\gamma}) \wedge \Delta^{\beta}{}_{\gamma} + (e_{\beta} \rfloor D\xi^{\gamma}) D\Delta^{\beta}{}_{\gamma}$$

$$\cong (D\xi^{\alpha}) \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha} + (\xi] T^{\beta}) \wedge \Sigma_{\beta} + (\xi] R_{\beta}{}^{\gamma}) \wedge \Delta^{\beta}{}_{\gamma} - \frac{1}{2} (\xi] Q_{\beta\gamma}) \sigma^{\beta\gamma}$$

$$+ D(e_{\beta}] \widehat{D}\xi^{\gamma}) \wedge \Delta^{\beta}{}_{\gamma} + (e_{\beta}] \widehat{D}\xi^{\gamma}) (\sigma^{\beta}{}_{\gamma} - \vartheta^{\beta} \wedge \Sigma_{\gamma})$$

$$= [\widehat{D}\xi^{\alpha} - \vartheta^{\beta} (e_{\beta}] \widehat{D}\xi^{\alpha})] \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha} + [(De_{\beta}] \widehat{D}\xi^{\gamma}) + \xi] R_{\beta}{}^{\gamma}] \wedge \Delta^{\beta}{}_{\gamma}$$

$$+ (g_{\alpha(\beta}e_{\gamma)}] \widehat{D}\xi^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} \xi] Q_{\beta\gamma}) \sigma^{\beta\gamma}.$$
(5.7.8)

While transforming the exterior derivative into the gauge covariant derivative, we assumed that ε has zero weight, which is in accordance with the zero weight for the Lagrangian and a usual vector field ξ . Moreover, we recognize that the expression in the first square bracket vanishes identically because of the relation $p\psi = \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge (e_{\alpha}]\psi$, which is valid for any *p*-form. In view of the generalized Killing equations (5.7.6), also the other expressions in the square brackets vanish. Thus, the current (5.7.7) is weakly conserved

$$d\varepsilon_{\mathsf{MA}} \cong 0. \tag{5.7.9}$$

For the Riemann-Cartan spacetime of the EC theory a similar result has been obtained by Trautman [682] and, for the linearized case, by Tod [677]. The corresponding current reads

$$\varepsilon_{\mathsf{RC}} \coloneqq \xi^{\alpha} \Sigma_{\alpha} + (e_{\beta} \rfloor D \xi^{\gamma}) \tau^{\beta}{}_{\gamma}, \tag{5.7.10}$$

where the spin current is defined according to $\tau^{\beta\gamma} := \Delta^{\lfloor \beta\gamma \rfloor}$. In Audretsch et al. [19], this current was used to construct a Hamiltonian for the Dirac field.

Provided a timelike Killing vector field exists, we obtain, via (5.7.9), a globally conserved energy $\int_{S} \varepsilon_{MA}$. Our deduction of this expression follows the pattern laid out in GR, but generalizes it to a metric-affine spacetime. Some steps of this deduction resemble Penrose's *local mass construction* [552], except that we refrain from using spinor or twistor methods at this stage.

5.7.1. Conserved dilation and proper conformal currents

If the metric-affine spacetime admits even a conformal symmetry, an important generalization of (5.7.7) can be constructed as follows: Let $\xi = \xi^{\alpha} e_{\alpha}$ be a conformal Killing vector field such that the Lie derivative of the metric g and the connection $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ read 62

⁶¹ For the second equation, but only in the restricted case of a Riemann-Cartan space, we find $\xi]R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + D(e_{\alpha})\widehat{D}\xi^{\beta} \equiv \xi]R_{\alpha}^{\{\}\beta} + D^{\{\}}(e_{\alpha}]D^{\{\}}\xi^{\beta}) - \mathbf{L}_{\xi}K_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}.$

 $^{^{62}}$ Eq. (5.7.11)₂ implies the vanishing of the tracefree part of (5.7.6)₂. The same would hold, too, by requiring (5.7.11)₂ for the volume-preserving connection instead.

$$\pounds_{\xi}g = \omega g, \qquad \pounds_{\xi}\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = \frac{1}{2}\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta}d\omega.$$
(5.7.11)

The same algebra as that leading to (5.7.6) yields

$$g_{\gamma(\alpha}e_{\beta)}\Big]\widehat{D}\xi^{\gamma} - \frac{1}{2}\xi\Big]Q_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2}g_{\alpha\beta}\omega, \qquad D(e_{\alpha}]\widehat{D}\xi^{\beta}) + \xi\Big]R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \frac{1}{2}\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta}d\omega, \qquad (5.7.12)$$

compare with (5.7.6), which we recover for $\omega = 0$. It follows from (5.7.11)₁ that ξ generates a transformation, parametrized by ω , of the spacetime manifold such that the metric undergoes the special [442] conformal change $g \to \tilde{g} = e^{L\omega}g$. For a given geometry, the scalar function $\omega = \omega(x)$ is determined by the trace of (5.7.12)₁, i.e. by

$$\omega = (2/n)e_{\gamma} D\xi^{\gamma} - \xi Q. \qquad (5.7.13)$$

Thus, in metric-affine spacetime the conformal Killing equation for the metric reads

$$g_{\gamma(\alpha} e_{\beta)} \Big] \widehat{D} \xi^{\gamma} - (1/n) g_{\alpha\beta} e_{\gamma} \Big] \widehat{D} \xi^{\gamma} = \frac{1}{2} \xi \Big] \mathcal{Q}^{\epsilon}_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (5.7.14)$$

where $Q_{\alpha\beta} := Q_{\alpha\beta} - g_{\alpha\beta}Q$ is the tracefree part of the nonmetricity.

Going through a similar analysis as in the context of the metric-affine current (5.7.7), we obtain, see [268] for details, the *conformal current*

$$\varepsilon_{\rm C} = \xi^{\alpha} \mathcal{J}_{\alpha}^{\gamma} + (e_{\beta}] D\xi^{\gamma} \mathcal{J}_{\gamma}^{\beta} + (1/n)\xi] (\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha}) + \frac{1}{2} (\xi] Q) \Delta.$$
(5.7.15)

For conformally invariant gauge theories, such as the Maxwell or the Yang-Mills vacuum theory, the *trace* $\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha}$ of the energy-momentum current vanishes and (5.7.15) provides the conserved quantity

$$d\varepsilon_{\rm C} \cong \frac{1}{2}\omega(\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha}) = 0. \tag{5.7.16}$$

Thus we have found generalizations of the well-known dilation and proper conformal currents in Minkowski spacetime [317] to a metric-affine spacetime. Such a spacetime provides the most natural gravitational background for these currents.

Imposing conformal invariance on a metric-affine spacetime is, however, an extremely strong condition. According to the Ogievetsky theorem [533], a metric-affine spacetime, which admits a conformal symmetry, will have its frames locally invariant (in the *active* operational sense) under the group of analytical diffeomorphisms, cf. [486] for further details. This result overlaps with the fact that we have included in our affine gauge approach local translations, i.e. active diffeomorphisms, except that whereas the latter are only infinitesimal (their generators do not form a Lie algebra anyhow), the Ogievetsky transformations can be integrated to finite diffeomorphisms, without involving an infinitecomponent connection, since the algebraic generators are multiplied by constant parameters solely: the local dependence has already been taken care of through the generating Taylor expansion itself.

The emergence of an explicit infinite-dimensional Lie algebra may make it possible to treat conformal fields in four dimensions similarly to what is done in the special case of two dimensions. In n = 2, there is an infinite-dimensional conformal algebra which is isomorphic to the algebra of analytic two-dimensional diffeomorphisms [330]. In two dimensions, this feature constrains the fields and leads to the highly restrictive "fusion" rules [330], which have recently put two-dimensional conformal field theory into the focus of interest of statistical mechanics and string theory. Note that

the Ogievetsky algebra in four dimensions should possess a quantum extension with central charges as in the case of its two-dimensional analog, the Virasoro algebra. Neither this extension nor the representation theory have been investigated to date.

5.7.2. Noether identities from conformal changes in an (L_n, g)

The conformal equivalence structure introduced in section 3.14 compares *two* different metric-affine spacetimes (L_n, g) and (L_n, \tilde{g}) . Therefore it is not a local symmetry in the strict sense. However, in its infinitesimal version we can regard it as a Noether symmetry and derive the corresponding Noether identities. This was done in the recent work of Obukhov [530] which we follow closely.

We start from a conformal change of the metric in its combined, most general form (3.14.1) and expand the arbitrary conformal function Ω according to

$$\Omega = \exp \omega \simeq 1 + \omega. \tag{5.7.17}$$

For the variation of the basic fields, this implies⁶³

$$\delta g_{\alpha\beta} = (l - 2F)\omega g_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \delta \vartheta^{\alpha} = F\omega \vartheta^{\alpha}, \qquad \delta \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = -C\delta^{\beta}_{\alpha}d\omega, \qquad \delta \Psi = I\omega\Psi. \tag{5.7.18}$$

Here I is a matrix necessarily diagonal, the elements of which describe the conformal weights of the individual components.

The variation of a Langrangian which is invariant under such infinitesimal conformal changes reads

$$\delta L = \omega \left[\left(\frac{1}{2} l - F \right) \sigma^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} + F \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha} + C d\Delta + I \Psi \wedge \delta L / \delta \Psi \right] - d \left[\omega \left(C \Delta - I \Psi \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial (D \Psi)} + (l - 2F) g_{\alpha\beta} \frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}} - F \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\alpha}} - C \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha} D \frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}} \right) \right].$$
(5.7.19)

Let us proceed, similarly as in the derivation of the GL(n, R) Noether identities in section 5.2.2, and assume that ω and $d\omega$ are pointwise arbitrary (A + dB scheme). Then, from dB = 0, we obtain the following identity for the dilation current

$$C\Delta = I\Psi \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial (D\Psi)} - (l - 2F)g_{\alpha\beta}\frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}} + F\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\alpha}} + C\vartheta^{\beta} D\frac{\partial L}{\partial R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}}, \qquad (5.7.20)$$

whereas A = 0 yields the strong conformal Noether identity

$$Cd\varDelta + F\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha} + (\frac{1}{2}l - F)\sigma^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \equiv -\Psi \wedge \delta L/\delta \Psi \cong 0.$$
(5.7.21)

After integrating out the matter field Ψ in the effective Lagrangian, the left hand side of (5.7.21) is proportional to the *conformal anomaly*, see Deser and Schwimmer [153,632] for the Riemannian case. The conformal changes (3.14.1), for l = 0 and F = C = -1, contain the local scale transformations (3.13.2)-(3.13.4). Thus, for this choice of conformal weights, we recover the Noether identity (5.3.1) for the dilational current.

⁶³ The 'weight' factor L, defined in (3.14.1), will in this subsection be denoted by l in order to prevent a mixing up of this factor with the Lagrangian.

Let us now require, as we will do in more detail in section 6, a theory to be invariant under both, the GL(n, R)-gauge group and the group of conformorphisms. Then we can insert the explicit form (5.1.19) cum (5.1.9) of the dilation current into (5.7.20) and find quite generally

$$(I - 2F + 2C)g_{\alpha\beta}\frac{\partial L}{\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}} + (C - F)\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial T^{\alpha}} = (I - CL^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha})\Psi \wedge \frac{\partial L}{\partial (D\Psi)}.$$
(5.7.22)

This identity provides us with a constraint for possible Pauli-type terms in a *matter* Lagrangian which depends on the Weyl covector Q and the trace or the axial piece of the torsion, cf. section B.2. The dilational Noether identity (5.3.1) and the conformal version (5.7.21) yields the "weak" relations

$$l\sigma^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} \simeq -2(C-F) d\Delta, \qquad l\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha} \simeq -(l-2F+2C) d\Delta.$$
 (5.7.23)

For pure gravitational Lagrangian (without the manifield Ψ), the identity (5.7.22) implies that terms depending on the Weyl covector and/or the vector or axial vector pieces of the torsion are proportional to each other or are even not permitted, unless l = 2F + 2C and/or C = F. The geometrical meaning of these special choices of conformal weights is rather clear from inspecting the conformal transformations (3.14.5) and (3.14.7). In these specific instances, the Weyl covector and/or the torsion trace one-form $T = e_{\alpha} T^{\alpha}$ become conformally invariant and are, consequently, qualified as generic concommitants of a conformally and GL(n, R)-gauge invariant Lagrangian *n*-form *V*. Then, according to (5.7.23), the trace of the metrical and/or the canonical energy-momentum will vanish.

5.8. Variational principle with constraints

In order to make contact with gravitational gauge theories on spacetimes with *restricted* geometrical degrees of freedom in a dynamically consistent manner, we use the method of *Lagrange multipliers* and will (successively) enforce the constraints of vanishing nonmetricity, torsion, or even curvature, cf. [361,272,276,285,346,364].

A word of caution seems to be in order here. We will find, e.g., that PG can be consistently derived from such a variation principle with constraints and fits nicely into our metric-affine scheme. However, the constraint of vanishing nonmetricity is ad hoc, provided matter generates a non-vanishing strain current $\widehat{\Delta}_{\alpha\beta}$, see (5.1.25). In such a situation, which is assumed to occur at very high energies, the vanishing of the nonmetricity, which couples to the strain current, must not be postulated. Instead, the complete metric-affine framework with the Lagrangian (5.5.1) should then be applied.

Our method of specializing the general metric-affine field equations to more restricted spacetimes can also be inverted. If we had started from a Riemannian spacetime and had incorporated the constraint $T^{\alpha} = 0$ and $Q_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ via Lagrange multipliers as in (5.8.14) or (5.8.1), the passage to an (L_n, g) could have been achieved via the relaxation of constraints as described in [285]. In quantum gravity, we expect anyways that these constraints hold *at most* as vacuum expectation values $\langle 0|\hat{T}^{\alpha}|0\rangle = 0$, $\langle 0|\hat{Q}_{\alpha\beta}|0\rangle = 0$ for the corresponding operators, whereas the vacuum expectation values of the torsion and nonmetricity operators squared may very likely pick up nonvanishing values due to quantum fluctuations [731].

5.8.1. Vanishing nonmetricity: Poincaré gauge gravity

Let us first enforce the vanishing of the nonmetricity which results in PG: To this end we consider, instead of (5.5.1), the total Lagrangian

$$L_{\{\mathcal{Q}=0\}} = V + L + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \mu^{\alpha\beta}, \tag{5.8.1}$$

where the Lagrangian multiplier $\mu^{\alpha\beta} = \mu^{\beta\alpha}$ is a symmetric (n-1)-form. By varying with respect to $g_{\alpha\beta}$, ϑ^{α} , $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$, and the Lagrange multiplier, we obtain the modified gravitational gauge field equations:

$$DM^{\alpha\beta} - m^{\alpha\beta} - D\mu^{\alpha\beta} = \sigma^{\alpha\beta}, \tag{5.8.2}$$

$$DH_{\alpha} - E_{\alpha} = \Sigma_{\alpha}, \tag{5.8.3}$$

$$DH^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - E^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - g_{\beta\gamma}\mu^{\alpha\gamma} = \Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, \tag{5.8.4}$$

$$Q_{\alpha\beta} = 0. \tag{5.8.5}$$

Since the nonmetricity vanishes, we can freely raise and lower indices. We resolve the symmetric part of the second field equation (5.8.4) with respect to the Lagrange multiplier,

$$\mu^{\alpha\beta} = DH^{(\alpha\beta)} - E^{(\alpha\beta)} - \Delta^{(\alpha\beta)}, \tag{5.8.6}$$

and insert this expression into the zeroth field equation. This results in

$$DM^{\alpha\beta} - m^{\alpha\beta} - DDH^{(\alpha\beta)} + DE^{(\alpha\beta)} + D\Delta^{(\alpha\beta)} = \sigma^{\alpha\beta}.$$
(5.8.7)

By inserting the definition (5.4.7) of $E^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$, we get

$$-m^{\alpha\beta} \sim DDH^{(\alpha\beta)} - D[\vartheta^{(\alpha} \wedge H^{\beta)}] = \sigma^{\alpha\beta} - D\Delta^{(\alpha\beta)}, \qquad (5.8.8)$$

or, together with the first field equation (5.8.3) and the constraint (5.8.5),

$$-m^{\alpha\beta} - R^{(\alpha}{}_{\gamma} \wedge H^{\gamma[\beta)} + R_{\gamma}{}^{(\alpha} \wedge H^{\gamma[\beta)} - T^{(\alpha} \wedge H^{\beta)} + \vartheta^{(\alpha} \wedge E^{\beta)}$$
$$= \sigma^{\alpha\beta} - D\Delta^{(\alpha\beta)} - \vartheta^{(\alpha} \wedge \Sigma^{\beta)} \cong 0.$$
(5.8.9)

According to (5.8.5) and to the symmetric part (5.3.4) of the second Noether identity for matter, this reduces weakly to the explicit relation (5.4.15) for the metrical energy-momentum current of the gauge fields. Thus in a Riemann-Cartan spacetime, the zeroth field equation drops out altogether, and we are left with the first field equation

$$DH_{\alpha} - E_{\alpha} = \Sigma_{\alpha}, \tag{5.8.10}$$

and the antisymmetric part

$$DH_{[\alpha\beta]} - E_{[\alpha\beta]} = DH_{[\alpha\beta]} + \vartheta_{[\alpha} \wedge H_{\beta]} = \tau_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (5.8.11)$$

of the second field equation. This finding is also consistent with our previous results on the redundancy of the zeroth field equation.

Within the framework of PG, the subtle interplay between gauge field equations and Noether identities shows up again. As we saw, the field equation (5.5.3), which is symmetric in α and β , degenerates to a non-propagating one and can be regarded as one of the redundant equations.

Moreover, one can deduce from the antisymmetric part of (5.4.15) and the second Noether identity (5.3.3) for $Q_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ that the *antisymmetric* part of the FIRST field equation of PG

$$-D(\vartheta_{\lfloor \alpha} \wedge H_{\beta \rfloor}) + T_{\lfloor \alpha} \wedge H_{\beta \rfloor} - \vartheta_{\lfloor \alpha} \wedge E_{\beta \rfloor}$$

= $DDH_{\lfloor \alpha \beta \rfloor} + T_{\lfloor \alpha} \wedge H_{\beta \rfloor} - \vartheta_{\lfloor \alpha} \wedge E_{\beta \rfloor} - D\tau_{\alpha\beta} = \vartheta_{\lfloor \alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta \rfloor},$ (FIRST_[1]) (5.8.12)

is redundant as well. This redundancy [275] has proved to be instrumental in the reduction of the quadratic Poincaré gauge field equations to an effectively Einsteinian system by means of a modified double duality ansatz, cf. [446,22]. It also simplifies the formulation of the Cauchy problem [158] of this model.

At low energies (in terms of the Planck energy), when the strain current cannot be excited, the matter Lagrangian is restricted to be locally Poincaré invariant instead of being invariant under the full affine group. In other word, if PG is supposed to apply, the strain current should vanish,

$$\Delta_{\alpha\beta} = \Delta_{(\alpha\beta)} = 0. \tag{5.8.13}$$

Actually the constraint (5.8.5) of vanishing nonmetricity allows to impose (5.8.13) a posterori, because of the redundancy of (5.8.9). Poincaré gauge covariance is left over and the considerations of this section 5 can easily be redone under these auspicies. Clearly, the connection one-form is no longer an independent variable, rather it is constrained to be metric compatible. Obviously, the field equations [272] turn out to be (5.8.10) and (5.8.11), and from the decomposed second Noether identity only the antisymmetric piece is left over. Moreover, in analogy to (5.2.19), it is possible to derive, in the framework of PG, the generalized Belinfante–Rosenfeld formula (5.6.15), cf. [366].

We will see in section 6.5, in which manner the condition (5.8.5) and (5.8.13) can be derive from a dynamical model of symmetry breaking.

5.8.2. Vanishing torsion

As a second example, which contains generalizations of Einstein's GR to a (L_n, g) with symmetric connection, we enforce the vanishing of torsion and consider the toy Lagrangian

$$L_{\{T=0\}} = V + L + T^{\alpha} \wedge \lambda_{\alpha}. \tag{5.8.14}$$

Here the Lagrange multiplier λ_{α} is a (n-2)-form. Then the modified gravitational gauge field equations read:

$$DM^{\alpha\beta} - m^{\alpha\beta} = \sigma^{\alpha\beta}, \tag{5.8.15}$$

$$DH_{\alpha} - E_{\alpha} - D\lambda_{\alpha} = \Sigma_{\alpha}, \tag{5.8.16}$$

$$DH^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - E^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \lambda_{\beta} = \Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, \qquad (5.8.17)$$

$$T^{\alpha} = 0. \tag{5.8.18}$$

The antisymmetric part of (5.8.17), with (5.4.7) inserted, i.e.

$$DH_{[\alpha\beta]} + Q_{[\alpha|\gamma} \wedge H^{\gamma}_{[\beta]} + \vartheta_{[\alpha} \wedge H_{\beta]} - \vartheta_{[\alpha} \wedge \lambda_{\beta]} = \tau_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (5.8.19)$$

has $n^2(n-1)/2$ components and thus completely determines the Langrange multiplier λ_{α} . For its resolution with respect to λ_{α} , we employ the algebraic identity (A.1.26) and obtain

$$\lambda_{\alpha} = H_{\alpha} - 2e^{\beta} \left[(DH_{\{\alpha\beta\}} + Q_{\{\alpha\mid\gamma\}} \wedge H^{\gamma}_{|\beta|}) + \frac{1}{2}\vartheta_{\alpha}e^{\gamma} \right] e^{\delta} \left[(DH_{\{\gamma\delta\}} + Q_{\{\gamma\mid\epsilon\}} \wedge H^{\epsilon}_{|\delta|}) - \mu_{\alpha}, (5.8.20) \right]$$

where μ_{α} is again the spin energy potential (5.1.24). Then the first field equation (5.8.16) reduces to

$$-E_{\alpha} + 2D[e^{\beta}](DH_{[\alpha\beta]} + Q_{[\alpha]\gamma} \wedge H^{\gamma}_{[\beta]}) - \frac{1}{4}\vartheta_{\alpha}e^{\gamma}]e^{\delta}](DH_{[\gamma\delta]} + Q_{[\gamma|\epsilon} \wedge H^{\epsilon}_{[\delta]})]$$

= $\Sigma_{\alpha} - D\mu_{\alpha}.$ (5.8.21)

The new energy-momentum current

$$\hat{\Sigma}_{\alpha} \coloneqq \Sigma_{\alpha} - D\mu_{\alpha} \tag{5.8.22}$$

contains, due to the constraint (5.8.18) and the decomposed Noether identity (5.3.3), in general the antisymmetric piece

$$\vartheta_{|\alpha} \wedge \hat{\Sigma}_{\beta|} = \vartheta_{|\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta|} + D\tau_{\alpha\beta}$$
$$= -\mathcal{Q}^{\mathsf{r}}_{|\alpha|\gamma} \wedge \tau^{\gamma}_{|\beta|} - \mathcal{Q}^{\mathsf{r}}_{|\alpha|\gamma} \wedge \widehat{\mathcal{A}}^{\mathsf{r}\gamma}_{|\beta|} - Q \wedge \tau_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(5.8.23)

5.8.3. Riemannian spacetime and general relativity

However, if additionally the nonmetricity is required to vanish, we will recover from (5.8.22) the *Belinfante-Rosenfeld symmetrized* energy-momentum current [46,47,578] in Riemannian spacetime, cf. [268,364,456]. There is a corresponding expression for the gravitational gauge fields: If we consider topological gravity in n = 3 dimensions and use in the Lagrangian, as a supplement to the Hilbert-Einstein term, the Chern-Simons three-form for the curvature, the Cotton tensor surfaces in the first field equation, cf. [452,29]. This demonstrates that the constraint of vanishing torsion is not as innocent as is usually surmized; in particular, it does not only change the variables but also the order of differentiation from one to two. Moreover, solving the constraint $d\vartheta^{\alpha} + \Gamma_{\beta}^{\{\}\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta} = 0$ for the connection is possible only for a non-degenerate coframe [429].

More precisely, the Riemannian case is obtained from the Lagrangian

$$L_{\{Q=0,T=0\}} = V + L + \frac{1}{2}Q_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \mu^{\alpha\beta} + T^{\alpha} \wedge \lambda_{\alpha}.$$
(5.8.24)

We can go through both previous reduction procedures and eventually obtain as the only field equation

$$-E_{\alpha} + 2D\left(e^{\beta}\right]DH_{[\alpha\beta]} - \frac{1}{4}\vartheta_{\alpha}e^{\gamma}\right]e^{\delta}DH_{[\gamma\delta]} = \Sigma_{\alpha} - D\mu_{\alpha}, \qquad (5.8.25)$$

together with the constraints

$$Q_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad T^{\alpha} = 0. \tag{5.8.26}$$

Incidentically, Eq. (5.8.25) applies also to the higher-derivative models [335,601] entertained for singularity-free cosmologies. Einsteinian GR is obtained from (5.8.25) by means of the Hilbert-Einstein Lagrangian

$$V_{\rm HE} = -\frac{1}{2l^{n-2}} R^{\{\}\alpha\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta} \implies H_{\alpha} = 0, \qquad H_{[\alpha\beta]} = \frac{1}{2l^{n-2}} \eta_{\alpha\beta}. \tag{5.8.27}$$

Since $D\eta_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ for vanishing torsion, we find, by substituting the identification (5.4.11),

$$-e_{\alpha} J V_{\rm HE} - \frac{1}{2l^{n-2}} (e_{\alpha} J R^{\{\}\beta\gamma}) \wedge \eta_{\beta\gamma} = \Sigma_{\alpha} - D^{\{\}} \mu_{\alpha}$$
(5.8.28)

$$\frac{1}{2l^{n-2}}R^{\{\}\beta\gamma}\wedge\eta_{\alpha\beta\gamma}=\Sigma_{\alpha}-D^{\{\}}\mu_{\alpha}.$$
(5.8.29)

The current on the right hand side of the Einstein equation is the momentum current of (5.6.16).

5.9. Teleparallelism

As our last example, we consider the case of vanishing curvature which is a constraint in (extended) *teleparallelism* models. We start with the total Lagrangian

$$L_{\{R=0\}} = V + L + R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \wedge \lambda^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, \tag{5.9.1}$$

where the Lagrange multiplier $\lambda^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ is a gl(n, R)-valued (n-2)-form. Then the modified gravitational gauge field equations read:

$$DM^{\alpha\beta} - m^{\alpha\beta} = \sigma^{\alpha\beta},\tag{5.9.2}$$

$$DH_{\alpha} - E_{\alpha} = \Sigma_{\alpha}, \tag{5.9.3}$$

$$DH^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - E^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - D\lambda^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = \Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, \qquad (5.9.4)$$

$$R_a^{\ \beta} = 0.$$
 (5.9.5)

In this case the resolution with respect to the Lagrange multiplier is not unique due to the occurrence of the exterior covariant derivative in front of $\lambda^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ in (5.9.4).

A further differentiation merely leads to the trivial identity:

$$-R^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma} \wedge \lambda^{\gamma}{}_{\beta} + R^{\gamma}{}_{\beta} \wedge \lambda^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma}$$

= $D\Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\beta} - g_{\beta\gamma}\sigma^{\alpha\gamma} - T^{\alpha} \wedge H_{\beta} + \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge E_{\beta} + Q_{\beta\gamma} \wedge M^{\alpha\gamma}$
 $-R_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha} \wedge H^{\gamma}{}_{\beta} + R_{\beta}{}^{\gamma} \wedge H^{\alpha}{}_{\gamma} - g_{\beta\gamma}m^{\alpha\gamma}$
 $\cong 0.$ (5.9.6)

Observe that the left hand side is trivial due to the vanishing of the curvature, whereas the right hand side reproduces the second Noether identity (5.2.16) together with the explicit formula (5.4.15) of the metrical energy-momentum current.

Teleparallelism models in the limit of vanishing nonmetricity (Riemann-Cartan spacetime) can be described by the total Lagrangian

$$L_{\{Q=0,R=0\}} = V + L + \frac{1}{2}Q_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \mu^{\alpha\beta} + R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \wedge \lambda^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}.$$
(5.9.7)

The field equations turn out to be

$$DM^{\alpha\beta} - m^{\alpha\beta} - D\mu^{\alpha\beta} = \sigma^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (5.9.8)$$

$$DH_{\alpha} - E_{\alpha} = \Sigma_{\alpha}, \tag{5.9.9}$$

$$DH^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - E^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - g_{\beta\gamma}\mu^{\alpha\gamma} - D\lambda^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = \Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, \qquad (5.9.10)$$

$$Q_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = 0, \qquad R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = 0.$$
 (5.9.11)

The symmetric part of (5.9.10) can be resolved with respect to $\mu^{\alpha\beta}$ with the result of

$$\mu^{\alpha\beta} = DH^{(\alpha\beta)} - E^{(\alpha\beta)} - D\lambda^{(\alpha\beta)} - \Delta^{(\alpha\beta)}.$$
(5.9.12)

If we substitute this into (5.9.8) and use the constraints (5.9.11), we find, similarly as in (5.8.9), that the zeroth field equation drops out completely:

$$-m^{\alpha\beta} - T^{(\alpha} \wedge H^{\beta)} + \vartheta^{(\alpha} \wedge E^{\beta)} = \sigma^{\alpha\beta} - D\Delta^{(\alpha\beta)} - \vartheta^{(\alpha} \wedge \Sigma^{\beta)} \cong 0.$$
(5.9.13)

The remaining equations are

$$DH_{\alpha} - E_{\alpha} = \Sigma_{\alpha}, \tag{5.9.14}$$

$$DH_{[\alpha\beta]} - E_{[\alpha\beta]} - D\lambda_{[\alpha\beta]} = \tau_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(5.9.15)

The proper teleparallelism model in Riemann-Cartan spacetime is singled out by its effective equivalence to Einstein's GR. In order to prove this equivalence, one contracts the curvature $\overline{R}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ built, according to (3.11.4), from a deformed connection $\overline{\Gamma}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} + A_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$, by $\eta_{\alpha\beta}$. For $n \ge 2$, this provides us with the following identity:

$$\overline{R}^{\alpha\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta} \equiv R^{\alpha\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta} - A^{\alpha\mu} \wedge A_{\mu}{}^{\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta} - Q^{\alpha\mu} \wedge A_{\mu}{}^{\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta} - 2A^{\alpha\beta} \wedge Q \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta} + A^{\alpha\beta} \wedge T^{\gamma} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta\gamma} + d(A^{\alpha\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta}).$$
(5.9.16)

Incidentally, the term proportional to $\eta_{\alpha\beta\gamma}$ would vanish in n = 2 dimensions. Moreover, if the deformed connection is identified with the Riemannian piece $\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\{\}}$, we find from (3.10.12) that the deformation one-form takes the form

$$A_{\alpha\beta} = K_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2}Q_{\alpha\beta} - (e_{\alpha}]Q_{\beta\gamma}\vartheta^{\gamma}.$$
(5.9.17)

Hence, for vanishing nonmetricity, we recover the geometric identity

$$R^{\{\}\alpha\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta} \equiv R^{\alpha\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta} - K^{\alpha\mu} \wedge K_{\mu}{}^{\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta} + K^{\alpha\beta} \wedge T^{\gamma} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta\gamma} + d(K^{\alpha\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta})$$
$$= R^{\alpha\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta} + T^{\alpha} \wedge^{*} (-{}^{(1)}T_{\alpha} + 2{}^{(2)}T_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}{}^{(3)}T_{\alpha}) + 2d(\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge^{*}T_{\alpha})$$
(5.9.18)

for the Hilbert-Einstein Lagrangian (multiplied by the dimensionful factor $-2l^{n-2}$). For the teleparallelism condition $R^{\alpha\beta} = 0$, the first term on the right-hand side drops out. Thus we arrive effectively at the *teleparallelism* Lagrangian (see [272,292,293,439,451,580,613,614,672,673])

$$V_{\parallel} = V_{T^2} + R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \wedge \lambda^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, \qquad V_{T^2} := -\frac{1}{2l^{n-2}}T^{\alpha} \wedge^* (-{}^{(1)}T_{\alpha} + 2{}^{(2)}T_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}{}^{(3)}T_{\alpha}). \tag{5.9.19}$$

Via (5.9.19) and (5.9.18) the resulting field equation (5.9.3) can be shown to be equivalent to (5.8.28) or (5.8.29), see [451]. Élie Cartan showed that the Einstein equation in the teleparallel version GR_{\parallel} of general relativity forms an *involutive system*, cf. [661,662,535,536,670]. In the framework of GR_{\parallel} the Cauchy problem and the coupling to non-scalar matter were thought to be problematic [524,363,269]. Recently Maluf [425,426] was able to show that, by fixing a suitable gauge, the Hamiltonian and the Cauchy problem are well-behaved in vacuo.

5.10. Ashtekar type complex field momenta generated by Chern-Simons terms

In four dimensions, we were able to determine the Chern-Simons terms of metric-affine spacetime in section 3.9. Multiplying each term with a dimensionless coupling constant θ_i , the corresponding boundary term reads [280]:

$$dC_{MAG} = \theta_1 dC_{TT} + \theta_2 dC_{RR} + \theta_3 dC_{trR,trR}$$

= $\frac{\theta_1}{2l^2} [g_{\alpha\beta}(T^{\alpha} \wedge T^{\beta} + R_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}) - Q_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge T^{\beta}]$
- $\frac{1}{2} \theta_2 R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge R_{\beta}{}^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} \theta_3 R \wedge R.$ (5.10.1)

If we decompose the connection, according to (3.12.2), into a volume-preserving and a volumechanging part, we find

$$dC_{MAG} = \frac{\theta_1}{2l^2} [g_{\alpha\beta}(^{\dagger}T^{\alpha} \wedge^{\dagger}T^{\beta} + ^{\dagger}R_{\gamma}{}^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}) - ^{\dagger}Q_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge^{\dagger}T^{\beta}] - \frac{1}{2}\theta_2{}^{\dagger}R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge^{\dagger}R_{\beta}{}^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{8}(\theta_2 + 4\theta_3)R \wedge R.$$
(5.10.2)

Observe already here that the generic Lagrangian of the metric-affine gauge theory is expected to have the same overall structure as (5.10.2): Merely one Hodge star should be distributed appropriately to each term in (5.10.2), and, in addition, there could occur different irreducible pieces of the field strengths multiplied with suitable dimensionless coupling constants.

Then we may supplement the original gravitational gauge Lagrangian V with the boundary term idC_{MAG} , where i denotes the imaginary unit, $i^2 = -1$. Subsequently we consider the complexified Lagrangian

$$\stackrel{(\pm)}{V} = V \pm i dC_{MAG}.$$
 (5.10.3)

The purely imaginary character of the additional piece is necessary if we want to preserce CP, i.e. the combined charge and parity transformation, as an exact symmetry in gravitational interactions, cf. [390,451].

Clearly, the new Lagrangians $\stackrel{(\pm)}{V}$ yield field equations which are equivalent to the old ones, since we have merely added a boundary term to the original Lagrangian. However, the new field momenta [280], which are canonically conjugate to *real* nonmetricity, torsion, and curvature, become necessarily *complex*:

$$\stackrel{(\pm)}{M}{}^{\alpha\beta} := -2\frac{\partial}{\partial Q_{\alpha\beta}}{}^{(\pm)} = M^{\alpha\beta} \pm i\frac{\theta_1}{l^2}\vartheta^{(\alpha} \wedge T^{\beta)}, \qquad (5.10.4)$$

$$\stackrel{(\pm)}{\Pi}_{\alpha} := -\frac{\partial \stackrel{(\pm)}{V}}{\partial T^{\alpha}} = H_{\alpha} \mp i \frac{\theta_1}{l^2} T_{\alpha}, \qquad (5.10.5)$$

$$\overset{(\pm)}{\Pi}{}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} := -\frac{\partial \overset{(\pm)}{V}}{\partial R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}} = H^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} \mp i\theta_2 R_{\beta}{}^{\alpha} \mp i\theta_3 \delta^{\alpha}_{\beta} R.$$
 (5.10.6)

In the special case of PG, with the normalization $\theta_i = 1$, these field momenta read

$$\overset{(\pm)}{\Pi}_{\alpha} = H_{\alpha} \mp (i/l^2) T_{\alpha},$$

$$\overset{(\pm)}{(\pm)}$$

$$(5.10.7)$$

$$\vec{\Pi}'_{\alpha\beta} = H_{\alpha\beta} \mp i R_{\alpha\beta}. \tag{5.10.8}$$

In particular, the case of a self-dual curvature can be understood in terms of the (complex) SO(3,C) formalism of Brans and others, see [78,79].

Following the general lead of Ashtekar [15], it has been shown [449,707] that this *change of* variables yields already on the Lagrangian level a very efficient Yang-Mills type formulation of the teleparallelism equivalent GR_{\parallel} of Einstein's theory:

$$\stackrel{(\pm)}{V}_{\parallel} = \mp (i/4) l^2 \stackrel{(\pm)}{\Pi}{}^{\alpha} \wedge \stackrel{(\pm)}{\Pi}{}_{\alpha}.$$
 (5.10.9)

Applying a (3 + 1)-decomposition, the gravitational Hamiltonian for GR_{\parallel} becomes polynomial in the Ashtekar type variables $\stackrel{(\pm)}{\underline{A}_{\alpha}} := \stackrel{*(\pm)}{\underline{\Pi}_{\alpha}}$, given by the three-dual of the tangential field momenta (5.10.7). In this Hamiltonian formalism, the normal part $\mathcal{F} = n]C_{MAG}$ with respect to a timelike vector field *n* turns out to be the true generating function for an Ashtekar type pair of new variables and their canonically conjugated momenta [15]. This approach has been generalized [450,451] to the Poincaré gauge theory.⁶⁴

6. Dynamics

6.1. Conformal gravity: quadratic model Lagrangians

Let us consider a *primordial* world which is invariant under arbitrary local GL(4, R)-deformations of the frame. In particular this implies that each single piece of our Lagrangian has to be invariant with respect to a local (positive) scale transformation (R^+ gauge transformation). Moreover, we require, with Weyl, an *additional* invariance⁶⁵ of our primordial Lagrangian with respect to conformal changes of the underlying metric structure. In section 3.14 we discussed such conformorphisms which extend the diffeomorphisms by C_{+}^{∞} , the Abelian group of all positive, infinitely differentiable functions Ω . This Abelian part we have already applied *actively* in the conformal Noether procedure.

According to the covariance under conformorphisms, the Lagrangian, which specifies the dynamics, should be independent of any dimensional coupling constant. Furthermore, for a Yang-Mills-type description, we want the field equations to be *linear* in the second derivatives of the gauge potential. Then, at most quadratic terms in curvature, torsion, and nonmetricity are admitted.⁶⁶ At this stage it

⁶⁴ The GL(4, R)-gauge approach of Floreanini and Percacci [199,200] is different from ours: Their GL(4, R) does not contain the physical Lorentz group. The latter one comes rather "in addition" to the "internal" GL(4, R); in other words, their GL(4, R) does commute with the Lorentz group.

⁶⁵ This is roughly the situation at the onset of the big bang when no particles are frozen out which, with their masses and other dimensionful properties, could provide a length scale.

⁶⁶ If we required the theory to be also supersymmetric, superconformal curvature-square Lagrangians would arise in the study of the "low"-energy limit of superstring models in n = 10 dimensions, see Bergshoeff, Salam, and Sezgin [54]. Moreover, in the string expansion, besides the graviton, a massless scalar field, the dilaton σ , will be the most relevant field in the bosonic sector [55], see also [167].

is not necessary to restrict ourselves to a Weyl spacetime, rather we are able to unveil our point of view in the general metric-affine framework.

According to the irreducible decompositions of appendix B, see also [626,287], the field momentum linear in the curvature can be expanded in terms of the irreducible curvature pieces as follows:

$$\overline{H}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} * \left(\sum_{N=1}^{11} b_{(N)} g^{\alpha\gamma} g_{\beta\delta} {}^{(N)} R_{\gamma}^{\delta} \right).$$
(6.1.1)

The number of irreducible pieces depends on the dimension n of the spacetime: For n > 3 we have eleven pieces, but ten for n = 3, and three for n = 2.

Since for $n \ge 3$ there are three irreducible torsion pieces, as in the restricted case of the Poincaré gauge field theory [272], we obtain for the translational gauge field momentum linear in the torsion the expansion

$$\overline{H}_{\alpha} = - \left(\sum_{M=1}^{3} a_{(M)} g_{\alpha \gamma}^{(M)} T^{\gamma} \right) .$$
(6.1.2)

Let us exhibit, for arbitrary dimensions n, the conformal properties of these gauge field momenta in the case of an (L_n, g) . Then the curvature, together with its irreducible pieces, is, contrary to, e.g., its behavior in a purely Riemannian space, conformally invariant, compare (3.14.3). The formula for conformal transformations for the Hodge dual of a *p*-form is given in (3.14.13). Consequently, we have

$$\widetilde{\overline{H}}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = \Omega^{(n-4)L/2} \, \overline{H}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} \,. \tag{6.1.3}$$

Apparently, this is invariant in n = 4 dimensions, and we can construct therefrom the quadratic curvature Lagrangian which is likewise invariant in four dimensions:

$$V_R := -\frac{i}{2} R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \wedge \overline{H}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, \qquad \widetilde{V}_R = \Omega^{(n-4)L/2} V_R . \tag{6.1.4}$$

In contradistinction, the classical Hilbert-Einstein term as well as the Einstein-Cartan Lagrangian V_{RC} are not invariant under conformal changes, except for the trivial case with n = 2. They involve the Hodge dual, the metric, and the coframe for their construction:

$$V_{\rm EC} := -\frac{1}{2} g^{\alpha\gamma} R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge \eta_{\gamma\beta} = -\frac{1}{2} g_{\beta\gamma} R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge {}^{\ast} (\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\gamma}), \qquad \tilde{V}_{\rm EC} = \Omega^{(n-2)L/2} V_{\rm EC} . \tag{6.1.5}$$

Let us turn to possible contributions from the contortion of the world: According to (3.14.6), (3.14.7), the axial and the tensor torsion two-forms defined in (B.2.7) and (B.2.8), respectively, transform in a conformally covariant manner, whereas this is true for the trace torsion only for the choice C = F. Under this condition, the translational momentum (6.1.2) inherits, with respect to conformal changes of the metric, the modified transformation law

$$\overline{H}_a = \Omega^{(n-2)L/2 + F} \overline{H}_a, \quad F = C.$$
(6.1.6)

Consequently, the most general quadratic torsion Lagrangian transforms as

$$V_T := -\frac{1}{2} T^{\alpha} \wedge \overline{H}_{\alpha} , \qquad \widetilde{V}_T = \Omega^{(n-2)L/2} V_T . \qquad (6.1.7)$$

Even for the choice above of F = C, it would only be invariant in n = 2 dimensions.⁶⁷ Therefore, as long as the dimensionality n = 4 of our macroscopic world is not reduced in the high-energy region, a quadratic torsion Lagrangian would not be admissible as a conformally invariant piece.

Let us compare the Lagrangians considered so far with those which would be obtained by distributing one Hodge star in the general boundary term (5.10.1) of an (L_n, g) . We then observe that the mixed nonmetricity term⁶⁸

$$V_{QT} := \sum_{K=1}^{3} c_{(K)} {}^{(K)\dagger} Q_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \overline{H}_{\gamma} g^{\gamma\beta}$$
(6.1.8)

is missing. From the conformal properties (3.14.4), (3.14.6) of the gauge fields involved, we find

$$\tilde{V}_{07} = \Omega^{(n-2)L/2} V_{07} . \tag{6.1.9}$$

Analogously to the torsion-squared Lagrangian (6.1.7), this piece is conformally invariant only for n = 2.

It has been pointed out earlier that the ZEROTH field equation is redundant *on shell*. Nevertheless, it is instructive to exhibit the corresponding conformally invariant contributions to quadratic Lagrangians. Again in the metrical gauge field momentum only the irreducible pieces of volume-preserving⁶⁹ nonmetricity are allowed to occur

$${}^{\dagger}\overline{M}^{\alpha\beta} = - \left(\sum_{K=1}^{3} q_{(K)} g^{\alpha\gamma} g^{\beta\delta - (K)\dagger} Q_{\gamma\delta} \right).$$
(6.1.10)

However, the corresponding quadratic nonmetricity Lagrangian transforms as

$$V_Q := -\frac{1}{4} Q_{\alpha\beta} \wedge {}^{\dagger} \overline{M}{}^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \widetilde{V}_Q = \mathcal{Q}^{(n-2)L/2} V_Q. \tag{6.1.11}$$

Accordingly it has to be excluded in the four-dimensional world.

Summing up, in four dimensions, the most general conformally invariant "gravitational" Lagrangian, under the premises of quasi-linearity of the gauge field momenta, is of the Yang-Mills type, i.e., it involves only the curvature, but explicitly neither the torsion nor the nonmetricity. Neither a Hilbert-Einstein type term is admissible, nor a "cosmological" term $A\eta$ proportional to the volume density η of the world, which would transform as $\tilde{\eta} = \Omega^{nL/2}\eta$.

⁶⁷ In view of the invariance of (6.1.7) in two dimensions, such a term is a possible candidate for the bosonic part of the superstring action (see [338,339,237]). For n = 2 torsion is irreducible such that (6.1.7) is equivalent to a term quadratic in the trace T of the torsion (TRATOR). On the other hand, the Hilbert-Einstein term is trivial in two dimensions since it degenerates to an exact form $-(1/2)R^{\{\}\alpha\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta} = d[-(1/2)(\Gamma^{\{\}\alpha\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta})]$. This is due to $D\eta_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ and the Abelian nature of the SO(2) part $\Gamma^{\{\alpha\beta\}} = (-1)^{\ln d(g)}\eta^{\alpha\beta}\Gamma^*$ of the connection. However, if one supplements the Hilbert-Einstein Lagrangian by a boundary term $d(\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge {}^*T_{\alpha})$, one recovers the Yang-Mills term (5.9.19) that is quadratic in the torsion. It turned out that not only this constrained model but also the general PG theory is completely integrable in two dimensions (cf. [453] and refs. given). A constrained GL(2, R) gauge model is analyzed in [350].

⁶⁸ We drop the contributions from the Weyl covector piece ⁽⁴⁾ $Q_{\alpha\beta} = Qg_{\alpha\beta}$ since, for $L \neq 2F - 2C$, the Weyl one-form Q transform inhomogeneously under conformal changes of the metric, cf. (3.14.1) and (3.14.5). This excludes also the term $Q \wedge {}^{*}T$ which, due to an intriguing coupling of the Weyl covector to the torsion trace $T = e_{\alpha} T^{\alpha}$, could possibly be responsible for a symmetry breaking from Weyl to Riemann-Cartan spacetimes, cf. section 8 of [280].

⁶⁹ The quadratic Weyl covector piece $Q \wedge {}^*Q$, which is related to a boundary term via $D^*Q + Q \wedge {}^*Q = d^*Q$, in general does not transform homogeneously under conformal changes.

Our conformally invariant quadratic curvature Lagrangian V_R contains volume-preserving and volume-changing parts. In order to exhibit this on par with the corresponding decomposition (3.12.6) of the curvature, we split the deformational gauge field momentum as follows:

$$H^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = {}^{\dagger}H^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + (1/n) \,\delta^{\alpha}_{\beta} \,H \,. \tag{6.1.12}$$

The trace part of $H^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ is, up to proportionality, nothing but the field momentum canonically conjugate to the Weyl one-form:

$$H := H^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha} = -\frac{\partial V_R}{\partial R_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha}} = -\frac{2}{n} \frac{\partial V_R}{\partial dQ} .$$
(6.1.13)

Then the conformal Lagrangian (6.1.4) may as well be rewritten as

$$V_R = -\frac{1}{2} ({}^{\dagger}R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge {}^{\dagger}H^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + \frac{1}{2}dQ \wedge H), \qquad (6.1.14)$$

which clearly displays the separation into a volume-preserving and a volume-changing dynamics. This is also reflected in the following splitting of the second field equation which may be deduced from (6.1.12) by independent variations of the volume-preserving connection and of the Weyl vector or, simply, by decomposing (5.5.5) into its tracefree and trace part, respectively:

$$^{\dagger}D^{\dagger}H^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - ^{\dagger}E^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = ^{\dagger}\Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}, \tag{6.1.15}$$

$$DH + \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge H_{\alpha} + M^{\beta}{}_{\beta} = DH = \Delta.$$
(6.1.16)

Since $H_{\alpha} = 0$ and $M^{\alpha\beta} = 0$ for (6.1.14), the volume-changing part of our theory is determined, not unexpectedly, by an inhomogeneous equation which formally resembles the Maxwell equation. Observe that the Weyl one-form has become a truly dynamical, i.e., propagating degree of freedom, even for a vanishing dilation current Δ . Incidentically, Buchmüller and Dragon [90] take the vanishing of DILCURV, i.e. the tensor relation ${}^{\dagger}R_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma} = 0$, as the gauge fixing condition for volume-preserving coordinate transformations. In this condition, an overlap between holonomic $GL(n, R)_H \subset Diff(n, R)$ and the anholonomic GL(n, R) occurs.

In our primordial world, in which no explicit torsion terms are present in the Lagrangian, the first field equation is purely algebraic in the curvature, i.e., non-dynamical:

$$-E_{\alpha}=\Sigma_{\alpha}. \tag{6.1.17}$$

According to (5.4.12) and to (6.1.4) with (6.1.1), the trace of the deformational energy-momentum reads:

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge E_{\alpha} = nV + 2R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \wedge \overline{H}^{\alpha}_{\ \beta} = nV - 2R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \wedge \frac{\partial V}{\partial R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}} = (n-4) V.$$
(6.1.18)

Observe that this relation is contained as a special case in the general formula (5.4.16). Its material counterpart is given by (5.7.23).

As a consequence of (6.1.18), for n = 4, as one would expect for a conformally invariant Yang-Mills type theory, the energy-momentum trace $\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha}$ vanishes ⁷⁰ and only matter with vanishing

⁷⁰ For the Lagrangian $V = \kappa \underbrace{R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \land R_{\beta}^{\ \gamma} \land \cdots \land R_{\gamma}^{\ \alpha}}_{n/2 \text{ factors}}$, this is also true in *n* dimensions, provided *n* is even.

trace can consistently couple to GL(4, R) gauge fields. In Riemannian spacetime, the quadratic Weyl curvature piece in (6.1.14) is frequently considered as a model of conformal gravity, see [329,447] and refs. therein. Recently, by calculating the independent deformations of conformally self-dual gravitational instantons [for Euclidean signature, i.e. for Ind(g) = 0], Perry and Teo [560] found a topological invariant which resembles the first Donaldson invariant [162], [163] in the Yang-Mills case.

6.2. Coupling to the dilaton

So far our world is ruled from the beginning solely by primordial, conformally invariant deformational gauge fields ("conformal gravity"). Following Isham et al. [310], e.g., we may immerse, in addition, a primordial scalar field, the so-called *dilaton field* $\sigma(x)$, into this world.⁷¹ The introduction of scalar fields into gravity has already a long history, see [310,311,577,211,431]; in our approach, in contrast to that of Jordan, Brans, and Dicke [322,77], the crucial feature is the onset of a possible symmetry breaking, following, for example, Englert et al. [184,185], Minkowski [464], Smolin [639,640], Gregorash and Papini [239,240], Zee [733,734], Nieh [515], Šijački [625], and Germán [221], see also the related work [145,528]. More recently, Flato and Raczka [198], as well as Cheng [111,112], cf. [34,59], have suggested to couple gravity via the isodoublet (complex) Higgs field ϕ^J (J = 1, 2) to the Weinberg–Salam model such that the dilaton field σ is included as one of the four scalar degrees of freedom.

Since the Higgs field of the standard model couples very strongly to fermion matter – it makes the mass of the electron, muon, quarks, etc. – it cannot be related to the dilaton as Flato and Raczka [198] surmised. Had it been a Jordan-Brans-Dicke field, it would be 10^{40} times stronger than gravity. Also, the present thinking about the dilaton in stringy and other inflation is that the scalar field was active in the first 10^{-43} seconds and then became so weakly coupled as to obey the upper bounds on Brans-Dicke couplings – whereas the Higgs is expected to be produced at the LHC (Large Hadron Collider) because it is strongly coupled to all massive matter.

On the classical level, we can assume that the scalar field carries canonical dimensions, i.e. $(length)^{-1}$ in n = 4 dimensions. Therefore, with respect to a conformal change (3.14.1) with weight L of the underlying metric structure, the scalar field is really a density which transforms [693] according to

$$\sigma(x) \to \widetilde{\sigma}(x) = \Omega(x)^{Ld_{\sigma}/2} \sigma(x) = \Omega(x)^{-(n-2)L/4} \sigma(x) .$$
(6.2.1)

In order to account for possible propagating modes of this scalar field, we have to construct a conformally invariant term for the kinetic part of the dilaton Lagrangian. Since the dilaton carries the dimension $d_{\sigma} = (2 - n)/2$, cf. (4.7.2), the gauge-covariant exterior derivative reduces to the usual exterior derivative amended by a connection trace term $\Gamma = \Gamma_{\alpha}^{\alpha}$ as a compensating "potential". In an (L_n, g) , the conformally covariant derivative of a scalar field is then given by

¹¹ According to Adler [2], e.g. the dilaton is not elementary, but should rather be regarded as a fermion condensate, i.e. $\sigma \doteq (\overline{\Psi}\Psi)^{(n-2)/2(n-1)}$. In the literature, there are various parametrizations of the dilaton field in use: According to Coleman [124], the prescription to render a theory dilation or scale invariant is to replace each mass scale μ by a field $\hat{\sigma}$, the dilaton, such that the dilaton couples in a universal way to these mass terms via $\overline{\mu} = \mu e^{\delta/f}$, where f is the dilaton decay constant [87]. In other conventions, the dilaton is related via $\sigma(x) = \frac{1}{2}[(n+2)/n]^{1/2} \ln \Omega(x)$ to the conformal part Ω of the metric $g_{\alpha\beta} = \Omega^{1/n} s_{\alpha\beta}$.

$$D\sigma = (d - \omega_{\sigma}\Gamma)\sigma.$$
(6.2.2)

For $\omega_{\sigma} = -(Ld_{\sigma}/2nC)$, the conformal covariance of $D\sigma$ follows from (6.2.1) and the transformation formula (3.14.1) for the trace of the connection:

$$\widetilde{D}\widetilde{\sigma} = (d - \omega_{\sigma}\Gamma) \ \Omega^{-(n-2)L/4} \sigma$$

$$= \Omega^{-(n-2)L/4} [-\frac{1}{4}(n-2)L d\ln\Omega + d - \omega_{\sigma}\Gamma + nC\omega_{\sigma} d\ln\Omega] \sigma$$

$$= \Omega^{-(n-2)L/4} D\sigma . \qquad (6.2.3)$$

Note that, contrary to the description of Nieh [515], in our approach the constant in front of the trace connection one-form is fixed by the dimension d_{σ} of the scalar field relative to that of the metric, cf. (6.2.1) and (3.12.8). Thus an (L_n, g) provides a rather natural framework to accommodate conformal changes of metrics; in particular, there seems to be no need to define anew a "conformally covariant" derivative (cf. Bregman [82], Smolin [639]). Observe also that the conformal variation [318,622] of a scalar field is, in our formalism, simply obtained by the gauge-covariant Lie derivative, cf. (A.1.38):

$$\delta^{(c)}\sigma = \pounds_{\xi}\sigma = \pounds_{\xi}\sigma - \frac{d_{\sigma}}{n} \left(e_{\alpha} \rfloor \widehat{D} \xi^{\alpha}\right) \sigma = \xi \rfloor D\sigma + \frac{n-2}{2n} \left(e_{\alpha} \rfloor \widehat{D} \xi^{\alpha}\right) \sigma.$$
(6.2.4)

For a p-form $\alpha^{(p)}$, the GL(n, R) gauge-invariant d'Alembertian operator reads

•

$$\Box \alpha^{(p)} := (-1)^{pn+s} \left[{}^{*}D {}^{*}D + (-1)^{n}D {}^{*}D {}^{*} \right] \alpha^{(p)} .$$
(6.2.5)

(In a Riemannian space, a related operator for an arbitrary tensor is explicitly constructed by Yano [729, p.67].) For a zero form, i.e. a scalar field σ , the second part in the definition (6.2.5) would lead to an (n + 1)-form and, consequently, drops out. Then the gauge-invariant d'Alembertian can be rewritten as

$$\Box \sigma = (-1)^{s} D^{*} D \sigma = \overline{\Box} \sigma - (-1)^{s} \omega_{\sigma} (d^{*} \Gamma - \omega_{\sigma} \Gamma \wedge T) \sigma, \qquad (6.2.6)$$

where $\overline{\Box} := (-1)^s * d * d$ denotes the usual d'Alembertian operator in curved spacetime. Due to (6.2.3), the operator \Box is also conformally invariant. In a Riemannian spacetime, the known conformally invariant wave operator (cf.[442,726], e.g.) reads:

$$\Box \sigma = \overline{\Box} \sigma + \frac{d_{\sigma}}{(n-1)} \left(e_{\alpha} \rfloor e_{\beta} \rfloor R^{\{\} \alpha \beta} \right) \sigma \,. \tag{6.2.7}$$

In view of (6.2.3) and (3.14.13), our procedure implies that the kinetic part of the dilaton Lagrangian is conformally invariant in any dimension:

$$L_{\Box} := -\frac{1}{2} (-1)^{\ln d(g)} D\sigma \wedge {}^* D\sigma, \qquad \widetilde{L}_{\Box} = \Omega^{(Ld_{\sigma} + (n-2)L/2)} L_{\Box} = L_{\Box} .$$
(6.2.8)

By variation of (6.2.8) with respect to σ , we obtain the conformally invariant scalar wave operator (6.2.6).

The dilaton Lagrangian with a polynomial self-interaction *n*-form $U(|\sigma|)$ is given by

$$L_{\sigma} = L_{\Box} + U(|\sigma|)\eta. \tag{6.2.9}$$

By variation of (6.2.9) with respect to σ , we obtain the scalar wave equation

$$\frac{\delta L_{\sigma}}{\delta \sigma} = (-1)^{\ln d(g)} D^* D \sigma + \frac{\partial U(|\sigma|)}{\partial \sigma} \eta = 0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \ ^* \left(\frac{\delta L_{\sigma}}{\delta \sigma}\right) = \Box \sigma + (-1)^{\ln d(g)} \frac{\partial U(|\sigma|)}{\partial \sigma} = 0.$$
(6.2.10)

6.3. Improved energy-momentum current

The trace of the dilaton's energy-momentum current, i.e.

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha}(\sigma) = (n-2) L_{\Box} + nU(|\sigma|) \eta$$
(6.3.1)

does not vanish. Therefore, we need to improve Σ_{α} in this respect. As an intermediate step, we could proceed from the identity

$$\sigma_{\beta} \equiv \Sigma_{\beta} + e_{\alpha} \rfloor D \Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + e_{\alpha} \rfloor \left(\rho(L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}) \Psi \wedge \frac{\delta L}{\delta \Psi} \right)$$
(6.3.2)

for the metrical energy-momentum (n-1)-form defined by (5.1.10), which follows from the strong Noether identity (5.2.16). For the dilaton field carrying canonical dimensions $d_{\sigma} = (2-n)/2$, only the trace of the hypermomentum current and of the linear generators contribute:

$$\Delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = \frac{1}{n} \delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} \Delta, \qquad \rho(L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta})\sigma = \frac{1}{n} \delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} \mathcal{D}\sigma = \frac{1}{n} \delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} d_{\sigma}\sigma.$$
(6.3.3)

Consequently, Eq. (6.3.2) simplifies to

$$\sigma_{\alpha} \equiv \Sigma_{\alpha} + \frac{1}{n} e_{\alpha} \rfloor D \Delta + \frac{d_{\sigma}}{n} e_{\alpha} \rfloor \left(\sigma \wedge \frac{\delta L_{\sigma}}{\delta \sigma} \right) .$$
(6.3.4)

Since the kinetic part of the dilaton Lagrangian (6.2.8) explicitly depends on the connection trace one-form $\Gamma_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma}$, the scalar field does also provide an intrinsic dilation current. According to (5.1.19), the latter is dynamically defined by

$$\Delta := \Delta^{\gamma}_{\gamma} = \frac{\delta L}{\delta \Gamma_{\gamma}^{\gamma}} = -(-1)^{\ln d(g)} \frac{2-n}{2n} \sigma^* D\sigma, \quad \tilde{\Delta} = \Delta.$$
(6.3.5)

The trace of the metrical energy-momentum current σ_{α} does not vanish either; but for $n \ge 3$ it depends also on kinetic terms (which would become "hard" in the momentum representation) as follows

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \sigma_{\alpha} = \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha}(\sigma) + D\Delta + d_{\sigma} \left(\sigma \wedge \frac{\delta L_{\sigma}}{\delta \sigma} \right)$$
$$= \frac{(n-1)(n-2)}{n} L_{\Box} + (-1)^{\operatorname{Ind}(g)} \frac{(n-1)(n-2)}{2n} \sigma D^{*} D\sigma$$
$$+ \left(nU(|\sigma|) - \frac{n-2}{2} \sigma \frac{\partial U(|\sigma|)}{\partial \sigma} \right) \eta.$$
(6.3.6)

In our formalism we may define a "new improved" energy-momentum current for scalar fields by

$$\tilde{\sigma}_{\alpha} \coloneqq \sigma_{\alpha} + \frac{(n-1)}{n} e_{\alpha} \rfloor D\Delta.$$
(6.3.7)

For its trace we find the "strong" relation

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \widetilde{\sigma}_{\alpha} = \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \sigma_{\alpha} + (n-1)D\Delta = \left(nU(|\sigma|) - \frac{n-2}{2}\sigma\frac{\partial U(|\sigma|)}{\partial\sigma}\right)\eta.$$
(6.3.8)

Compared to (6.3.1) and (6.3.6), kinetic terms such as L_{\Box} are now absent in (6.3.8). In contradistinction to our ealier "weak" result in [268], this is now a *strong* improvement, because no field equations have been employed in our derivation; cf. Kraus and Sibold [368] for the related case of flat spacetime.

Moreover, due to Euler's theorem for homogeneous functions, the $\sigma^{2n/(n-2)}$ piece in the potential $U(|\sigma|)$ drops out. For a polynomial potential $U(|\sigma|)$ of degree $p \leq 2n/(n-2)$, the operator dimensionality is then smaller than n (for $n \geq 3$). Therefore, the new trace is indeed "soft" in a momentum representation in the sense of Jackiw ([317, p.213]; cf. Kopczyński et al. [365]). Note that a pure $\sigma^{2n/(n-2)}$ model is, in flat spacetime, known to be renormalizable according to the criteria of power counting [693]. Moreover, the left hand side of (6.3.8) is related to dilation anomalies which are measured by the deviation of the effective self-interaction potential U from its conformally invariant form, compare [715, Eq. (3.4)].

It is a further consequence of (6.3.5) that a necessary and sufficient condition for a vanishing dilation current is the covariant constancy of the dilaton field, provided it is non-zero:

$$D\sigma = 0 \Longleftrightarrow \Delta = 0. \tag{6.3.9}$$

In the wake of a symmetry breaking, to which we will turn in the next section, there occur "mixed" terms involving, besides σ , also the curvature scalar. Due to its projective invariance, cf. (3.11.8), such a term does not contribute to the dilation current.

By construction, the kinetic part (6.2.8) of the dilaton Lagrangian is independent of the tracefree, that is, volume-preserving nonmetricity (3.12.4). Thus the dilaton field σ does not contribute to the shear current, and we may infer from the field equation (6.1.15) that the ground state of our metric-affine world is undeformed by material shear so far. Only for such violent spacetime fluctuations which break up the metrical continuum into a possibly non-causal "spacetime foam" and create "baby universes" and "wormholes" ([125], cf. [441]), the shear degrees of freedom of the gravitational gauge fields could get excited by self-interaction, yielding, due to the essentially dynamical character of (6.1.15), propagating modes.

6.4. Breaking of the dilation symmetry: induced Einsteinian gravity

Local scale invariance of fundamental non-gravitational interactions is valid only approximately in the high energy limit of Bjorken scaling. For gravity we expect the same at the onset of the big bang (or at extremely high energies). After a very short time lag, the Weyl group of local scale invariance would have broken down to the Poincaré group. In order to model this symmetry breaking in our post-Riemannian framework, further dynamical ingredients have to be added to our highly symmetrical, but for these reasons rather unphysical, Yang-Mills like gravitational world. As in Goldstone's model field theory [231], nonlinear terms in the dilaton field σ provide the essential means to achieve this. Let us consider the nonlinear self-interaction potential⁷²

$$U(|\sigma|) = \frac{1}{4!} \lambda_{\sigma} \sigma^4 \eta, \qquad U(|\tilde{\sigma}|) = \Omega^{-(n-4)L/2} U(|\sigma|).$$
(6.4.1)

In four dimensions, we find that the (renormalizable) σ^4 -term of the completed dilaton Lagrangian is conformally invariant.

On the dynamical part of the geometrical gauge fields, the curvature scalar term (6.1.5) and the explicit torsion-squared terms (6.1.7) had been prohibited by the requirement of conformal invariance. With the advent of the dilaton field, this is no longer true. In fact, the "mixed" *n*-form⁷³

$$V_{\sigma\Gamma} = \sigma^2 \left(\frac{1}{\chi} V_{\rm EC} + V_{\rm T} + V_{\rm Q} \right), \tag{6.4.2}$$

which represents a "contact"-type interaction of the deformational and scalar degrees of freedom, aquires invariance with respect to conformal changes of metric in any dimensions:

$$\widetilde{V}_{\sigma l'} = V_{\sigma l'} \ . \tag{6.4.3}$$

Therefore it should be included in our canon of at most quadratic Lagrangians, although such contact type coupling to the dilaton is perturbatively non-renormalizable [90].

In the derivation of the Noether identities for the total Lagrangian, such contact terms of the Brans-Dicke type have formally been accounted for by the generalized definitions (5.1.7)-(5.1.9) of the matter currents. In effect, these terms just provide us with the following additional field momenta of translations and deformations:

$$M^{\alpha\beta}(\sigma\Gamma) = \sigma^2 M^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad H_a(\sigma\Gamma) = \sigma^2 H_a, \qquad H^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}(\sigma\Gamma) = (1/2\chi)\sigma^2 g^{\alpha\gamma} \eta_{\gamma\beta}. \tag{6.4.4}$$

The degenerate form of the GL(n, R) gauge field momentum is pertinent to the Hilbert-Einstein or Einstein-Cartan type Lagrangian.

The complete Lagrangian for the so-called dilaton field, including these mixed terms, eventually assumes the form

$$L_{\sigma} = L_{\Box} + U(|\sigma|) + V_{\sigma \Gamma}.$$
 (6.4.5)

An extremum (preferable a minimum) of this gravitationally coupled nonlinear scalar field Lagrangian necessarily occurs for

$$\frac{\delta L_{\sigma}}{\delta \sigma} = \Box \sigma + 2\left(\frac{1}{\chi}V_{\rm EC} + V_T + V_Q\right)\sigma + \frac{\partial U(|\sigma|)}{\partial \sigma} = 0, \tag{6.4.6}$$

provided the scalar field equation is satisfied. Due to the presence of the connection trace one-form in the derivative D and in \Box , the specification of the ground state configuration is more involved than

⁷² Although this term is usually introduced ad hoc in a purely Riemannian geometry, it may itself be the result of a conformally rescaled and then "frozen in" gravity, cf. [44].

⁷³ In (6.4.2), due to its conformal invariance, we could also include the term $\sigma^2 V_{QT}$ with the novel mixing of nonmetricity and torsion.

in an uncoupled model. Similarly as in the Abelian Higgs model, cf., e.g., [114,566], we may seek configurations for which

$$\sigma \simeq \langle \sigma \rangle = v_{\sigma}, \qquad \frac{\partial U(|\sigma|)}{\partial \sigma} = 0, \qquad D\sigma \simeq 0$$
(6.4.7)

hold asymptotically. According to (6.3.9), the dilaton current vanishes too, i.e. $\Delta \simeq 0$.

For a model of massless scalar electrodynamics, Coleman and E. Weinberg [127,709] have shown that radiative corrections *induce* a spontaneous symmetry breakdown of the U(1) gauge symmetry. In the first loop approximation, there arises an *effective* self-interacting potential, which has a minimum away from the origin:

$$\frac{\lambda_{\sigma}}{4!} \sigma^{4} \stackrel{\text{radiative corr.}}{\Longrightarrow} V_{\text{eff.}} = \frac{3\omega_{\sigma}^{4}}{64\pi^{2}} \sigma^{4} \left(\ln \frac{\sigma^{2}}{\langle \sigma^{2} \rangle} - \frac{1}{2} \right).$$
(6.4.8)

It is tempting to adopt the hypothesis that a similar mechanism applies to the dilatons of our gravitational model also in a non-flat background, in particular, since there is a relation [328] between chiral and scale invariance for extended models.

However, a dimensional transmutation [124] appears to be a general feature of such an induced symmetry breaking: The dimensionless parameter λ_{σ} is transmuting into a dimensional one, i.e. $\langle \sigma \rangle$, which breaks conformal invariance *explicitly*. By comparison with the macroscopic world in which Newton's gravitational constant G_N is inherent, the physical scale is then necessarily determined by

$$\langle \sigma \rangle = (-)\sqrt{\chi}/l, \tag{6.4.9}$$

where $l = \sqrt{8\pi G_N \hbar/c^3}$ denotes the Planck length. In this setting, Newton's gravitational constant in Einstein's GR is a result of such a symmetry breaking (cf. [185,464]) of conformal gravity.

Let us consider the "induced" gravitational world in the vicinity of this ground state. In this crude approximation, we obtain

$$L_{\sigma} \simeq L_{\rm EC}' = \frac{1}{l^2} \left(V_{\rm EC} + \chi V_{\rm T} + \chi V_{\rm Q} - \Lambda_{\rm ind.} \right), \quad \Lambda_{\rm ind.} = \frac{3\omega_{\sigma}^4 \chi^2}{128\pi^2 l^2}.$$
 (6.4.10)

In this order of approximation, the kinetic part of the scalar field vanishes. Thus we end up with an Einstein-Cartan Lagrangian plus possible explicit torsion terms of teleparallelism type theories and optional nonmetricity terms. In the conformal gauge Lagrangian (6.1.14), only the volume-preserving part survives, due to $dQ \simeq 0$, which follows from (6.4.7). Having started from a gauge theory of local GL(n, R)-deformations, we find that the gravitational vacuum structure of spacetime gets broken down from an (L_n, g) to a Riemann-Cartan spacetime U_n with its associated Poincaré group. The induced "cosmological" constant A_{ind} is really of microscopic origin and is notoriously large, cf. [712].

A constant mass term $m = \langle \sigma \rangle$ for world spinors is induced as a further result of the breaking of the local scale symmetry through the non-trivial vacuum expectation value of the dilaton field σ . In view of the small length scale induced by (6.4.9), the rest mass m of world spinors obeys the relation

$$8\pi G_N m^2/(\hbar c) \sim \chi. \tag{6.4.11}$$

By adjusting the coupling constant χ in the Einstein-Cartan part of the Lagrangian, the manifield mass *m* can be shifted to a value far below the superheavy Planck mass M_{Planck} .

If we had admitted the term $\sigma^2 Q \wedge {}^*Q$ in our gauge Lagrangian, a superheavy Weyl vector boson would occur after symmetry breaking [644]. So far, dilation or Weyl invariance has not offered a solution of the *cosmological constant problem* [712,129], i.e. its vanishing in the present epoch.

6.5. Triggering spontaneous symmetry breakdown of $\overline{SL}(4, R)$

The discussion of renormalizability, which we touched upon in section 2.2, made it clear that the very-high-energy (VHE) regime (i.e. higher than Planck energies) of our theory of quantum gravity has to be ruled, instead of the Brans-Dicke type terms (6.4.2) of the previous section, rather by $d_{R^2} = -4$ terms and that the gauge field appearing in these terms should represent physically independent degrees of freedom. This has forced us to enlarge the (anholonomic) gauge group in its homogeneous part beyond SL(2, C). In this section, we are going to discuss a model in which a spontaneous symmetry breakdown (SSB) occurs in the volume-preserving part $\overline{SL}(4, R)_A \subset \overline{GL}(4, R)_A$. The breakdown occurs either directly or indirectly. The indirect process is induced by the same mechanism we described in section 6.4, which triggered the breakdown of local scale invariance, i.e. of the R^+ part in $\overline{GL}(4, R) = (T \ll \overline{SL}(4, R)) \times R^+$.

Continuing in our quest for renormalizability, we use the Yang-Mills model for our gauge theory. Our d = -4 VHE Lagrangian should be quadratic in the $\overline{GL}(4, R)_A$ curvatures. According to (6.1.4) and (6.1.1), the most general quadratic Lagrangian four-form reads:

$$V_{\text{sym.}} = V_R = -\frac{1}{2\kappa} \sum_{N=1}^{11} b_{(N)} g^{\alpha\gamma} g_{\beta\delta}{}^{(N)} R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge {}^{*}({}^{(N)}R_{\gamma}{}^{\delta}).$$
(6.5.1)

This Lagrangian would encompass the "SKY" (Stephenson-Kilmister-Yang)⁷⁴ Lagrangian [654], were it not for the addition of spontaneous $\overline{GL}(4, R)_A$ -symmetry breaking terms. The conformal gravity Lagrangian has non-vanishing nonmetricity $Q_{\alpha\beta} = -Dg_{\alpha\beta} \neq 0$ contributed by the $\overline{SL}(4, R)_A/SL(2, C)$ components of the connection, as can be seen from (3.10.12).

In fact, the Schwarzschild-Einstein-Newton component and the related macroscopic horizons will be provided by the $d_R = -2$ terms corresponding to the SSB of $\overline{GL}(4, R)_A$ and of its $\overline{SL}(4, R)_A$ subgroup in the low energy region, underneath the Planck energy, i.e. at distances much larger than the Planck length $l = 10^{-33}$ cm.

The terms that will dominate the low-energy region will effectively generate a vanishing nonmetricity and reproduce the Hilbert-Einstein Lagrangian (or equivalent macrocopic Lagrangians). It will correspond to the "Higgs sector" in a Weinberg-Salam type model: Although the $-\mu^2 \phi^2$ term that generates the SSB in those theories has precisely the same dimensionality as the Einstein and/or

 $^{^{74}}$ It will be remembered that criticism of the SKY Lagrangian [654,348,728] had centered on its unsuitability for a theory of gravity in the large, since it has no Birkhoff theorem, i.e. the exterior Schwarzschild solution is not the unique spherically symmetric vacuum solution. Moreover, there is no decent Newtonian limit because of the surfacing (from the Riemannian connection) of 3nl derivatives of the metric (Baekler et al. [25]). However, the physical requirements are different in our case: The Lagrangian (6.5.1) of the renormalizable Yang-Mills type dominates the VHE regime, but needs to be amended by symmetry breaking terms in order to cope with the macroscopic, low energy region. Thus, the Newtonian limit is reproduced by other (dimension 2) terms.

the $(torsion)^2$ -terms in gravity, explicit mass terms are *not* favored in our conformal approach to gravity. In our approach, the effective Hilbert-Einstein Lagrangian $\sigma^2 V_E$ will have the same structure as the effective W mass term $\langle \Phi^2 \rangle W^2$ of SSB in Yang-Mills-Higgs theories.

The low energy (broken $\overline{GL}(4, R)_A$ gauge symmetry) region preserves a subgroup of $\overline{GL}(4, R)_A$, and this is precisely the Lorentz group, thus ensuring that the long-range component corresponds to a Riemannian geometry and has Einsteinian features.

The symmetry breakdown could occur "spontaneously" through the assignment of a non-vanishing vacuum expectation value,

$$\langle \Phi_{00} \rangle \neq 0 \tag{6.5.2}$$

for the (0,0)-component of a manifield Φ , i.e. an infinite-component field behaving as an "A-deunitarized" representation of $\overline{SL}(4, R)_A$, cf. section 4.

We deal with manifields in the context of the matter fields in MAG. Here, however, Φ is a bosonic manifield, behaving as an \mathcal{A} -deunitarized representation of $\overline{GL}(4, R)_A$. Indeed, to treat the breakdown of the Yang-Mills-like gauge symmetry appropriately, the Higgs field has to transform as a non-trivial representation of that group, with a component that has the Lorentz group (on the frames) as its stability subgroup; this is Φ_{00} , a component behaving as the (0,0), i.e. scalar representation of the Lorentz deunitarized subgroup, and it acquires a non-vanishing vacuum expectation value.

In other words, Φ is reduced over the "apparent" compact subgroup SO(4), which is physically just the A-transform of the Lorentz group, the $\overline{SO}(1,3)_A = SL(2,C)_A$ subgroup of $\overline{GL}(4,R)_A$. It has finite non-unitary representations, just as in finite tensors (in which the GL(4,R) representation itself is "naturally" non-unitary, and so are those of the SL(2,C) subgroup).

In writing the Φ -Lagrangian, we thus have to use coframes. In this case, the coframes have their component's labels ranging over a countable infinity. Such coframes are gravitational-field valued matrices, relating $\overline{GL}(4, R)_A$ to $\overline{GL}(4, R)_H$, cf. [99]. For bosonic manifields, the double covering is collapsed and the coframe can then be given in terms of the conventional coframes by

$$\theta^{B} = C^{B}{}_{\beta}\vartheta^{\beta} = H_{J}{}^{B}G^{J}{}_{i}dx^{i} \qquad \begin{cases} H_{J}{}^{B} = C^{B}{}_{\beta}e_{j}{}^{\beta}G^{J}{}_{J} \\ E^{I}{}_{A} = G^{I}{}_{i}e^{i}{}_{a}C^{\alpha}{}_{A}, \end{cases}$$
(6.5.3)

where the $C^{B}{}_{\beta}$ and $G^{I}{}_{i}$ are transition matrices of SL(2, C) and SL(4, R), respectively. The $C^{B}{}_{\beta}$ consist of a reduced infinite sum of rectangular matrices that relate, within one single \mathcal{A} -deunitarized representation of $\overline{SL}(4, R)_{A}$, the A, B labels of the finite (non-unitary) representations of SL(2, C) - replacing here the $\overline{SO}(4)$ compact subgroup representations in the \mathcal{A} -deunitarized representation of $\overline{SO}(4, R)_{A}$ itself – to the four-dimensional α , β indices of the local Lorentz group, also saturating a four-dimensional representation of $SL(4, R)_{A}$. The $G^{I}{}_{i}$ relate the four-dimensional i, j indices of $\overline{SL}(4, R)_{H}$ to the infinite-dimensional I, J indices of the \mathcal{A} -deunitarized representation of that group.

We take the following conventional Lagrangian for the Φ manifield, together with the dilaton field σ that breaks $\overline{GL}(4, R)_A$ but is invariant under the traceless $\overline{SL}(4, R)_A$ and under conformal changes:

$$L_{\text{Higgs}} = -\frac{1}{2}(-1)^{\ln d(g)} D\Phi \wedge {}^*D\Phi - \frac{1}{2}(-1)^{\ln d(g)} D\sigma \wedge {}^*D\sigma - U(\Phi,\sigma)\eta + L_{\text{Yu}}, \qquad (6.5.4)$$

where

$$U(\Phi,\sigma) = \frac{1}{4} [\lambda_{\Phi} (\Phi^{\dagger} \Phi)^2 + 2\lambda (\Phi^{\dagger} \Phi) \sigma^2 + \lambda_{\sigma} \sigma^4]$$
(6.5.5)

represents a self-interaction, and

$$L_{\rm Yu} = (\mu \bar{\Psi} \Phi \Psi + \nu \sigma \bar{\Psi} \Psi) \eta \tag{6.5.6}$$

a Yukawa coupling to the fermions. In the presence of the dilaton, we do not have to assume the nonvanishing vacuum expectation value for Φ_{00} as a separate ansatz. Rather the λ term in (6.5.5), representing an interaction between Φ^2 and σ^2 , when, as in section 6.4,

$$\langle \sigma \rangle = v_{\sigma} \neq 0, \tag{6.5.7}$$

will provide an effective negative mass-squared term for Φ^2 . Writing

$$\sigma(x) = v_{\sigma} + \sigma_{\text{Higgs}}(x), \tag{6.5.8}$$

we find, cf. (6.4.9),

$$l = \sqrt{\chi} / v_{\sigma}, \qquad G_N = \chi / 8\pi v_{\sigma}^2. \tag{6.5.9}$$

The $\Phi^2 \sigma^2$ term contributes to the $U(\Phi, \sigma)$ -potential, which, up to the constant term $\lambda_{\sigma} v_{\sigma}^4$, becomes

$$U(\Phi^2) = \frac{1}{4} [2\lambda v_{\sigma}^2 \Phi^2 + \lambda_{\phi} (\Phi^2)^2] \eta, \qquad (6.5.10)$$

where $\Phi^2 = \Phi^{\dagger} \Phi := \sum_B \Phi_B^* \Phi^B$, $B := (j_1, j_2)$. A sufficient condition for a minimum is

$$\left(\lambda v_{\sigma}^{2} + \lambda_{\phi} \sum_{B} \Phi_{B}^{*} \Phi^{B}\right) \Phi^{C} = 0,$$

$$D\Phi^{C} = \left[\delta_{B}^{C} (d - \omega_{\phi} \Gamma) + \Gamma_{(\alpha\beta)} (E^{(\alpha\beta)})_{B}^{C}\right] \Phi^{B} \simeq 0,$$
 (6.5.11)

so that for $\lambda < 0$ we get a SSB of $\overline{SL}(4, R)$. Applying a suitable $\overline{SL}(4, R)/\overline{SO}(1, 3)$ transformation, within an irreducible subspace, i.e. after a choice of a gauge, we have

$$\sum_{B} \Phi_{B}^{*} \Phi^{B} = \Phi_{0}^{*} \Phi^{0}, \tag{6.5.12}$$

thus obtaining

$$\Phi^{\mathcal{B}}(x) = v_{\phi}' \delta_0^{\mathcal{B}} + \Phi^{\mathcal{B}}_{\mathsf{Higgs}}(x) \tag{6.5.13}$$

$$v'_{\phi} = \sqrt{-\lambda/\lambda_{\phi}} v_{\sigma}. \tag{6.5.14}$$

The spinorial manifield Ψ acquires a mass

$$\mathcal{M}(\Psi) = \mu v'_{\sigma} + \nu v_{\sigma} \tag{6.5.15}$$

also of the order of the Planck mass (up to the coupling constants μ and ν).

Returning to the Φ manifield, above its lowest level (0,0) we find the three representations (2,0), (1,1), (0,2). The (2,0) and (0,2) cannot be reached from (0,0) by a single application of the sl(4, R)/sl(2, C) generators $\mathcal{E}_{(\alpha\beta)}$, while

$$|(1,1)\rangle = \mathcal{E}_{(\alpha\beta)} |(0,0)\rangle, \tag{6.5.16}$$

i.e. the (1, 1) components have the quantum numbers of the sl(4, R)/sl(2, C) generators and supply longitudinal components to the shear connections. These components of the connection (contributing via (3.10.3) to the nonmetricity) are thus massive.

Performing a gauge transformation

$$A_{(\alpha\beta)} = \exp(\mathcal{L}^{(\alpha\beta)} \omega_{(\alpha\beta)}), \quad \omega_{(\alpha\beta)} \sim (1,1), \tag{6.5.17}$$

we find for the infinitesimally gauge-equivalent connection,

$$\Gamma_{(\alpha\beta)} \cong \Gamma_{(\alpha\beta)} - d\omega_{(\alpha\beta)}, \tag{6.5.18}$$

cf. (3.6.9) for the precise relation. The mass matrix of the shear part of the connection itself is given by

$$\langle \mathcal{L}^{(\alpha\beta)} v_{\phi} | v_{\phi} \mathcal{L}^{(\gamma\delta)} \rangle \tag{6.5.19}$$

with the $(\mathcal{L}^{(\alpha\beta)})_B^C$ matrix elements corresponding to the transitions $(0,0) \to (1,1) \to (0,0)$. Using the 3-*j* coefficients [625,496] of the sl(4, R), we obtain

$$M^{2}(\Gamma_{(\alpha\beta)}) = \frac{1}{4}(16 + e_{2}^{2}) \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & -a & a \end{bmatrix}^{2} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & -b & b \end{bmatrix}^{2} v_{\phi}^{\prime 2},$$
(6.5.20)

with $\alpha, \beta = 1, 0, -1$ (the spherical basis).

The mass of the dilational part $\bar{\Gamma}^{\gamma}{}_{\gamma}$ of the affine connection turns out to be

$$M^{2}(\bar{\Gamma}^{\gamma}{}_{\gamma}) = v_{\phi}^{\prime 2}. \tag{6.5.21}$$

The Lorentz connection does not acquire mass and for the Higgs manifield we find

$$M^{2}(\Phi^{B}_{\text{Higgs}}) = -4\lambda v_{\phi}^{\prime 2}, \quad \lambda < 0, \tag{6.5.22}$$

where the $(j_1, j_2) \neq (1, 1)$ have become the longitudinal components of the shear part of the connection.

This model has been studied further, first by constructing the appropriate BRST equations [388] and then proving that it is renormalizable [387,389]. Its renormalizability does not derive from $(1/p^4)$ -propagators as in the case of quadratic Riemannian Lagrangians [652], but is rather akin to renormalizable Yang-Mills theories, whose proof of renormalizability is followed in [387,389], except for the complications induced by the diffeomorphism gauge. What remains unanswered is the question of unitarity. One would have to prove that in higher orders, no effective dipole-ghost terms would ever emerge, etc.

6.6. Extended inflation

The inflationary model, see Linde [396] and Guth [252] for recent overviews, is a modification of the standard big bang model which is aiming at providing answers to such cosmological issues as: (1) large scale uniformity, (2) flatness [near to the critical density], (3) absence of magnetic GUT monopoles, (4) almost scale-invariant spectrum of the microwave background as seen by COBE, etc..

The standard as well as the inflationary model is based on the isotropic Robertson-Walker metric⁷⁵

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + a^{2}(t) \left(\frac{dr^{2}}{1 - kr^{2}} + r^{2}(d\theta^{2} + \sin^{2}\theta d\varphi^{2}) \right)$$
(6.6.1)

of Einstein's equation with effective cosmological constant $\Lambda_{\text{eff.}}$ induced by the "false" vacuum density. (An open, flat, or closed universe is characterized by k = -1, 0, +1, respectively.) For the metric (6.6.1), Einstein's equation reduces to the Friedmann equation

$$\mathbf{a}^2 = -k + \frac{1}{3}a^2(l^2\rho + \Lambda_{\rm eff.}) \tag{6.6.2}$$

together with the Raychaudhuri equation of energy conservation.

The inflationary period lasts only for a small fraction of a second and provides really a model for the "bang" itself. After this period, the de Sitter type exponential inflation with

$$a = a_0 \exp[((A_{\text{eff.}}/3)^{1/2}t]], \quad k = 0, \quad \rho = 0$$

is supposed to join smoothly onto the standard model based on the Friedmann solution (k = 0, $A_{eff.} = 0$) of Einstein's equation ("graceful exit" problem). The possible effects of a primordial anisotropy on inflation have also been discussed in the literature [301].

What is important in our context is that almost all mechanisms for inflation depend on a dynamical scalar field that has a sufficiently long flat region in its potential to allow for the de Sitter phase. The interaction with Einsteinian gravity is of the Jordan-Brans-Dicke type [77] and, therefore, resembles the dilaton model of section 6.4. Moreover, in the extended inflationary model of La and Steinhardt [382] and in the "eternal" modification of Linde [397], cf. [301,558], the graceful exit problem is attacked by introducing two scalar fields with a specific selfinteracting potential $U(\phi, \sigma)$ similar to our manifield potential (6.5.5) of SSB: After singling out and identifying one component of the bosonic manifield Φ with the Brans-Dicke scalar ϕ , the structure of the inflationary Lagrangian is

$$L_{\text{infl}} = V_{\phi R} + L_{\phi} + L_{\sigma}$$

= $-(1/2\chi)\phi^2 R^{\alpha\beta} \wedge \eta_{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}D\phi \wedge^* D\phi + \frac{1}{2}D\sigma \wedge^* D\sigma - U(\phi, \sigma)\eta.$ (6.6.3)

The dilaton is the one which can be in practice the Brans-Dicke field. The inflaton is generally the GUT Higgs field, and it is generally not coupled to gravity in the Brans-Dicke fashion. In extended inflation, the dilaton-Brans-Dicke field is coupled to the curvature scalar and causes a change in the effective value of Newton's constant; this in turn changes the Hubble "constant" which is proportional to the square-root of G, and this helps the transition from false to true vacuum. If these two scalar fields were related via $\sigma = \frac{1}{2}[(n+2)/n]^{1/2} \ln \phi$, as in [120], the dilaton could play, at the same time, the role of the "inflaton".

For $R^{\alpha\beta} = R^{\{\}\alpha\beta}$, such Hilbert-type Lagrangians coupled to a scalar field ϕ have been analyzed in various models before, see [44,45,139], [239,638] and references given.

⁷⁵ In such a geometry, GR coupled to a scalar field allows [183] also a smooth *change of the signature* which may be important in quantum cosmology.
Extensions of inflationary models to Riemann-Cartan spacetime [190,28,6,576] as well as to Weyl spacetimes [333] have been discussed in the literature.⁷⁶ Therefore, it seems to be appropriate to expose the common geometrical features of these models. To this end, we vary (6.6.3) with respect to ϕ , σ , $g_{\alpha\beta}$, ϑ^{α} , and $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$. Since $M^{\alpha\beta}$ and H_{α} in (6.4.4) vanish, the following field equations are obtained:

$$\frac{\delta L_{\phi}}{\delta \phi} - \frac{1}{\chi} \phi R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge \eta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = 0, \qquad \frac{\delta L_{\sigma}}{\delta \phi} = 0, \qquad (\text{matter})$$
(6.6.4)

$$-(1/\chi)\phi^2(g^{\alpha\beta}R_{\gamma}^{\ \delta}\wedge\eta^{\gamma}{}_{\delta}+R^{(\alpha\gamma}\wedge\eta^{\beta)})=\sigma^{\alpha\beta},\qquad(0\text{th})$$
(6.6.5)

$$(1/2\chi)\phi^2 R_{\beta}{}^{\gamma} \wedge \eta^{\beta}{}_{\gamma \alpha} = \Sigma_{\alpha}, \qquad (1st)$$

$$(1/2\chi)D(\phi^2\eta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}) = 0, \quad \Delta = 0.$$
 (2nd) (6.6.7)

From the 2nd Noether theorem we know that (0th) is redundant, provided (1st) and (2nd) are fulfilled. Moreover, we see that $\phi \ \delta L_{\phi}/\delta \phi = \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Sigma_{\alpha}$, which is the strong dilation identity (5.3.1) for $d_{\phi} = -1$, cf. [712]. Hence we only have to solve $\delta L_{\sigma}/\delta \sigma = 0$ and the (1st) and (2nd) field equations. In vacuum, none of the gauge field equations determines the scalar field ϕ . The situation changes, however, if we consider the full dilaton type Lagrangian (6.6.3).

According to (3.8.5), the second field equation, which is a result of the vanishing of the dilaton spin, reads explicitly:

$$Q^{\mu\alpha} \wedge \eta_{\mu\beta} - 2Q \wedge \eta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} + T^{\gamma} \wedge \eta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\gamma} = -2\eta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} \wedge \frac{D\phi}{\phi}.$$
(6.6.8)

In a Weyl spacetime, the torsion and the volume-preserving nonmetricity ${}^{\dagger}Q_{\alpha\beta}$, cf. (3.12.4), both vanish. Then we can resolve (6.6.8) with respect to the Weyl covector:

$$Q = 2\frac{D\phi}{\phi} \quad \Rightarrow \quad Q = \frac{2}{1+4\omega_{\phi}} (d\ln\phi - \omega_{\phi}d\ln\sqrt{|\det g_{\alpha\beta}|}). \tag{6.6.9}$$

Incidentally, putting the torsion to zero already in the Lagrangian, would lead to the same result. According to (3.10.12), we find a Weyl spacetime with the connection [638], cf. [432]:

$$\Gamma_{\alpha\beta} = \Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\{\}} + (1/\phi)(g_{\alpha\beta}D\phi + \vartheta_{\beta}D_{\alpha}\phi - \vartheta_{\alpha}D_{\beta}\phi).$$
(6.6.10)

After applying a conformal change of the metric according to (3.14.5) with the identification $\Omega = \phi$ and L - 2F + 2C = 2, the new Weyl one-form \tilde{Q} will vanish.

Alternatively, if we put nonmetricity to zero and work in a Riemann-Cartan spacetime [221], then (6.6.8) determines the torsion as

$$T^{\alpha} = \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \frac{D\phi}{\phi} \iff K_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{\phi} \vartheta_{\alpha} D_{\beta} \phi.$$
(6.6.11)

Now we perform the conformal change (3.14.1) with F = 1, C = 0, and $\Omega = \phi$ of the orthonormal one-form basis:

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\vartheta}^{\alpha} = \phi \vartheta^{\alpha}. \tag{6.6.12}$$

⁷⁶ In the paper [190] there are minor algebraic slips (see Assad and Letelier [16]) which, however, do not touch the main conclusions of the paper.

According to (3.14.6) and (3.14.3) we obtain for the rescaled torsion

$$\widetilde{T}^{\alpha} = \phi \left(T^{\alpha} - \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \frac{D\phi}{\phi} \right) = 0, \tag{6.6.13}$$

whereas the curvature remains invariant. Therefore, in both cases nonmetricity and torsion are almost of the pure gauge type, cf. also [56], and can locally made to vanish by a conformal change of metric and/or coframe. Globally, however, such solutions may still have crucial imprints on cosmology and galaxy formation, see the next section.

For the full dynamically coupled Brans-Dicke type model (6.6.3), the energy-momentum threeform

$$\Sigma(\phi)_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} [D\phi \wedge (e_{\alpha}]^* D\phi) + (e_{\alpha}] D\phi) \wedge ^* D\phi] - U(\phi)\eta_{\alpha}$$
(6.6.14)

of the scalar field ϕ , for instance, has to be taken into account. Then, in contrast to the procedures of Smalley and Germán, the scalar field ϕ is determined dynamically by the field equation (6.6.6), see also [287].

In order to symplify the dynamics, we may reparametrize the Brans-Dicke scalar ϕ according to $\phi^2 = \chi(1 + |\xi|\varphi^2)/l^{n-2}$ and apply a conformal change of the metric and of the scalar field ϕ following (6.2.1). Since the covariant exterior derivative transforms according to (6.2.3), this implies for the reparametrized field φ the conformal relations

$$\tilde{g} = \Omega^L g = (1 + |\xi|\varphi^2)^{2/(n-2)}g, \qquad \tilde{D}\tilde{\varphi} = \Omega^{(2-n)L/4}D\varphi.$$
(6.6.15)

Then, using (6.1.5) and (3.14.3), the inflationary Lagrangian (6.6.3) for $\sigma = 0$ can be rewritten in terms of the conformally related structures as

$$L_{\text{infl}} = -\frac{1}{2l^{n-2}} \widetilde{R}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge \widetilde{\eta}_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} + \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{D} \widetilde{\varphi} \wedge \widetilde{\widetilde{P}} \widetilde{D} \widetilde{\varphi} - W(\varphi) \widetilde{\eta}, \qquad (6.6.16)$$

where the new selfinteraction is implicitly given by $W(\varphi) = U(\varphi)(1 + |\xi|\varphi^2)^{-n/(n-2)}$. Hence the transformations (6.6.15) map the original Brans-Dicke type Lagrangian (6.6.3) into the Einstein-Klein-Gordon Lagrangian (6.6.16). The same is true for the corresponding field equations. For a suitable quartic Higgs type potential $U(\varphi)$, we simply obtain $W(\varphi) = A_{\text{eff.}}$, i.e. a minimally coupled Einstein-Klein-Gordon Lagrangian with cosmological term $A_{\text{eff.}}$, and vice versa. In Riemannian spacetime, the transformations (6.6.15) still hold and, due to $D\varphi = d\varphi$, we recover the (restricted) Wagoner-Bekenstein-Starobinsky transformation, see [44,703,335], generalized here to n dimensions:

$$\widetilde{D}\widetilde{\varphi} =: d\theta \quad \Rightarrow \quad \theta = \int \Omega^{(2-n)L/4} d\varphi = (1/\sqrt{|\xi|}) \operatorname{Arsinh}(\sqrt{|\xi|}\varphi). \tag{6.6.17}$$

If we put $\varphi = C/r$, we obtain a similar structure as in the exact scalar solution of Baekler et al. [28]. According to our preliminary analysis, such solutions *bifurcate* with respect to the vanishing and the non-vanishing of the parameter $A_{\text{eff.}}$.

Albanese and de Ritis [6] used this procedure for the derivation of a de Sitter type solution of an Einstein-Cartan Lagrangian coupled to a scalar field with asymptotic constant scalar field and damped torsion, cf.[668]. The inflationary solution of Kao [333] starts from (6.6.3) in a Weyl spacetime and breaks the symmetry via the pure gauge solution (6.6.9) to a (Riemannian) de Sitter spacetime.

111

An exponential potential [731], such as $W(\theta) \sim \exp \theta$, may, for instance, result from extra dimensions after a Kaluza-Klein reduction of a higher-dimensional Einstein-Cartan Lagrangian with torsion, cf. [447, p.146] and [222]. For such an exponential dependence there exists an exact solution [575] with an asymptotic expansion factor

$$a(t) \sim t^{4/(n-1)} \quad \text{for small } t$$

$$\sim t^{2/(n-1)} \quad \text{for large } t. \tag{6.6.18}$$

Thus, for $1 < n \le 4$, we obtain a *power-law* inflation. The $t^{2/3}$ behavior indicates a "graceful exit" to a matter-dominated universe. Potentials which induce inflation are classified by Barrow [37]. For a (conformally) flat universe there exists now a formal solution in terms of the Hubble parameter as a new time coordinate, from which the inflaton potential $W(\varphi)$ with an almost flat or scale-invariant COBE spectrum can be reconstructed, cf. [611,381,460]. There exists also attempts [688,689] (see also Minkevich [463]) to derive cosmological solutions in the quadratic MAG. After the inflationary period, the previously existent shear and dilation currents die out, and the final fate of the model consists in a rudimentary Poincaré gauge invariance. In such a scenario the transition from metricaffine gravity to Poincaré gauge gravity is achieved by exploiting the similarity between the Weyl vector solution (6.6.9) and the vector torsion solution (6.6.11) via the ansatz $T^{\alpha} = (1/2)Q \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha}$. After the inflationary period, the condensation of such primordial scalar fields may give rise to absolutely stable *boson stars* [459,379,380,610] as possible contributions to the hypothetical *dark matter*.

6.7. Cosmic strings with non-trivial Weyl vector or with torsion?

The breaking of local scale (or dilation) invariance is intimately connected with a quantumtheoretical groundstate configuration which violates parity and has asymptotically the structure of a Weyl vector vortex (6.4.7), i.e.,

$$\sigma \simeq \langle \sigma \rangle, \qquad D\sigma \simeq 0.$$
 (6.7.1)

After the expansion of the universe, these relics of the dilaton field may give rise to "cosmic strings" (see, e.g., the instructive review of Straumann [659]), which at times are advocated for the explanation of apparent double quasars. In the outside region of this stringlike vortex configuration, which comes about by "freezing in" classical Riemannian gravity, we find from the requirement (6.4.7) of a covariant constant dilaton field, because of (6.2.2), that

$$\Gamma \simeq \frac{1}{\omega_{\sigma}} d\ln \sigma \quad \Rightarrow \quad Q \simeq \frac{2}{n} \left(\frac{1}{\omega_{\sigma}} d\ln \sigma - d\ln \sqrt{\det |g_{\alpha\beta}|} \right). \tag{6.7.2}$$

This is the analog of the Meissner-Ochsenfeld effect, or the Nielsen-Olesen vortex solution [518] in a Weyl spacetime, cf. [287], the corresponding dilational field strength dQ is expelled from the "superconducting" gravitational "ether", inasmuch as the trace of the connection is a pure gauge field.

However, for cosmological solutions on spacetime manifolds which are not simply connected (i.e., which have non-trivial Betti numbers) a non-trivial winding number⁷⁷

⁷⁷ A non-trivial winding number for the trace part of the torsion, in an Y_4 , has been taken into consideration by Gregorash and Papini [240]. Moreover, the torsion kinks of PG theories with scalar field coupling may be of interest in this respect [28].

F.W. Hehl et al. / Physics Reports 258 (1995) 1-171

$$N_Q := \frac{n\omega_{\sigma}}{4\pi} \int_{c_2} dQ = \frac{n\omega_{\sigma}}{4\pi} \oint_{\partial c_2 \to 0} Q = \frac{1}{2\pi} \oint_{\partial c_2 \to 0} \left(d\ln \sigma - \omega_{\sigma} d\ln \sqrt{\det |g_{\alpha\beta}|} \right)$$
(6.7.3)

may arise $(c_2$ denotes a two-dimensional space-like hypersurface, i.e. a two-cycle with boundary ∂c_2). For example, this is the case in the *conical* metric of the Vilenkin string [701] for which $d \ln(\det |g_{\alpha\beta}|)^{1/2} = d \ln r$ except for the singularity at the location r = 0 of the string. Moreover, a further contribution would occur, if σ is not single-valued for a loop ∂c_2 enclosing the "singularity" line of the string. This is typically the case for a functional behavior of the scalar field such as

$$\sigma = e^{\pm \arcsin(|\mathbf{x}|)}.\tag{6.7.4}$$

Other examples of manifolds with a non-trivial global topology are "wormholes"

$$M^n = I\!\!R \times S^1 \times S^{n-2}, \tag{6.7.5}$$

and a "torus universe"

$$M^{T} = I\!\!R \times \underbrace{S^{1} \times \cdots \times S^{1}}_{(n-1) \text{ factors}}.$$
(6.7.6)

The idea to consider the gravitational analogue of the Meissner effect and to allow Abrikosov vortices in spacetime, has been developed by Hanson and Regge [257]. However, their example of a "torsion vortex" constructed via a conformal change of the metric should apply to a Weyl geometry, rather than to a Riemann-Cartan spacetime.

The pure gauge solution (6.6.9) of the conformally invariant Brans-Dicke type model (6.6.3) formally had the structure (6.7.2) which could yield a non-trivial "Weyl charge" N_Q .

When we solve the same model alternatively for the torsion, we obtain (6.6.11). Although the torsion is of the pure gauge type, i.e.

$$T^{\alpha} = \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \frac{D\phi}{\phi}, \tag{6.7.7}$$

the translational Chern-Simons term does not yield a topological charge, but vanishes globally:

$$C_{\rm TT} = \frac{1}{2l^2} \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge T_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2l^2} \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge \frac{D\phi}{\phi} \equiv 0.$$
(6.7.8)

However, the torsion one-form

$$T := e_{\alpha} \rfloor T^{\alpha} = (n-1) \frac{D\phi}{\phi} = (n-1) \left(d \ln \phi - \omega_{\phi} d \ln \sqrt{\det |g_{\alpha\beta}|} \right)$$
(6.7.9)

would lead to the topological "torsion charge"

$$N_T := \frac{1}{2\pi(n-1)} \oint_{\partial c_2 \to 0} T = \frac{1}{2\pi} \oint_{\partial c_2 \to 0} \left(d \ln \phi - \omega_{\phi} d \ln \sqrt{\det |g_{\alpha\beta}|} \right) = N_Q, \tag{6.7.10}$$

which becomes identical to the "Weyl charge" for $\phi = \sigma$. Torsion solutions of the type (6.7.9) are considered [30] in the conical background of the Vilenkin cosmic string, see also [722] and [678] and, in [568], some speculative aspects of charge quantization in the Weinberg-Salam model coupled to the Weyl spacetime are discussed.

Acknowledgments

This paper was only made possible through substantial support of the German-Israeli Foundation for Scientific Research and Development (GIF), Jerusalem and Munich.

Different people helped us at various stages of the writing up of the paper. We are most grateful to all of them. Yuri Obukhov (Moscow/Cologne) read very carefully a preliminary version of our article and came up with numerous suggestions. Djordje Šijački (Belgrade) as well as Tom Laffey (Dublin) and Jürgen Lemke (Cologne/Austin) were of great help in group-theoretical questions. Jörg Hennig (Clausthal) advised us on bundles, Norbert Straumann (Zürich) on densities, Ralf Hecht (Cologne/Chung-Li) on energy complexes, Horst Konzen (Cologne) checked some of the algebra, Romulado Tresguerres (Madrid/Cologne) contributed to our understanding of conformal transformations, and Franz Schunck (Cologne) developed some cosmological models. C.Y. Lee (Seoul) shared with us his quantization experience and J. Godfrey (then Tel Aviv) his kowledge of projective geometry.

And last but not least, Dietrich Stauffer (Cologne/Antigonish) promoted this project generously by his leave of absence from Cologne, paid by the Canada Council. One of us (Y.N.) was Fall 1993 Joint Royal Society/Israel Academy of Sciences and Humanities Research Professor and would like to thank Prof. D. Lynden-Bell and the University of Cambridge Institute of Astronomy for hospitality during the final stages of this work.

We would like to thank Carl Brans (New Orleans) for a critical evaluation of our article and for many suggestions which helped us to improve its content.

Appendix A. Differential geometric formalism

Some differential geometric formalism which we are using in the body of our article is collected here. There exists a detailed mathematical literature on these structures. We found Choquet-Bruhat et al. [121], Loomis and Sternberg [402], Schouten [606], and Trautman [686] particularly useful. In theoretical physics, Sexl and Urbantke [617] and Thirring [674] are highly informative and stimulating, see also the 'evergreen' [607] of Schrödinger.

A.1. Exterior calculus on the 'bare' manifold M_n

We assume a connected *n*-dimensional differential manifold M_n as the underlying structure. A vector basis e_{α} of its tangent space $T_P(M_n)$ is dual to the one-form basis ϑ^{β} of the cotangent space $T_P^*(M_n)$. On the manifold there acts the group of diffeomorphisms Diff(n, R) and in the (co)tangent space the general linear group GL(n, R). The geometric objects will be characterized by their transformation behavior under these two groups.

A.1.1. Geometric objects

Group representations with infinite many components have been separately discussed in section 4, those with a finite number are listed here. Under a non-degenerate, differentiable coordinate transformation $x^i \rightarrow x'^i(x^j)$ with $J_i^{\ j} := \partial x^j / \partial x'^i$ (passive diffeomorphism) and under the GL(n, R)-frame transformation $e_{\alpha} \rightarrow e'_{\alpha} = A_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} e_{\beta}$ (deformation) with the respective Jacobians

$$J := \det\left(\frac{\partial x^{j}}{\partial x^{\prime i}}\right) = \det(J_{i}^{j}), \qquad \Lambda := \det(\Lambda_{\alpha}^{\beta}), \tag{A.1.1}$$

the components $\Psi_{i_1\cdots i_p}^{k \alpha_1\cdots \alpha_p} \beta_1\cdots \beta_r$ of a *p*-form/vector density transform as

$$\Psi_{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}^{\prime}{}^{k\,\alpha_{1}\cdots\alpha_{\mu}}{}_{\beta_{1}\cdots\beta_{\nu}} = (\operatorname{sgn} J)^{p} (\operatorname{sgn} \Lambda)^{\pi} |J|^{w} |\Lambda|^{\omega} \frac{\partial x^{j_{1}}}{\partial x^{i_{1}}} \cdots \frac{\partial x^{j_{p}}}{\partial x^{i_{p}}} \frac{\partial x^{\prime k}}{\partial x^{l}} \times (\Lambda^{-1})_{\gamma_{1}}{}^{\alpha_{1}} \cdots (\Lambda^{-1})_{\gamma_{\mu}}{}^{\alpha_{\mu}} A_{\beta_{1}}{}^{\delta_{1}} \cdots A_{\beta_{\nu}}{}^{\delta_{\nu}} \Psi_{j_{1}\cdots j_{p}}{}^{l} \gamma_{1}\cdots\gamma_{\mu}{}_{\delta_{1}\cdots\delta_{\nu}}.$$
(A.1.2)

We assume that Ψ is totally antisymmetric in its lower coordinate indices: $\Psi_{i_1\cdots i_p}\cdots \equiv \Psi_{1i_1\cdots i_p1}\cdots$. Furthermore, we have $P, \pi \in \{0, 1\}$ and $\omega, w \in R$. If P = 1 and/or $\pi = 1$, we speak of a holonomically and/or an anholonomically odd parity of Ψ . If $w \neq 0$ and/or $\omega \neq 0$, we call Ψ a holonomic and/or an anholonomic density of weight w and/or ω , respectively. We shall be primarily concerned with the following type of quantities:

- (i) Tensor-valued p-forms⁷⁸ of representation type $\rho = {\mu \choose k}$ (with k = 0 and $P = \pi = \omega = w = 0$).
- (ii) Vectors (with $p = \mu = \nu = 0$ and $P = \pi = \omega = w = 0$).
- (iii) Scalar densities of anholonomic weight ω (with $p = k = \mu = \nu = 0$ and $P = \pi = w = 0$).
- (iv) Connection one-forms with values in the adjoint representation of GL(n, R). In this case an inhomogeneous term has to be added in (A.1.2), exactly as in (3.2.8).
- (v) Manifields which have infinitly many components and thus are *not* covered by (A.1.2). They will be introduced in section 4.

The transformation formula (A.1.2) is conventionally used in the literature, see [606,692]. However, group theoretically one would approach the transformation of geometrical objects from a slightly different angle. The group of diffeomorphisms Diff(n, R) and the linear group GL(n, R) are decomposable groups, i.e., they split into the *direct product* of the Abelian subgroups $R' = \{J\}$ and $R = \{A\}$, respectively, and the special groups with determinant plus one:

$$J_i^{\ j} = J \ \tilde{J}_i^{\ j} \in \text{Diff}(n, R) = R' \times -\text{SDiff}(n, R),$$

$$A_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = A \check{A}_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \in GL(n, R) = R \times SL(n, R).$$
 (A.1.3)

In view of the formula det $M = e^{irM}$, we distinguish the elements of the special groups with a 'check' from those of the general groups. Therefore (A.1.2) can be understood as a product representation, i.e., as a tensor representation of the special groups times a representation of R^+ with arbitrary weight times the sign of the relevant determinants:

$$\Psi_{i_{1}\cdots i_{p}}^{i}{}^{k\alpha_{1}\cdots\alpha_{\mu}}{}_{\beta_{1}\cdots\beta_{r}} = (\operatorname{sgn} J)^{P+p} (\operatorname{sgn} A)^{\pi+\mu-\nu} |J|^{w+p} |A|^{\omega+\mu-\nu} \times \check{J}_{i_{1}}{}^{j_{1}}\cdots\check{J}_{i_{p}}{}^{j_{p}} (\check{J}^{-1})_{i}^{k} (\check{A}^{-1})_{\gamma_{1}}{}^{\alpha_{1}}\cdots(\check{A}^{-1})_{\gamma_{\mu}}{}^{\alpha_{\mu}} \times \check{A}_{\beta_{1}}{}^{\delta_{1}}\cdots\check{A}_{\beta_{r}}{}^{\delta_{\nu}} \Psi_{j_{1}\cdots j_{p}}{}^{i\gamma_{1}\cdots\gamma_{\mu}}{}_{\delta_{1}\cdots\delta_{\nu}},$$
(A.1.4)

Observe that thereby the weights and parities, as defined in (A.1.2), get shifted. Clearly, both points of view are possible, but the latter one is more natural if seen from the theory of group representations.

⁷⁸ For capital P = 1 we have odd (or twisted) differential forms à la de Rham [572], see also [69,95]. They are necessary for integration on nonorientable manifolds, which is not possible with ordinary (even) forms with P = 0. Note that the de Rham *p*-currents Ψ are in general distribution-valued, i.e. defined only for test (n - p)-forms Ψ of compact support via the integral $\rho(\Psi) := \int_{M_c} \rho \wedge \Psi$.

A.1.2. Exterior multiplication

With the *p*-forms, for $p = 0, \dots, n$, we can build up the graded exterior algebra of forms. A *p*-form Ψ can be expanded with respect to its anholonomic components according to

$$\Psi = \frac{1}{p!} \Psi_{\beta_1 \cdots \beta_p} \,\vartheta^{\beta_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{\beta_p} \,. \tag{A.1.5}$$

The exterior multiplication \wedge has the following properties:

(i)
$$(\Phi + \Psi) \wedge \Pi = \Phi \wedge \Pi + \Psi \wedge \Pi,$$

(ii) $(a\Phi) \wedge \Pi = \Phi \wedge (a\Pi) = a(\Phi \wedge \Pi),$
(iii) $(\Phi \wedge \Pi) \wedge \Xi = \Phi \wedge (\Pi \wedge \Xi),$
(iv) $\Phi \wedge \Pi = (-1)^{pq} (\Pi \wedge \Phi),$ (A.1.6)

where Φ and Ψ are *p*-forms, Π is a *q*-form, Ξ an *r*-form, and *a* a factor.

A.1.3. Interior multiplication

If, in addition, vectors $u, v, w \cdots$ are available, we can define a (metric independent!) interior multiplication \rfloor of a vector with a p-form. For a zero-form f we have $u \rfloor f = 0$. The further properties of \rfloor are:

(i)
$$v \rfloor (\Phi + \Psi) = v \rfloor \Phi + v \rfloor \Psi$$
,

(ii)
$$(v+u) \rfloor \Phi = v \rfloor \Phi + u \rfloor \Phi$$
,

(iii)
$$(av) \rfloor \Phi = a(v \rfloor \Phi),$$

(iv)
$$v \rfloor u \rfloor \Phi = -u \rfloor v \rfloor \Phi,$$

(v) $v \rfloor (\Phi \land \Pi) = (v \rfloor \Phi) \land \Pi + (-1)^p \Phi \land (v \rfloor \Pi).$ (A.1.7)

where Φ and Ψ are *p*-forms, Π is a *q*-form, *v* and *u* vectors, and *a* a factor.

The 'duality' of frame and coframe implies

$$e_{\alpha} \big] \vartheta^{\beta} = \vartheta^{\beta}(e_{\alpha}) = \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha}. \tag{A.1.8}$$

Hence, for

$$\Psi = \frac{1}{p!} \Psi_{\alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_p} \vartheta^{\alpha_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha_p}, \tag{A.1.9}$$

the application of the interior product with the properties listed above yields

$$e_{\beta} \rfloor \Psi = \frac{1}{(p-1)!} \Psi_{\beta \alpha_{2} \cdots \alpha_{p}} \vartheta^{\alpha_{2}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha_{p}}.$$
(A.1.10)

A.1.4. Volume elements and orientation

The nonzero elements of an arbitrary n-form

$$\overline{\eta} = \frac{1}{n!} \overline{\eta}_{\alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_n} \vartheta^{\alpha_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha_n} = \overline{\eta}_{\hat{1} \cdots \hat{n}} \vartheta^{\hat{1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{\hat{n}}$$
(A.1.11)

are called volume elements. We put a hat on numbers which represent anholononic indices. A linear transformation (3.4.5) of the frame yields

$$\vartheta^{i\hat{1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{i\hat{n}} = A^{-1} \vartheta^{\hat{1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{\hat{n}}.$$
(A.1.12)

Since $\overline{\eta}$ in (A.1.11) remains invariant, its components transform according to

$$\overline{\eta}_{1\dots\hat{n}}' = A\overline{\eta}_{1\dots\hat{n}},\tag{A.1.13}$$

The manifold is orientable, if there exists a nowhere vanishing *n*-form. An orientation is defined by choosing a definite volume element $\overline{\eta}$. If a basis e_{α} is given with a cobasis ϑ^{β} , then $\overline{\eta}$ is expressible as

$$\overline{\eta} = f \,\vartheta^{\hat{1}} \wedge \dots \wedge \vartheta^{\hat{n}} \,. \tag{A.1.14}$$

The basis is said to be positively oriented if f > 0.

A.1.5. Levi-Civita n-form density

The Levi-Civita *n*-form density ϵ with weight $\omega = -1$ and odd π -parity transforms as follows:

$$\epsilon' = (1/A)\epsilon = (\operatorname{sgn} A)^{-1}|A|^{-1}\epsilon.$$
(A.1.15)

In terms of its components we have

$$\epsilon' = \frac{1}{n!} \epsilon'_{\alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_n} \vartheta'^{\alpha_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta'^{\alpha_n} = \epsilon'_{\hat{1} \cdots \hat{n}} \vartheta'^{\hat{1}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta'^{\hat{n}}$$
(A.1.16)

and an analogous relation for the unprimed components. We substitute these decompositions into (A.1.15) and take care of (A.1.12), then the components of ϵ turn out to be invariant

$$\boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\hat{1}\cdots\hat{n}}^{\prime} = \boldsymbol{\epsilon}_{\hat{1}\cdots\hat{n}}^{\prime} \tag{A.1.17}$$

In other words, the transformation law (A.1.15) of the Levi-Civita density is prescribed such that its components do *not* change under frame transformations. This property of the Levi-Civita density is only shared by the Kronecker δ_{α}^{β} , a zero-form of type $\binom{1}{i}$. We normalize (A.1.17) according to

$$\epsilon_{\hat{1}\cdots\hat{n}} = +1$$
 (in spacetime $\epsilon_{\hat{0}\cdots(\hat{n}-\hat{1})} = +1$). (A.1.18)

By executing successively the interior product on ϵ , another representation of the bases is induced which span the graded algebra of exterior form densities on each $T^*(M_n)$:

$$\epsilon_{\alpha_{1}} := e_{\alpha_{1}} \rfloor \epsilon = \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \epsilon_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}\cdots\alpha_{n}} \vartheta^{\alpha_{2}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha_{n}},$$

$$\epsilon_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}} := e_{\alpha_{2}} \rfloor \epsilon_{\alpha_{1}} = \frac{1}{(n-2)!} \epsilon_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}\alpha_{3}\cdots\alpha_{n}} \vartheta^{\alpha_{3}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha_{n}},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\epsilon_{\alpha_{1}\cdots\alpha_{n}} = e_{\alpha_{n}} \rfloor \cdots] e_{\alpha_{1}}] \epsilon. \qquad (A.1.19)$$

This so-called ϵ -basis can be used to define a metric independent duality operation.

The exterior product of the coframe with the ϵ -basis satisfy the following relations:

$$\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge \epsilon_{\alpha_{1}} = \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha_{1}} \epsilon,
\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge \epsilon_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}} = -\delta^{\beta}_{\alpha_{1}} \epsilon_{\alpha_{2}} + \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha_{2}} \epsilon_{\alpha_{1}},
\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge \epsilon_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}\alpha_{3}} = \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha_{1}} \epsilon_{\alpha_{2}\alpha_{3}} - \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha_{2}} \epsilon_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{3}} + \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha_{3}} \epsilon_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}},
\vdots
\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge \epsilon_{\alpha_{1}\cdots\alpha_{n}} = (-1)^{n-1} \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha_{1}} \epsilon_{\alpha_{2}\cdots\alpha_{n}} + (-1)^{n-2} \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha_{2}} \epsilon_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{3}\cdots\alpha_{n}} \cdots + \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha_{n}} \epsilon_{\alpha_{1}\cdots\alpha_{n-1}}.$$
(A.1.20)

A.1.6. Equivalence of a two-form Φ_{α} and an antisymmetric one-form $\Pi_{\alpha\beta}$

We expand these forms with respect to their holonomic components:

$$\Phi_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} \Phi_{ij\alpha} \, dx^i \wedge dx^j, \qquad \Pi_{\alpha\beta} = \Pi_{i\alpha\beta} \, dx^i. \tag{A.1.21}$$

Since the number $n^2(n-1)/2$ of independent components of Φ_{α} and $\Pi_{\alpha\beta} = -\Pi_{\beta\alpha}$ is equal, we can make the ansatz

$$\Phi_{\alpha} = \Pi_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}. \tag{A.1.22}$$

By repeated contraction of Φ_{α} by means of the frame e_{β} , we find the reciprocal of this formula:

$$\Pi_{\alpha\beta} = e_{\{\alpha\}} \Phi_{\beta\}} - \frac{1}{2} (e_{\alpha}] e_{\beta} \Phi_{\gamma} \vartheta^{\gamma} = \frac{1}{2} (e_{\{\gamma\}} e_{\alpha}] \Phi_{\beta\}} \vartheta^{\gamma}.$$
(A.1.23)

Here we introduced, as convenient abbrevation, the Schouten braces according to

$$\{\alpha\beta\gamma\} := \alpha\beta\gamma - \beta\gamma\alpha + \gamma\alpha\beta. \tag{A.1.24}$$

Torsion $T_{\alpha} = g_{\alpha\beta} T^{\beta}$ and contortion $K_{\alpha\beta}$ are an example of such equivalent forms.

A.1.7. Equivalence of an (n-2)-form μ^{α} and an antisymmetric (n-1)-form $\tau^{\alpha\beta}$

The arguments with respect to the number of independent components of the last subsection translate, mutatis mutandis, to the forms μ^a and $\tau^{\alpha\beta} = -\tau^{\beta\alpha}$. With

$$\tau^{\alpha\beta} = \vartheta^{[\alpha} \wedge \mu^{\beta]} = -\tau^{\beta\alpha}, \tag{A.1.25}$$

we can interrelate both forms. Again we contract twice with the frame and find

$$\mu^{\alpha} = -2e_{\beta} [\tau^{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2} \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge (e_{\beta}] e_{\gamma}] \tau^{\beta\gamma}).$$
(A.1.26)

The spin current and the spin-energy potential are an example of such two equivalent quantities.

A.1.8. Expressing a one-form $\Psi_{\alpha\beta}$ in terms of a two-form Φ_{α}

Let us consider a one-form $\Psi_{\alpha\beta}$ which is related to a vector-valued two-form Φ_{α} via

$$\Psi_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta} = \Phi_{\alpha}. \tag{A.1.27}$$

We will resolve this equation with respect to $\Psi_{\alpha\beta}$.

Note that $\Psi_{\alpha\beta}$, in contrast to $\Pi_{\alpha\beta}$ in (A.1.22), carries no symmetries. Then from counting the components it is immediately clear that $\Psi_{\alpha\beta}$ has $n^2(n-1)/2$ components, exactly the same number

as the two-form Φ_{α} . Since $\Psi_{(\alpha\beta)} \neq 0$ in general, this piece of Ψ will enter the formulae in its own right.

By repeated interior multiplication of (A.1.27) with e_{α} we find as an intermediate step

$$e_{\delta} [\Psi_{\alpha\gamma} - e_{\gamma}] \Psi_{\alpha\delta} = e_{\gamma} [e_{\delta}] \Phi_{\alpha}. \tag{A.1.28}$$

In order to obtain a partial solution for the antisymmetric part of $\Psi_{\alpha\beta}$, we apply again the Schouten braces of (A.1.24). Thereby we find

$$\Psi_{[\alpha\beta]} = e_{[\alpha]} [\Phi_{\beta]} - \frac{1}{2} (e_{\alpha}] e_{\beta}]\Phi_{\gamma})\vartheta^{\gamma} + (e_{\beta}] \Psi_{(\alpha\gamma)} - e_{\alpha}]\Psi_{(\beta\gamma)})\vartheta^{\gamma} = \frac{1}{2} (e_{\{\gamma\}} [e_{\alpha}] \Phi_{\beta\}})\vartheta^{\gamma} + (e_{\beta}] \Psi_{(\alpha\gamma)} - e_{\alpha}]\Psi_{(\beta\gamma)})\vartheta^{\gamma}.$$
(A.1.29)

By adding to (A.1.29) the symmetric part of $\Psi_{\alpha\beta}$ in the equivalent form

$$\Psi_{(\alpha\beta)} = (e_{\gamma}]\Psi_{(\alpha\beta)})\vartheta^{\gamma}, \tag{A.1.30}$$

we finally arrive, for n > 1, at the general formula

$$\Psi_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} (e_{\{\gamma\}} e_{\alpha}] \Phi_{\beta\}}) \vartheta^{\gamma} + (e_{\{\gamma\}} \Psi_{(\alpha\beta)\}}) \vartheta^{\gamma} = \frac{1}{2} e_{\{\gamma\}} (e_{\alpha}] \Phi_{\beta\}} + 2\Psi_{(\alpha\beta)\}}) \vartheta^{\gamma}.$$
(A.1.31)

For computer algebra programs [609,435,650], however, it is more time saving to evaluate the interior products as far as possible. Then we have the alternative formula

$$\Psi_{\alpha\beta} = e_{[\alpha]} \Phi_{\beta]} - \frac{1}{2} (e_{\alpha}] e_{\beta} \Phi_{\gamma} \vartheta^{\gamma} + \Psi_{(\alpha\beta)} + (e_{\beta}] \Psi_{(\alpha\gamma)} - e_{\alpha} \Psi_{(\beta\gamma)} \vartheta^{\gamma}.$$
(A.1.32)

A.1.9. A scalar density simulates the determinant of the metric

Clearly, if we prescribe a scalar density field with the weight $\omega = +1$ and odd π -parity, then it transforms as

$$\sigma' = (\operatorname{sgn} A)^{1} |A|^{1} \sigma, \tag{A.1.33}$$

and, in view of (A.1.15), the field

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}} := \boldsymbol{\epsilon}\boldsymbol{\sigma} \tag{A.1.34}$$

is a 'pure' *n*-form. Then, in analogy to (A.1.19), we can construct the 'pure' *p*-form basis

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}_{\alpha_{1}} := \boldsymbol{e}_{\alpha_{1}} \rfloor \tilde{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}} = \frac{1}{(n-1)!} \tilde{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}\cdots\alpha_{n}} \vartheta^{\alpha_{2}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha_{n}},$$

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}} := \boldsymbol{e}_{\alpha_{2}} \rfloor \tilde{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}_{\alpha_{1}} = \frac{1}{(n-2)!} \tilde{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}\alpha_{3}\cdots\alpha_{n}} \vartheta^{\alpha_{3}} \wedge \cdots \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha_{n}},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\tilde{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}_{\alpha_{1}\cdots\alpha_{n}} = \boldsymbol{e}_{\alpha_{n}} \rfloor \cdots] \boldsymbol{e}_{\alpha_{1}} \rfloor \tilde{\boldsymbol{\epsilon}}.$$
(A.1.35)

Thus by means of a suitably chosen scalar density field – in our applications in section 6 it is the dilaton field, see also [712,88,169,101] – we can devise the $\tilde{\epsilon}$ -basis and the corresponding duality operator without need of a metric, cf. [258]. And again we find formulae analogous to (A.1.20).

A.1.10. Exterior derivative

The exterior derivative maps a p-form into a (p + 1)-form. It has the following properties:

(i)	$d(\Psi+\Phi)=d\Psi+d\Phi,$	
(ii)	$d(\Psi \wedge \Pi) = d\Psi \wedge \Pi + (-1)^p \Psi \wedge d\Pi,$	
(iii)	df(v) = v(f)	
(iv)	$d(d\Psi)=0.$	(A.1.36)

Here Ψ and Φ are *p*-forms, Π a *q*-form, *f* a zero-form, and *v* a vector.

A.1.11. Lie derivative

The Lie derivative l_v of a scalar-valued *p*-form Φ with respect to a vector field *v* had been defined in (3.4.9). If *v* and *u* are vectors, Ψ and Φ *p*-forms, and Π a *q*-form, then the properties of the Lie derivative read as follows (cf. [265]):

(i)
$$l_v(\Psi + \Phi) = l_v\Psi + l_v\Phi,$$

(ii) $l_v(\Psi \wedge \Pi) = (l_v\Psi) \wedge \Pi + \Psi \wedge (l_v\Pi),$
(iii) $l_v(d\Psi) = d(l_v\Psi),$ (A.1.37)
(iv) $l_v(\Psi - l_v) = h_v + h_v \cdot \Psi$

$$(\mathbf{IV}) \qquad t_v t_u \Psi = t_u t_v \Psi + t_{[0,u]} \Psi,$$

$$(\mathbf{v}) \qquad u] l_v \Psi = l_v (u] \Psi) - [v, u]] \Psi.$$

For a tensor-valued form Π – we suppress the indices – one can take the Lie derivative operator \pounds_n of Ricci calculus [601] as a lead. Then one finds:

$$f_{v}\Pi = l_{v}\Pi - (e_{\beta}|l_{v}\vartheta^{\alpha}) \rho(L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta})\Pi.$$
(A.1.38)

This 'ordinary' Lie derivative we only use in the context of Killing symmetries, see (5.7.5) and (5.7.11). However, the gauge covariant Lie derivative of (3.5.13) has a much broader field of application.

A.2. Derivatives of the bases in a linearly connected manifold

If we determine the covariant exterior derivative of the ϵ -basis (A.1.19), we do need a linear connection $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ but no metric:

$$D\epsilon_{\alpha_1} = T^{\beta} \wedge \epsilon_{\alpha_1 \beta}, \qquad D\epsilon_{\alpha_1 \alpha_2} = T^{\beta} \wedge \epsilon_{\alpha_1 \alpha_2 \beta}, \qquad \dots, \qquad D\epsilon_{\alpha_1 \cdots \alpha_n} = 0.$$
(A.2.1)

For the scalar-modified $\tilde{\epsilon}$ -basis the computations run on the same track,

$$D\tilde{\epsilon}_{\alpha_{1}} = \frac{D\sigma}{\sigma} \wedge \tilde{\epsilon}_{\alpha_{1}} + T^{\beta} \wedge \tilde{\epsilon}_{\alpha_{1}\beta}, \qquad D\tilde{\epsilon}_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}} = \frac{D\sigma}{\sigma} \wedge \tilde{\epsilon}_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}} + T^{\beta} \wedge \tilde{\epsilon}_{\alpha_{1}\alpha_{2}\beta},$$

...,
$$D\tilde{\epsilon}_{\alpha_{1}\cdots\alpha_{n}} = \frac{D\sigma}{\sigma} \wedge \tilde{\epsilon}_{\alpha_{1}\cdots\alpha_{n}}, \qquad (A.2.2)$$

the advantage being that this basis is composed of pure forms. Eq. (A.2.2) should be compared with (3.10.14). Then, if a metric is given, it becomes evident that $\sigma = (\det |g_{\alpha\beta}|)^{1/2}$ and (A.2.2) thereby specializes to (3.8.5).

A.3. Euler four-form and generalized Bach-Lanczos identity

If we allow, in a metric-affine spacetime, the Lagrangian to involve also the dual with respect to the Lie algebra, we can extend the list of admissible boundary forms in section 3.9. In a fourdimensional Riemannian manifold, an important example is the integrand of the Gauss-Bonnet integral $\int R^{\alpha\beta} \wedge R^{(\star)}_{\alpha\beta} \sim \chi_{\text{Euler}}$. Since its integration over a closed manifold yields the *Euler number* as a topological characteristic, the integrand is also known as the Euler four-form. In a metric-affine spacetime the corresponding four-form⁷⁹ reads

$$B_{RR^{(*)}} = -\frac{1}{2}R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \wedge R_{\beta}^{(*)\alpha} = \frac{1}{4}\eta_{\beta}^{\ \alpha}{}_{\delta}^{\ \gamma}R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \wedge R_{\gamma}^{\ \delta}.$$
(A.3.1)

The Lie dual (\star) interchanges the Lie-algebra indices according to

$$\Gamma^{(\star)\beta}_{\alpha} := \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}{}_{\delta}{}^{\gamma} \Gamma_{\gamma}{}^{\delta}, \quad \eta_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}{}_{\delta}{}^{\gamma} = g^{\beta\mu} g^{\gamma\nu} \eta_{\alpha\mu\delta\nu}.$$

In (A.3.1), because of the action of the star, only the antisymmetric piece $R_{[\alpha\beta]}$ is left over of the curvature, whereas the symmetric piece $R_{(\alpha\beta)}$, which is so characteristic for the (L_4, g) , drops out. In the framework of the Riemann-Cartan spacetime and using orthonormal frames, we have $B_{RR^{(2)}} = dC_{RR^{(2)}}$ with

$$C_{RR^{(*)}} = \frac{1}{4} \eta^{a}{}_{\beta}{}^{\gamma}{}_{\delta} (R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge \Gamma_{\gamma}{}^{\delta} + \frac{1}{3} \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} \wedge \Gamma_{\gamma}{}^{\varepsilon} \wedge \Gamma_{\varepsilon}{}^{\delta}).$$
(A.3.2)

If we perform the variational derivative of $B_{RR^{(*)}}$ with respect to $\Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ and $g_{\alpha\beta}$ (there is no explicit dependence on ϑ^{α}) in the context of the general metric-affine geometry, we obtain

$$\delta B_{RR^{(*)}} / \delta \vartheta^{\alpha} = 0, \tag{A.3.3}$$

$$\delta B_{RR^{(*)}} / \delta g_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2} g^{\alpha\beta} R^{\mu\nu} \wedge R^{(*)}_{\mu\nu} - 2R^{(\alpha|\gamma} \wedge R^{(*)|\beta)}_{\gamma}, \qquad (A.3.4)$$

$$\delta B_{RR^{(*)}} / \delta \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = \frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\beta\gamma\delta} [(Q^{\alpha\mu} - 2Q g^{\alpha\mu}) \wedge R^{\gamma\delta} + g^{\alpha\mu} Q^{\gamma\lambda} \wedge R_{\lambda}{}^{\delta}].$$
(A.3.5)

Invariance of $B_{RR^{(1)}}$ under linear transformations of the frame leads to the 2nd Noether identity [280]

$$g_{\beta\gamma} \frac{\delta B_{RR^{(*)}}}{\delta g_{\alpha\gamma}} = D \left(\frac{\delta B_{RR^{(*)}}}{\delta \Gamma_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}} \right), \tag{A.3.6}$$

which we write out fully as

$$g^{\alpha\beta}R^{\mu\nu} \wedge R^{(\star)}_{\mu\nu} - 4R^{(\alpha^{\dagger}\gamma} \wedge R^{(\star)|\beta)}{}_{\gamma}$$

= $\eta_{\mu}{}^{\beta}{}_{\gamma\delta}[2R^{(\alpha\mu)} \wedge R^{\gamma\delta} + g^{\alpha\mu}(2R^{(\gamma\rho)} \wedge R_{\rho}{}^{\delta} - R \wedge R^{\gamma\delta})],$ (A.3.7)

where $R := R_{\gamma}^{\gamma}$.

This is the Bach-Lanczos identity of GR generalized to a metric-affine spacetime. In a Riemann-Cartan spacetime and in the Riemannian spacetime of GR the right-hand side of (A.3.7) vanishes and we obtain the familiar form of the Bach-Lanczos identity [21,384]. A derivation of this identity for GR by means of variations was given earlier by Ray [569], who used a similar Lagrangian but a much more involved argumentation (see also [20] and [429]).

⁷⁹ In five dimensions, the term $B_{RR^{(*)}} = \frac{1}{4} \eta^A{}_B{}^C{}_D R_A{}^B \wedge R_C{}^D$, with A, B, $\cdots = 0, \cdots, 4$ is the simplest Lagrangian in the SO(3,2) gauge model of gravity, see [234] and references given.

Appendix B. Irreducible decompositions

The irreducible decompositions of nonmetricity, torsion, curvature and Bianchi identities invariant under both, the general linear and the pseudo-orthogonal group, are presented here. For the decompositions with respect to the (pseudo)orthogonal group, see also [436].

B.1. Irreducible decomposition of nonmetricity

Since the nonmetricity is already a metric-dependent object, we can raise one index and split the nonmetricity $Q_{\alpha\beta}$ into its tracefree and trace parts, as is already done in (3.12.4),

$$Q_{\alpha\beta} = \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha\beta} + Q g_{\alpha\beta}, \tag{B.1.1}$$

where $\mathcal{Q}_{\gamma}{}^{\gamma} = g^{\gamma\beta} Q_{\gamma\beta} = 0$. The Weyl covector $Q = (1/n) Q_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha}$ cannot be reduced any further. Applying the Young diagram method to the components $\mathcal{Q}_{\gamma\alpha\beta} = e_{\gamma} | \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha\beta}$ together with forming traces yields three further irreducible pieces, provided n > 2. We may express the resulting decomposition in terms of exterior forms as follows: Let us define

$$A_{\alpha} := e^{\beta} \int \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad A := A_{\alpha} \,\vartheta^{\alpha},$$

$$\Theta_{\alpha} := {}^{*} (\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}), \qquad \Theta := \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \Theta_{\alpha}, \qquad \Omega_{\alpha} := \Theta_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{n-1} e_{\alpha} \int \Theta.$$
(B.1.2)

Then the irreducible decomposition of $Q_{\alpha\beta}$ invariant under the (pseudo)orthogonal group is given by ⁸⁰

$$Q_{\alpha\beta} = {}^{(1)}Q_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(2)}Q_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(3)}Q_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(4)}Q_{\alpha\beta},$$

$$= \text{TRINOM} + \text{BINOM} + \text{VECNOM} + \text{CONOM}.$$
(B.1.3)

$$\frac{1}{2}n^2(n+1) = \frac{1}{6}n(n-1)(n+4) + \frac{1}{3}n(n^2-4) + n + n,$$
(B.1.4)

where

$$^{(2)}Q_{\alpha\beta} = (-1)^{n-1+\ln(g)} \frac{2}{3} * (\vartheta_{(\alpha} \land \Omega_{\beta)}), \tag{B.1.5}$$

$$^{(3)}Q_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{2n}{(n-1)(n+2)} \left(\vartheta_{(\beta} \Lambda_{\alpha)} - \frac{1}{n} g_{\alpha\beta} \Lambda \right), \tag{B.1.6}$$

$$^{(4)}Q_{\alpha\beta} = g_{\alpha\beta}Q, \tag{B.1.7}$$

$${}^{(1)}Q_{\alpha\beta} = Q_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(2)}Q_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(3)}Q_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(4)}Q_{\alpha\beta}, \tag{B.1.8}$$

and $(-1)^{\ln(g)} = (\det g_{\alpha\beta})/|\det g_{\alpha\beta}|$. Note that, for any *p*-form Φ , double application of the Hodge star operator yields

$${}^{**} \Phi = (-1)^{p(n-p) + \ln d(g)} \Phi. \tag{B.1.9}$$

⁸⁰ In four dimensions, the components ${}^{(1)}Q_{\gamma\alpha\beta}$ have a spin content of maximal three ("TRI") etc.. These names are used in our computer programs [433,435,609,650,294] which automatize the irreducible decompositions inter alia.

п	$Q_{\alpha\beta}$	TRINOM	BINOM	VECNOM	CONOM
4	40	16	16	4	4
3	18	7	5	3	3
2	6	2	0	2	2
2	0	2	0	4	2

Irreducible decomposition of nonmetricity: Number of independent components in four, three, and two dimensions.

There are two types of vanishing traces

$${}^{(1)}Q_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha} = {}^{(2)}Q_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha} = {}^{(3)}Q_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha} = 0, \qquad e_{\beta} \rfloor {}^{(1)}Q^{\alpha\beta} = e_{\beta} \rfloor {}^{(2)}Q^{\alpha\beta} = 0, \tag{B.1.10}$$

whereas the Young symmetries of those parts for which both traces vanish read

$$\vartheta_{\beta} \wedge {}^{(1)} \mathcal{Q}^{\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad e_{(\alpha]} {}^{(2)} \mathcal{Q}_{\beta\gamma} = 0. \tag{B.1.11}$$

If we had started by applying the Young diagram procedure directly to the components $Q_{\gamma\alpha\beta} = e_{\gamma} [Q_{\alpha\beta}]$, two of the four irreducible pieces obtained would not have been canonical. They would have been arbitrary combinations of ${}^{(3)}Q_{\alpha\beta}$ and ${}^{(4)}Q_{\alpha\beta}$ above, while the other two pieces would have been ${}^{(1)}Q_{\alpha\beta}$ and ${}^{(2)}Q_{\alpha\beta}$ as in (B.1.8) and (B.1.5), see [278]. The initial splitting (B.1.1) with respect to the indices on the nonmetricity *one-form* has ensured that the four irreducible subspaces which we have obtained are uniquely defined (cf. also [684]).

The four irreducible components defined by (B.1.5)-(B.1.8) have an interesting "orthogonality" property. Suppose that for any two *r*th order tensor-valued *p*-forms $A_{\alpha_1...\alpha_r}$ and $B_{\alpha_1...\alpha_r}$ $(0 \le r \le n)$ we define a (pseudo)scalar product by

$$A \cdot B := {}^{*}(A_{\alpha_{1}\dots\alpha_{r}} \wedge {}^{*}B^{\alpha_{1}\dots\alpha_{r}}) . \tag{B.1.12}$$

It is clear that the scalar product so defined is symmetric, $A \cdot B = B \cdot A$, and it may be verified that

$${}^{(i)}Q \cdot {}^{(j)}Q \neq 0 \quad \text{for} \quad i=j; \qquad {}^{(i)}Q \cdot {}^{(j)}Q = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad i\neq j,$$
 (B.1.13)

so that

$$Q \cdot Q = \sum_{i=1}^{4} {}^{(i)}Q \cdot {}^{(i)}Q.$$
(B.1.14)

In two dimensions $\Omega_{\alpha} = 0$ and hence ${}^{(2)}Q_{\alpha\beta}$ drops out leaving three irreducible pieces. This is also clear from (B.1.5). Thus

$$Q_{\alpha\beta} = {}^{(1)}Q_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(3)}Q_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(4)}Q_{\alpha\beta}, \quad n = 2.$$
(B.1.15)

B.2. Irreducible decomposition of torsion

For n > 2, the torsion in an L_n has two irreducible pieces invariant under the general linear group,

$$T^{a} = {}^{(I)}T^{a} + {}^{(II)}T^{a}, \tag{B.2.1}$$

$$\frac{1}{2}n^2(n-1) = \frac{1}{2}(n-2)n(n+1) + n, \tag{B.2.2}$$

Table 2

n	Τ ^α	TENTOR	TRATOR	AXITOR
4	24	16	4	4
3	9	5	3	t
2	2	0	2	0

Irreducible decom	nosition of torsion.	Number of ind	enendent compo	onents in four	three and	two dimensions
incuacióne accom	position of wision.	Tramper of mo	spendent comp	onents in tout	unce, anu	two unnensions.

where

Table 3

$${}^{(II)}T^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{n-1} \,\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge T, \qquad {}^{(I)}T^{\alpha} = T^{\alpha} - {}^{(II)}T^{\alpha}, \tag{B.2.3}$$

and $T := e_{\alpha} | T^{\alpha}$ is the trace torsion one-form. In two dimensions, T^{α} is irreducible and of a pure vector type, cf. appendix B of [453]:

$$T^{\alpha} = {}^{(I)}T^{\alpha}. \tag{B.2.4}$$

In an (L_n, g) the torsion has the same algebraic structure, and hence the same irreducible decomposition with respect to the (pseudo)orthogonal group, as in a Riemann-Cartan spacetime (see [103,260,389,705,278] for the case of four dimensions). For n = 2, the torsion T^{α} is already irreducible and for n > 2 we may write its irreducible components as follows:

$$T^{\alpha} = {}^{(1)}T^{\alpha} + {}^{(2)}T^{\alpha} + {}^{(3)}T^{\alpha}$$

$$= \text{TENTOR} + \text{TRATOR} + \text{AXITOR},$$

$$\frac{1}{2}n^{2}(n-1) = \frac{1}{3}n(n^{2}-4) + n + \frac{1}{6}n(n-1)(n-2),$$
(B.2.5)

where

$$^{(2)}T^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{n-1} \,\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge (e_{\beta}]T^{\beta}) , \qquad (B.2.6)$$

$$^{(3)}T^{\alpha} = (-1)^{s} \frac{1}{3} * \{ \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge * (T^{\beta} \wedge \vartheta_{\beta}) \}, \qquad (B.2.7)$$

$${}^{(1)}T^{\alpha} = T^{\alpha} - {}^{(2)}T^{\alpha} - {}^{(3)}T^{\alpha}. \tag{B.2.8}$$

Again here, the irreducible pieces are canonical. They satisfy

$${}^{(1)}T^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta_{\alpha} = 0, \qquad e_{\alpha} \big| {}^{(1)}T^{\alpha} = 0,$$

$${}^{(2)}T^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta_{\alpha} = 0, \qquad e_{\alpha} \big| {}^{(3)}T^{\alpha} = 0.$$
(B.2.9)

In four dimensions the Hodge dual T^{α} of the torsion is also a two-form and a parallel decomposition of it is given by

$$^{*}T^{\alpha} = {}^{(1)*}T^{\alpha} + {}^{(2)*}T^{\alpha} + {}^{(3)*}T^{\alpha}, \qquad (B.2.10)$$

where ${}^{(i)} T^{\alpha}$ (i = 1, 2, 3) are defined by substituting T^{α} for T^{α} in (B.2.6)-(B.2.8). These are related to the irreducible pieces ${}^{(i)}T^{\alpha}$ of T^{α} by the relations 81

⁸¹ These relations, together with the corresponding ones (B.4.35) for the antisymmetric part of the curvature, were first pointed out by Hecht [265].

$${}^{(1)*}T^{\alpha} = {}^{*}{}^{(1)}T^{\alpha}, \qquad {}^{(2)*}T^{\alpha} = {}^{*}{}^{(3)}T^{\alpha}, \qquad {}^{(3)*}T^{\alpha} = {}^{*}{}^{(2)}T^{\alpha}. \tag{B.2.11}$$

For other dimensions, the most straightforward way to write the irreducible pieces of the Hodge dual is

$$^{*}T^{\alpha} = \sum_{i=1}^{3} {}^{(i)} {}^{*}T^{\alpha}, \qquad (B.2.12)$$

with $^{(i)} *T^{\alpha} = * {}^{(i)}T^{\alpha}$ (i = 1, 2, 3), a numbering which could equally have been used in four dimensions.

It may be verified that, with the scalar product as defined by (B.1.12), ${}^{(i)}T^{\alpha}$ (i = 1, 2, 3) satisfy an "orthogonality" property similar to that possessed by the nonmetricity,

$${}^{(i)}T \cdot {}^{(j)}T \neq 0 \quad \text{for} \quad i = j; \qquad {}^{(i)}T \cdot {}^{(j)}T = 0 \quad \text{for} \quad i \neq j,$$
 (B.2.13)

and hence

.

$$T \cdot T = \sum_{i=1}^{3} {}^{(i)}T \cdot {}^{(i)}T.$$
(B.2.14)

In four dimensions we can define another (pseudo)scalar product $\langle A, B \rangle$ for any two tensor-valued two-forms $A_{\alpha_1...\alpha_r}$ and $B_{\alpha_1...\alpha_r}$ by

$$\langle A, B \rangle := {}^{*} (A_{\alpha_{1} \dots \alpha_{r}} \wedge B^{\alpha_{1} \dots \alpha_{r}}) . \tag{B.2.15}$$

It follows from these definitions that it has the following properties:

$$\langle A, B \rangle = \langle A, B \rangle = A \cdot B,$$
 (B.2.16)

$${}^{*}A \cdot B = \langle {}^{*}A, {}^{*}B \rangle, \qquad A \cdot {}^{*}B = (-1)^{p + \ln(g)} \langle A, B \rangle,$$

$${}^{*}A \cdot {}^{*}B = (-1)^{p + \ln(g)} A \cdot B.$$
(B.2.17)

The "orthogonality" relations for the irreducible torsion components with respect to this additional scalar product take the form

$$\begin{cases} \langle {}^{(1)}T, {}^{(1)}T \rangle \neq 0, \\ \langle {}^{(2)}T, {}^{(3)}T \rangle = \langle {}^{(3)}T, {}^{(2)}T \rangle \neq 0, \\ \langle (i)T, {}^{(j)}T \rangle = 0 \text{ otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(B.2.18)

so that

$$\langle T, T \rangle = \langle {}^{(1)}T, {}^{(1)}T \rangle + 2 \langle {}^{(2)}T, {}^{(3)}T \rangle.$$
(B.2.19)

It should be noted however that the scalar product (B.2.15) is invariant only under (pseudo)orthogonal transformations of determinant +1.

B.3. Irreducible decomposition of curvature in an L_n

As a first step in deriving the irreducible decomposition of the curvature in an L_n , invariant under the general linear group, we can split the curvature two-form R_{α}^{β} into its trace and trace-free parts.

$$R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = R_{\alpha}^{\gamma} + (1/n)\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta}R, \quad R = R_{\gamma}^{\gamma}. \tag{B.3.1}$$

Let

$$U_{\alpha} := e_{\gamma} \int \mathcal{J}_{\alpha}^{\gamma, \gamma}, \qquad U_{\alpha}^{\beta} := \vartheta^{\beta} \wedge U_{\alpha}, \qquad U := U_{\gamma}^{\gamma}, \tag{B.3.2}$$

$$V^{\beta} := \vartheta^{\gamma} \land \mathbb{R}^{\beta}_{\gamma}, \qquad V_{\alpha}^{\beta} := e_{\alpha} \rfloor V^{\beta}, \qquad V := V_{\gamma}^{\gamma}.$$
(B.3.3)

be given. Then, the curvature decomposes as

$$R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = A_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + B_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + C_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + D_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + E_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}, \tag{B.3.4}$$

$$\frac{1}{2}n^{3}(n-1) = \frac{1}{3}n^{2}(n^{2}-4) + \frac{1}{6}n(n^{2}-1)(n-3) + \frac{1}{2}n(n+1) + \frac{1}{2}n(n-1) + \frac{1}{2}n(n-1),$$
(B.3.5)

where

$$B_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = \frac{1}{3}V_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} - \frac{1}{3(n-2)}e_{\alpha} \big] (V \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}), \qquad (B.3.6)$$

$$C_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = \frac{1}{n-1} [U_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} - \frac{1}{2} \vartheta^{\beta} \wedge (e_{\alpha}]U)], \qquad (\text{RICSYM}) \qquad (B.3.7)$$

$$D_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = \frac{1}{(n+1)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \vartheta^{\beta} \wedge (e_{\alpha}] U \right) + \frac{1}{n-2} e_{\alpha} \left[(V \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}) \right], \quad (\text{RICANTI})$$
(B.3.8)

$$E_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = (1/n)\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta}R, \qquad (\text{DILCURV}) \qquad (B.3.9)$$

$$A_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} - B_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} - C_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} - D_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} - E_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}.$$
(B.3.10)

The symmetries and trace properties are

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge A_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = 0, \qquad e_{\beta} \rfloor A_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = 0, \qquad A_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha} = 0, \tag{B.3.11}$$

$$B_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} - \frac{1}{3}e_{\alpha} \big] (\vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge B_{\gamma}{}^{\beta}) = 0, \qquad B_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha} = 0, \tag{B.3.12}$$

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge C_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = 0. \tag{B.3.13}$$

In the case n = 2, we have $A_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = B_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = D_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = 0$ and

$$R_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} = C_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} + E_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}$$
 for $n = 2$,
 $4 = 3 + 1$.
(B.3.14)

When n = 3 we have $B_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = 0$ and

$$R_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = A_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} + C_{\alpha}{}^{d} + D_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} + E_{\alpha}{}^{\beta},$$
(B.3.15)

$$27 = 15 + 6 + 3 + 3.$$

In four dimensions, we can define a symmetric (pseudo)scalar product for any gl(4, R)-valued two-forms $F_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$ and $G_{\alpha}{}^{\beta}$, taking values in the one-dimensional space of four-forms, by

$$F \bullet G := F_{\alpha}^{\ \beta} \wedge G_{\beta}^{\ \alpha}. \tag{B.3.16}$$

It is found that the products of the two-forms A, B, C, D, E defined by (B.3.6)-(B.3.10) are all zero except for $A \bullet A$, $B \bullet C$, $D \bullet D$ and $E \bullet E$, so that

$$R \bullet R = A \bullet A + 2B \bullet C + D \bullet D + E \bullet E.$$
(B.3.17)

B.4. Irreducible decomposition of curvature in an (L_n, g)

If we now pass on to an (L_n, g) , we may lower the second index on the curvature two-form and consider the irreducible decomposition of $R_{\alpha\beta}$ under the (pseudo)orthogonal group. The first step is to separate it into its antisymmetric and symmetric parts,

$$R_{\alpha\beta} = W_{\alpha\beta} + Z_{\alpha\beta}, \tag{B.4.1}$$

$$W_{\alpha\beta} = R_{[\alpha\beta]}, \qquad Z_{\alpha\beta} = R_{(\alpha\beta)}. \tag{B.4.2}$$

The irreducible decomposition of $W_{\alpha\beta}$ is the same as for the curvature of a Riemann-Cartan spacetime (see [278] for four dimensions). In two dimensions $W_{\alpha\beta}$ cannot be reduced any further, but for n > 2 we get

$$W^{\alpha\beta} = {}^{(1)}W^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(2)}W^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(3)}W^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(4)}W^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(5)}W^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(6)}W^{\alpha\beta}$$

= WEYL + PAIRCOM + PSCALAR + RICSYMF + RICANTI + SCALAR, (B.4.3)

$$\frac{1}{4}n^{2}(n-1)^{2} = \frac{1}{12}(n+2)(n+1)n(n-3) + \frac{1}{8}(n+2)n(n-1)(n-3) + \frac{1}{24}n(n-1)(n-2)(n-3) + \frac{1}{2}(n+2)(n-1) + \frac{1}{2}n(n-1) + 1, \quad (B.4.4)$$

where

$$^{(2)}W_{\alpha\beta} = (-1)^{s*} (\vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge \Psi_{\beta}), \tag{B.4.5}$$

$$^{(3)}W_{\alpha\beta} = (-1)^{s} \frac{1}{12} * (X \wedge \vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta_{\beta}), \tag{B.4.6}$$

$$^{(4)}W_{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{2}{n-2}\,\vartheta_{1\alpha}\wedge\varphi_{\beta1},\tag{B.4.7}$$

$$^{(5)}W_{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{1}{n-2}\,\vartheta_{1\alpha}\wedge e_{\beta1} \rfloor (\vartheta^{\alpha}\wedge W_{\alpha}), \qquad (B.4.8)$$

$$^{(6)}W_{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{1}{n(n-1)}W\,\vartheta_{\alpha}\wedge\vartheta_{\beta},\tag{B.4.9}$$

$$^{(1)}W_{\alpha\beta} = W_{\alpha\beta} - \sum_{n=2}^{6} {}^{(n)}W_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (B.4.10)$$

with

96 L ₄	96 (L_4, g)	42 Y ₄	36 U4	20 V4
	10 ⁻⁽¹⁾ W (WEYL)	10 ⁻⁽¹⁾ W	10 ⁽¹⁾ W	10 ⁻⁽¹⁾ W
	$9^{-(2)}W$ (PAIRCOM)	$9^{-(2)}W$	$9^{(2)}W$	-
	$1^{-(3)}W$ (PSCALAR)	$1^{-(3)}W$	(³⁾ W	-
10 C	$9^{-(4)}W$ (RICSYMF)	9 ⁽⁴⁾ W	9 ⁽⁴⁾ W	$9^{-(4)}W$
6 D	$6^{-(5)}W$ (RICANTI)	$6^{-(5)}W$	$6^{-(5)}W$	_
(10 C)→	1 ⁽⁶⁾ W (SCALAR)	1 ⁽⁶⁾ W	1 ⁽⁶⁾ W	1 ⁽⁶⁾ W
	$30^{-(1)}Z$	_	_	_
	$9^{-(2)}Z$	-	-	_
	$6^{-(3)}Z$	_	_	_
6 E	$6^{-(4)}Z$ (DILCURV)	$6^{(4)}Z$	_	_
	9 ⁽⁵⁾ Z		_	-

Irreducible decomposition of the curvature in four dimensions.

$$W^{\alpha} := e_{\beta} \rfloor W^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad W := e_{\alpha} \rfloor W^{\alpha}, \qquad X^{\alpha} :=^{*} (W^{\beta\alpha} \wedge \vartheta_{\beta}), \qquad X := e_{\alpha} \rfloor X^{\alpha}, \tag{B.4.11}$$

and

Table 4

$$\Psi_{\alpha} := X_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{4} \vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge X - \frac{1}{n-2} e_{\alpha} \big] (\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge X_{\beta}),$$

$$\Phi_{\alpha} := W_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{n} W \vartheta_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} e_{\alpha} \big] (\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge W_{\beta}).$$
(B.4.12)

The trace and symmetry properties of of the various irreducible components are summarized by

$$e^{\beta} \int {}^{(i)}W_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, 3; \qquad e^{\alpha} \int e^{\beta} \int {}^{(i)}W_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, 4, 5,$$
(B.4.13)

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge (e^{\beta}]^{(i)} W_{\alpha\beta}) = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, 4, 6,$$
 (B.4.14)

$$\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge {}^{(i)}W_{\alpha\beta} = 0 \quad i = 1, 4, 6; \qquad \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta} \wedge {}^{(i)}W_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, 4, 5, 6.$$
(B.4.15)

As indicated by (B.4.4), ${}^{(1)}W_{\alpha\beta}$, ${}^{(2)}W_{\alpha\beta}$, and ${}^{(3)}W_{\alpha\beta}$ are all vanishing when n = 3. In two dimensions, the single irreducible component is

$$W_{\alpha\beta} = {}^{(6)}W_{\alpha\beta}, \quad n = 2.$$
 (B.4.16)

Turning to the symmetric part $Z_{\alpha\beta}$ of the curvature two-form (cf. [684,287]), we first of all split it into a tracefree and a trace part,

$$Z_{\alpha\beta} = \mathbb{Z}_{\alpha\beta} + (1/n)g_{\alpha\beta}Z, \quad Z = Z_{\gamma}^{\gamma}, \tag{B.4.17}$$

so that $Z_{\gamma}^{\gamma} = 0$. In two dimensions no further reduction is possible. For n > 2, Z is still irreducible but $Z_{\alpha\beta}$ may be decomposed into further irreducible pieces. The full irreducible decomposition for $Z_{\alpha\beta}$ may be displayed as follows: Let

$$\mathbb{Z}_{\alpha} := e^{\beta} \mathbb{Z}_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad \Delta := \frac{1}{(n-2)} \left(\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \mathbb{Z}_{\alpha}^{n} \right), \qquad Y_{\alpha} := {}^{*} (\mathbb{Z}_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}), \qquad (B.4.18)$$

$$\Xi_{\alpha} \coloneqq Z_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2} e_{\alpha} \rfloor (\vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge Z_{\gamma}), \qquad T_{\alpha} \coloneqq Y_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{(n-2)} e_{\alpha} \rfloor (\vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge Y_{\gamma})$$
(B.4.19)

be given. Note that Ξ_{α} and T_{α} satisfy

$$e_{\alpha} \left[\Xi^{\alpha} = 0, \qquad \Xi_{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha} = 0, \qquad (B.4.20) \right]$$

$$e_{\alpha} | \mathcal{T}^{\alpha} \simeq 0, \qquad \mathcal{T}_{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha} = 0.$$
 (B.4.21)

The irreducible decomposition of $Z_{\alpha\beta}$ may then be written as

$$Z_{\alpha\beta} = {}^{(1)}Z_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(2)}Z_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(3)}Z_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(4)}Z_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(5)}Z_{\alpha\beta},$$

$$\frac{1}{4}n^2(n^2 - 1) = \frac{1}{8}(n - 2)(n + 4)(n^2 - 1) + \frac{1}{8}(n + 2)n(n - 1)(n - 3)$$
(B.4.22)

$$+\frac{1}{2}n(n-1)+\frac{1}{2}n(n-1)+\frac{1}{2}(n+2)(n-1), \qquad (B.4.23)$$

where

$$^{(2)}Z_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2}(-1)^{s} * \{\vartheta_{(\alpha} \wedge T_{\beta})\},$$
(B.4.24)

$$^{(3)}Z_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{(n+2)} \{ n\vartheta_{(\alpha} \wedge (e_{\beta}) \rfloor \Delta) - 2g_{\alpha\beta} \Delta \},$$
(B.4.25)

$$^{(4)}Z_{\alpha\beta} = (1/n)g_{\alpha\beta}Z,$$
 (B.4.26)

$$^{(5)}Z_{\alpha\beta} = (2/n)\vartheta_{(\alpha} \wedge \Xi_{\beta)}, \tag{B.4.27}$$

$${}^{(1)}Z_{\alpha\beta} = Z_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(2)}Z_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(3)}Z_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(4)}Z_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(5)}Z_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(B.4.28)

The Young symmetries of the various irreducible pieces are displayed by

$$\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge {}^{(1)}Z_{\alpha\beta} = \vartheta^{\beta} \wedge {}^{(5)}Z_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad {}^{(2)}Z_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2}e_{(\alpha}]\{\vartheta^{\gamma} \wedge {}^{(2)}Z_{\beta)\gamma}\} = 0, \qquad (B.4.29)$$

while the trace properties are

$$e_{\alpha} | {}^{(1)} Z^{\alpha\beta} = e_{\alpha} | {}^{(2)} Z^{\alpha\beta} = 0, \tag{B.4.30}$$

$${}^{(1)}Z_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha} = {}^{(2)}Z_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha} = {}^{(3)}Z_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha} = {}^{(5)}Z_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha} = 0.$$
(B.4.31)

By (B.4.23), the second irreducible piece ${}^{(2)}Z_{\alpha\beta}$ vanishes for n = 3. The two irreducible components in the case of two dimensions are given by

$$Z_{\alpha\beta} = {}^{(4)}Z_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(5)}Z_{\alpha\beta}, \quad n = 2.$$
 (B.4.32)

With regard to the uniqueness of the decomposition, a remark similar to that made in the case of the nonmetricity applies here. If we simply apply the Young diagram procedure to the components $Z_{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}$ of $Z_{\alpha\beta}$ and take traces, three of the five irreducible pieces obtained are ${}^{(1)}Z_{\alpha\beta}$, ${}^{(2)}Z_{\alpha\beta}$, and ${}^{(5)}Z_{\alpha\beta}$ as above, but the remaining two pieces are arbitrary combinations of the two irreducible subspaces involved in ${}^{(3)}Z_{\alpha\beta}$ and ${}^{(4)}Z_{\alpha\beta}$ above and hence are not canonical (see [103,287]). Here, however, the initial decomposition (B.4.17) with respect to the indices on the *two-form* $Z_{\alpha\beta}$ has led to a unique canonical set of irreducible pieces.⁸²

⁸² The irreducible decomposition of Šijački [626], invariant under GL(4, R), starts with two abstract tensors of type $\binom{0}{3}$ and $\binom{0}{4}$ which carry the symmetries of torsion and curvature, respectively, see his table on page 394. However, his results are are not comparable to ours, except for the SO(1,3)-subcase.

The orthogonality property noted in the cases of the nonmetricity and torsion holds also for the curvature. With respect to the scalar product (B.1.12) the 11 irreducible pieces of the curvature are mutually orthogonal, i.e.

$$\begin{cases} {}^{(i)}W \cdot {}^{(j)}W = 0 & \text{for } i \neq j, \\ {}^{(i)}Z \cdot {}^{(j)}Z = 0 & \text{for } i \neq j, \\ {}^{(i)}W \cdot {}^{(j)}Z = 0 & \text{for } i = 1 \cdots 6, \quad j = 1 \cdots 5. \end{cases}$$
(B.4.33)

Hence

$$R \cdot R = \sum_{i=1}^{6} {}^{(i)}W \cdot {}^{(i)}W + \sum_{j=1}^{5} {}^{(j)}Z \cdot {}^{(j)}Z.$$
(B.4.34)

In analogy with the equations (B.2.11) for the torsion, we note the following relations (omitting the indices) which hold in four dimensions

$${}^{*(1)}W = {}^{(1)*}W, \qquad {}^{*(2)}W = {}^{(4)*}W, \qquad {}^{*(4)}W = {}^{(2)*}W,$$

$${}^{*(3)}W = {}^{(6)*}W, \qquad {}^{*(6)}W = {}^{(3)*}W, \qquad {}^{*(5)}W = {}^{(5)*}W, \qquad (B.4.35)$$

and

$${}^{*(1)}Z = {}^{(1)*}Z, \qquad {}^{*(3)}Z = {}^{(3)*}Z, \qquad {}^{*(4)}Z = {}^{(4)*}Z,$$

$${}^{*(2)}Z = {}^{(5)*}Z, \qquad {}^{*(5)}Z = {}^{(2)*}Z.$$
(B.4.36)

Similarly as in the case of the torsion, there is an additional (pseudo)scalar product in four dimensions defined by (B.2.15). For this product the "orthogonality" properties are summed up by the equation

$$\langle R, R \rangle = \langle {}^{(1)}W, {}^{(1)}W \rangle + 2\langle {}^{(2)}W, {}^{(4)}W \rangle + 2\langle {}^{(3)}W, {}^{(6)}W \rangle + \langle {}^{(5)}W, {}^{(5)}W \rangle + \langle {}^{(1)}Z, {}^{(1)}Z \rangle + 2\langle {}^{(2)}Z, {}^{(5)}Z \rangle + \langle {}^{(3)}Z, {}^{(3)}Z \rangle + \langle {}^{(4)}Z, {}^{(4)}Z \rangle.$$
(B.4.37)

B.5. Irreducible decompositions of the zeroth and first Bianchi identities

If we treat the 0th Bianchi identity

$$B_{\alpha\beta}^{(0)} \equiv D Q_{\alpha\beta} - 2R_{(\alpha\beta)} \equiv 0, \tag{B.5.1}$$

as a 2nd order symmetric tensor-valued two-form, it splits under the general linear group into two irreducible pieces,

$$B_{\alpha\beta}^{(0)} = {}^{(I)}B_{\alpha\beta}^{(0)} + {}^{(II)}B_{\alpha\beta}^{(0)}, \qquad (B.5.2)$$

$$\frac{1}{4}n^2(n^2-1) = \frac{1}{8}n(n^2-1)(n+2) + \frac{1}{8}n(n^2-1)(n-2),$$
(B.5.3)

with

$${}^{(II)}B^{(0)}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{1}{2}e_{(\alpha}](B^{(0)}_{\beta)\gamma} \wedge \vartheta^{\gamma}), \qquad {}^{(I)}B^{(0)}_{\alpha\beta} = B^{(0)}_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(II)}B^{(0)}_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (B.5.4)$$

provided n > 2. (1) $B_{\alpha\beta}^{(0)}$ satisfies the symmetries

$$^{(I)}B^{(0)}_{\alpha\beta}\wedge\vartheta^{\beta}=0 \tag{B.5.5}$$

and is the only piece that survives in two dimensions.

Since the 0th Bianchi identity is a second order symmetric tensor-valued two-form, which, by construction, is already metric dependent, its irreducible decomposition invariant under the (pseudo)orthogonal group is the same as the corresponding decomposition for the symmetric part of the curvature given in the previous section.

The 1st Bianchi identity is

$$B^{\prime \alpha} \equiv 0, \tag{B.5.6}$$

$$B^{\prime a} = DT^{a} - R_{\beta}{}^{a} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}, \tag{B.5.7}$$

 $B^{\prime a}$ is a vector-valued three-form and hence, in two dimensions it is zero, while in three dimensions, it is irreducible, with respect to both, the general linear and the (pseudo)orthogonal group. In an L_n (n > 3) its irreducible decomposition invariant under GL(n, R) is given by

$$B^{\prime \alpha} = {}^{(I)}B^{\prime \alpha} + {}^{(II)}B^{\prime \alpha}, \tag{B.5.8}$$

$$\frac{1}{6}n^2(n-1)(n-2) = \frac{1}{6}n(n^2-1)(n-3) + \frac{1}{2}n(n-1),$$
(B.5.9)

where

$${}^{(II)}B^{\prime\alpha} = \frac{1}{n-2}\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge (e_{\gamma}]B^{\prime\gamma}), \qquad {}^{(I)}B^{\prime\alpha} = B^{\prime\alpha} - {}^{(II)}B^{\prime\alpha}. \tag{B.5.10}$$

 $^{(I)}B^{\prime \alpha}$ clearly satisfies

$$e_{\alpha} \Big|^{(l)} B^{\prime \alpha} = 0. \tag{B.5.11}$$

In an (L_n, g) the irreducible components with respect to the (pseudo)orthogonal group

$$B^{\prime \alpha} = {}^{(1)}B^{\prime \alpha} + {}^{(2)}B^{\prime \alpha} + {}^{(3)}B^{\prime \alpha}, \qquad (B.5.12)$$

$$\frac{1}{6}n^2(n-1)(n-2) = \frac{1}{8}(n+2)n(n-1)(n-3) + \frac{1}{2}n(n-1) + \frac{1}{24}n(n-1)(n-2)(n-3), \quad (B.5.13)$$

with

$$^{(2)}B^{\prime\alpha} = \frac{1}{(n-2)} (e_{\beta} \rfloor B^{\prime\beta}) \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha}, \qquad {}^{(3)}B^{\prime\alpha} = \frac{1}{4} e_{\alpha} \rfloor (\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge B_{\beta}^{\prime}), \qquad (B.5.14)$$

$${}^{(1)}B^{\prime \alpha} = B^{\prime \alpha} - {}^{(2)}B^{\prime \alpha} - {}^{(3)}B^{\prime \alpha}.$$
(B.5.15)

The symmetries and trace properties are given by

.

$$\vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge {}^{(1)}B'_{\alpha} = \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge {}^{(2)}B'_{\alpha} = 0, \qquad e_{\alpha} \rfloor {}^{(1)}B'^{\alpha} = e_{\alpha} \rfloor {}^{(3)}B'^{\alpha} = 0.$$
(B.5.16)

One may also verify that ${}^{(i)}B'^{\alpha}$ (i = 1, 2, 3) are mutually orthogonal with respect to the scalar product (B.1.12). In three dimensions we have ${}^{(1)}B'^{\alpha} = {}^{(3)}B'^{\alpha} = 0$ and, consequently,

$$B^{\prime \alpha} = {}^{(2)}B^{\prime \alpha}, \quad n = 3.$$
 (B.5.17)

B.6. Irreducible decomposition of the second Bianchi identity

The left-hand side of the 2nd Bianchi identity

$$B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} \equiv 0,$$

$$B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} = DR_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}$$
(B.6.1)
(B.6.2)

is a second order tensor-valued three-form, so we need only to consider dimensions greater than two.

With respect to the general linear group, and for n > 3, we obtain five irreducible pieces as follows: Let

be given, where

$$\boldsymbol{B}_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} = \boldsymbol{B}_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} - (1/n)\delta_{\alpha}^{\beta}\boldsymbol{B}_{\gamma}^{\prime\prime\gamma}.$$
(B.6.4)

Furthermore, let us define

$$C_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} := \mathcal{B}_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} - \frac{1}{4} V_{\alpha}^{\ \beta}, \tag{B.6.5}$$

$$X_{\alpha} = e_{\gamma} \rfloor C_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\gamma}, \qquad X_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} = \vartheta^{\beta} \wedge X_{\alpha}, \qquad X = X_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha}.$$
(B.6.6)

Then

$$B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} = {}^{(I)}B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} + {}^{(II)}B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} + {}^{(III)}B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} + {}^{(IV)}B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} + {}^{(V)}B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta}, \qquad (B.6.7)$$

$$\frac{1}{6}n^{3}(n-1)(n-2)$$

$$= \frac{1}{8}n^{2}(n+2)(n-1)(n-3) + \frac{1}{24}n(n^{2}-1)(n-2)(n-4) + \frac{1}{6}n(n-1)(n-2) + \frac{1}{3}n(n^{2}-1) + \frac{1}{6}n(n-1)(n-2),$$
(B.6.8)

where

$$^{(II)}B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} = \frac{1}{4} \left(V_{\alpha}{}^{\beta} - \frac{1}{n-3}e_{\alpha}(\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge V) \right), \tag{B.6.9}$$

$$^{(III)}B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} = \frac{4}{(n+1)(n-3)} (\frac{1}{3}n\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge (e_{\alpha}]X) - \delta_{\alpha}^{\beta}X), \tag{B.6.10}$$

$${}^{(N)}B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} = \frac{1}{n-2}\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge (X_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{3}e_{\alpha}]X), \tag{B.6.11}$$

$$^{(\nu)}B^{\prime\prime\beta}_{\alpha} = (1/n)\delta^{\beta}_{\alpha}B^{\prime\prime\gamma}_{\gamma}, \tag{B.6.12}$$

$${}^{(I)}B^{\prime\prime\beta}_{\alpha} = B^{\prime\prime} - {}^{(II)}B^{\prime\prime\beta}_{\alpha} - {}^{(III)}B^{\prime\prime}_{\alpha} - {}^{(IV)}B^{\prime\prime\beta}_{\alpha} - {}^{(V)}B^{\prime\prime\beta}_{\alpha}.$$
(B.6.13)

It may be verified that these satisfy the following properties:

$$^{(K)}B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime a} = 0, \qquad K = I, II, III, IV,$$
 (B.6.14)

$$\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge {}^{(\kappa)}B^{\prime\prime\beta}_{\alpha} = 0, \qquad K = I, IV,$$
(B.6.15)

$$e_{\alpha} \big] (\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge {}^{(\kappa)} B_{\alpha}^{\prime \prime \beta}) = 0, \qquad K = I, II, IV, \tag{B.6.16}$$

$$e_{a} \int {}^{(K)} B_{B}^{n\alpha} = 0, \qquad K = I, II,$$
 (B.6.17)

$$\vartheta^{\beta} \wedge (e_{\alpha}]^{(K)} B_{\beta}^{\prime \prime \alpha}) = 0, \qquad K = I, II, IV.$$
(B.6.18)

Note, however, that (B.6.16) is a consequence of (B.6.14) and (B.6.18).

In four dimensions

$${}^{(H)}B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} = 0, \quad n = 4 \tag{B.6.19}$$

leaving four irreducible pieces. In three dimensions the number of irreducible components is two,

$$B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} = B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} + {}^{(V)}B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta}, \tag{B.6.20}$$

or equivalently

$$B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} = {}^{(N)}B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta} + {}^{(V)}B_{\alpha}^{\prime\prime\beta}, \tag{B.6.21}$$

$$9 = 8 + 1.$$
 (B.6.22)

As a first step in deriving its irreducible decomposition, we split it into its antisymmetric and symmetric parts, $A_{\alpha\beta} = B''_{[\alpha\beta]}$ and $S_{\alpha\beta} = B''_{(\alpha\beta)}$:

$$B^{\prime\prime\alpha\beta} = A^{\alpha\beta} + S^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (B.6.23)$$

$$\frac{1}{6}n^3(n-1)(n-2) = \frac{1}{12}n^2(n-1)^2(n-2) + \frac{1}{12}n^2(n^2-1)(n-2).$$

In three dimensions $A_{\alpha\beta}$ cannot be reduced any further.

For the case of dimension n > 3 the irreducible components may be exhibited as follows (cf. [287] for n = 4): Let

$$A_{\alpha} = A_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}, \qquad A = A_{\alpha\beta} \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\beta}, \qquad A_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} = e_{\alpha} \lfloor e_{\beta} \rfloor A_{\gamma\delta}. \tag{B.6.24}$$

Then $A_{\alpha\beta}$ has three irreducible pieces invariant under GL(n, R):

$$A_{\alpha\beta} = {}^{(I)}A_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(II)}A_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(III)}A_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (B.6.25)$$

$$\frac{1}{12}n^2(n-1)^2(n-2) = \frac{1}{120}n(n-1)(n-2)(n-3)(n-4) + \frac{1}{30}n(n^2-1)(n-2)(n-3) + \frac{1}{30}n^2(n^2-1)(n-2), \qquad (B.6.25)$$

where

To get the irreducible components under (pseudo)orthogonal transformations we take traces. All traces on ${}^{(I)}A_{\alpha\beta}$ are zero, and there is just one independent trace on each of ${}^{(II)}A_{\alpha\beta}$ and ${}^{(III)}A_{\alpha\beta}$. Let

$$\tau_{\alpha} = e^{\gamma} \rfloor^{(III)} A_{\alpha\gamma} \tag{B.6.27}$$

be a vector-valued two-form of the same algebraic structure as the torsion, but with vanishing axial piece, i.e. $\tau_{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha} = 0$. Hence

$$\tau_{\alpha} = {}^{(1)}\tau_{\alpha} + {}^{(2)}\tau_{\alpha}, \tag{B.6.28}$$

$$^{(2)}\tau_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{(n-1)}\vartheta_{\alpha} \wedge (e_{\beta}]\tau^{\beta}), \qquad {}^{(1)}\tau_{\alpha} = \tau_{\alpha} - {}^{(2)}\tau_{\alpha}. \tag{B.6.29}$$

On the other hand, ${}^{(I)}A_{\alpha\beta}$ has got only an axial piece and is therefore not reducible any further. We therefore obtain

$$A_{\alpha\beta} = {}^{(1)}A_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(2)}A_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(3)}A_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(4)}A_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(5)}A_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(6)}A_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (B.6.30)$$

$$\frac{1}{12}n^2(n-1)^2(n-2) = \frac{1}{24}n(n+2)(n^2-1)(n-4) + \frac{1}{3}n(n^2-4) + n$$

$$+ \frac{1}{30}n(n-1)(n^2-4)(n-4) + \frac{1}{6}n(n-1)(n-2)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{120}n(n-1)(n-2)(n-3)(n-4), \qquad (B.6.31)$$

with

$$^{(2)}A_{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{2}{(n-3)}\vartheta_{\{\alpha}\wedge {}^{(1)}\tau_{\beta\}},\tag{B.6.32}$$

$$^{(3)}A_{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{1}{(n-2)}\vartheta_{\alpha}\wedge {}^{(2)}\tau_{\beta}, \qquad (B.6.33)$$

$$^{(4)}A_{\alpha\beta} = {}^{(1)}A_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(5)}A_{\alpha\beta}, \tag{B.6.34}$$

$$^{(5)}A_{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{2}{(n-3)}\vartheta_{[\alpha} \wedge \{e^{\gamma}\rfloor^{(H)}A_{\beta]\gamma}\}, \tag{B.6.35}$$

$$^{(6)}A_{\alpha\beta} = {}^{(1)}A_{\alpha\beta}, \tag{B.6.36}$$

$${}^{(1)}A_{\alpha\beta} = A_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(2)}A_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(3)}A_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(4)}A_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(5)}A_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(6)}A_{\alpha\beta}.$$
(B.6.37)

We note the following properties:

$${}^{(i)}A_{\alpha\beta}\wedge\vartheta^{\beta}=0, \quad i=1,2,3, \tag{B.6.38}$$

$$e_{\beta} \int {}^{(i)}A_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \quad i = 1, 4, 6,$$
 (B.6.39)

$$e_{\alpha}[e_{\beta}]^{(i)}A_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, 4, 5, 6,$$
 (B.6.40)

$${}^{(i)}A_{\alpha\beta}\wedge\vartheta^{\alpha}\wedge\vartheta^{\beta}=0, \quad i=1,2,3,4,5.$$
(B.6.41)

It is clear from (B.6.31) that ⁽¹⁾ $A_{\alpha\beta}$, ⁽⁴⁾ $A_{\alpha\beta}$ and ⁽⁶⁾ $A_{\alpha\beta}$ vanish for n = 4. In three dimensions, the single irreducible piece is given by

$$A_{\alpha\beta} = {}^{(3)}A_{\alpha\beta}, \quad n = 3.$$
 (B.6.42)

To find the irreducible pieces of the symmetric part $S_{\alpha\beta}$ of the 2nd Bianchi identity (cf. [684] for n = 4), we first of all split the three-form $S_{\alpha\beta}$ into its tracefree and trace parts:

$$S_{\alpha\beta} = \mathcal{S}_{\alpha\beta} + (1/n)g_{\alpha\beta}S, \quad S = S_{\gamma}^{\gamma}. \tag{B.6.43}$$

In three dimensions these are the only irreducible components. For dimension n > 3 the second term in (B.6.43) is clearly irreducible and, under GL(n, R), the first term $\mathscr{S}_{\alpha\beta}^{n}$ has two irreducible pieces

$$^{(I)} \mathscr{S}_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{2}{5} e_{(\alpha} J U_{\beta)}, \qquad {}^{(II)} \mathscr{S}_{\alpha\beta} = \mathscr{S}_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(I)} \mathscr{S}_{\alpha\beta}^{*}, \qquad (B.6.44)$$

where

$$U_{\alpha} = \vartheta^{\gamma} \land \mathscr{J}_{\gamma \alpha}. \tag{B.6.45}$$

On taking traces each of these splits into two so that, when we take S of (B.6.43) into account, the eventual result for $S_{\alpha\beta}$, and for n > 3, is

$$S_{\alpha\beta} = {}^{(1)}S_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(2)}S_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(3)}S_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(4)}S_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(5)}S_{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (B.6.46)$$

$$= \frac{1}{12}n^2(n^2 - 1)(n - 2)$$

$$= \frac{1}{20}n(n+1)(n+4)(n-2)(n-3) + \frac{1}{30}n(n-1)(n^2 - 4)(n-4)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{6}n(n-1)(n-2) + \frac{1}{3}n(n^2 - 4) + \frac{1}{6}n(n-1)(n-2), \qquad (B.6.47)$$

where

$$^{(2)}S_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{2}{5} \left(e_{(\alpha} \rfloor U_{\beta)} + \frac{1}{(n-3)} \{ g_{\alpha\beta} \Xi - \vartheta_{(\alpha} \wedge (e_{\beta)} \rfloor \Xi) \} \right), \tag{B.6.48}$$

$$^{(3)}S_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{2}{(n+2)(n-3)} \left[-g_{\alpha\beta}\Xi + \frac{1}{3}n\vartheta_{(\alpha} \wedge (e_{\beta}) \right]\Xi) \right], \tag{B.6.49}$$

$$^{(4)}S_{\alpha\beta} = \frac{2}{(n-1)}\vartheta_{(\alpha} \wedge P_{\beta)}, \tag{B.6.50}$$

$$^{(5)}S_{\alpha\beta} = (1/n)g_{\alpha\beta}S, \tag{B.6.51}$$

$${}^{(1)}S_{\alpha\beta} = S_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(2)}S_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(3)}S_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(4)}S_{\alpha\beta} - {}^{(5)}S_{\alpha\beta}, \tag{B.6.52}$$

and

$$\Xi_{\alpha} = e^{\gamma}] \mathscr{G}_{\alpha\gamma}, \qquad \Xi = \Xi_{\alpha} \wedge \vartheta^{\alpha}, \qquad P_{\alpha} = \Xi_{\alpha} - \frac{1}{3}e_{\alpha}] \Xi. \tag{B.6.53}$$

These satisfy the following properties,

$${}^{(i)}S_{\alpha\beta}\wedge\vartheta^{\beta}=0, \quad i=1,4, \tag{B.6.54}$$

$$e^{\beta} \int {}^{(i)} S_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \quad i = 1, 2,$$
 (B.6.55)

$${}^{(i)}S_{\alpha}{}^{\alpha} = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, 4.$$
 (B.6.56)

According to (B.6.47), the term ${}^{(2)}S_{\alpha\beta}$ drops out in four dimensions. In three dimensions $U_{\alpha} = 0$, $\Xi = 0$ and the irreducible piece $\mathscr{G}_{\alpha\beta}$ may be written as

$$S_{\alpha\beta}^{*} = {}^{(4)}S_{\alpha\beta}, \quad n = 3,$$
 (B.6.57)

where the right-hand side is that of (B.6.50), with $P_{\alpha} = \Xi_{\alpha}$.

To sum up, the left-hand side of the 2nd Bianchi identity in an *n*-dimensional metric-affine spacetime (n > 3) may be written in terms of its 11 irreducible parts as follows:

$$B^{\prime\prime\alpha\beta} = {}^{(1)}A^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(2)}A^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(3)}A^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(4)}A^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(5)}A^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(6)}A^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(6)}A^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(1)}S^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(2)}S^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(3)}S^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(4)}S^{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(5)}S^{\alpha\beta}.$$
(B.6.58)

Here ${}^{(n)}A^{\alpha\beta}$ (n = 1, ..., 6) are defined by (B.6.32)-(B.6.37), while ${}^{(m)}S^{\alpha\beta}$ (m = 1, ..., 5) are as given by (B.6.48)-(B.6.52). The number of independent components in each of the irreducible pieces is as indicated in (B.6.31) and (B.6.47) and from these it is clear that in four dimensions the number of irreducible parts reduces to seven. In three dimensions there are three irreducible pieces,

$$B_{\alpha\beta}^{\prime\prime} = {}^{(3)}A_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(4)}S_{\alpha\beta} + {}^{(5)}S_{\alpha\beta} \quad \text{for} \quad n = 3.$$
(B.6.59)

Finally one may verify that

$$\begin{cases} {}^{(i)}A^{\alpha\beta} \wedge {}^{*(j)}A_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \text{ for } i \neq j, \\ {}^{(i)}A^{\alpha\beta} \wedge {}^{*(j)}S_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \text{ for } i = 1 \dots 6, j = 1 \dots 5, \\ {}^{(i)}S^{\alpha\beta} \wedge {}^{*(j)}S_{\alpha\beta} = 0, \text{ for } i \neq j \end{cases}$$
(B.6.60)

so that, once again, the irreducible pieces are mutually orthogonal with respect to the scalar product (B.1.12).

Appendix C. Group representations

C.1. Unirreps of the $\overline{SL}(2, R)$

The unitary infinite-dimensional irreducible representations (unirreps) of $\overline{SL}(2, R)$ were constructed and catalogued by Bargmann [36]. The two-dimensional linear group SL(2, R) is special insofar as it has infinite coverings: The maximal compact subgroup SO(2) is, regarded as a manifold, isomorphic to the circle S^1 , which is infinitely often covered by the line.

Bargmann listed four classes of representations, defined by τ , the eigenvalue of the quadratic SL(2, R) Casimir operator

$$C_{2} := \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{L}^{\alpha} {}_{\beta} \mathcal{L}^{\beta} {}_{\alpha} = {\binom{(-)}{B}}^{2} + S^{2} - {\binom{(+)}{B}}^{2} = -\tau^{2}, \qquad (C.1.1)$$

and by *m*, the (helicity-like) eigenvalue of the normal subalgebra generated by J_n :

(i) Principal series $\mathcal{D}_{SL(2,R)}^{\text{princ}}(\underline{m},\tau)$:

$$1/4 \le \tau, \qquad \tau \in R;$$

$$\underline{m} = 0, \quad \{m\} = \{0, \pm 1, \pm 2, \pm 3, \ldots\}, \quad \text{i.e.} \quad \{m\} = Z,$$

or

$$\underline{m} = 1/2, \quad \{m\} = \left\{ \pm \frac{1}{2}, \pm \frac{3}{2}, \pm \frac{5}{2}, \ldots \right\}, \quad \text{i.e.} \quad \{m\} = Z/2,$$
(C.1.2)

(ii) Supplementary series $\mathcal{D}_{SL(2,R)}^{\text{suppl.}}(\underline{m},\tau)$:

$$0 < \tau < 1/4,$$

m = 0, {m} = {0, ±1, ±2, ±3, ...}, i.e. {m} = Z,
or
m = 1/2, {m} = { $\pm \frac{1}{2}, \pm \frac{3}{2}, \pm \frac{5}{2}, ...$ }, i.e. {m} = Z/2, (C.1.3)

(iii) Discrete series (mounting) $\mathcal{D}_{SL(2,R)}^{\text{disc.}}(\underline{m})$:

$$\tau = \underline{m} (1 - \underline{m}); \quad \{\underline{m}\} = \left\{\frac{1}{2}, 1, \frac{3}{2}, 2, \frac{5}{2}, \dots\right\},$$

$$\{m\} = \{\underline{m}, \underline{m} + 1, \underline{m} + 2, \dots\},$$
 (C.1.4)

(iv) Discrete series (descending) $\mathcal{D}_{SL(2,R)}^{\text{disc.}}(\overline{m})$:

$$\tau = -\overline{m} (1 + \overline{m}); \quad \{\overline{m}\} = \left\{-\frac{1}{2}, -1, -\frac{3}{2}, -2, -\frac{5}{2}, \ldots\right\}, \\ \{m\} = \{\dots, (\overline{m} - 2), \overline{m} - 1, \overline{m}\}.$$
(C.1.5)

In these formulae, \underline{m} and \overline{m} are the minimal or maximal eigenvalues of $\overset{(-)}{B}$ in a representation in which m is mounting or descending, respectively. The names of the various series refer to the values of τ .

Consider the SL(n, R). Preserving for n = 2 the identification $g_{\alpha\beta} = o_{\alpha\beta}$, but regarding the algebra of the SL(2, R) as acting on a two-dimensional Minkowski space, we could represent the corresponding generators (4.2.4) in terms of the Pauli matrices (yielding real values in the exponentiation $e^{k^{\alpha}}$):

$$\stackrel{(-)}{B} \rightarrow \frac{1}{2}\sigma_3, \qquad \stackrel{(+)}{B} \rightarrow \frac{1}{2}i\sigma_2, \qquad S \rightarrow \frac{1}{2}\sigma_1, \qquad (C.1.6)$$

with the $\stackrel{(+)}{B}$ as the only compact generator.

Note that besides being a real form of SU(1,1), the group SL(2, R) is in itself the doublecovering group of SO(1,2). As a result, for instance, $\overline{SL}(2, R)$ is the quadruple covering of SO(1,2). Bargmann's point of departure⁸³ is derived from the SO(1,2)-realization, rather than the SL(2, R). Following Bargmann and making our physical identifications at the SO(1,2) level, i.e. on a threedimensional Minkowski space, we find, going directly over to the spinor representation [i.e. SL(2, R)as double-covering of SO(1,2)]:

$$J \rightarrow \frac{1}{2}i\sigma_2, \qquad \stackrel{(-)}{B}_1 \rightarrow \frac{1}{2}\sigma_3, \qquad \stackrel{(-)}{B}_2 \rightarrow \frac{1}{2}\sigma_1. \qquad (C.1.7)$$

The representations with half-integer m in the supplementary series are thus two-valued in SO(1, 2) and single-valued in SL(2, R), but they are not faithful representations of the double covering of that group itself. The representations of the double-covering group $\overline{SL}(2, R)$, displaying the structure

$$\overline{SL}(2,R)/Z_2 = SL(2,R)$$
, (C.1.8)

are of class (ii), i.e. are $\mathcal{D}_{SL(2,R)}^{\text{suppl.}}(h,\tau)$, with h = 1/4. More generally, the representations of the multiple covering have h = 1/(2c), where c denotes the order of the covering.

⁸³ Although Bargmann had constructed these representations of the multiple covering in 1947, these results were not assimilated by the physics community, who continued to assume the inexistence of a covering group of GL(n, R) even for n = 2. The fact that SL(2, R) is itself a double covering of SO(1, 2) added to the confusion and strengthened the impression, throughout 1928–1977, that linear groups have no double covering (see the discussion of n = 2 in [477], including the examples of Ref. 11 in that article).

C.2. Unirreps of the $\overline{SL}(3, R)$

There are four series of unirreps⁸⁴ of $\overline{SL}(3, R)$. Denoting by *j* the angular momentum eigenvalue corresponding to the maximal compact subgroup $\overline{SO}(3) = SU(2)$, and *k* an additional quantum number of this rank two group, by <u>j</u> and <u>k</u> the minimal values of J and $\overset{(+)}{B} \equiv K$ in a unirrep, and n the multiplicity, we have

(i) Principal series $\mathcal{D}_{SL(3,R)}^{\text{princ.}}(\underline{j},\underline{k};\sigma_2,\delta_2)$:

$$\sigma_{2}, \delta_{2} \in R; \quad \underline{k} = 0, 1/2, 1;$$

$$\underline{k} = 0 \rightarrow \underline{j} = 0, \quad \{j^{n}\} = \{0, 2^{2}, 3, 4^{3}, 5^{2}, 6^{4}, 7^{3}, \ldots\},$$

$$\underline{k} = \frac{1}{2} \rightarrow \underline{j} = \frac{1}{2}, \quad \{j^{n}\} = \left\{\frac{1}{2}, \left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^{2}, \left(\frac{5}{2}\right)^{3}, \ldots\right\},$$

$$\underline{k} = 0, 1 \rightarrow \underline{j} = 1, \quad \{j^{n}\} = \{1, 2, 3^{2}, 4^{2}, 5^{3}, 6^{3}, 7^{4}, \ldots\},$$
(C.2.1)

(ii) Supplementary series $\mathcal{D}_{SL(3,R)}^{\text{suppl.}}(j,\underline{k};\sigma_2,\delta_1)$:

$$\sigma_{2} \in R, \qquad 0 < |\delta_{1}| \le 1/2, \quad \underline{k} = 1/2 \quad \text{or} \quad 0 < |\delta_{1}| < 1, \quad \underline{k} = 0, \quad \underline{j} = 0, 1;$$

$$\underline{k} = 0 \rightarrow \underline{j} = 0, \quad \{j^{n}\} = \{0, 2^{2}, 3, 4^{3}, 5^{2}, 6^{4}, 7^{3}, \ldots\},$$

$$\underline{k} = 1/2 \rightarrow \underline{j} = 1/2, \quad \{j^{n}\} = \left\{\frac{1}{2}, \left(\frac{3}{2}\right)^{2}, \left(\frac{5}{2}\right)^{3}, \ldots\right\},$$

$$\underline{k} = 0, 1 \rightarrow \underline{j} = 1, \quad \{j^{n}\} = \{1, 2, 3^{2}, 4^{2}, 5^{3}, 6^{3}, 7^{4}, \ldots\}, \qquad (C.2.2)$$

(iii) Discrete series $\mathcal{D}^{\text{disc.}}_{SL(3,R)}(j;\sigma_2)$:

$$\sigma_2 \in R, \qquad \underline{j} = \underline{k}, \qquad \underline{j} = 3/2, 2, 5/2, 3, \dots, \{\underline{j}^n\} = \{\underline{j}, \underline{j} + 1, (\underline{j} + 2)^2, (\underline{j} + 3)^2, (\underline{j} + 4)^3, (\underline{j} + 5)^3, \dots\},$$
(C.2.3)

(iv) Ladder series $\mathcal{D}^{\text{ladd.}}_{SL(3,R)}(j;\sigma_2)$:

$$\underline{j} = 0, 1 \rightarrow \sigma_2 \in R, \qquad \underline{j} = 1/2 \rightarrow \sigma_2 = 0;$$

$$\{j^n\} = \left\{\underline{j}, \underline{j} + 2, \underline{j} + 4, \underline{j} + 6, \underline{j} + 8, \ldots\right\}, \quad \text{i.e.} \quad \Delta j = 2.$$
(C.2.4)

In terms of the unirreps of the maximal compact subgroup, the last sequence consists of those multiplicity-free representations which are known as the "ladder representations".

In addition, there are two discrete quantum numbers ϵ and ϵ' , in the principal, the supplementary, and the discrete series. For the principal series, they are $\epsilon = \pm 1$ and $\epsilon' = \pm 1$. In the supplementary

⁸⁴ After many years in which the double covering was not mentioned and the study and classification had dealt with SL(3, R) proper only (by Gel'fand and Graev, G. Rosen, Dothan, Gell-Mann, and Ne'eman, etc. – see [166]), the double covering was discovered by Joseph and Ne'eman and reconfirmed by several groups (see [324], referred to in [58]). This established also the existence of spinor representations; see also [533]. Šijački published a complete classification [623]. The complete unitary complement (i.e. listing of representations) of SL(3, R) was published in [648], referring to [623] for those of the double covering.

series, they are $\epsilon = \pm 1$ (only) whereas $\epsilon' = \pm 1$. For the discrete series, they are again both $\epsilon = \pm 1$ and $\epsilon' = \pm 1$. They do not exist in the ladder series. These quantum numbers are related to the occurrence of even or odd values of k and j.

C.3. Unirreps of the $\overline{SL}(4, R)$

Since n = 4 is where our main interest lies, we remind the reader of the results of our construction of field representations, using the inner automorphism \mathcal{A} . Our otherwise unitary representations should be reinterpreted as nonunitary, after the reidentification of the $\overline{SO}(1,3)$ and $\overline{SO}(4)$ subgroups according to (4.2.7). In fact, conventional finite representations of SL(4, R) (ordinary tensor fields) also reduce into direct sums of representations of the compact subgroup $SO(4)_{\mathcal{A}}$. We use the corresponding index for the \mathcal{A} -transformed subgroups, after the mapping (4.2.7). Physically, this $SO(4)_{\mathcal{A}}$ represents nonunitary finite-dimensional representations of the physical Lorentz group $\overline{SO}(1,3)$, rather than unitary finite-dimensional representations of the true compact subgroup SO(4) that would have been generated by the J_u and $\stackrel{(+)}{B}_u$ of (4.2.4). That SO(4) is represented in our bandor field representations by nonunitary infinite-dimensional representations of $\overline{SO}(1,3)$.

In the systematics of finite SL(4, R) representations, a symmetric tensor $Z_{\alpha\beta}$, for example, is a <u>10</u> under SL(4, R); it reduces (in the Riemannian case) to 9 + 1 under $SO(4)_{\mathcal{A}}$; and it then reduces further into $9 \rightarrow 5 + 3 + 1$ and 1 under J_u , i.e. $SO(3) \subset SO(4)_{\mathcal{A}}$. The same picture now holds for our infinite-dimensional representations.

It is useful to gain a better understanding of the structure of the double covering $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ by studying its center, and those of SL(4, R) and SO(3,3). Indeed, as in the case of SL(2, R), the group SL(4, R) is itself also a covering group, $SL(4, R) = \overline{SO}(3,3)$. The group $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ is thus the quadruple covering of SO(3,3). The compact subgroup is

$$\overline{SO}(4)_{\mathcal{A}} \cong \overline{SO}(3) \times \overline{SO}(3) = SU(2) \times SU(2). \tag{C.3.1}$$

For each SO(3) subgroup, we can also write

$$SO(3) = [SU(2)/Z_2].$$
 (C.3.2)

In SO(3,3), the compact subgroup is $SO(3) \times SO(3)$, and the center is trivial. In SL(4, R), the compact subgroup is

$$SO(4) = [(SU(2) \times SU(2))/Z_2^d],$$
 (C.3.3)

where Z_2^d is the diagonal discrete subgroup whose representations are given by

$$Z_2^d: \{1, (-1)^{2j_1} = (-1)^{2j_2}\},\tag{C.3.4}$$

and where j_1 and j_2 are the Casimir labels of the two SU(2) representations.

In $\overline{SL}(4, R)$, the center consists of both Z_2 centers, one in each SU(2),

$$Z_2 \times Z_2 : \{1, (-1)^{2j_1}\} \times \{1, (-1)^{2j_1}\}.$$
(C.3.5)

The structure is best described by the exact sequences:



Fig. 6. Sample unirreps of $\overline{SL}(3, R)$: (a)Principal and supplementary series with the continuous parameters σ_2 , δ_2 , and δ_1 suppressed, see Eqs. (C.2.1) and (C.2.2). (b)Discrete series with the continuous parameter σ_2 suppressed. We have the same pattern for $\underline{j} = 2, 5/2, \ldots$, see Eq. (C.2.3). (c)Ladder series with the continuous parameter σ_2 either suppressed, or $\sigma_2 = 0$ for the spinorial case $\underline{j} = 1/2$, see Eq. (C.2.4).

The $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ unirreps reduce into infinite sums of finite-dimensional $\overline{SO}(4)_{\mathcal{A}}$ representations. The multiplicity-free ones, i.e. those with one single representation of $\overline{SO}(4)_{\mathcal{A}}$ for each type appearing in the reduction of an $\overline{SL}(4, R)_{\mathcal{A}}$ representation, were constructed and finalized in [628]. We list first the multiplicity-free set

(i) Principal series
$$\mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{\text{princ}}(\underline{m},\underline{n};e_2)$$
:

$$\underline{m} = \{0,1\}, \quad \underline{n} = 0; \qquad e_1 = 0, e_2 \in R;$$

$$\{(m,n)\}: m+n \cong \underline{m} \pmod{2}.$$
(C.3.7)

(ii) Supplementary series $\mathcal{D}^{\text{suppl.}}_{SL(4,R)}(0,0;e_1)$:

$$0 \le |e_1| \le 1, \quad e_2 = 0; \{(m, n)\}: m + n \cong 0 \pmod{2}.$$
(C.3.8)

(iii) Discrete series $\mathcal{D}_{SL(4,R)}^{\text{disc.}}((\underline{j},0) \text{ or } (0,\underline{j}))$:

$$e_1 = 1 - \underline{j}, \quad e_2 = 0; \{(m, n)\}: m + n \cong \underline{j} \pmod{2}, \quad |m - n| \ge \underline{j}; \quad \underline{j} = 1/2, 1, 3/2,$$
(C.3.9)

(iv) Ladder series $\mathcal{D}^{\text{ladd.}}_{SL(4,R)}(\underline{j},e_2)$:

$$\underline{j} = 0, 1/2, \quad e_1 = 0, \quad e_2 \in \mathbb{R},$$

$$m = n = j; \qquad j \cong \underline{j} \pmod{1} \quad \text{for } \underline{j} = 1/2; \qquad j \cong \underline{j} \pmod{2} \quad \text{for } \underline{j} = 0. \quad (C.3.10)$$

The enumeration and classification of $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ unirreps have been recently completed [627]. First, let us make up a list of three types of quantum numbers of $\overline{SL}(4, R)$:

$$A: e_1 = 0; \quad e_2 \in R,$$

$$B_1: d_1 = 0; \quad d_2 \in R,$$

$$B_2: d_1 = m + n, \quad d_2 = 0; \quad m + n = 1/2, 1, 3/2, ...,$$

$$B_3: 0 \le d_1 \le 1, \quad d_2 = 0; \quad m + n = 0, \pm 2, \pm 4, ...,$$

$$B_4: 0 \le d_1 \le 1/2, \quad d_2 = 0; \quad m + n \cong 1/2 \text{ or } 3/2 \pmod{2},$$

$$C_1: c_1 = 0; \quad c_2 \in R,$$

$$C_2: c_1 = m + n, \quad c_2 = 0; \quad m - n = 1/2, 1, 3/2, ...,$$

$$C_3: 0 \le c_1 \le 1, \quad c_2 = 0; \quad m - n = 0, \pm 2, \pm 4, \dots,$$

$$C_4: 0 \le c_1 \le 1/2, \quad c_2 = 0; \quad m - n \cong 1/2 \text{ or } 3/2 \pmod{2}.$$
(C.3.11)

There are 16 series (or subseries) of $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ unirreps (or nonunitary A-transformed representations) having nontrivial multiplicities, given in the above by the set

 $(A, B_r, C_s): \{r, s = 1, 2, 3, 4\}; \quad j_1 \ge |m|, j_2 \ge |n|$ (C.3.12)

for all choices of r and s.

The eigenvalues of the second-order Casimir operator of the $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ are given by

$$C_2 := -\mathcal{L}^{\alpha}_{\ \beta} \mathcal{L}^{\beta}_{\ \alpha} = 4 - \frac{1}{4} (e_1 + ie_2)^2, \tag{C.3.13}$$

cf. [628], where, however, the notation is different: our $\mathcal{L}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = iQ^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}$ of [628].

C.4. Casimir invariants of the SA(n, R)

The fundamental particles in Minkowski spacetime correspond to the unitary irreducible representations of the Poincaré group. For P_+^1 and massive states, the eigenvalues of the *two* Casimir operators classify these representations uniquely. According to the Wigner classification [724], fundamental particles in Minkowski spacetime are classified by mass and spin. For massless particles, we need, in addition, the eigenvalue helicity of the Casimir operator of the Weyl group. Do similar results hold in theories which are invariant under the GA(n, R) or SA(n, R) groups, repectively?

Casimir invariants of real low-dimensional Lie algebras were evaluated by Patera et al. [546], and the invariant of SA(2, R) was listed as $A_{5,40}$. The next basic advance in the study of the Casimir invariants of the affine and related groups followed the work of Sternberg [655]. Rais [567], Perroud [559], as well as Demichev and Nelipa [142] finally demonstrated that the SA(n, R) have a single such operator (whereas the GA(n, R) have none) which, using the Cartan-Weyl basis of the related gl(n, R), i.e.

$$(L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta})_{\delta}{}^{\gamma} = \delta^{\alpha}_{\delta} \delta^{\gamma}_{\beta}, \tag{C.4.1}$$

is given by

$$C(n) = \operatorname{Sym}\left[\epsilon^{\alpha_0 \cdots \alpha_{n-1}} P_{\alpha_0}(L^{\beta_0}{}_{\alpha_1}P_{\beta_0})(L^{\gamma_0}{}_{\alpha_2}L^{\delta_1}{}_{\gamma_0}P_{\delta_1}) \cdots (L^{\kappa_0}{}_{\alpha_{n-1}}L^{\kappa_1}{}_{\kappa_0} \cdots L^{\kappa_{n-2}}{}_{\kappa_{n-2}}P_{\kappa_{n-2}})\right],$$
(C.4.2)

where Sym denotes the symmetrization of all generators. Eq. (C.4.2) is equivalent to the determinant

$$C(n) = \det \begin{pmatrix} P_{\hat{0}} & L^{\beta}{}_{\hat{0}}P_{\beta} & L^{\gamma}{}_{\hat{0}}L^{\delta}{}_{\gamma}P_{\delta} & \cdots \\ P_{\hat{1}} & L^{\beta}{}_{\hat{1}}P_{\beta} & L^{\gamma}{}_{\hat{1}}L^{\delta}{}_{\gamma}P_{\delta} & \cdots \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \ddots \\ P_{\hat{n}-\hat{1}} & L^{\beta}{}_{\hat{n}-\hat{1}}P_{\beta} & L^{\gamma}{}_{\hat{n}-\hat{1}}L^{\delta}{}_{\gamma}P_{\delta} & \cdots \end{pmatrix},$$
(C.4.3)

or, in shorthand notation, to

$$C(n) = \det(P, LP, (L)^{2}P, ..., (L)^{n-1}P), \qquad (C.4.4)$$

thus involving powers of the basis L in the Lie algebra gl(n, R) ranging from 0 to n - 1. Hence the invariant C(n) is a polynomial of degree n in the translations p and of degree n(n-1)/2 in the sl(n, R) generators; altogether it is thus of degree n(n+1)/2. Although written in terms of the Cartan-Weyl basis (C.4.1), the formula (C.4.2) automatically takes care of the tracelessness of the sl(n, R) generators $\mathcal{E}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} = L^{\alpha}{}_{\beta} - \delta^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}\mathcal{D}/4$. Therefore the Casimir operator can also be represented as

$$\mathscr{Q}^{r}(n) = \det\left(P, \mathscr{L} P, (\mathscr{L})^{2} P, \cdots, (\mathscr{L})^{n-1} P\right).$$
(C.4.5)

This can explicitly be demonstrated by inserting the decomposition (3.1.9) into (C.4.2) and employing successively the commutation relations (3.1.10) and (3.1.4), respectively:

$$C(n) = \mathcal{Q}^{*}(n) + \operatorname{Sym}\left[\epsilon^{\alpha_{0}\cdots\alpha_{n-1}}P_{\alpha_{0}}\left(\frac{1}{n}\delta_{\alpha_{1}}^{\beta_{0}}\mathcal{D}P_{\beta_{0}}\right) \times \left(\mathcal{L}^{\gamma_{0}}{}_{\alpha_{2}}\mathcal{L}^{\delta_{1}}{}_{\gamma_{0}}P_{\delta_{1}} + \delta_{\alpha_{2}}^{\gamma_{0}}\frac{1}{n}\mathcal{D}\mathcal{L}^{\delta_{1}}{}_{\gamma_{0}}P_{\delta_{1}} + \mathcal{L}^{\gamma_{0}}{}_{\alpha_{2}}\frac{1}{n}\delta_{\gamma_{0}}^{\delta_{1}}\mathcal{D}P_{\delta_{1}} + \delta_{\alpha_{2}}^{\gamma_{0}}\frac{1}{n}\mathcal{D}\frac{1}{n}\delta_{\gamma_{0}}^{\delta_{1}}\mathcal{D}P_{\delta_{1}}\right) \cdots + P_{\alpha_{0}}(\mathcal{L}^{\beta_{0}}{}_{\alpha_{1}}P_{\beta_{0}})\left(\frac{2}{n}\mathcal{D}\mathcal{L}^{\delta_{1}}{}_{\alpha_{2}}P_{\delta_{1}} + \frac{1}{n^{2}}\mathcal{D}\mathcal{D}P_{\alpha_{2}}\right)\cdots\right]$$

$$= \mathcal{Q}^{*}(n) + \operatorname{Sym}\left[\epsilon^{\alpha_{0}\cdots\alpha_{n-1}}\frac{1}{2n}[P_{\alpha_{0}},P_{\alpha_{1}}](\mathcal{D}+1)\left(\frac{2}{n}\mathcal{D}\mathcal{L}^{\delta_{1}}{}_{\alpha_{2}}P_{\delta_{1}} + \frac{1}{n^{2}}\mathcal{D}\mathcal{D}P_{\alpha_{2}}\right) \cdots + \frac{1}{n}P_{\alpha_{0}}\left([\mathcal{L}^{\beta_{0}}{}_{\alpha_{1}}P_{\beta_{0}},\mathcal{L}^{\beta_{0}}{}_{\alpha_{2}}P_{\beta_{0}}] + \frac{1}{2n}\mathcal{D}\mathcal{D}[\mathcal{L}^{\beta_{0}}{}_{\alpha_{1}},P_{\alpha_{2}}]P_{\beta_{0}}\right)\cdots\right]$$

$$= \mathcal{Q}^{*}(n). \tag{C.4.6}$$

Observe that the last but one term, after applying the commutation relation (3.1.5), yields $[P_{\alpha_1}, P_{\alpha_2}] = 0$. Proceeding further by induction, higher order terms can likewise be shown to vanish.

Let us also sketch the proof that C(n) is a Casimir operator of the special affine group $SA(n, R) = R^n \otimes SL(n, R)$: The determinant is built up from the *n* vectors $\{P, LP, (L)^2P, \ldots, (L)^{n-1}P\}$. The first of these vectors, on commutation with the generator P_{α} of translations, becomes linearly dependent on the second one (see [393] for details, also Eq. (6.11) of [391]). In order to conclude the proof, we recall that the determinant gives the volume of a vector space. Since SL(n, R)-transformations are *volume-preserving*, the operator C(n) is also invariant under the rigid SL(n, R).

For the construction of the eigenvalues of C(n), let us first consider the simplest non-trivial dimension⁸⁵, namely that for n = 2. Let $\Phi(x) = \Phi(t, x)$ be a field which transforms according to:

$$\Phi'(\mathbf{x}) := D(\Lambda) \Phi[\Lambda^{-1}(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{a})].$$
(C.4.7)

(i) In the scalar representation D(A) = 1 we obtain for the generators

$$A^{1}_{0} = -x\partial_{t} , \qquad A^{1}_{1} - A^{0}_{0} = t\partial_{t} - x\partial_{x} , \qquad A^{0}_{1} = -t\partial_{x} , \qquad (C.4.8)$$

$$P_0 = -\partial_t , \qquad P_1 = -\partial_x . \tag{C.4.9}$$

Inserting this into (C.4.2) yields C(2) = 0.

(ii) For the vector representation D(A) = A we have the generators

⁸⁵ These examples were provided by Jürgen Lemke (Cologne).

$$A^{1}_{0} = -x\partial_{t} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad A^{1}_{1} - A^{0}_{0} = t\partial_{t} - x\partial_{x} + \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$A^{0}_{1} = -t\partial_{x} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (C.4.10)$$

$$P_0 = -\partial_t , \qquad P_1 = -\partial_x . \tag{C.4.11}$$

Thus we obtain for the Casimir operator

$$C(2) = \begin{pmatrix} -\partial_t \partial_x & -\partial_x^2 \\ \partial_t^2 & \partial_t \partial_x \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\partial_x \\ \partial_t \end{pmatrix} (\partial_t, \partial_x) .$$
(C.4.12)

The eigenvalues λ are given by

$$\det\left[\begin{pmatrix} -P_t P_x & -P_x^2 \\ P_t^2 & P_t P_x \end{pmatrix} - \lambda \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}\right] = \lambda^2 = 0,$$
(C.4.13)

that is, the unique solution is $\lambda = 0$.

Analogously to the Poincaré group, the orbital parts of the generators do not contribute the the Casimir operator. Already for n = 3, one better uses computer algebra [650] in order to calculate the eigenvalues of the full Casimir operator for a given representation.

C.5. Classification of the unirreps of the $\overline{SA}(4, R)$

We now go over to the particle aspect and follow for the representation theory of $\overline{SA}(4, R)$ Wigner's classical treatment [724] of the Poincaré group's Hilbert space and projective representations (for quantum mechanics). The induction (\leftarrow) is done over the stability subgroup (Wigner's little group), whereas the inclusion sequence is denoted by \subset . For the special affine group

$$SA(n,R) = R^n \otimes SL(n,R), \qquad (C.5.1)$$

there is an affine subgroup inherent, in which the new 'translations' in SA(n-1, R) correspond to the generators \mathcal{E}_{u}^{0} in SA(n, R), cf. section 4.2. At some stage, for k = 0, ..., n-2, there occur two possibilities:

(i) The $\mathcal{E}^{0}_{\mu}(n-k)$ are trivialized

$$\mathcal{L}^{0}_{\mu}(n-k)|\text{phys.}\rangle = 0, \tag{C.5.2}$$

and the representation is induced over the infinite unitary linear representations of $\overline{SL}(n-k, R)$. This happens, for instance, in matter manifields, i.e. their particle states will correspond to 'Regge trajectories' described by unitary infinite-dimensional representations of $\overline{SL}(3, R)$, see Ref. [166].

(ii) If the SL(n-k, R) representation is not linear and infinite, the SA(n-k, R) is induced over the finite unitary linear representations of $\overline{SO}(n-k)$. Example: The gauge field of $\overline{SA}(n, R)$ will end up being induced over the transverse $\overline{SO}(n-2)$, with the *CPT* conjugate representation added.

The group SA(n, R), acting on the space of momenta, has two orbits:

$$Orb_1 = \{0\}, \qquad Orb_2 = R'' - \{0\}.$$
 (C.5.3)

For the null orbit, i.e. when we select states for which all n components of the momenta vanish, the Casimir operator vanishes, since it is a homogeneous symmetric polynomial of degree n in the momenta. In the second orbit – which, incidentally, is invariant under the entire GL(n, R) – for small values of the momenta, the invariance of the Casimir operator implies that the eigenvalues of the SL(n, R) homogeneous operators must grow fast.

These two orbits provide for a classification [393] of the unitary irreducible representations of $\overline{SA}(4, R)$. We have a hierarchy of stability subgroups over which the unirreps are constructed as *induced* representations. The four-vector $\stackrel{\circ}{p}$ either vanishes, $\stackrel{\circ}{p}=0$ (case I) and C(4)=0, or it does not, $\stackrel{\circ}{p}\neq 0$ (case II) and $C(4)\sim (\stackrel{\circ}{p})^4=m^4$, where *m* denotes the particle's mass.

- **Case I:** Physically, it is useful to think of this case as the very-low frequency limit of a massless particle including its Regge excitations. The little group is $\overline{SL}(4, R)$. The unirreps of this group have been classified [628,627]. They are rather unphysical in that the Lorentz subgroup will appear in unitary infinite representations, the unirreps of Gel'fand and Yaglom [219]. These contain all spins, and the action of the Lorentz boost on a state with spin j connects it with those of spin j + 1 and j 1. Such 'particles' are thus not characterized by definite spins, as phenomenologically required. Note that we do not encounter this difficulty with the fields and manifields, since these are constructed [628] with the *deunitarizing automorphism* \mathcal{A} . In a non-unitary and finite representation, the Lorentz boosts stay anti-Hermitian and cancel.
- **Case II:** The little group is $\overline{SA}(3, R)'$. This affine group consists of the semi-direct product of the spatial $\overline{SL}(3, R)$ with a 'fake' set of three 'translation' momenta p', in fact representing contributions of the spatial shears to the 0 direction. We now have two subcases:
 - **Case II A:** All three components p' = 0. The effective little group is then $\overline{SL}(3, R)$. The unirreps are induced over this subgroup, they can be reduced to infinite discrete sums of spins, fitting the hadron situation and also providing an interesting model for primordial fermion fields (in fact manifields). This picture has been studied in [492,493,498]. It fits all applications mentioned in section 4. Note that C(3') = 0, and, as a result, C(4) = 0 as well, since the multiplier of $(\mathring{p})^4$ is precisely the C(3') Casimir invariant of the stability subgroup defined by \mathring{p} .
 - **Case II B:** The fake momenta satisfy $p' \neq 0$. We can select a frame in which only p'^0 does not vanish, a fake energy-like component. $C(3') \sim (p'^0)^3 = (m')^3$, m' a mass-like eigenvalue. The new little group is $\overline{SA}(2, R)''$. Again, the 'translations' are fake momenta p''. We can have two subcases:
 - **Case II B1:** All components of p'' = 0 and C(2'') = 0. In that case, we get again both C(3'') = 0 and C(4) = 0. The effective little group is $\overline{SL}(2, R)$ (i.e. the double-covering, in an infinitely covered group). The unirreps have been classified by Bargmann [36] and are useful in a variety of physical contexts.
 - **Case II B2:** $p'' \neq 0$, $C(2'') \sim (p'')^2 = (m'')^2$. The little group is SA(1, R), with one fake momentum p'''. Again we have two possibilities:
 - **Case II B2a:** p''' = 0, C(1''') = 0. This is a scalar representation. As a result, C(2'') = C(3') = C(4) = 0.
 - **Case II B2b:** $p''' \neq 0$, C(1''') = q = m'''. Note that here $C(2'') = (m'')^2 m'''$, $C(3') = (m')^3 (m'')^2 m'''$ and $C(4) = m^4 (m')^3 (m'')^2 m'''$.

To summarize, we have five classes of representations: I, II A, II B1, II B2a, II B2b; which are illustrated in the following diagram:
145

 $\overline{SA}(4,R) \supset \overline{SL}(4,R) : I$ $\uparrow \\ \overline{SA}(3,R)' \supset \overline{SL}(3,R) : IIA$ $\uparrow \\ \overline{SA}(2,R)'' \supset \overline{SL}(2,R) : IIB1$ $\uparrow \\ SA(1,R) : IIB2a, IIB2b$ (C.5.4)

Moreover,

$$C(4) = 0$$
, for I, IIA, IIB1, IIB2a; $C(4) = m^4 (m')^3 (m'')^2 m'''$ for IIB2b.
(C.5.5)

At first sight, the Casimir invariant appears to constrain the masses and spins in a wrong manner, as in the Majorana [421] infinite-dimensional equation: the higher the spin, the lower the mass; this is the opposite of what we observe in hadron phenomenology and of what is assumed in the Chew-Frautschi plot for a Regge trajectory. However, considering that in the general case (including the most useful case II A) the invariant vanishes, the value of m^4 stays unconstrained in all but case II B2b. Instead, constraints on the value of the masses may be derived dynamically [499,501]. It is remarkable that an evaluation based on the 'pseudo-gravity' approximation for QCD in the infrared region does reproduce the linear correlation between m^2 and the spin j.

C.6. Induced representations of the $\overline{SA}(n, R)$

We have seen in section 4 that the manifields are constructed out of the linear representations of the (homogeneous) SL(4, R) – just like our conventional tensor fields (except for the involvement of the double-covering, for world-spinors). However, just as the Minkowski space particles' Hilbert space spectrum is given by unitary representations of the (inhomogeneous) Poincaré group $R^n \\le \\SO(1, n-1)$, so is the particle Hilbert space in a metric-affine geometry given by unitary representations of $SA(n, R) = R^n \\le \\SL(n, R)$, i.e. by those of SA(4, R) in our simplest physical situation. These representations have to be Wigner-Mackey induced representations, the induction being over the various stability subgroups, as they appear in the classification we have given in the previous section.

We start with the somewhat unphysical – but mathematically edifying – case I in our classification, namely situations in which the little group is the full homogeneous subgroup, i.e. SL(4, R). This fits precisely the five-dimensional Möbius representation-space of section 3.1, when we point the translation parameter vector into the "fifth" dimension. Following Trautman [681], the notion of G-vector bundles enables us to derive for this case the formula

$$\mathcal{D}(A)\Psi(\bar{x}) := \mathcal{D}(A_{\bar{x}}^{-1}AA_{A^{-1}\bar{x}}, \overset{\circ}{\bar{x}})\Psi(A^{-1}\bar{x}).$$
(C.6.1)

According to section 3.1, the group element $A := \begin{pmatrix} A & \tau \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ of the affine group acts on a vector $\bar{x} := \begin{pmatrix} x \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ of the *n*-dimensional hyperplane $\bar{\mathbb{R}}^n$. The representation depends on the representative vector $\hat{\bar{x}}$ of the chosen coset space ("group orbit"). For the "zero section" vector $\hat{\bar{x}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$, the stability group ('little group' in the sense of Wigner) is the SL(n, R). By definition, the group element $A_{\bar{x}}$

transforms this zero section vector into an arbitrary one according to $A_{\bar{x}} \overset{\circ}{\bar{x}} = \bar{x}$. Such an element is, up to an SL(n, R) similarity transformation, given by

$$\widetilde{A}_{\frac{1}{\lambda}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & x \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \widetilde{A}_{\frac{1}{\lambda}}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -x \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(C.6.2)

Moreover, we need the group element with the transformation behavior

$$A_{A^{-1}\bar{x}} \stackrel{\circ}{x} = A^{-1} \bar{x} = \begin{pmatrix} A^{-1}(x-\tau) \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (C.6.3)

This condition can be satisfied, for instance, by

$$\tilde{A}_{A^{-1}\bar{x}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & A^{-1}(x-\tau) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} .$$
(C.6.4)

Thus the argument of the inducing representation \mathcal{D} is given by

$$\tilde{A}_{\bar{x}}^{-1}A\,\tilde{A}_{A^{-1}\bar{x}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -x \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} A & \tau \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & A^{-1}(x-\tau) \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(C.6.5)

Since this is really an element of the little group SL(n, R) for the orbit chosen, we can write the induced representations in coordinate space simply as [cf. (C.4.7)]:

$$\mathcal{D}(\Lambda,\tau)\Psi(x) = \mathcal{D}(\Lambda)\Psi[\Lambda^{-1}(x-\tau)]. \tag{C.6.6}$$

Abandoning our mathematical Möbius space, we now return to spacetime with n = 4 – and for the physical particles' Hilbert space representations, to its Fourier transform – namely, momentum space. As explained in the previous section, the physical criteria point to case II A, with $\overline{SL}(3, R)$ as the residual effective little group (after putting p' = 0 for the eigenvalues of the full stability subgroup $\overline{SA}(3, R)'$). Note that the Fourier transform itself requires an SL(4, R)-invariant measure $d\mu(p)$ in $\Psi(x) = \int d\mu(p) \exp(-ip \cdot x) \Psi(p)$.

In the following, we apply the induced representation $\mathcal{D}(\overline{A}, \tau)$ on momentum states $\omega^{\{S\}}(p, M)$, where $\{S\}$ denotes the unirreps of $\overline{SL}(3, R)$, i.e. the $(j, \underline{k}, \sigma_2, \delta_2)$ of section C.2. By $\{M\}$ we labeled the quantum numbers *inside* an SL(3, R) unirreps, i.e. the spins j and helicities k. Let $\gamma(p)$, an element of the coset space, denote the special linear transformation which boosts, for a non-zero mass m, the momentum p to its rest frame $\mathring{P} = (m, 0, 0, 0)$. This boost is generated by the operators $\overset{(+)}{B}_{u}, \overset{(-)}{B}_{u}$, and S of (4.2.4). From the Fourier transform $\Psi(p)$ one gets the Wigner function $\omega(p)$ via $\omega(p) := \mathcal{D}(\gamma(p))\Psi(p)$. Then the induced representation acting on Wigner functions takes the form

$$\mathcal{D}(\overline{\Lambda},\tau)\omega^{\{s\}}(p,M) = e^{ip\cdot\tau} \sum_{M'} \mathcal{D}_{M'M}^{\{s\}} \left(\gamma(p)\overline{\Lambda}\gamma^{-1}(\Lambda^{-1}p), \circ p\right) \omega^{\{s\}}(p\Lambda,M').$$
(C.6.7)

In the case of the Poincaré group, we would have $pA = A^{-1}p$ in the argument of the right hand side due to the Hermitian property of Lorentz transformations. Then we recovered exactly Eq. (16.2) of Niederer and O'Raifeartaigh [512].

If, instead of working with Wigner functions, we work with ket vectors, i.e. with the conventional hadron Hilbert space of particle physics, Eq. (C.6.7) is replaced by the formula (B1) of [498], cf.

146

[626]. There, the "states" are Hilbert space Dirac ket vectors, labeled by the quantum numbers of the little group. For the Poincaré case, this would be the semi-direct product $T_3
otin SU(2)$ and the state is denoted $|p, \sigma\rangle$. The Poincaré group element is represented by $\mathcal{D}(\overline{A}, \tau) = \mathcal{D}(1, \tau) \mathcal{D}(\overline{A}, 0)$. Applied to the state, the Lorentz element $\mathcal{D}(\overline{A}, 0)$ acts first, resulting in $|Ap\rangle$ where A is the SO(1, 3)correspondent to \overline{A} (which is in the covering group SL(2, C)). The Wigner rotation thus acts on this state, which yields the exponential $\exp(i\tau \cdot Ap)$, as in [498]. The Wigner functions $\omega(p)$ of [512] do not represent the kets; instead, they are the matrix elements $\langle p|\omega\rangle$, with the momentum p labeling the dual (bra) Hilbert space. The action of $\mathcal{D}(1,\tau)\mathcal{D}(\overline{A},0)$ is actually to the left! The translation is thus applied to $\langle p|$, becoming $exp(i\tau \cdot p)$, which is then further multiplied by the Wigner rotation representation. As a result, the ordering of the decomposed operations is also inverted: The \overline{A} , $\gamma(p)$, $\gamma^{-1}(A^{-1}p)$ in (C.6.7) are in Eq. (B1) of [498] replaced by A, L_p , L_{Ap} , respectively.

References

- [1] F. Abe et al. (CDF Collaboration): Search for Squarks and Gluinos from $\overline{p}p$ Collisions at $\sqrt{s} = 1.8$ TeV, Phys. Rev. Lett. 69 (1992) 3439.
- [2] S.L. Adler: Einstein gravity as a symmetry-breaking effect in quantum field theory, Rev. Mod. Phys. 54 (1982) 729.
- [3] N.O. Agasyan: Dilaton at nonzero temperature and deconfinement in gluodynamics, JETP Lett. 57 (1993) 208-211.
- [4] A.G. Agnese and P. Calvini: Gauge fields arising from spacetime symmetries and gravitational theories L, II., Phys. Rev. D12 (1975) 3800, 3804.
- [5] A. Akahito: How to build a Planck-mass accelerator in your solar system, Scientific American 260 (April 1989) 82-85.
- [6] C. Albanese and R. de Ritis: Conformal equivalence in U₄-scalar field theories, Phys. Lett. A148 (1990) 301 .
- [7] A. Albrecht and P.J. Steinhardt: Cosmology for grand unified theories with radiatively induced symmetry breaking, Phys. Rev. Lett. 48 (1982) 1220.
- [8] R. Aldrovandi and E. Stédile: Complete gauge theory for the whole Poincaré group, Intern. J. Theor. Phys. 23 (1984) 301-323.
- [9] D. Amati and J. Russo: Symmetry restoration in spontaneously broken induced gravity, Phys. Lett. B248 (1990) 44.
- [10] J. Anandan: Remarks concerning the geometries of gravity and gauge fields, in: Directions in General Relativity, Proc. of the 1993 Intern. Symp., Maryland, Vol. 1, Papers in honor of Charles Misner. B.L. Hu, M.P. Ryan Jr., and C.V. Vishveshwara, eds. (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1993) p. 10; see also references given.
- [11] A.A. Andrianov, V.A. Andrianov, V.Yu. Novozhilov, and Yu. V. Novozhilov: A scalar meson is a dilaton in QCD JETP Lett. 43 (1986) 720 [Pis'ma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 43 (1986) 557].
- [12] M. Antonowicz, and W. Szcyrba: The dynamical structure of gravitational theories with GL(4, R) connections, J. Math. Phys. 26 (1985) 1711.
- [13] A. Arima and F. Jachello: Collective nuclear states as representations of an SU(6) group, Phys. Rev. Lett. 35 (1975) 1069-1072.
- [14] A. Arima and F. Iachello: Interacting boson model of collective (nuclear) states 1. The vibrational limit; II. The rotational limit; IV. The O(6) limit, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 99 (1976) 253-317; 111 (1978) 201-238; 123 (1979) 468-492.
- [15] A. Ashtekar: New Perspectives in Canonical Gravity (Bibliopolis, Napoli 1988).
- [16] M.J.D. Assad and P.S. Letelier: On a class of inflationary universes of the self-consistent Einstein-Cartan theory. Phys. Lett. A145 (1990) 74-78.
- [17] M. Atiyah: New invariants of 3- and 4-dimensional manifolds, in: The Mathematical Heritage of Hermann Weyl, Proc. Symposia Pure Math., Vol. 48, R. Wells, ed. (Am. Math. Soc., Providence, Rhode Island 1988) p. 285.
- [18] J. Audretsch, F. Gähler, and N. Straumann: Wave fields in Weyl spaces and condition for the existence of a preferred pseudo-Riemannian structure, Comm. Math. Phys. 95 (1984) 41.
- [19] J. Audretsch, F.W. Hehl, and C. Lämmerzahl: Matter wave interferometry and why quantum objects are fundamental for establishing a gravitational theory, in: Relativistiv Gravity Research, Proc., Bad Honnef, Germany 1991, J. Ehlers and G. Schäfer, eds., Lecture Notes in Physics (Springer) 410 (1992) 368-407.

- [20] R. de Azeredo Campos: Lagrange multipliers and Gauss-Bonnet-type invariants in Riemann-Cartan space, J. Math. Phys. 31 (1990) 1217.
- [21] R. Bach: Zur Weylschen Relativitätstheorie und der Weylschen Erweiterung des Krümmungstensorbegriffs, Math. Z. 9 (1921) 110.
- [22] P. Baekler Prolongation structure and Bäcklund transformations of gravitational double duality equations, Class. Quantum Grav. 8 (1991) 1023.
- [23] P. Baekler, R. Hecht, F.W. Hehl, and T. Shirafuji: Mass and spin of exact solutions of the Poincaré gauge theory, Progr. Theor. Phys. 78 (1987) 16.
- [24] P. Baekler, F.W. Hehl, and H.J. Lenzen: Vacuum solutions with double duality properties of the Poincaré gauge field theory. II, in: 3rd Marcel Grossmann Meeting on General Relativity, Hu Ning, ed. (North-Holland, Amsterdam 1983) pp. 107-128.
- [25] P. Baekler, F.W. Hehl, and E.W. Mielke: Vacuum solutions with double duality properties of a quadratic Poincaré gauge field theory, in: Proc. of the 2nd Marcel Grossmann Meeting on the Recent Progress of the Fundamentals of General Relativity 1978, R. Ruffini, ed. (North-Holland, Amsterdam 1982) pp. 413-453.
- [26] P. Baekler, F.W. Hehl, and E.W. Mielke: Nonmetricity and torsion: Facts and fancies in gauge approaches to gravity, in: Proc. of the 4th Marcel Grossmann Meeting on General Relativity, R. Ruffini, ed. (Elsevier Science Publ., Amsterdam 1986) p. 277.
- [27] P. Baekler and E.W. Mielke: Hamiltonian structure of Poincaré gauge theory and separation of non-dynamical variables in exact torsion solutions, Fortschr. Phys. 36 (1988) 549.
- [28] P. Baekler, E.W. Mielke, R. Hecht, and F.W. Hehl: Kinky torsion in a Poincaré gauge model of gravity coupled to a massless scalar field, Nucl. Phys. B288 (1987) 800.
- [29] P. Baekler, E.W. Mielke, and F.W. Hehl: Dynamical symmetries in topological 3D gravity with torsion, Nuovo Cimento 107B (1992) 91.
- [30] W.M. Baker: Cosmic strings in Riemann-Cartan spacetimes, Class. Quantum Grav. 7 (1990) 717-730.
- [31] T. Banks, D. Nemeschansky, and A. Sen: Dilaton coupling and BRST quantization of bosonic strings, Nucl. Phys. B277 (1986) 67.
- [32] B.M. Barbashov and V.V. Nesterenko: Superstrings: a new approach to a unified theory of fundamental interactions, Sov. Phys. Uspekhi 29 (1986) 1077 [Usp. Fiz. Nauk. 150 (1986) 489].
- [33] F. Barbero, J. Julve, A. Tiemblo, and R. Tresguerres: Dynamical approach to conformal gravity and the bosonic string effective action, Z. Phys. 40 (1988) 619.
- [34] F. Barbero, A. Tiemblo, and R. Tresguerres: Mass generation for gauge mesons in conformal quantum gravity, Nuovo Cimento 103A (1990) 297-301.
- [35] W.A. Bardeen: Anomalous currents in gauge field theory, Nucl. Phys. B75 (1974) 246.
- [36] V. Bargmann: Irreducible unitary representations of the Lorentz group, Ann. of Math. 48 (1947) 568.
- [37] J.D. Barrow: New types of inflationary universe, Phys. Rev. D48 (1993) 1585.
- [38] A.O. Barut and R. Raczka: Theory of Group Representations and Applications, 2nd rev. ed. (PWN Polish Sci. Publ., Warszawa 1980).
- [39] A.O. Barut and A. Bohm: Dynamical groups and mass formula, Physical Review 161 (1965) 1571.
- [40] A.O. Barvinsky, A.Yu. Kamenshchik, and I.P. Karmazin: Renormalization group for nonrenormalizable theories: Einstein gravity with a scalar field, Phys. Rev. 48 (1993) 3677-3694.
- [41] M. Bauer, D.Z. Freedman, and P.E. Haagensen: Spatial geometry of the electric field representation of non-abelian gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B428 (1994) 147-168.
- [42] L. Baulieu: On the cohomological structure of gauge theories, in: Architecture of Fundamental Interactions at Short Distances, Les Houches 1985, P. Ramond and R. Stora, eds. (North-Holland, Amsterdam 1987) pp. 999-1011.
- [43] A. Beesham: A note on the Cauchy problem in the scale covariant theory of gravitation, in Proc. of the 5th Marcel Grossmann Meeting on General Relativity, D.G. Blair and M.J. Buckingham, eds. (World Scientific, Singapore 1989) p. 739.
- [44] J.D. Bekenstein: Exact solutions of Einstein-conformal scalar equations, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 82 (1974) 535.
- [45] J.D. Bekenstein: Gravitation and spontaneous symmetry breaking, Found. Phys. 16 (1986) 409.
- [46] F.J. Belinfante: On the spin angular momentum of mesons, Physica 6 (1939) 887.
- [47] F.J. Belinfante: On the current and the density of the electric charge, the energy, the linear momentum and the angular momentum of arbitrary fields, Physica 7 (1940) 449.

- [48] I.M. Benn, T. Dereli, and R.W. Tucker: Gauge field interactions in spaces with arbitrary torsion, Phys. Lett. B96 (1980) 100.
- [49] I.M. Benn and W.P. Wood: Dilation currents, J. Math. Phys. 33 (1992) 2765.
- [50] M. Berger and D. Ebin: Some decompositions of the space of symmetric tensors on a Riemannian manifold, J. Differential Geom. 3 (1969) 379.
- [51] P.G. Bergmann, Introduction to the Theory of Relativity (Prentice Hall, New York 1942).
- [52] P.G. Bergmann: On Einstein's λ transformations, Phys. Rev. 103 (1956) 780.
- [53] P.G. Bergmann and A.B. Komar: Generalized Weyl-type gauge geometry, J. Math. Phys. 26 (1985) 2030.
- [54] E. Bergshoeff, Abdus Salam, and E. Sezgin: A supersymmetric R^2 -action in six dimensions and torsion, Phys. Lett. B173 (1986) 73.
- [55] E. Bergshoeff, E. Sezgin, and P.K. Townsend: Supermembranes and eleven-dimensional supergravity, Phys. Lett. 189B (1987) 75.
- [56] J.-P. Berthias and B. Shahid-Saless: Torsion and non-metricity in scalar-tensor theories of gravity, Class. Quantum Grav. 10 (1993) 1039.
- [57] B. Bhattacharya and K.R. Chatterjee: On the possible existence of a lepton-dominated era in the very early universe, Phys. Lett. A133 (1988) 105.
- [58] L.C. Biedenham, L.C. Cusson, R.Y. Han and O.L. Weaver: Hadronic regge sequences as primitive realizations of *SL*(3, *R*) symmetry, Phys. Lett. B42 (1972) 257-260.
- [59] J.J. van der Bij: Can gravity make the Higgs particle decouple? Acta Physica Polonica, to appear.
- [60] R.L. Bishop and S.I. Goldberg: Tensor Analysis on Manifolds (Dover, New York 1980).
- [61] M. Blagojević and M. Vasilić: Constraint algebra in Poincaré gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D36 (1987) 1679.
- [62] M. Blagojević and M. Vasilić: Asymptotic symmetry and conserved quantities in the Poincaré gauge theory of gravity, Class. Quantum Grav. 5 (1988) 1241-1257.
- [63] U. Bleyer: From GRT to curvature squared theories or the other way round, in: Physical Interpretations of Relativity Theory, London, Sept. 1992, British Society for the Philosophy of Science, Proc. (mimeographed, London 1992) p. 32.
- [64] U. Bleyer and V.M. Nikolaenko: Spontaneous symmetry breaking due to polarization currents, Gen. Rel. Grav. 19 (1987) 525.
- [65] U. Bleyer and V.M. Nikołaenko: Symmetry breaking due to conformally invariant scalar field, Ann. Phys. (Leipzig) 46 (1989) 41.
- [66] J. Blümlein, G. Ingelman, M. Klein, and R. Rückl: Testing QCD scaling violations in the HERA energy range, Z. Phys. C45 (1990) 501.
- [67] A. Bohm: Spectrum supersymmetry of Regge trajectories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 57 (1986) 1203.
- [68] A. Bohm, Y. Ne'eman, A. O. Barut and others: Dynamical Groups and Spectrum Generating Algebras, Vol.1 & 2 (World Scientific, Singapore 1988).
- [69] R. Bott and L.W. Tu: Differential forms in algebraic topology (Springer, New York 1982).
- [70] A. Bouda: Gauged BRS symmetry for the Weyl × Lorentz × diffeomorphism group, Phys. Rev. D38 (1988) 3174.
- [71] D.G. Boulware and S. Deser: Effective gravity theories with dilations, Phys. Lett. B175 (1986) 409.
- [72] J.-P. Bourguignon and P. Gauduchon: Spineur, opérateur de Dirac et variation, Comm. Math. Phys. 144 (1992) 581-599.
- [73] J.-P. Bourguignon and H.B. Lawson, Jr.: Stability and isolation phenomena for Yang-Mills fields, Comm. Math. Phys. 79 (1981) 189-230.
- [74] T. Bradfield: A new approach to spontaneously broken conformal symmetry, Gen. Rel. Grav. 21 (1989) 665 .
- [75] T. Bradfield: A note on the physical interpretation of Weyl gauging, Gen. Rel. Grav. 22 (1990) 65.
- [76] F. Brandt, N. Dragon and M. Kreuzer: The gravitational anomalies, Nucl. Phys. B340 (1990) 187.
- [77] C. Brans and R.H. Dicke: Mach's principle and a relativistic theory of gravitation, Phys. Rev. 124 (1961) 925-935.
- [78] C.H. Brans: Complex structures and representations of the Einstein equations, J. Math. Phys. 15 (1974) 1559-1566.
- [79] C.H. Brans: Some restrictions on algebraically general vacuum metrics, J. Math. Phys. 16 (1975) 1008-1010.
- [80] C.H. Brans: Non-linear Lagrangians and the significance of the metric, Class. Quantum Grav. 5 (1988) L197-L199.
- [81] C.H. Brans: Exotic smoothness and physics, J. Math. Phys. 35 (1994) 5494-5506.
- [82] A. Bregman: Weyl transformations and Poincaré gauge invariance, Progr. Theor. Phys. 49 (1973) 667.
- [83] S. Brown: Scale and conformal invariance in Lagrangian field theory, Proc. Roy. Irish Acad. A73 (1973) 179.

- [84] I.L. Buchbinder, O.K. Kalashnikov, I.L. Shapiro, V.B. Vologodsky, and J.J. Wolfengaut: Asymptotic freedom in the conformal quantum gravity with matter, Fortschr. Phys. 37 (1989) 207.
- [85] I.L. Buchbinder and S.D. Odintsov: The behaviour of effective coupling constants in 'finite' grand unification theories in curved space-time with torsion, Europhys. Lett. 8 (1989) 595.
- [86] H.A. Buchdahl: On the nonexistence of a class of static Einstein spaces asymptotic at infinity to a space of constant curvature, J. Math. Phys. 1 (1960) 537.
- [87] W. Buchmüller and C. Busch: Symmetry breaking and mass bounds in the standard model with hidden scale invariance, Nucl. Phys. B349 (1991) 71.
- [88] W. Buchmüller and N. Dragon: Scale invariance and spontaneous symmetry breaking, Phys. Lett. B195 (1987) 417-422.
- [89] W. Buchmüller and N. Dragon: Einstein gravity from restricted coordinate invariance, Phys. Lett. B207 (1988) 292.
- [90] W. Buchmüller and N. Dragon: Dilatons in flat and curved space-time, Nucl. Phys. B321 (1989) 207.
- [91] W. Buchmüller and N. Dragon: Gauge fixing and the cosmological constant, Phys. Lett. B223 (1989) 313.
- (92) W. Buchmüller and D. Wyler: The effect of dilatons on the electroweak phase transition, Phys. Lett. B249 (1990) 281.
- [93] P. Budini, P. Furlan, and R. Raczka: Weyl and conformal covariant field theories, Nuovo Cimento 52A (1979) 191.
- [94] P. Budinich and A. Trautman: The Spinorial Chessboard (Springer, Berlin 1988).
- [95] W.L. Burke: Applied Differential Geometry (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1985).
- [96] C.G. Callan, Jr., S. Coleman, and R. Jackiw: A new improved energy-momentum tensor, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 59 (1970) 42.
- [97] C.G. Callan, D. Friedan, E.J. Martinec, and M.J. Perry: Strings in background fields, Nucl. Phys. B262 (1985) 593-609.
- [98] C.G. Callan, I.R. Klebanov, and M.J. Perry: String theory effective actions, Nucl. Phys. B278 (1986) 78-90.
- [99] A. Cant and Y. Ne'eman: Spinorial infinite equations fitting metric-affine gravity, J. Math. Phys. 26 (1985) 3180.
- [100] A. Capelli and A. Coste: On the stress tensor of conformal field theories in higher dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B314 (1989) 707.
- [101] R. Capovilla, T. Jacobson, and J. Dell: General relativity without the metric, Phys. Rev. Lett. 63 (1989) 2325.
- [102] S. Caracciolo, G. Curci, P. Menotti, and A. Pelissetto: Renormalization of the energy-momentum tensor and the trace anomaly in lattice QCD, Phys. Lett. B228 (1989) 375.
- [103] É. Cartan: On Manifolds with an Affine Connection and the Theory of General Relativity, English translation of the French original (Bibliopolis, Napoli 1986).
- [104] B. Carter and I.M. Khalatnikov: Momentum, vorticity, and helicity in covariant superfluid dynamics, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 219 (1992) 243-265.
- [105] A. Casher: Correspondence principle constraints on quantum gravity, Phys. Lett. B195 (1987) 50.
- [106] C. Castro: A supersymmetric Lagrangian for Poincaré gauge theories of gravity, Progr. Theor. Phys. 82 (1989) 616-630.
- [107] C. Castro: Nonlinear quantum mechanics as Weyl geometry of a classical statistical ensemble, Found. Phys. Lett. 4 (1991) 81-99.
- [108] A.H. Chamseddine and J. Fröhlich: Two-dimensional Lorentz-Weyl anomaly and gravitational Chem-Simons theory, Comm. Math. Phys. 147 (1992) 549-562.
- [109] G.F. Chaplin: Higgs fields and the origin of gravity, Phys. Lett. 94B (1980) 394.
- [110] J.M. Charap and W. Tait: A gauge theory of the Weyl group, Proc. Royal Soc. London A340 (1974) 249.
- [111] H. Cheng: Possible existence of Weyl's vector meson, Phys. Rev. Lett. 61 (1988) 2182.
- [112] H. Cheng, and W.F. Kao: Consequences of scale invariance (MIT preprint 1988).
- [113] K.-S. Cheng: New identities on the Riemann tensor, J. Math. Phys. 17 (1976) 198.
- [114] T.-P. Cheng and L.-F. Li: Gauge Theory of Elementary Particle Physics (Clarendon Press, Oxford 1984).
- [115] S.S. Chern, ed.: Global Differential Geometry. Studies in Mathematics, Vol. 27 (Math. Assoc. of America, 1989).
- [116] S.S. Chern and J. Simons, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. (USA) 68 (1971) 791.
- [117] S.S. Chern and J. Simons: Characteristic forms and geometric invariants, Ann. of Math. 99 (1974) 48-69.
- [118] N.A. Chernikov and E.A. Tagirov: Quantum theory of scalar field in de Sitter space-time, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré 9 (1968) 109.

- [119] L.P. Chimento, A.S. Jakubi, and J. Pullin: Coleman-Weinberg symmetry breaking in a rotating spacetime, Class. Quantum Grav. 6 (1989) L45.
- [120] Y.M. Cho: Reinterpretation of Jordan-Brans-Dicke theory and Kaluza-Klein cosmology, Phys. Rev. Lett. 68 (1992) 3133.
- [121] Y. Choquet-Bruhat, C. DeWitt-Morette, and M. Dillard-Bleick: Analysis, Manifolds and Physics, revised ed. (North-Holland, Amsterdam 1982).
- [122] T.E. Clark and S.T. Love: The supercurrent and spontaneously broken symmetry, Phys. Rev. D39 (1989) 2391.
- [123] S. Coleman: Structure of phenomenological Lagrangians. I, II, Phys. Rev. 177 (1969) 2239; 2247.
- [124] S. Coleman: Dilatations, Chapter 3 in: Aspects of Symmetry (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1985) p. 67.
- [125] S. Coleman: Why there is nothing rather than something: A theory of the cosmological constant, Nucl. Phys. B310 (1988) 643.
- [126] S. Coleman and J. Mandula: All possible symmetries of the S-matrix, Phys. Rev. 159 (1967) 1251.
- [127] S. Coleman and E. Weinberg: Radiative corrections as the origin of spontaneous symmetry breaking, Phys. Rev. D7 (1973) 1888.
- [128] B. Coll and J.A. Morales: Comments on space-time signature, J. Math. Phys. 34 (1993) 2468.
- [129] G.D. Coughlan, I. Kani, G.G. Ross, and G. Segrè: Dilations and the cosmological constant, Nucl. Phys. B316 (1989) 469.
- [130] L. Crane and L. Smolin: Renormalizability of general relativity on a background of spacetime foam, Nucl. Phys. B267 (1986) 714.
- [131] E. Cremmer and B. Julia: The SO(8) supergravity, Nucl. Phys. B159 (1979) 141.
- [132] L. Dabrowski and R. Percacci: Spinors and diffeomorphisms, Comm. Math. Phys. 106 (1986) 691.
- [133] T. Damour, G.W. Gibbons and C. Gundlach: Dark matter, time-varying G, and a dilaton field, Phys. Rev. Lett. 64 (1990) 123.
- [134] R.E. Dashen and M. Gell-Mann: Representations of local current algebra at infinite momentum, Phys. Rev. Lett. 17 (1966) 340.
- [135] T. Dass: Gauge fields, space-time geometry and gravity, Pramana 23 (1984) 433.
- [136] W.R. Davis, W.M. Baker, and L.H. Green: Simple conformal-projective invariant gravitational theories with torsion, in: On Relativity Theory, Proc. of the Sir Arthur Eddington Centenary Symposium, Vol.2, Y. Choquet-Bruhat and T.M. Karade, eds. (World Scientific, Singapore 1985) p. 1.
- [137] V. De Alfaro, S. Fubini, and G. Furlan: Gauge theories and strong gravity, Nuovo Cimento 50A (1979) 523.
- [138] V. De Alfaro, S. Fubini, and G. Furlan: A new approach to the theory of gravitation, Nuovo Cimento 57B (1980) 227-252.
- [139] H. Dehnen and H. Frommert: Higgs-field gravity within the standard model, Intern. J. Theor. Phys. 30 (1991) 985.
- [140] J. Dell: Metric and connection in Einstein and Yang-Mills theory, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Maryland (1981).
- [141] J. Dell, J.L. deLyra, and L. Smolin: Quantization of a gauge theory with independent metric and connection fields, Phys. Rev. D34 (1986) 3012.
- [142] A.P. Demichev and N.F. Nelipa: Invariant operators of inhomogeneous groups. I. The IGL(n, R) group. II. The ISL(n, R) group, Vestn. Mosk. Univ. Ser. 3 (USSR) 35 (1980) 3-7, 7-10. [Engl. transl. Moscow Univ. Phys. Bull. (USA) 35 (1980) 1-5, 6-9].
- [143] T. Dereli, M. Önder and R.W. Tucker: Signature transitions in quantum cosmology, Class. Quantum Grav. 10 (1993) 1425-1434.
- [144] T. Dereli and R.W. Tucker: A note on a generalisation of Weyl's theory of gravitation, J. Phys. A15 (1982) L7.
- [145] T. Dereli and R.W. Tucker: Weyl scalings and spinor matter interactions in scalar-tensor theories of gravitation, Phys. Lett. B110 (1982) 206.
- [146] T. Dereli and R.W. Tucker: Variational methods and effective actions in string models, Class. Quantum Grav. 4 (1987) 791.
- [147] T. Dereli and R.W. Tucker: Signature dynamics in general relativity, Class. Quantum Grav. 10 (1993) 365-373.
- [148] S. Deser: Scale invariance and gravitational coupling, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 59 (1970) 248.
- [149] S. Deser and W. Drechsler: Generalized gauge field copies, Phys. Lett. B86 (1979) 189.
- [150] S. Deser and P. van Nieuwenhuizen: One-loop divergences of quantized Einstein-Maxwell fields, Phys. Rev. D10 (1974) 401, also 410.

- [151] S. Deser, P. van Nieuwenhuizen, and H.S. Tsao: One-loop divergences of the Einstein-Yang-Mills system, Phys. Rev. D10 (1974) 3337.
- [152] S. Deser and A.N. Redlich: String-induced gravity and ghost-freedom, Phys. Lett. 176B (1986) 350.
- [153] S. Deser and A. Schwimmer: Geometric classification of conformal anomalies in arbitrary dimensions, Phys. Lett. B309 (1993) 279.
- [154] S. Deser and Z. Yang: A remark on the Higgs effect in presence of Chem-Simons terms, Mod. Phys. Lett. A4 (1989) 2123-2124.
- [155] S. Deser and B. Zumino: Consistent supergravity, Phys. Lett. 62B (1976) 335.
- [156] B.S. DeWitt: Dynamical Theory of Groups and Fields, in: Relativity, Groups, and Topology, Les Houches Lectures 1963, C. and B. DeWitt, eds. (Blackie & Son, London 1964) pp. 587-820.
- [157] B.S. DeWitt: The spacetime approach to quantum field theory, in: Relativity, Groups and Topology II, B.S. DeWitt and R. Stora, eds. (North-Holland, Amsterdam 1984) pp. 381-738.
- [158] A. Dimakis: The initial value problem of the Poincaré gauge theory in vacuum. I. Second order formalism. II. First order formalism, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré A51 (1989) 371, 389.
- [159] J.A. Dixon: Field redefinition and renormalization in gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B99 (1975) 420.
- [160] V.K. Dobrev and O.Ts. Stoytchev: Structural analysis and elementary representations of SL(4, R) and GL(4, R) and their covering groups, J. Math. Phys. 27 (1986) 883-899.
- [161] C.T.J. Dodson and T. Poston: Tensor Geometry. The geometric viewpoint and its uses, 2nd ed. (Springer, Berlin 1991).
- [162] S.K. Donaldson: An application of gauge theory to four dimensional topology, J. Differential Geometry 18 (1983) 279.
- [163] S.K. Donaldson: The Yang-Mills equations on Euclidean space, in: Perspectives in Mathematics. Anniversary of Oberwolfach 1984 (Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel 1984) p. 93.
- [164] J.F. Donoghue and H. Leutwyler: Energy and momentum in chiral theories, Z. Phys. C52 (1991) 343.
- [165] Y. Dothan: Finite dimensional spectrum-generating algebras, Phys. Rev. D2 (1970) 2944.
- [166] Y. Dothan, M. Gell-Mann and Y. Ne'eman: Series of hadron energy levels as representations of non-compact groups, Phys. Lett. 17 (1965) 148-151.
- [167] Y. Dothan and Y. Ne'eman: Band spectra generated by non-compact algebra, in: Symmetry Groups in Nuclear and Particle Physics, F.J. Dyson, ed. (Benjamin, New York 1966) pp. 287-310.
- [168] N.A. Doughty: Lagrangian Interaction. An introduction to relativistic symmetry in electrodynamics and gravitation (Addison-Wesley, Sydney 1990).
- [169] N. Dragon and M. Kreuzer: Quantization of restricted gravity, Z. Phys. C41 (1988) 485.
- [170] T. Dray, R. Kulkarni, and J. Samuel: Duality and conformal structure, J. Math. Phys. 30 (1989) 1306.
- [171] T. Dray, C.A. Manogue, and R.W. Tucker: Particle production from signature change, Gen. Rel. Grav. 23 (1991) 967.
- [172] M. Dubois-Violette and J. Madore: Conservation laws and integrability conditions for gravitational and Yang-Mills field equations, Comm. Math. Phys. 108 (1987) 213.
- [173] A. Duncan: Conformal anomalies in curved space-time, Phys. Lett. 66B (1977) 170.
- [174] A.S. Eddington, The Mathematical Theory of Relativity, 2nd ed. (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1924).
- [175] D.G.B. Edelen: Direct gauging of the Poincaré group, Intern. J. Theor. Phys. 24 (1985) 659.
- [176] D.G.B. Edelen: Applied Exterior Calculus (Wiley, New York 1985).
- [177] D.G.B. Edelen: Space-time defect solutions of the Einstein field equations, Int. J. Theor. Physics 33 (1994) 1315-1334.
- [178] S.B. Edgar: Conditions for a symmetric connection to be a metric connection, J. Math. Phys. 33 (1992) 3716.
- [179] S.B. Edgar: Curvature copies and the uniqueness of Bianchi-type equations: the symmetric connection case, Class. Quantum Grav. 10 (1993) 2545-2555.
- [180] A. Einstein: The Meaning of Relativity, 5th ed. (Princeton University Press, Princeton 1955).
- [181] L.P. Eisenhart: Non-Riemannian Geometry (Americ. Math. Soc. Coll. Publication, New York 1927).
- [182] E. Eizenberg and Y. Ne'ernan: Symmetrically paired BRST algebra for strings and extendons, Phys. Lett. 206B (1988) 463.
- [183] G.F.R. Ellis: Covariant change of signature in classical relativity, Gen. Rel. Grav. 24 (1992) 1047.

- [184] F. Englert, E. Gunzig, C. Truffin, and P. Windey : Conformal invariant general relativity with dynamical symmetry breakdown, Phys. Lett. 57B (1975) 73.
- [185] F. Englert, C. Truffin, and R. Gastmans: Conformal invariance in quantum gravity, Nucl. Phys. B117 (1976) 407.
- [186] J.L. Ericksen: Liquid crystals with variable degree of orientation, Arch. Rational Mech. Analysis 113 (1991) 97-120.
- [187] A.C. Eringen and C.B. Kafadar, in Continuum Physics, Vol. IV. A.C. Eringen, ed. (Academic Press, New York 1976) pp. 1-73.
- [188] G. Esposito: Quantum Gravity, Quantum Cosmology and Lorentzian Geometries, 2nd ed., Lecture Notes in Physics, Vol. m 12 (Springer, Berlin 1994).
- [189] F.I. Fedorov, A.V. Minkevich, and N.H. Chuong: Spontaneous symmetry breaking by gravitational field and regular isotropic models with torsion, Class. Quantum Grav. 5 (1988) 515.
- [190] A.J. Fennelly, J.C. Bradas, and L.L. Smalley: Inflation in Einstein-Cartan theory with energy-momentum tensor with spin, Phys. Lett. A129 (1988) 195.
- [191] S. Ferrara, R. Gatto, and A.F. Grillo: Conformal algebra in space-time and operator product expansions, Springer Tracts in Modern Physics, Vol. 6 (Springer, Berlin 1973).
- [192] R. Feynman: Lectures on Gravitation. Lecture notes by F.B. Morinigo and W.G. Wagner (California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, California 1962/63).
- [193] R. Feynman: The Character of Physical Law (MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass. 1967) p. 161.
- [194] E. Fischbach, D. Sudarsky, A. Szafer, C. Talmadge, and S. H. Aronson: Reanalysis of the Eötvös experiment, Phys. Rev. Lett. 56 (1986) 3-6.
- [195] E. Fischbach, D. Sudarsky, A. Szafer, C. Talmadge, and S. H. Aronson: A new force in nature?, in: Proc. 2nd Conference on Intersections between Particle and Nuclear Physics, Lake Louise, Canada, May 1986.
- [196] A.E. Fischer: The internal symmetry group of a connection on a principal fiber bundle with applications to gauge theories, Comm. Math. Phys. 113 (1987) 231.
- [197] A.E. Fischer and J.E. Marsden: The manifold of conformally equivalent metrics, Can. J. Math. 29 (1977) 193.
- [198] M. Flato and R. Raczka: A possible gravitational origin of the Higgs field in the standard model, Phys. Lett. B208 (1988) 110.
- [199] R. Floreanini and R. Percacci: Palatini formalism and new canonical variables for GL(4)-invariant gravity, Class. Quantum Grav. 7 (1990) 1805.
- [200] R. Floreanini and R. Percacci: GL(3)-invariant gravity without metric, Class. Quantum Grav. 8 (1991) 273.
- [201] R. Floreanini and R. Percacci: The renormalization group flow of the dilaton potential, e-preprint archive Los Alamos, hep-th/9412181 (1994).
- [202] R. Floreanini, R. Percacci, and E. Spalluci: Why is the metric nondegenerate, preprint SISSA 132/EP (1990), unpublished.
- [203] E.S. Fradkin and A.A. Tseytlin: Effective field theory from quantized strings, Phys. Lett. B158 (1985) 316.
- [204] P.H. Frampton, Y.J. Ng, and H. van Dam: Possible solution of strong CP problem in generalized unimodular gravity, J. Math. Phys. 33 (1992) 3881.
- [205] D.Z. Freedman, P.E. Haagensen, K. Johnson, and J.I. Latorre: The hidden spatial geometry of non-abelian gauge theories, MIT preprint CTP 2238 (Aug. 1993), unpublished.
- [206] D.Z. Freedman and P. van Nieuwenhuizen: Properties of supergravity theory, Phys. Rev. D14 (1976) 912.
- [207] D.Z. Freedman, P. van Nieuwenhuizen and S. Ferrara: Progress towards a theory of supergravity, Phys. Rev. D13 (1976) 3214.
- [208] M.H. Freedman: The topology of four-dimensional manifolds, J. Differential Geom. 17 (1982) 357-453.
- [209] J.K. Freericks and M.B. Halpern: Conformal deformation by currents of affine g, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 188 (1988) 258-306.
- [210] Y. Fujii: Dilation and possible non-Newtonian gravity, Nature (Phys. Sci.) 234 (1971) 5.
- [211] Y. Fujii: Scalar-tensor theory of gravitation and spontaneous breakdown of scale invariance, Phys. Rev. D9 (1974) 874.
- [212] Y. Fujii : Theoretical models for possible nonzero effect in the Eötvös experiment, Prog. Theor. Phys. 76 (1986) 325.
- [213] R.O. Fulp: Affine geometries defined by fiber preserving diffeomorphisms, J. Geometry & Physics 7 (1990) 201-240.
- [214] R.O. Fulp, L.K. Norris and W.R. Davies: Projective and volume-preserving bundle structures involved in the formulation of A(4) gauge theories, Gen. Rel. Grav. 18 (1986) 1.

- [215] T. Fulton, F. Rohrlich, and L. Witten: Conformal invariance in physics, Rev. Mod. Phys. 34 (1962) 442.
- [216] D.V. Gal'tsov and B.C. Xanthopoulos: A generating technique for Einstein gravity conformally coupled to a scalar field with Higgs potential, J. Math. Phys. 33 (1991) 273.
- [217] L.C. Garcia de Andrade: Singularities in spacetimes with torsion, Intern. J. Theor. Phys. 29 (1990) 997-1001.
- [218] I.M. Gel'fand and M.A. Naimark, Izv. Akad. Nauk. SSSR, Ser. Mat. 11 (1947) 411.
- [219] I.M. Gel'fand and A.M. Yaglom: Relativistic invariant equations and infinite representations of the Lorentz group, Pauli theorem for relativistic invariant equations, Unified treatment of relativistic invariant equations, all articles in Russian, Zh. Exp. Teor. Fiz. 18 (1948) 703, 1096, 1105.
- [220] M. Gell-Mann: Angular momentum and the algebra of current components, Phys. Rev. Lett. 14 (1965) 77.
- [221] G. Germán: Brans-Dicke-type models with torsion, Phys. Rev. D32 (1985) 3307.
- [222] G. Germán, A. Macías, and O. Obregón: Kaluza-Klein approach in higher-dimensional theories of gravity with torsion, Class. Quantum Grav. 10 (1993) 1045-1053.
- [223] G.W. Gibbons and D. L. Wiltshire: Spacetime as a membrane in higher dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B287 (1987) 717.
- [224] S.B. Giddings: Spontaneous breakdown of diffeomorphism invariance, Phys. Lett. B268 (1991) 17.
- [225] D. Giulini: On the configuration space topology in general relativity, submitted to Helvetica Physica Acta (1994).
- [226] M. Göckeler and T. Schücker: Differential geometry, gauge theories, and gravity (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1987).
- [227] H. Goenner: Unified field theories: From Eddington and Einstein up to now, in: Proc. of the Sir Arthur Eddington Centenary Symposium, Vol.1: Relativistic Astrophysics and Cosmology, V. De Sabbata and T.M. Karade, eds. (World Scientific, Singapore 1984).
- [228] H. Goenner: Alternative theories of gravity, in: General Relativity and Gravitation, GR11. M.A.H. MacCallum, ed. (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1987) pp. 262-273.
- [229] H. Goenner and M. Kohler: On the generalized Lagrangian for general relativity and some of its implications. I. Nuovo Cimento 22B (1974) 79.
- [230] G.A. Goldin, R. Menikoff, D.H. Sharp: Induced representations of the group of diffeomorphisms of R³, J. Phys. A16 (1983) 1827.
- [231] J. Goldstone: Field theories with 'superconductor' solutions, Nuovo Cimento 19 (1961) 154.
- [232] M.H. Goroff and A. Sagnotti: Quantum gravity at two loops, Phys. Lett. 160B (1985) 81.
- [233] M.H. Goroff and A. Sagnotti: The ultraviolet behavior of Einstein gravity, Nucl. Phys. B266 (1986) 709.
- [234] S. Gotzes and A.C. Hirshfeld: A geometric formulation of the SO(3, 2) theory of gravity, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 203 (1990) 410.
- [235] R.H. Gowdy: Affine projection tensor geometry: Decomposing the curvature tensor when the connection is arbitrary and the projection is tilted, J. Math. Phys. 35 (1994) 1274.
- [236] A.E. Green and R.S. Rivlin, Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal. 17 (1964) 113.
- [237] M.B. Green: Superstrings and the unification of forces and particles, in: Field Theory, Quantum Gravity and Strings, Lecture Notes in Physics, Vol. 246 (Springer, Berlin 1986) p. 134.
- [238] M.B. Green, J.H. Schwarz and E. Witten: Superstring Theory, 2 volumes (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1987).
- [239] D. Gregorash and G. Papini: Weyl-Dirac theory with torsion, Nuovo Cimento B55 (1980) 37; Weyl-Dirac theory with torsion. II. Foundations and conservation equations, Nuovo Cimento B56 (1980) 21.
- [240] D. Gregorash and G. Papini: Torsion in a multiply connected Weyl-Dirac geometry, Nuovo Cimento 64B (1981) 55.
- [241] W.H. Greub: Linear Algebra (Springer, Berlin 1963).
- [242] W.H. Greub and S. Halpern: An intrinsic definition of the Dirac operator, Collectanea Mathematica (Seminario Matematico de Barcelona) 26 (1975) 19.
- [243] G. Grignani and G. Nardelli: Gravity and the Poincaré group, Phys. Rev. D45 (1992) 2719.
- [244] D.R. Grigore: A generalized Lagrangian formalism in particle mechanics and classical field theory, Fortschr. Phys. 41 (1993) 569-617.
- [245] B. Grinstein and M. Wise: Light scalars in quantum gravity, Phys. Lett. B 212 (1988) 407.
- [246] F. Gronwald and F.W. Hehl: Stress and hyperstress as fundamental concepts in continuum mechanics and in relativistic field theory, in: Advances in Modern Continuum Dynamics, International Conference in Memory of Antonio Signorini, Isola d'Elba, June 1991. G. Ferrarese, ed. (Pitagora Editrice, Bologna 1993) pp. 1-32.
- [247] D. Gross, J. Harvey, E. Martinec, and R. Rohm: Heterotic string, Phys. Rev. Lett. 54 (1985) 502.

- [248] D.J. Gross and V. Periwal: String perturbation theory diverges, Phys. Rev. Lett. 60 (1988) 2105.
- [249] D.J. Gross, T. Piran and S. Weinberg, eds.: Two-dimensional Quantum Gravity and Random Surfaces (World Scientific, Singapore 1992).
- [250] V.P. Gusynin, V.A. Kushnir, and V.A. Miransky: On the character of scalar symmetry breaking in gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B213 (1988) 177.
- [251] A. Guth: Inflationary Universe: a possible solution to the horizon and flatness problems, Phys. Rev. D23 (1981) 347.
- [252] A.H. Guth: Inflation, in: Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. [Colloquium on Physical Cosmology, Irvine, California. D.N. Schramm, ed., 27-28 March 1992] 90 (1993) 4871-4877.
- [253] R. Haag, J.T. Lopuszański and M. Sohnius: All possible generators of supersymmetries of the S-matrix, Nucl. Phys. B88 (1975) 257-274.
- [254] G.S. Hall: Weyl manifolds and connections, J. Math. Phys. 33 (1992) 2633.
- [255] M.B. Halpern and J.P. Yamron: Geometry of the general affine-Virasoro construction, Nucl. Phys. B332 (1990) 411.
- [256] E. Halyo: Is $f_0(975)$ a QCD dilaton?, Phys. Lett. B271 (1991) 415.
- [257] A.J. Hanson and T. Regge: Torsion and quantum gravity, in Lecture Notes in Physics, Vol. 94 (Springer, Berlin 1979) p. 354.
- [258] G. Harnett: Metrics and dual operators, J. Math. Phys. 32 (1991) 84.
- [259] S.W. Hawking and G.F.R. Ellis: The Large Scale Structure of Space-Time (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1973).
- [260] K. Hayashi: Restrictions on gauge theory of gravitation, Phys. Lett. 65B (1976) 437.
- [261] K. Hayashi, M. Kasuya and T. Shirafuji: Elementary particles and Weyl's gauge field, Progr. Theor. Phys. 57 (1977) 431.
- [262] K. Hayashi and T. Nakano: Extended translation invariance and associated gauge fields, Progr. Theor. Phys. 38 (1967) 491.
- [263] K. Hayashi and T. Shirafuji: Gravity from Poincaré gauge theory of the fundamental particles. I. General formulation, II. Equations of motion for test bodies and various limits, III. Weak field approximation. IV. Mass and energy of particle spectrum, Progr. Theor. Phys. 64 (1980) 866, 883, 1435, 2222; V The extended Bach-Lanczos identity -, 65 (1981) 525, 2079 (E); VI Scattering amplitudes -, VII The axial-vector model -, 66 (1981) 318, 741 (E), 2258.
- [264] K. Hayashi and T. Shirafuji: Gauge theory of gravitation A unified formulation of Poincaré and (Anti-) De Sitter gauge theories -, Progr. Theor. Phys. 80 (1988) 711.
- [265] R.D. Hecht: Conserved quantities in the Poincaré gauge theory of gravitation (in German), Ph.D. Thesis, University of Cologne (1993).
- [266] R.D. Hecht: Mass and spin of Poincaré gauge theory, Gen. Rel. Grav. (1995), in press.
- [267] R.D. Hecht and F.W. Hehl: A metric-affine framework for a gauge theory of gravity, in Proc. of the 9th Conference on General Relativity and Gravitational Physics, Capri (Napoli) 25-28 Sept. 1990, R. Cianci, R. de Ritis, M. Francaviglia, G. Marmo, C. Rubano, P. Scudetlaro, eds. (World Scientific, Singapore 1991) pp. 246-291.
- [268] R.D. Hecht, F.W. Hehl, J.D. McCrea, E.W. Mielke, and Y. Ne'eman: Improved energy-momentum currents in metric-affine spacetime, Phys. Lett. A172 (1992) 13.
- [269] R.D. Hecht, J. Lemke, and R.P. Wallner: Can Poincaré gauge theory be saved? Phys. Rev. D44 (1991) 2442.
- [270] R.D. Hecht and J.M. Nester: A new evaluation of PGT mass and spin, Phys. Lett. A180 (1993) 324-331.
- [271] F.W. Hehl: On the energy tensor of spinning massive matter in classical field theory and general relativity, Rep. Math. Phys. 9 (1976) 55.
- [272] F.W. Hehl: Four lectures on Poincaré gauge theory, in: Proc. of the 6th Course of the School of Cosmology and Gravitation on Spin, Torsion, Rotation, and Supergravity, held at Erice, Italy, May 1979, P.G. Bergmann, V. de Sabbata, eds. (Plenum, New York 1980) pp. 5-61.
- [273] F.W. Hehl: On the kinematics of the torsion of spacetime, Found. Phys. 15 (1985) 451.
- [274] F.W. Hehl and P. von der Heyde: Spin and the structure of space-time, Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré A19 (1973) 179-196.
- [275] F.W. Hehl, P. von der Heyde, G.D. Kerlick, and J.M. Nester: General relativity with spin and torsion: Foundations and prospects, Rev. Mod. Phys. 48 (1976) 393-416.
- [276] F.W. Hehl and G.D. Kerlick, Metric-affine variational principles in general relativity. I. Riemannian space-time, Gen. Rel. Grav. 9 (1978) 691.

- [277] F.W. Hehl, G.D. Kerlick, and P. von der Heyde: On hypermomentum in general relativity I. The notion of hypermomentum; II. The geometry of spacetime; III. Coupling hypermomentum to geometry, Z. Naturf. 31a (1976) 111, 524, 823.
- [278] F.W. Hehl, G.D. Kerlick, and P. von der Heyde: On a new metric affine theory of gravitation, Phys. Lett. 63B (1976) 446.
- [279] F.W. Hehl, G.D. Kerlick, E.A. Lord, and L.L. Smalley: Hypermomentum and the microscopic violation of the Riemannian constraint in general relativity, Phys. Lett. B70 (1977) 70.
- [280] F.W. Hehl, W. Kopczyński, J.D. McCrea, and E.W. Mielke: Chern-Simons terms in metric-affine spacetime: Bianchi identities as Euler-Lagrange equations, J. Math. Phys. 32 (1991) 2169.
- [281] F. Hehl und E. Kröner: Zum Materialgesetz eines elastischen Medium mit Momentenspannungen, Z. Naturf. 20a (1965) 336.
- [282] F.W. Hehl, J. Lemke, and E.W. Mielke: Two lectures on fermions and gravity, in: Geometry and Theoretical Physics, Proc. of the Bad Honnef School 12-16 Feb. 1990, J. Debrus and A.C. Hirshfeld, eds. (Springer, Heidelberg 1991) pp. 56-140.
- [283] F.W. Hehl, E.A. Lord and Y. Ne'eman: Hadron dilation, shear and spin as components of the intrinsic hypermomentum current, and metric-affine theory of gravitation, Phys. Lett. B71 (1977) 432.
- [284] F.W. Hehl, E.A. Lord, and Y. Ne'eman: Hypermomentum in hadron dynamics and in gravitation, Phys. Rev. D17 (1978) 428.
- [285] F.W. Hehl, E.A. Lord, L.L. Smalley, Metric-affine variational principles in general relativity. II. Relaxation of the Riemannian constraint, Gen. Rel. Grav. 13 (1981) 1037.
- [286] F.W. Hehl and J.D. McCrea: Bianchi identities and the automatic conservation of energy-momentum and angular momentum in general-relativistic field theories, Found. Phys. 16 (1986) 267.
- [287] F.W. Hehl, J.D. McCrea, and E.W. Mielke: Weyl spacetimes, the dilation current and creation of gravitating mass by symmetry breaking, in: Exact Scieces and their Philosophical Foundations — Vorträge des Internationalen Hermann-Weyl-Kongresses, Kiel 1985, W. Deppert, K. Hübner, A. Oberschelp, and V. Weidemann, eds. (P. Lang Verlag, Frankfurt a. M. 1988) pp. 241–310.
- [288] F.W. Hehl, J.D. McCrea, E.W. Mielke, and Y. Ne'eman: Progress in metric-affine gauge theories of gravity with local scale invariance, Found. Phys. 19 (1989) 1075.
- [289] F.W. Hehl and E.W. Mielke: Improved expressions for the energy-momentum current of matter, Festschrift für E. Schmutzer, Wiss. Zeitschr. Friedrich-Schiller-Universität Jena, Naturw. Reihe 39 (1990) 58.
- [290] F.W. Hehl, E.W. Mielke und R. Tresguerres: Skaleninvarianz und Raumzeit-Struktur, in: Werner Heisenberg, Physiker und Philosoph, Konferenz in Leipzig, Dez. 1991, B. Geyer, H. Herwig und H. Rechenberg, eds. (Spektrum Akad. Verlag, Heidelberg 1993) pp. 299-306.
- [291] F.W. Hehl and Y. Ne'eman: Spacetime as a continuum with microstructure and metric-affine gravity, in: Modern Problems of Theoretical Physics (Festschrift for D. Ivanenko), P.I. Pronin and Yu.N. Obukhov, eds. (World Scientific, Singapore 1991) p. 31.
- [292] F.W. Hehl, Y. Ne'eman, J. Nitsch and P. von der Heyde: Short-range confining component in a quadratic Poincaré gauge theory of gravitation, Phys. Lett. B78 (1978) 102-106.
- [293] F.W. Hehl, J. Nitsch, and P. von der Heyde: Gravitation and the Poincaré Gauge field theory with quadratic Lagrangian, in: General Relativity and Gravitation. One Hundred Years after the Birth of Albert Einstein. Vol. 1, Chap. 11, A. Held, ed. (Plenum Press, New York 1980) pp. 329-355.
- [294] F.W. Hehl, V. Winkelmann, H. Meyer: Computer-Algebra. Ein Kompaktkurs über die Anwendung von REDUCE, 2nd ed. (Springer, Berlin 1993).
- [295] W. Heisenberg: The unified field theory of elementary particles: Some recent advances, Naturwissenschaften 61 (1974) 1.
- [296] S. Helgason: Differential Geometry and Symmetric Spaces (Academic Press, New York 1962).
- [297] J. Hennig: Cartan connections in conformal gauge theories, in: Group Theoretical Methods in Physics, Proc. of the XVI Intern. Colloquium held at Varna, Bulgaria, 15-20 June 1987, H.-D. Doebner, J.-D. Hennig, and T.D. Palev, eds., Lecture Notes in Physics, Vol. 313 (Springer, Berlin 1988) p. 445.
- [298] J.D. Hennig: Conformal geometry and spacetime gauge theories, in: Proc. 2nd Intern. Wigner-Conference (Goslar 1991). H.D. Doebner et al., eds. (World Scientific, Singapore 1992).

- (299) J. Hennig: Gravitation, Cartan-Konnexionen und G-Strukturen Beiträge zu Eichtheorien der konformen Gruppe, Habilitation Thesis, Techn. University of Clausthal (1992).
- [300] J. Hennig and J. Nitsch: Gravity as an internal Yang-Mills gauge field theory of the Poincaré group, Gen. Rel. Grav. 13 (1981) 947.
- [301] A.B. Henriques, J.M. Mourão, and P.M. Sá: Inflation in a Bianchi-IX cosmological model. The roles of primordial shear and gauge field, Phys. Lett. B256 (1991) 359.
- [302] P.W. Higgs: Quadratic Lagrangians and general relativity, Nuovo Cimento 11 (1959) 816.
- [303] S. Hojman: Symmetries of Lagrangians and of their equations of motion, J. Phys. A17 (1984) 2399.
- [304] B. Holdom and J. Teming: No light dilaton in gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B200 (1988) 338.
- [305] G. 't Hooft: Quantum Gravity, in Trends in Elementary Particle Theory, H. Rollnik and K. Dietz, eds., Lecture Notes in Physics, Vol. 37 (Springer, Berlin 1975) pp. 92–113.
- [306] G. 't Hooft and M. Veltman: One-loop divergencies in the theory of gravitation, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré 20 (1974) 69-94.
- [307] J.H. Horne and E. Witten: Conformal gravity in three dimensions as a gauge theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 62 (1989) 501.
- [308] G.T. Horowitz: Topology change in classical and quantum gravity, Class. Quantum Grav. 8 (1991) 587.
- [309] C.J. Isham: Conceptual and geometrical problems in quantum gravity, in: Recent Aspects of Quantum Fields, Proc. of the XXXth Intern. Universitätswochen f
 ür Kernphysik, Schladming, Austria, February and March 1991, H. Mitter and H. Gausterer, eds., Lecture Notes in Physics, Vol. 396 (Springer, Berlin 1991) p. 123.
- [310] C.J. Isham, Abdus Salam, and J. Strathdee: Broken chiral and conformal symmetry in an effective-Lagrangian formalism, Phys. Rev. D2 (1970) 685.
- [311] C.J. Isham, Abdus Salam, and J. Strathdee: Nonlinear realizations of space-time symmetries. Scalar and tensor gravity, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 62 (1971) 98.
- [312] M. Israelit: Measuring standards in Weyl-type theories, Found. Phys. 19 (1989) 77.
- [313] D. Ivanenko and G. Sardanashvily: The gauge treatment of gravity, Phys. Rep. 94 (1983) 1.
- [314] D. Ivanenko and G. Sardanashvily: Goldstone type (non-Poincaré) supergravity, Progr. Theor. Phys. 75 (1986) 969.
- [315] D. Ivanenko and G. Sardanashvily: On the Goldstonic gravitation theory, Pramana, J. Phys. 29 (1987) 21.
- [316] E.A. Ivanov and J. Niederle: Gauge formulation of gravitation theories: I. The Poincaré, de Sitter, and conformal cases. II. The special conformal case, Phys. Rev. D25 (1982) 976-987, 988-994.
- [317] R. Jackiw: Field theoretic investigations in current algebra, in: Lectures on Current Algebra and its Applications, B. Treiman, R. Jackiw, and D.J. Gross, eds. (Princeton University Press, Princeton 1972) p. 97.
- [318] R. Jackiw: Topological investigations of quantized gauge theories, in: Relativity, Groups, and Topology II, B.S. DeWitt and R. Stora, eds. (North- Holland, Amsterdam 1984) p. 221.
- [319] W. Jaunzemis: Continuum Mechanics (Macmillan, New York 1967).
- [320] R. Jha, E.A. Lord, and K.P. Sinha: The Brans-Dicke scalar field in Einstein-Cartan theory, Gen. Rel. Grav. 20 (1988) 943-950.
- [321] W. Jiang: The anomalous Ward identities in gauge and gravitational theories, J. Math. Phys. 32 (1991) 3409.
- [322] P. Jordan: Schwerkraft und Weltall, 2nd ed. (Vieweg, Braunschweig 1955).
- [323] A. Joseph and A.I. Solomon: Global and infinitesimal nonlinear chiral transformations, J. Math. Phys. 11 (1970) 748.
- [324] D.W. Joseph: Representations of the algebra of SL(3, R) with $\Delta J = 2$, preprint University of Nebraska (1970).
- [325] B. Julia: A relation between gauge groups and diffeomorphism groups, in: Infinite Lie Algebras and Conformal Invariance in Condensed Matter and Particle Physics, Proc. of the Johns Hopkins workshop on current problems in particle theory 10, Bonn, 1-3 Sept. 1986, K. Dietz and V. Rittenberg, eds. (World Scientific, Singapore 1987) p. 175.
- [326] J. Julve, A. López-Pinto, A. Tiemblo, and R. Tresguerres: Nonlinear gauge realization of spacetime symmetries including translations, preprint IMAFF, Madrid (July 1994).
- [327] J. Julve, A. Tiemblo, and R. Tresguerres: Conformal gravity and the bosonic string, Z. Phys. C36 (1987) 311; C40 (1988) 619.
- [328] G. Kälbermann: Chiral invariance and scale invariance, Phys. Rev. D42 (1990) 2893.
- [329] M. Kaku: Quantization of conformal gravity, Nucl. Phys. B203 (1982) 285.
- [330] M. Kaku: Strings, Conformal Fields, and Topology (Springer, New York 1991).
- [331] R.E. Kallosh: Counterterms in extended supergravities, Phys. Lett. 99B (1981) 122-127.

- [332] M.Yu. Kalmykov, P.I. Pronin, and K.V. Stepanyantz: Projective invariance and one-loop effective action in affinemetric gravity interacting with scalar field, Class. Quantum Grav. 11 (1994) 2645.
- [333] W.F. Kao: Inflationary solution in Weyl invariant theory, Phys. Lett. A149 (1990) 76.
- [334] U. Kasper: Remarks on the physical meaning of the 'improved' energy-momentum tensor, Acta Phys. Polonica B12 (1981) 847.
- [335] U. Kasper and H.-J. Schmidt: Inflation, scalar fields and fourth-order gravity, Nuovo Cimento 104B (1989) 563.
- [336] H.A. Kastrup: Zur physikalischen Deutung und darstellungstheoretischen Analyse der konformen Transformationen von Raum und Zeit, Ann. Phys. (Leipzig) 9 (1962) 388.
- [337] M. Kasuya: On the gauge theory in the Einstein-Cartan-Weyl space-time, Nuovo Cimento 28B (1975) 127.
- [338] M.O. Katanayev and I.V. Volovich: String model with dynamical geometry and torsion, Phys. Lett. B175 (1986) 413-416.
- [339] M.O. Katanaev and I.V. Volovich: Two-dimensional gravity with dynamical torsion and strings, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 197 (1990) 1-32.
- [340] T. Kawai: A Poincaré gauge theory of gravity, Gen. Rel. Grav. 18 (1986) 995-1018; erratum 19 (1987) 1285.
- [341] T. Kawai and N. Toma: An extended new general relativity as a reduction of Poincaré gauge theory of gravity, Progr. Theor. Phys. 85 (1991) 901-926; see also references to earlier work.
- [342] R.P. Kerr: Gravitational field of a spinning mass as an example of algebraically special metrics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 11 (1963) 237-238.
- [343] A.A. Khar'kov: Spontaneous symmetry breaking in superdense matter, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 42 (1985) 953 [Yad. Fiz. 42 (1985) 1509].
- [344] T.W.B. Kibble: Lorentz invariance and the gravitational field, J. Math. Phys. 2 (1961) 212.
- [345] T.W.B. Kibble and K.S. Stelle: Gauge theories of gravity and Supergravity, in: Progress in Quantum Field Theory: Festschrift for Umezawa. H. Ezawa and S. Kamefuchi, eds. (Elsevier Science Publ., Amsterdam 1986) p. 57.
- [346] S. Kichenassamy: Lagrange multipliers in theories of gravitation, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 168 (1986) 404.
- [347] A. Kihlberg: Some non-compact symmetry groups for elementary particles associated with a geometrical model, Ark. Fys. 32 (1963) 263-274.
- [348] C.W. Kilmister and D.J. Newman: The use of algebraic structures in physics, Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 57 (1961) 851.
- [349] J.K. Kim and M.E. Noz: Theory and Applications of the Poincaré Group (Reidel, Dordrecht 1986).
- [350] S.K. Kim, K.S. Soh, and J.H. Yee: GL(2, R) gauge theory of (1 + 1)-dimensional gravity, Phys. Rev. D47 (1993) 4433.
- [351] J.K. Kim and Y. Yoon: The relationship between conformal and gravitational anomalies, Phys. Lett. B214 (1988) 98.
- [352] H. Kleinert: Gauge Fields in Condensed Matter. Vol.I: Superflow and Vortex Lines. Vol.II: Stresses and Defects (World Scientific, Singapore 1989).
- [353] M. Knecht, S. Lazzarini, and F. Thuillier: Shifting the Weyl anomaly to the chirally split diffeomorphism anomaly in two dimensions, Phys. Lett. B251 (1990) 279.
- [354] S. Kobayashi: On connections of Cartan, Can. J. Math. 8 (1956) 145.
- [355] S. Kobayashi: Transformation Groups in Differential Geometry (Springer, New York 1972).
- [356] S. Kobayashi and K. Nomizu: Foundations of Differential Geometry, Vol. I (Interscience Publ., New York 1963).
- [357] M. Kohler and H. Goenner: On the generalized Lagrangian for general relativity and some of its implications. II, Nuovo Cimento 25B (1975) 308.
- [358] A. Komar: Enlarged gauge symmetry of gravitation theory, Phys. Rev. D30 (1984) 305.
- [359] A. Komar: Generalization of Weyl's gauge group, J. Math. Phys. 26 (1985) 831.
- [360] K. Kondo: On the geometrical and physical foundations of the theory of yielding, in: Proc. 2nd Japan Nat. Congr. Appl. Mech. (1952) p. 41.
- [361] W. Kopczyński: The Palatini principle with constraints, Bull. de l' Academie Pol. des Sci., Sér. math. astr. et phys. 23 (1975) 467.
- [362] W. Kopczyński: Metric-affine unification of gravity and gauge theories, Acta Phys. Polonica B10 (1979) 365.
- [363] W. Kopczyński: Problems with metric-teleparallel theories of gravitation, J. Phys. A15 (1982) 493.
- [364] W. Kopczyński: Variational principles for gravity and fluids, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 203 (1990) 308.
- [365] W. Kopczyński, J.D. McCrea and F.W. Hehl: The Weyl group and its current, Phys. Lett. 128A (1988) 313.

- [366] W. Kopczyński, J.D. McCrea and F.W. Hehl: The metric and the canonical energy-momentum currents in the Poincaré gauge theory of gravitation, Phys. Lett. 135A (1989) 89.
- [367] W. Kopczyński and A. Trautman: Spacetime and Gravitation, translated from the Polish (Wiley, Chichester and PWN - Polish Scientific Publishers, Warszawa 1992).
- [368] E. Kraus and K. Sibold: Conformal transformation properties of the energy-momentum tensor in four dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B372 (1992) 113-144.
- [369] E. Kraus and K. Sibold: The general transformation law of the gravitational field and its algebra via Noether's procedure, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 219 (1992) 349-363.
- [370] E. Kraus and K. Sibold: Local couplings, double insertions and the Weyl consistency condition, Nucl. Phys. B398 (1993) 125-154.
- [371] E. Kraus and K. Sibold: Conformal symmetry breaking and the energy-momentum tensor in four dimensions, Proc. XXVIth Symposium on High Energy Physics in Wendisch-Rietz, Sept. 1992. Preprint MPI-Ph/92-79 (Munich 1992).
- [372] E. Kröner, ed.: Mechanics of Generalized Continua, Proc. IUTAM Symposium on the generalized Cosserat continuum and the continuum theory of dislocations with applications (Springer, Berlin 1968).
- [373] E. Kröner: Continuum theory of defects, in: Physics of Defects, Les Houches, Session XXXV, 1980, R.Balian et al., eds. (North- Holland, Amsterdam 1981) p. 215.
- [374] E. Kröner: The role of differential geometry in the mechanics of solids, in: Proc. 5th Nat. Congr. Theor. Appl. Mech., Vol.1, (Bulgarian Acad. Sci., Sofia 1985) pp. 352-362. Since this reference may not be easily available, we quote from the abstract: Both the statical and the geometrical field equations of nonlinear elastostatics are conveniently formulated in the language of differential geometry. This kind of description becomes... important when crystalline solids containing crystallographic defects are considered. Bravais crystals are described by the general affine differential geometry such that (intrinsic) point defects correspond to the nonmetric part of the affine connection, line defects (dislocations) are represented by Cartan's torsion and interface defects require a nonconnective geometry. On the stress side quantities like (force) stresses, couple stresses with and without moment and stress functions are identified as basic quantities of affine differential geometry.
- [375] E. Kröner: The continuized crystal a bridge between micro- and macromechanics Z. angew. Math. Mech. (ZAMM) 66 (1986) T284.
- [376] E. Kröner: The differential geometry of elementary point and line defects in Bravais crystals [Intern. Summer School on Topology, Geometry and Gauging in Field Theoretical Models of Condensed Matter, Jablonna (Poland), 27 August to 2 September 1989] Intern. J. Theor. Phys. 29 (1990) 1219–1237.
- [377] T. Kugo, H. Terao, and S. Uehara: Dynamical gauge bosons and hidden local symmetries, Progr. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 85 (1985) 122.
- [378] R. Kuhfuss and J. Nitsch: Propagating modes in gauge field theories of gravity, Gen. Relat. Grav. 18 (1986) 1207.
- [379] F.V. Kusmartsev, E.W. Mielke, and F.E. Schunck: Gravitational stability of boson stars, Phys. Rev. D43 (1991) 3895-3901.
- [380] F.V. Kusmartsev, E.W. Mielke, and F.E. Schunck: Stability of neutron and boson stars: A new approch based on catastrophe theory, Phys. Lett. A157 (1991) 465-468.
- [381] F.V. Kusmartsev, E.W. Mielke, Yu.N. Obukhov, and F.E. Schunck: Classification of inflationary Einstein-scalar-fieldmodels via catastrophe theory, Phys. Rev. D51 (1994) 924-927.
- [382] D. La and P.J. Steinhardt: Extended inflationary cosmology, Phys. Rev. Lett. 62 (1989) 376.
- [383] C. Lämmerzahl and A. Macías: On the dimensionality of spacetime, J. Math. Phys. 34 (1993) 4540.
- [384] C. Lanczos: A remarkable property of the Riemann-Christoffel tensor in four dimensions, Ann. of Math. 39 (1938) 842.
- [385] L.D. Landau and E. M. Lifschitz: Elastizitätstheorie, Band 7, Lehrbuch der Theoretischen Physik, aus dem Russ. übersetzt (Akademie-Verlag, Berlin 1989).
- [386] L. D. Landau and E. M. Lifshitz: The Classical Theory of Fields, Vol.2 of Course of Theoretical Physics, p. 281; transl. from the Russian (Pergamon, Oxford 1962).
- [387] C.-Y. Lee: Renormalization of quantum gravity with local $\overline{GL}(4, R)$ symmetry, Class. Quantum Grav. 9 (1992) 2001.
- [388] C.-Y. Lee and Y. Ne'eman: BRST transformations for an affine gauge model of gravity with local $\overline{GL}(4, R)$ symmetry, Phys. Lett. B233 (1989) 286.

- [389] C.-Y. Lee and Y. Ne'eman: Renormalization of gauge-affine gravity. Phys. Lett. B242 (1990) 59.
- [390] J. Leitner and S. Okubo: Parity, charge conjugation, and time reversal in the gravitational interaction, Phys. Rev. 136 (1964) B1542.
- [391] J. Lemke: On the gravitational interaction of elementary particles (in German), Ph.D. Thesis, University of Cologne (1993),
- [392] J. Lemke and E.W. Mielke: Gravitational moments of spin one-half particles and of topologically massive photons and gravitons in 2 + 1 dimensions, Phys. Lett. A175 (1993) 277-281.
- [393] J. Lemke, Y. Ne'eman, and J. Pecina-Cruz: Wigner analysis and Casimir operators of $\overline{SA}(4, R)$, J. Math. Phys. 33 (1992) 2656.
- [394] H.J. Lenzen: On space-time models with axial torsion: Some vacuum solutions of the Poincaré gauge field theory of gravity, Nuovo Cimento B82 (1984) 85.
- [395] A. Linde: A new inflationary universe scenario: a possible solution to the horizon, flatness, homogeneity, isotropy and primordial monopole problems, Phys. Lett. B108 (1982) 389.
- [396] A.D. Linde: Particle Physics and Inflationary Cosmology (Harwood Academic Publishers, Chur, Switzerland 1990).
- [397] A.D. Linde: External extended inflation and graceful exit from old inflation without Jordan-Brans-Dicke, Phys. Lett. B249 (1990) 18.
- [398] U. Lindström and M. Roček: A gravitational first-order action for the bosonic string, Class. Quantum Grav. 4 (1987) L79.
- [399] U. Lindström and M. Roček: A super Weyl-invariant spinning membrane, Phys. Lett. B218 (1989) 207.
- [400] U. Lindström and M. Roček: Superconformal gravity in three dimensions as a gauge theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 62 (1989) 2905.
- [401] U. Lindström, M. Roček, and P. van Nieuwenhuizen: A Weyl-invariant rigid string, Phys. Lett. B199 (1987) 219.
- [402] L.H. Loomis and S. Sternberg: Advanced Calculus, revised ed. (Jones and Bartlett Publishers, Boston, Mass. 1990).
- [403] A. López-Pinto, A. Tiemblo and R. Tresguerres: Ordinary matter in nonlinear affine gauge theories of gravitation, preprint IMAFF 94/4, Madrid (1994).
- [404] J. Łopuszánski: An Introduction to Symmetry and Supersymmetry in Quantum Field Theory (World Scientific, Singapore 1991).
- [405] E.A. Lord: Unit transformations and cosmology, Nuovo Cimento 11B (1972) 185.
- [406] E.A. Lord: A tetrad version of the metric-affine gravitational theory with GL(4) symmetry, University of Cologne, unpublished preprint (1977).
- [407] E.A. Lord: The metric-affine gravitational theory as the gauge theory of the affine group, Phys. Lett. 65A (1978) 1.
- [408] E.A. Lord: A unified approach to the gauging of space-time and internal symmetries, Gen. Rel. Grav. 19 (1987) 983~1002.
- [409] E.A. Lord: Fiber bundles in gravitational theory, in: Gravitation and Cosmology: Proc. of the XV IAGRG Conference at North Bengal University, Nov. 1989, S. Mukherjee et al., eds. (Wiley Eastern, New Delhi 1992) pp. 30-42.
- [410] E.A. Lord and P. Goswami: Gauging the conformal group, Pramana 25 (1985) 635-640.
- [411] E.A. Lord and P. Goswami: Poincaré gauge theory from self-coupling, Pramana 29 (1987) 359-368.
- [412] E.A. Lord and P. Goswami: Gauge theory of a group of diffeomorphisms. I. General principles, J. Math. Phys. 27 (1986) 2415-2422; ... II. The conformal and de Sitter groups, (Lord alone) J. Math. Phys. 27 (1986) 3051-3054; ... III. The fiber bundle description, J. Math. Phys. 29 (1988) 258-267.
- [413] C. Lovelace: Strings in curved space, Phys. Lett. B135 (1984) 75-77.
- [414] G. Ludwig: Einführung in die Grundlagen der Theoretischen Physik, Vol.1 (Raum, Zeit, Mechanik) and Vol.2 (Elektrodynamik, Zeit, Raum, Kosmos) (Bertelsmann, Düsseldorf 1974).
- [415] F.A. Lunev: Three dimensional Yang-Mills theory in gauge invariant variables, Phys. Lett. B295 (1992) 99; Four dimensional Yang-Mills theory in gauge invariant variables, e-preprint archive Los Alamos, hep-th/9407175. Mod. Phys. Lett. A, to be published (1995).
- [416] S.W. MacDowell and F. Mansouri: Unified geometric theory of gravity and supergravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 38 (1977) 739.
- [417] G. Mack: Physical principles, geometrical aspects, and locality properties of gauge field theories. Fortschr. Phys. 29 (1981) 135.
- [418] G. Mack: Introduction to conformal invariant quantum field theory in two and more dimensions, in: Nonperturbative Quantum Field Theory, Cargèse Lectures 1987. G. 't Hooft et al., eds. (Plenum Press, New York 1988).

- [419] G. Mack and Abdus Salam: Finite-component field representations of the conformal group, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 53 (1969) 174.
- [420] K.-L. Maeda: Towards the Einstein-Hilbert action via conformal transformation, Phys. Rev. D39 (1989) 3159.
- [421] E. Majorana: Relativistic theory of particles with arbitrary intrinsic spin, Nuovo Cimento 9 (1932) 335-344.
- [422] J. W. Maluf: Conformal invariance and torsion in general relativity, Gen. Rel. Grav. 19 (1987) 57.
- [423] J.W. Maluf: The Bach-Lanczos Lagrangian in matrix relativity, Class. Quantum Grav. 4 (1987) 769.
- [424] J.W. Maluf: Self-dual connections, torsion and Ashtekar's variables, J. Math. Phys. 33 (1992) 2849-2854.
- [425] J.W. Maluf: Hamiltonian formulation of the teleparallel description of general relativity, J. Math. Phys. 35 (1994) 335-343.
- [426] J.W. Maluf: The Hamiltonian constraint in the teleparallel equivalent of general relativity, University of Brasilia preprint (July 1994).
- [427] C. Malyshev: Underlying algebraic and gauge structures of the theory of disclinations, Arch. Mech. (Warsaw) 45 (1993) 93-105.
- [428] A. March: Die Geometrie kleinster Räume I, Z. Phys. 104 (1937) 93.
- [429] A. Mardones and J. Zanelli: Lovelock-Cartan theory of gravity, Class. Quantum Grav. 8 (1991) 1545.
- [430] M. Martellini: Quantum gravity in the Eddington purely affine picture, Phys. Rev. D29 (1984) 2746.
- [431] T. Matsuki: Effects of the Higgs scalar on gravity, Progr. Theor. Phys. 59 (1978) 238.
- [432] N. Matsuo: Einstein gravity as spontaneous broken Weyl gravity, Gen. Rel. Grav. 22 (1990) 561.
- [433] J.D. McCrea: The use of 'Reduce' in finding exact solutions of the quadratic Poincaré gauge field equations, in: Classical General Relativity, W.B. Bonnor et al., eds. (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1984) p. 173.
- [434] J.D. McCrea: Poincaré gauge theory of gravitation: Foundations, exact solutions and computer algebra, in: Proc. of the 14th Intern. Conference on Differential Geometric Methods in Mathematical Physics, Salamanca 1985, P.L. García and A. Pérez-Rendón, eds., Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 1251 (Springer, Berlin 1987) p. 222.
- [435] J.D. McCrea, in: Algebraic Computing in General Relativity, lecture notes from the First Brazilian School on Computer Algebra, Vol. 2, M. J. Reboucas and W. L. Roque, eds. (Oxford University Press, Oxford 1994) pp. '173-263.
- [436] J.D. McCrea: Irreducible decompositions of nonmetricity, torsion and curvature in metric-affine spacetimes, Class. Quantum Grav. 9 (1992) 553.
- [437] J.D. McCrea, F.W. Hehl, and E.W. Mielke: Mapping Noether identities into Bianchi identities in general relativistic theories of gravity and in the field theory of static lattice defects [Intern. Summer School on Topology, Geometry and Gauging in Field Theoretical Models of Condensed Matter, Jablonna (Poland), 27 August to 2 September 1989] Intern. J. Theor. Phys. 29 (1990) 1185-1206.
- [438] B.T. McInnes: On the affine approach to Riemann-Cartan space-time geometry, Class. Quantum Grav. 1 (1984) 115.
- [439] H. Meyer: Møller's tetrad theory of gravitation as a special case of Poincaré gauge theory a coincidence? Gen. Rel. Grav. 14 (1982) 531-547.
- [440] J. Mickelsson: On $\overline{GL(4,R)}$ -covariant extensions of the Dirac equation, Comm. Math. Phys. 88 (1983) 551.
- [441] E.W. Mielke: Knot wormholes in geometrodynamics? Gen. Rel. Grav. 8 (1977) 175.
- [442] E.W. Mielke: Conformal changes of metrics and the initial-value problem of general relativity, Gen. Rel. Grav. 8 (1977) 321.
- [443] E.W. Mielke: Outline of a new geometrodynamical model of extended baryons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 39 (1977) 530; 851 (E).
- [444] E.W. Mielke: Quantenfeldtheorie im de Sitter-Raum, Fortschr. Phys. 25 (1977) 401-457.
- [445] E.W. Mielke: The eightfold way to color geometrodynamics, Intern. J. Theor. Phys. 19 (1980) 189.
- [446] E.W. Mielke: On pseudoparticle solutions in the Poincaré gauge theory of gravity, Fortschr. Phys. 32 (1984) 639.
- [447] E.W. Mielke: Geometrodynamics of Gauge Fields On the geometry of Yang-Mills and gravitational gauge theories (Akademie-Verlag, Berlin 1987).
- [448] E.W. Mielke: Gauge-theoretical foundation of color geometrodynamics, in: Differential Geometric Methods in Mathematical Physics, Proc. of the Intern. Conference held at the Technical University of Clausthal, Germany, July 1978, H.D. Doebner, ed., Lecture Notes in Physics, Vol. 139 (Springer, Berlin 1981) p. 135.
- [449] E.W. Mielke: Generating function for new variables in general relativity and Poincaré gauge theory, Phys. Lett. A149 (1990) 345; (E) A151 (1990) 567.

- [450] E.W. Mielke: Positive-gravitational-energy proof from complex variables? Phys. Rev. D42 (1990) 3388.
- [451] E.W. Miełke: Ashtekar's complex variables in general relativity and its teleparallelism equivalent, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 219 (1992) 78.
- [452] E.W. Mielke and P. Baekler: Topological gauge model of gravity with torsion, Phys. Lett. A156 (1991) 399.
- [453] E.W. Mielke, F. Gronwald, Y.N. Obukhov, R. Tresguerres, and F.W. Hehl: Towards complete integrability of twodimensional Poincaré gauge gravity, Phys. Rev. D48 (1993) 3648-3662.
- [454] E.W. Mielke and F.W. Hehl: Die Entwicklung der Eichtheorien: Marginalien zu deren Wissenschaftsgeschichte, in: Exact Sciences and their Philosophical Foundations — Vorträge des Internationalen Hermann-Weyl-Kongresses, Kiel 1985, W. Deppert, K. Hübner, A. Oberschelp, and V. Weidemann, eds. (P. Lang Verlag, Frankfurt a. M. 1988) p. 191.
- [455] E.W. Mielke and F.W. Hehl: Comment on: General relativity without the metric, Phys. Rev. Lett. 67 (1991) 1370.
- [456] E.W. Mielke, F.W. Hehl and J.D. McCrea: Belinfante invariance of the Noether identities in a Riemannian and a Weitzenböck spacetime, Phys. Lett. A140 (1989) 368.
- [457] E.W. Mielke, J.D. McCrea, Y. Ne'eman, and F.W. Hehl: Avoiding degenerate coframes in an affine gauge approach to quantum gravity, Phys. Rev. D48 (1993) 673-679.
- [458] E.W. Mielke, Yu.N. Obukhov, and F.W. Hehl: Yang-Mills configurations from 3D Riemann-Cartan geometry, Phys. Lett. A192 (1994) 153-162.
- [459] E.W. Mielke and R. Scherzer: Geon-type solutions of the nonlinear Heisenberg-Klein-Gordon equation, Phys. Rev. D24 (1981) 2111-2126.
- [460] E.W. Mielke and F.E. Schunck: Reconstruction of the inflaton potential for an almost flat COBE spectrum, Phys. Rev. D (1995), in press.
- [461] J. Milnor: Remarks on infinte-dimensional Lie groups, in: Relativity, Groups and Topology II, B.S. DeWitt and R. Stora, eds. (North-Holland, Amsterdam 1984) p. 1007.
- [462] R.D. Mindlin: Micro-structure in linear elasticity, Arch. Rat. Mech. Anal. 16 (1964) 51-78.
- [463] A.V. Minkevich: Isotropic cosmology in metric-affine gauge theory of gravity, preprint Byelorussian State University, Minsk (1993).
- [464] P. Minkowski: On the spontaneous origin of Newton's constant, Phys. Lett. 71B (1977) 419.
- [465] R.v. Mises: Motorrechnung, ein neues Hilfsmittel der Mechanik, Z. angew. Math. Mech. (ZAMM) 4 (1924) 155.
- [466] R.v. Mises: Die Bewegungsgleichungen starrer Körper. Formale Erweiterung des Ansatzes (Motorrechnung), in: Die Differential- und Integralgleichungen der Mechanik und Physik, zweiter/physikalischer Teil, Ph. Frank, ed., 2nd ed. (Vieweg, Braunschweig 1935) pp. 161-165, see also pp. 449-452.
- [467] J.W. Moffat: Infinite-component field theory, in: Proc. of the CAP-NSERC Summer School in Theoretical Physics, University of Alberta, July 1987 (World Scientific, Singapore).
- [468] C. Møller: On the localization of the energy of a physical system in the general theory of relativity, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 4 (1958) 347.
- [469] C. Møller: Further remarks on the localization of the energy in general theory of relativity, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 12 (1961) 118.
- [470] N. Mukunda: Gauge approach to classical gravity, in: Proc. of the Workshop on Gravitation and Relativistic Astrophysics, Ahmedabad, A.R. Prasanna et al., eds. (World Scientific, Singapore 1982/83).
- [471] F. Müller-Hoissen: A gauge theoretical approach to space-time structures, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré (Phys. théor.) 40 (1984) 21-34.
- [472] R.C. Myers: New dimensions for old strings, Phys. Lett. B199 (1987) 371.
- [473] R.C. Myers and V. Periwal: Invariants of smooth 4-manifolds from topological gravity, Nucl. Phys. B361 (1991) 290.
- [474] Y.S. Myung and B.H. Cho: Classical stability of D = 5 gravity conformally coupled to the scalar field, Phys. Lett. 166B (1986) 75.
- [475] Y. Nambu: Quark models and the factorization of the Veneziano amplitude, in: Proc. 1969 (Wayne State Univ.) Intern. Conf. on Symmetries and Quark Models, R. Chand, ed. (Gordon and Breach, New York 1970) pp. 269-279.
- [476] Y. Ne'eman: A class of spinors with non-trivial realization of general coordinate transformations, in: GR8, Proc. 8th Intern. Conf. on Gen. Rel. and Gravitation, M.A. McKiernan, ed. (Univ. of Waterloo, Canada 1977) pp. 262-263.
- [477] Y. Ne'eman: Gravitational interaction of hadrons: Band-spinor representations of GL(n, R), Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. (USA) 74 (1977) 4157-4159.

- [478] Y. Ne'eman: Spinor-type fields with linear, affine and general co-ordinate transformations, Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré A28 (1978) 369-378.
- [479] Y. Ne'eman: Gravity is the gauge theory of the parallel-transport modification of the Poincaré group, in: Diff. Geom. Methods in Math. Phys., Lect. Notes in Math., Vol. 676 (Proc. Bonn 1977), K. Bleuler, H.R. Petry and A. Reetz, eds. (Springer, Berlin 1979) pp. 189-216.
- [480] Y. Ne'eman: Gauged and affine quantum gravity, in: To Fulfill a Vision. Jerusalem Einstein Centennial Symposium on Gauge Theories and Unification of Physical Forces, Y. Ne'eman, ed. (Addison-Wesley, Reading, Mass. 1981) pp. 99-114.
- [481] Y. Ne'eman: The theory of world spinors, in: Spinors in Physics and Geometry, Trieste, 11-13 Sept. 1986, A. Trautman and G. Furlan, eds. (World Scientific, Singapore 1987) pp. 313-346.
- [482] Y. Ne'eman: Particle-field algebraic interplay and GL(4, R), in: Spacetime Symmetries, Proc. of Intern. Symposium in Commemoration of the 50th anniversary of E.P. Wigner's Fundamental Paper on the Inhomogeneous Lorentz Group (College Park, MD, USA 1988), also Nuclear Physics B (Proc. Suppl.) 6 (1989) 96-101.
- [483] Y. Ne'eman: A parallelism between quantum gravity and the IR limit in QCD (Emergence of hadron and nuclear symmetries), in: Symmetries in Physics, A.B. Frank and K.B. Wolf, eds. (Springer, Berlin 1992).
- [484] Y. Ne'eman and E. Eizenberg: Membranes and Other Extendons (World Scientific, Singapore 1994/95) in press.
- [485] Y. Ne'eman and M. Gell-Mann: Unification through supergravity, Aspen Institute June 1976 lecture (unpublished).
- [486] Y. Ne'eman, F.W. Hehl, and E.W. Mielke: The generalized Erlangen program and setting a geometry for fourdimensional conformal fields, in: Mathematical Physics in the XXIst Century, Proc. Intern. Conf. Beer Sheva, March 1993, R.N. Sen and A. Gersten, eds. (Ben Gurion Univ. of the Negev Press, Beer Sheva 1994) pp. 59-73.
- [487] Y. Ne'eman and C.-Y. Lee: Closing in on a renormalizable and unitary point-local quantum field theory of gravity, in Quantum Coherence, Proc. Conf. on Fundamental Aspects of Quantum Theory, Univ. of South Carolina 1989, J.S. Anandan, ed. (World Scientific, Singapore 1991).
- [488] Y. Ne'eman and T. Regge: Gravity and supergravity as gauge theories on a group manifold, Phys. Lett. B74 (1978) 54-56; Gauge theory of gravity and supergravity on a group manifold, Riv. Nuovo Cimento 1 N5, Ser. 3 (1978) pp. 1-42.
- [489] Y. Ne'eman and T. Sherry: Graded spin-extension of the algebra of volume-preserving deformation, Phys. Lett. B76 (1978) 413-416.
- [490] Y. Ne'eman and Dj. Šijački: Unified affine gauge theory of gravity and strong interactions with finite and infinite $\overline{GL}(4, R)$ spinor fields, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 120 (1979) 292.
- [491] Y. Ne'eman and Dj. Šijački: Minimal and centered graded spin-extensions of the SL(3, R) algebra, J. Math. Phys. 21 (1980) 1312-1318.
- [492] Y. Ne'eman and Dj. Šijački: $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ classification for hadrons, Phys. Lett. 157B (1985) 267.
- [493] Y. Ne'eman and Dj. Šijački: SL(4, R) world spinors and gravity, Phys. Lett. 157B (1985) 275; (E) 160B (1985) 431.
- [494] Y. Ne'eman and Dj. Šijački: Spinors for superstrings in a generic curved space and Superstrings in a generic supersymmetric curved space, Phys. Lett. B174 (1986) 165 and 171.
- [495] Y. Ne'eman and Dj. Šijački: GL(4, R) group-topology, covariance and curved-space spinors, Intern. J. Mod. Phys. A2 (1987) 1655-1668.
- [496] Y. Ne'eman and Dj. Šijački: Gravity from symmetry breakdown of a gauge affine theory. Phys. Lett. 200B (1988) 489-494.
- [497] Y. Ne'eman and Dj. Šijački; Curved space-time and supersymmetry treatments for p-extendons, Phys. Lett. 206B (1988) 458-462.
- [498] Y. Ne'eman and Dj. Šijački: Hadrons in an $\overline{SL}(4, R)$ classification, Phys. Rev. D37 (1988) 3267.
- [499] Y. Ne'eman and Dj. Šijački: Proof of pseudo-gravity as QCD approximation for the hadrons IR region and $J \sim M^2$ Regge trajectories, Phys. Lett. B276 (1992) 173.
- [500] Y. Ne'eman and Dj. Šijački: Chromogravity: QCD-induced diffeomorphisms, preprint TAUP N232, Tel-Aviv University (1993).
- [501] Y. Ne'eman and Dj. Šijački: Hadron and nuclear spectroscopy in the light of QCD, Rev. Mod. Phys., to be published (1995/96).
- [502] Y. Ne'eman, E. Takasugi, and J. Thierry-Mieg: Soft-group-manifold Becchi-Rouet-Stora transformations and unitarity for gravity, supergravity, and extensions, Phys. Rev. D22 (1980) 2371.

- [503] E.T Newman, E. Couch, K. Chinnapared, A. Exton, A. Prakash, and R. Torrence: Metric of a rotating, charged mass. J. Math. Phys. 6 (1965) 918-919.
- [504] J.M. Nester: Gravity, torsion and gauge theory, in: Introduction to Kaluza-Klein theories, H.C. Lee, ed. (World Scientific, Singapore 1984) pp. 83-115.
- [505] LM. Nester: The Gravitational Hamiltonian, in: Asymptotic Behavior of Mass and Spacetime Geometry, FJ. Flaherty, ed., Lecture Notes in Physics (Springer, Berlin) 202 (1984) 155-163.
- [506] J.M. Nester: Lectures on gravitational gauge theory, Hsinchu School on Gravitation, Relativity and Cosmology, Hsinchu, Taiwan, 11-13 Nov. 1989.
- [507] J.M. Nester: Special orthonormal frames and energy localization, Class. Quantum Grav. 8 (1991) L19.
- [508] J.M. Nester: A covariant Hamiltonian for gravity theories, Mod. Phys. Lett. A6 (1991) 2655-2661.
- [509] J.M. Nester: Special orthonormal frames, J. Math. Phys. 33 (1992) 910.
- [510] J.M. Nester: Some progress in classical canonical gravity, in Directions in General Relativity, Proc. of the 1993 International Symposium, Maryland, Vol. I, Papers in honor of Charles Misner, edited by B. L. Hu, M. P. Ryan, and C. V. Vishveshwara (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1993) pp. 245-260.
- [511] J.M. Nester and J. Isenberg; Torsion singularities, Phys. Rev. D15 (1977) 2078-2087.
- [512] U.H. Niederer and L. O'Raifeartaigh: Realizations of the unitary representations of the inhomogeneous space-time groups I. General structure; II. Covariant relizations of the Poincaré group, Fortschr. Phys. 22 (1974) 111-129, 131-157.
- [513] J. Niederle: On gauge formulations of gravitation theories, in: Gauge Theories of Fundamental Interactions, Proc. of the XXXII Semester in the Stefan Banach Intern. Math. Center, Warsaw, Poland, 19 Sept.- 3 Dec. 1988, M. Pawłowski and R. Raczka, eds. (World Scientific, Singapore 1990) p. 329.
- [514] H.T. Nieh: Gauss-Bonnet and Bianchi identities in Riemann-Cartan type gravitational theories, J. Math. Phys. 21 (1980) 1439.
- [515] H.T. Nieh: A spontaneously broken conformal gauge theory of gravitation, Phys. Lett. 88A (1982) 388.
- [516] H.T. Nieh and M.L. Yan: An identity in Riemann-Cartan geometry, J. Math. Phys. 23 (1982) 373.
- [517] H. Nielsen, in: Proc. 15th Intern. Conf. High Energy Physics (Kiev 1970).
- [518] H.P. Nielsen and P. Olesen: Vortex-line models for dual strings, Nucl. Phys. B61 (1973) 45.
- [519] H.P. Nietsen and I. Picek: Lorentz non-invariance, Nucl. Phys. B211 (1983) 269.
- [520] I. Nikolić: Constraint algebra from local Poincaré symmetry, Gen. Rel. Grav. 24 (1992) 159.
- [521] M. Nishioka: Weyl's gauge field and its behavior, Fortschr. Phys. 33 (1985) 241.
- [522] J. Nitsch: The macroscopic limit of the Poincaré gauge field theory of gravitation, in: Proc. of the 6th Course of the School of Cosmology and Gravitation on Spin, Torsion, Rotation, and Supergravity, held at Erice, Italy, May 1979, P.G. Bergmann, V. de Sabbata, eds. (Plenum Press, New York 1980) pp. 63-91.
- [523] J. Nitsch and F.W. Hehl: Translational gauge theory of gravity: Post-Newtonian approximation and spin precession, Phys. Lett. B90 (1980) 98-102.
- [524] J. Nitsch and J. Hennig: Die Fernparallelismus-Theorie eine alternative makroskopische Gravitationstheorie, in: Grundlagenprobleme der modernen Physik, Festschrift für P. Mittelstaedt, J. Nitsch et al., eds. (Bibliographisches Institut, Mannheim 1981) pp. 153-188.
- [525] L.K. Norris, R.O. Fulp, and W.R. Davies: Underlying fibre bundle structure of A(4) gauge theories, Phys. Lett. 79A (1980) 278.
- [526] Yu.V. Novozhilov and D.V. Vassilevich: Induced quantum conformal gravity, Phys. Lett. B220 (1989) 36.
- [527] J.F. Nye: Physical Properties of Crystals, 2nd ed. (Clarendon Press, Oxford 1985) see pp. 315-317.
- [528] Yu. N. Obukhov: Conformal invariance and space-time torsion, Phys. Lett. 90A (1982) 13-16.
- [529] Yu. N. Obukhov: The Palatini principle for manifold with boundary, Class. Quantum Grav. 4 (1987) 1085.
- [530] Yu.N. Obukhov: On conformal transformations in metric-affine gravity, to be published.
- [531] Yu.N. Obukhov and P.I. Pronin: Renormalization of gauge field theories in Riemann-Cartan spacetime. I. Abelian models, Acta Phys. Polon. B19 (1988) 341-359.
- [532] Yu.N. Obukhov and R. Tresguerres: Hyperfluid a model of classical matter with hypermomentum, Phys. Lett. A184 (1993) 17-22.
- [533] V.I. Ogievetsky: Infinite-dimensional algebra of general convariance group as the closure of finite-dimensional algebras of conformal and linear groups, Lettere al Nuovo Cimento 8 (1973) 988-990.

- [534] V.I. Ogievetsky and E. Sokatchev: Primitive representations of the SL(3, R) algebra, Teor. Mat. Fiz. 23 (1975) 462-466.
- [535] S. Okubo: A BRST-like operator for space with zero curvature but non-zero torsion tensor, Gen. Rel, Grav. 23 (1991) 599.
- [536] S. Okubo: Existence of gauge field in any partially integrable systems, J. Math. Phys. 33 (1992) 2148.
- [537] K. A. Olive: Inflation, Phys. Rep. 190 (1990) 307.
- [538] M. Omote: Scale transformations of the second kind and the Weyl space-time, Lettere al Nuovo Cimento 2 (1971) 58.
- [539] L. O'Raifeartaigh: Mass-splitting theorem for non-unitary group representations, Phys. Rev. 161 (1967) 1571.
- [540] L. O'Raifeartaigh: Hidden gauge symmetry, Rep. Progr. Phys. 42 (1979) 159.
- [541] L. O'Raifeartaigh: Group Structure of Gauge Theories (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1986).
- [542] L. O'Raifeartaigh: Some hidden aspects of hidden symmetry, in: Differential Geometry, Group Representations, and Quantization. J.D. Hennig, W. Lücke, and J. Tolar, eds., Lecture Notes in Physics (Springer, Berlin) 379 (1991) 99-108.
- [543] A. Pais: Subtle is the Lord... The Science and the Life of Albert Einstein (Clarendon Press, Oxford 1982).
- [544] G. Papini and M. Weiss: Exact conformally flat solutions of Einstein equations for neutral superfluids, Phys. Lett. A89 (1982) 329.
- [545] L. Parker: Conformal energy-momentum tensor in Riemannian space-time, Phys. Rev. D7 (1973) 976.
- [546] J. Patera, R.T. Sharp, P. Winternitz, and H. Zassenhaus: Invariants of real low dimensional Lie algebras, J. Math. Phys. 17 (1976) 986.
- [547] W. Pauli: Zur Theorie der Gravitation und der Elektrizität von Hermann Weyl, Phys. Zeitschr. 20 (1919) 457.
- [548] W. Pauli: Merkurperihelbewegung und Strahlenablenkung in Weyls Gravitationstheorie, Verhandl. Deut. Physik. Ges. 21 (1919) 742.
- [549] R. Pavelle: Yang's gravitational field equations, Phys. Rev. Lett. 33 (1974) 1461.
- [550] M. Pawłowski and R. Raczka: A unified conformal model for fundamental interactions without dynamical Higgs field Found. Phys. 24 (1994) 1305-1327.
- [551] O. Pekonen: The Einstein field equation in a multidimensional universe, Gen. Rel. Grav. 20 (1988) 667.
- [552] R. Penrose: Quasi-local mass and angular momentum in general relativity, Proc. Roy. Soc. (London) A381 (1982) 53.
- [553] R. Penrose: Spinors and torsion in general relativity, Found. Phys. 13 (1983) 325.
- [554] R. Penrose: Mass in general relativity, in: Global Riemannian Geometry, T.J. Willmore and N.J. Hitchin, eds. (Ellis Horwood Limited, New York 1984) p. 203.
- [555] R. Penrose and W. Rindler: Spinors in Spacetime, 2 Volumes (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1984).
- [556] R. Percacci: The Higgs phenomenon in quantum gravity, Nucl. Phys. B353 (1991) 271-290.
- [557] C.M. Pereira: New commutator identities on the Riemann tensor, J. Math. Phys. 15 (1974) 269.
- [558] J. Pérez-Mercader: Quantum corrections help Einstein gravity exit graciously, Mod. Phys. Lett. A6 (1991) 861.
- [559] M. Perroud: The fundamental invariants of inhomogeneous classical groups, J. Math. Phys. 24 (1983) 1381.
- [560] M.J. Perry and E. Teo: Topological conformal gravity in four dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B401 (1993) 206-238.
- [561] K.A. Pilch: Geometrical meaning of the Poincaré group gauge theory, Lett. Math. Phys. 4 (1980) 49.
- [562] M. D. Pollock: Primordial inflation with a broken-symmetry theory of gravity, Nucl. Phys. B277 (1986) 513.
- [563] A. Polyakov: Fine structure of strings, Nucl. Phys. B268 (1986) 406.
- [564] V.N. Ponomariev, A.O. Bravinsky, and Yu.N. Obukhov: Geometrodynamical Methods and Gauge Approach to the Theory of Gravitational Interactions, in Russian (Energoatomisdat, Moscow 1985).
- [565] E.J. Post: Kottler-Cartan-van Dantzig (KCD) and noninertial systems, Found. Phys. 9 (1979) 619-640.
- [566] C. Quigg: Gauge Theories of the Strong, Weak, and Electromagnetic Interactions (Benjamin/Cummings, Reading, Mass. 1983).
- [567] M. Rais: La representation coadjointe du groupe affine, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 28 (1976) 207.
- [568] D. Ranganatan: Charge quantization in a Weyl model, J. Math. Phys. 32 (1991) 735.
- [569] J.R. Ray: A variational derivation of the Bach-Lanczos identity, J. Math. Phys. 19 (1978) 100.
- [570] E. Recami and V. Tonin-Zanchin: The strong coupling constant: Its theoretical derivation from a geometric approach to hadron structure, Found. Phys. Lett. 7 (1994) 85.
- [571] R. Rennie: Geometry and topology of chiral anomalies in gauge theories, Adv. Phys. 39 (1990) 617.

- [572] G. de Rham: Differentiable Manifolds: Forms, Currents, Harmonic Forms, translated from the French, original Paris 1955 (Springer, Berlin 1984).
- [573] R.J. Riegert: Birkhoff's theorem in conformal gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 53 (1984) 515.
- [574] R. de Ritis, G. Marmo, G. Platania, P. Rubano, P. Scudellaro and C. Stomaiolo: New exact solution of equation with considerations upon the cosmological constant, Phys. Lett. A149 (1990) 79.
- [575] R. de Ritis, G. Marmo, G. Platania, P. Rubano, P. Scudellaro and C. Stornaiolo: New approach to find exact solutions for cosmological models with a scalar field, Phys. Rev. D42 (1990) 1091.
- [576] R. de Ritis, G. Platania, P. Scudellaro, and C. Stornaiolo: A cosmological model with a non-minimal coupling, Phys. Lett. A138 (1989) 95.
- [577] G. Rosen: Dilaton field theory and conformally Minkowskian space-time, Phys. Rev. D3 (1971) 615.
- [578] L. Rosenfeld: Sur le tenseur d'impulsion-energie, Mém. Acad. Roy. Belgique, cl. sc. tome 18, fasc. 6 (1940).
- [579] D.J. Rowe: The shell model theory of nuclear collective states, in [68], Vol.1, p. 287.
- [580] H. Rumpf: On the translational part of the Lagrangian in the Poincaré gauge theory of gravitation, Z. Naturf. 33a (1978) 1224.
- [581] V. de Sabbata and M. Gasperini: Introduction to Gravitation (World Scientific, Singapore 1985).
- [582] R.K. Sachs and H. Wu: General Relativity for Mathematicians (Springer, New York 1977).
- [583] L. Sadun and J. Segert: Chern numbers for fermionic quadrupole systems, J. Phys. A22 (1989) L111.
- [584] A.D. Sakharov: Vacuum quantum fluctuations in curved space and the theory of gravitation, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 177 (1967) 70 [Sov. Phys. Dokl. 12 (1968) 1040].
- [585] A.D. Sakharov: Collected Scientific Works, D. ter Haar et al., eds. (M. Dekker, New York 1982) p. 171.
- [586] A.D. Sakharov: Cosmological transitions with changes in the signature of the metric, Sov. Phys. JETP 60 (1984) 214.
- [587] Abdus Salam: On SL(6,C) gauge invariance, in: Fundamental Interactions in Physics, B. Kursunoğlu et al., eds. (Plenum Press, New York 1973) p. 55.
- [588] Abdus Salam and C. Sivaram: Strong gravity approach to QCD and confinement, Mod. Phys. Lett. A8 (1993) 321-326.
- [589] Abdus Salam and J. Strathdee: Nonlinear realizations. I. The role of Goldstone bosons, Phys. Rev. 184 (1969) 1750.
- [590] Abdus Salam and J. Strathdee: Remarks on high-energy stability and renormalizability of gravity theory, Phys. Rev. D18 (1978) 4480.
- [591] V.D. Sandberg: Are torsion theories of gravitation equivalent to metric theories? Phys. Rev. D12 (1975) 3013.
- [592] G. Sardanashvily: Gravity as a Goldstone field in the Lorentz gauge theory, Phys. Lett. 75A (1980) 257.
- [593] G. Sardanashvily and M. Gogbershvily: The dislocation treatment of gauge fields of space-time translations, Mod. Phys. Lett. A2 (1987) 609-616.
- [594] G. Sardanashvily and O. Zakharov: On the Higgs feature of gravity, Pramana 33 (1989) 547.
- [595] B.S. Sathyaprakash, P. Goswami, and K.P. Sinha: Singularity-free cosmology: A simple model, Phys. Rev. D33 (1986) 2196.
- [596] B.S. Sathyaprakash, E.A. Lord and K.P. Sinha: Phase transitions and gravity, Phys. Lett. 105A (1984) 407.
- [597] B.S. Sathyaprakash and K.P. Sinha: Nonsingular cosmological models: the massive scalar field case, Pramãna 30 (1988) 15.
- [598] H. Sawayanagi: Dilatation, specialconformal and superconformal symmetries at finite temperature, Progr. Theor. Phys. 76 (1986) 1109.
- [599] G. Schäfer and H. Dehnen: On the origin of matter in the universe, Astron. & Astrophys. 54 (1977) 823.
- [600] J. Scherk and J.H. Schwarz: Dual models and the geometry of space-time, Phys. Lett. B52 (1974) 347.
- [601] R. Schimming: Cauchy's problem for Bach's equations of general relativity, in: Differential Geometry, Banach Center Publications, Vol.12 (PWN-Polish Sci. Publ., Warsaw 1984) p. 225.
- [602] R. Schimming and H.-J. Schmidt: On the history of fourth order metric theories of gravitation, NTM-Schriftenr. Gesch. Naturw., Technik, Med. (Leipzig) 27 (1990) 41-48.
- [603] E. Schnirman and C.G. Oliveira; Conformal invariance of the equations of motion in curved spaces, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré 17A (1973) 379.
- [604] J.A. Schouten: Dirac equations in general relativity, J. Math. and Phys. 10 (1931) 239.
- [605] J. A. Schouten, Tensor Analysis for Physicists, 2nd ed. (Clarendon Press, Oxford 1954).
- [606] J. A. Schouten, Ricci-Calculus, 2nd ed. (Springer, Berlin 1954).

- [607] E. Schrödinger: Space-Time Structure, reprinted with corrections (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1960).
- [608] B. Schroer: Operator approach to conformal invariant quantum field theories and related problems, Nucl. Phys. B295 (1988) 586.
- [609] E. Schrüfer, F.W. Hehl, and J.D. McCrea: Exterior calculus on the computer: The REDUCE-package EXCALC applied to general relativity and the Poincaré gauge theory, Gen. Rel. Grav. 19 (1987) 197.
- [610] F.E. Schunck, F.V. Kusmartsev, and E.W. Mielke: Stability of charged boson stars and catastrophe theory, in: Approaches to Numerical Relativity, R. d'Inverno, ed. (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1992) pp. 130-140.
- [611] F.E. Schunck and E.W. Mielke: A new method of generating exact inflationary solutions, Phys. Rev. D50 (1994) 4794.
- [612] J.H. Schwarz, ed.: Superstrings, the First 15 Years of Superstring Theory, Volumes I and II (World Scientific, Singapore 1985).
- [613] M. Schweizer and N. Straumann: Poincaré gauge theory of gravitation and the binary pulsar 1913 + 16, Phys. Lett. A71 (1979) 493-495.
- [614] M. Schweizer, N. Straumann, and A. Wipf: Post-Newtonian generation of gravitational waves in a theory of gravity with torsion, Gen. Rel. Grav. 12 (1980) 951-961.
- [615] D.W. Sciama: On the analogy between charge and spin in general relativity, in: Recent Developments of General Relativity (Pergamon, London 1962) p. 415.
- [616] D.W. Sciama: The physical structure of general relativity, Rev. Mod. Phys. 36 (1964) 463-469; 1103(E).
- [617] R.U. Sexl and H.K. Urbantke: Gravitation und Kosmologie, 2nd ed. (Bibliographisches Institut, Mannheim 1983).
- [618] R.U. Sexl and H.K. Urbantke: Relativität, Gruppen, Teilchen, 3rd ed. (Springer, Wien 1987).
- [619] R. Shaw and J. Lever: Irreducible multiplier corepresentations and generalized inducing, Comm. Math. Phys. 38 (1974) 257-277.
- [620] R. Shaw and J. Lever: Irreducible multiplier corepresentations of the extended Poincaré group, Comm. Math. Phys. 38 (1974) 279-297.
- [621] T. Shirafuji and M. Suzuki: Gauge theory of gravitation a unified formulation of Poincaré and (anti-)de Sitter gauge theories — Progr. Theor. Phys. 80 (1988) 711-730.
- [622] K. Shizuya and H. Tsukahara: Path-integral formulation of conformal anomalies, Z. Phys. C31 (1986) 553.
- [623] Dj. Šijački: The unitary irreducible representations of $\overline{SL}(3, R)$, J. Math. Phys. 16 (1975) 298-311.
- [624] Dj. Šijački: Linear groups in particles and gravity (Proc. VIII International Colloquium on Group Theoretical Methods in Physics, Kiryat Anavim, March 1979), Ann. Israel Phys. Soc. 3 (1980) 35.
- [625] Dj. Šijački: Quark confinement and the short-range component of general affine gauge gravity, Phys. Lett. B109 (1982) 435.
- [626] Dj. Šijački: Group and gauge structure of affine theories, in: Frontiers in Particle Physics 1983, Proc. 4th Adriatic Meeting Particle Phys., Dj. Šijački et al., eds. (World Scientific, Singapore 1984) pp. 382-395.
- [627] Dj. Šijački: SL(n, R) spinors for particles, gravity and superstrings, in: Spinors in Physics and Geometry, A.Trautman and G.Furlan, eds. (World Scientific, Singapore 1988) p. 191.
- [628] Dj. Šijački and Y. Ne'eman: Algebra and physics of the unitary multiplicity-free representations of $\overline{SL}(4, R)$, J. Math. Phys. 26 (1985) 2457-2464.
- [629] Dj. Šijački and Y. Ne'eman: QCD as an effective strong gravity, Phys. Lett. B247 (1990) 571.
- [630] Dj. Šijački and Y. Ne'eman: Derivation of the interacting boson model from quantum chromodynamics, Phys. Lett. B250 (1990) 1-5.
- [631] Dj. Šijački and Y. Ne'eman: Hadrons in an SL(4, R) classification. II. Meson and C, P assignment, Phys. Rev. D47 (1993) 4133; especially Secs.II and IV.
- [632] J. Sładkowski: Trace anomaly of the conformal gauge field, Z. Phys. C60 (1993) 695-696.
- [633] R. Slansky: Group theory for unified model building, Phys. Rep. 79 (1981) 1-128.
- [634] J.J. Slawianowski: GL(n, R) as candidate for fundamental symmetry in field theory, Nuovo Cimento 106B (1991) 645-668.
- [635] L.L. Smalley: Variational principle for general relativity with torsion and non-metricity, Physics Letters 61A (1977) 436.
- [636] L.L. Smalley: Volume preserving and conformal transformations in metric-affine gravitational theory, Lett. Nuovo Cimento 24 (1979) 406.

- [637] L.L. Smalley: Post-Newtonian approximation of the Poincaré gauge theory of gravitation, Phys. Rev. D21 (1980) 328-331.
- [638] L.L. Smalley: Brans-Dicke models with nonmetricity, Phys. Rev. D33 (1986) 3590.
- [639] L. Smolin: Towards a theory of spacetime structure at very short distances, Nucl. Phys. B160 (1979) 253.
- [640] L. Smolin: High-energy behavior and second class constraints in quantum gravity, Nucl. Phys. B257 (1984) 511.
- [641] P.K. Smrz: Construction of space-time by gauge translations, J. Math. Phys. 28 (1987) 2824.
- [642] E. Snapper and R.J. Troyer: Metric Affine Geometry (Academic Press, New York 1971).
- [643] M.F. Sohnius: Soft gauge algebras, Z. Phys. C18 (1983) 229.
- [644] J. Solà: The cosmological constant and the fate of the cosmon in Weyl conformal gravity, Phys. Lett. B228 (1989) 317.
- [645] H.H. Soleng: Generalised affine geometry and algebraically extended relativity a new approach to spin-torsion coupling, Class. Quantum Grav. 6 (1989) 785.
- [646] H.H. Soleng: Torsion vector and variable G, Gen. Rel. Grav. 23 (1991) 1089-1112.
- [647] S.N. Solodukhin: Topological 2D Riemann-Cartan-Weyl gravity, Class. Quantum Grav. 10 (1993) 1011.
- [648] B. Speh: The unitary dual of Gl(3, R) and Gl(4, R), Mathematische Annalen 258 (1981) 113.
- [649] A.A. Starobinsky and H.-J. Schmidt: On a general vacuum solution of fourth-order gravity, Class. Quantum Grav. 4 (1987) 695.
- [650] D. Stauffer, F.W. Hehl, N. Ito, V. Winkelmann, and J.G. Zabolitzky: Computer Simulation and Computer Algebra Lectures for Beginners. 3rd ed. (Springer, Berlin 1993).
- [651] P.J. Steinhardt: Recent advances in extended inflationary cosmology, Class. Quantum Grav. 10 (1993) S33-S48.
- [652] K.S. Stelle: Renormalization of higher-derivative quantum gravity, Phys. Rev. D16 (1977) 953.
- [653] K.S. Stelle and P.C. West: Spontaneously broken de Sitter symmetry and the gravitational holonomy group, Phys. Rev. D21 (1980) 1466.
- [654] G. Stephenson: Quadratic Lagrangians in general relativity, Nuovo Cimento 9 (1958) 263.
- [655] S. Sternberg: Symplectic Homogeneous Spaces, Trans. Americ. Math. Soc. 212 (1975) 113.
- [656] S. Sternberg: The interaction of spin and torsion. II. The principle of general covariance, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 162 (1985) 85.
- [657] T.E. Stewart, Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 11 (1960) 559.
- [658] D.Tz. Stoyanov and I.T. Todorov: Majorana representations of the Lorentz group and infinite-component fields, J. Math. Phys. 9 (1968) 2146.
- [659] N. Straumann: Cosmology and particle physics, Helv. Phys. Acta 60 (1987) 9-39.
- [660] E.C.G. Stueckelberg: Violation of parity conservation and general relativity, Phys. Rev. 106 (1957) 388.
- [661] M. Sué: Involutive systems of differential equations: Einstein's strength versus Cartan's degré d'arbitraire, J. Math. Phys. 32 (1991) 392.
- [662] M. Sué and E.W. Mielke: Strength of the Poincaré gauge field equations in first order formalism, Phys. Lett. A139 (1989) 21.
- [663] L. Susskind: Dual-symmetric theory of hadrons. I, Nuovo Cimento 69 (1970) 457.
- [664] S.T. Swift: Natural bundles. I. A minimal resolution of superspace; II. Spin and the diffeomorphism group; III. Resolving the singularities in the space of immersed submanifolds. J. Math. Phys. 33 (1992) 3723-3730; 34 (1993) 3825-3840; 3841-3855.
- [665] L.B. Szabados: Canonical pseudotensors, Sparling's form and Noether currents, Class. Quantum Grav. 9 (1992) 2521-2541.
- [666] W. Szczyrba: Hamiltonian dynamics of gauge theories of gravity, Phys. Rev. D25 (1982) 2548.
- [667] S. Takagi: Vacuum noise and stress induced by uniform acceleration. Progr. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 88 (1986) 1-142.
- [668] W. Talebaoui: Theory of self-interacting scalar fields and gravitation, Mod. Phys. Lett. A8 (1993) 2053-2060.
- [669] V.E. Tarasov: Bosonic string in affine-metric curved space, Phys. Lett. B323 (1994) 296.
- [670] H.-P. Thienel: BRST approach to translational symmetry and the geometry of flat manifolds with torsion, Gen. Rel. Grav. 25 (1993) 483.
- [671] J. Thierry-Mieg and Y. Ne'eman: Extended geometric supergravity on group manifolds with spontaneous fibration, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 123 (1979) 247.
- [672] W. Thirring: Gauge theories of gravitation, in: Facts and Prospects of Gauge Theories, P. Urban, ed. (Springer, Wien 1978) p. 439.

- [673] W. Thirring: Gauge theories of gravitation, Lecture Notes in Physics (Springer, Berlin) Vol. 116 (1980) pp. 272-275.
- [674] W. Thirring: Classical Field Theory, A Course in Mathematical Physics 2, 2nd ed. (Springer, New York 1986).
- [675] W. Thomson: On vortex atoms, Phil. Mag. 34 (1867) 15-24.
- [676] S.C. Tiwari: Scalar field in gravitational theory, Phys. Lett. A142 (1989) 460.
- [677] K.P. Tod: Penrose's quasi-local mass, in: Twistors in Mathematics and Physics, T. N. Bailey and R. J. Baston, eds. (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1990) pp. 164–188.
- [678] K.P. Tod: Conical singularities and torsion, Class. Quantum Grav. 11 (1994) 1331-1339.
- [679] E.T. Tomboulis: Renormalization and asymptotic freedom in quantum gravity, in Quantum Theory of Gravity, S.M. Christensen, ed. (Adam Hilger, Bristol 1984) p. 251.
- [680] M.-A. Tonnelat: Les théories unitaires de l'électromagnétisme et de la gravitation (Gauthier-Villars, Paris 1965).
- [681] A. Trautman: Fibre bundles associated with space-time, Reports on Mathematical Physics 1 (1970) 29.
- [682] A. Trautman: On the Einstein-Cartan equations I-IV, Bull. Acad. Pol. Sci., Ser. Sci. Math. Astron. Phys. 20 (1972) 185, 503, 895; 21 (1973) 345.
- [683] A. Trautman: On the structure of the Einstein-Cartan equations, in: Differential Geometry, Symposia Mathematica Vol. 12 (Academic Press, London 1973) p. 139.
- [684] A. Trautman: The geometry of gauge fields, Czech. J. Phys. B29 (1979) 107.
- [685] A. Trautman: Fiber bundles, gauge fields, and gravitation, in General Relativity and Gravitation. One Hundred Years after the Birth of Albert Einstein, A. Held, ed., Vol. 1, Chap. 9 (Plenum, New York 1980) pp. 287-308.
- [686] A. Trautman: Differential Geometry for Physicists, Stony Brook Lectures (Bibliopolis, Napoli 1984).
- [687] R. Tresguerres: An exact solution of (2+1)-dimensional topological gravity in metric-affine spacetime, Phys. Lett. A168 (1992) 174-178.
- [688] R. Tresguerres: Topological gravity in a 3-dimensional metric-affine space, J. Math. Phys. 33 (1992) 4231-4238.
- [689] R. Tresguerres: Exact vacuum solutions of 4-dimensional metric-affine gauge theories of gravitation, submitted to Z. Phys. C (1994).
- [690] R. Tresguerres: Exact static vacuum solution of 4-dimensional metric-affine gravity with nontrivial torsion, Phys. Lett. A, submitted (1994).
- [691] R. Tresguerres: Weyl-Cartan model for the non-massive cosmological eras with a dilatedly polarized vacuum, Phys. Lett. A, submitted (1994).
- [692] C. Truesdell and R.A. Toupin: The Classical Field Theories, in: Handbuch der Physik, S. Flügge ed., Vol. III/t (Springer, Berlin 1960) p. 226.
- [693] N.C. Tsamis and R.P. Woodard: No new physics in conformal scalar-metric theory, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 168 (1986) 457.
- [694] A.A. Tseytlin: Poincaré and de Sitter gauge theories of gravity with propagation torsion, Phys. Rev. D26 (1982) 3327.
- [695] N. Turok and D.N. Spergel: Scaling solution for cosmological σ models at large N, Phys. Rev. Lett. 66 (1991) 3093.
- [696] L.F. Urrutia and J.D. Vergara: Consistent coupling of the gravitino field to a gravitational background with torsion, Phys. Rev. D44 (1991) 3882-3886.
- [697] R. Utiyama: On Weyl's gauge field, Progr. Theor. Phys. 50 (1973) 2080.
- [698] R. Utiyama: Introduction to the theory of general gauge fields, Prog. Theor. Phys. 64 (1980) 2207.
- [699] G. Veneziano: Construction of a crossing-symmetric, Regge-behaved amplitude for linearly rising trajectories, Nuovo Cimento 57A (1968) 190.
- [700] Y. Verbin: Spontaneous symmetry breaking in the presence of gravitational fields, Nucl. Phys. B272 (1986) 739.
- [701] A. Vilenkin: Gravitational field of vacuum domain walls and strings, Phys. Rev. D23 (1981) 852.
- [702] D.A. Vogan, Jr.: Representations of Real Reductive Lie Groups (Birkhäuser, Boston, Mass. 1981).
- [703] R.V. Wagoner: Scalar-tensor theory and gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D1 (1970) 3209-3216.
- [704] R.P. Wallner: Feldtheorie im Formenkalkül, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Vienna (1982).
- [705] R.P. Waltner: On hyperbolic U_4 manifolds with local duality, Acta Phys. Austriaca 55 (1983) 67–87.
- [706] R.P. Wallner: On the structure of gravitational U_4 -field equations, Gen. Rel. Grav. 17 (1985) 1081.
- [707] R.P. Wallner: New variables in gravity theories, Phys. Rev. D42 (1990) 441.
- [708] O.L. Weaver and L.C. Biedenham: Nuclear rotational bands and SL(3, R) symmetry, Phys. Lett. 32B (1970) 326.

- [709] E.J. Weinberg: Vacuum decay in theories with symmetry breaking by radiative corrections, Phys. Rev. D47 (1993) 4614.
- [710] S. Weinberg: Ultraviolet divergencies in quantum theories of gravitation, in: General Relativity. An Einstein Centennary Survey, S.W. Hawking and W. Israel, eds. (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge 1979) p. 790.
- [711] S. Weinberg: Elementary Differential Geometry from a Generalized Standpoint, in: Physics in Higher Dimensions, Vol.2, T. Piran and S. Weinberg, eds. Jerusalem Winter School for Theoretical Physics (Dec. 1984 Jan. 1985 session) (World Scientific, Singapore 1985) pp. 160-203; see, in particular, the Appendix.
- [712] S. Weinberg: The cosmological constant problem, Rev. Mod. Phys. 61 (1989) 1.
- [713] J. Wess: Conformal invariance and the energy-momentum tensor, Springer Tracts in Modern Physics, G. Höhler, ed., Vol. 60 (Springer, Berlin 1971) p. 1.
- [714] G.B. West: Scale and dimension From animals to quarks, Los Alamos Science No. 11 (1984) 2.
- [715] C. Wetterich: Cosmology and the fate of dilatation symmetry, Nucl. Phys. B302 (1988) 668.
- [716] H. Weyl: Gravitation und Elektrizität, Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (1918) p. 465.
- [717] H. Weyl: Raum, Zeit, Materie, Vorlesungen über Allgemeine Relativitätstheorie, reprint of the 5th ed. of 1923 (Wissenschaftliche Buchges., Darmstadt, 1961). Engl. translation of the 4th ed.: Space-Time-Matter (Dover Publ., New York 1952).
- [718] H. Weyl: Gravitation and the electron, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. (USA) 15 (1929) 323; Elektron und Gravitation. I. Z. Phys. 56 (1929) 330.
- [719] H. Weyl: Geometrie und Physik, Naturwissenschaften 19 (1931) 49.
- [720] J.A. Wheeler: Hermann Weyl and the unity of knowledge, in: Exact Sciences and their Philosophical Foundations

 Vorträge des Internationalen Hermann-Weyl-Kongresses, Kiel 1985, W. Deppert, K. Hübner, A. Oberschelp, and V. Weidemann, eds. (P. Lang Verlag, Frankfurt a. M. 1988) pp. 469-503.
- [721] J.T. Wheeler: Measurement in Weyl geometry, Phys. Rev. D41 (1990) 431.
- [722] A. Widom and Y.N. Srivastava, N. Redington: Weyl cosmic strings and their consequences, Phys. Rev. D48 (1993) 554-556.
- [723] Chr. Wiesendanger: Translational gauge invariance and classical gravitodynamics, Preprint ZU-TH-12/94, University of Zürich (1994).
- [724] E. Wigner: On unitary representations of the inhomogeneous Lorentz group, Ann. of Math. 40 (1939) 149.
- [725] Y.-S. Wu: Chern-Simons topological Lagrangians in odd dimensions and their Kaluza-Klein reduction, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 156 (1984) 194.
- [726] V. Wünsch: On conformally invariant differential operators, Math. Nachr. 129 (1986) 269.
- [727] B.-W. Xu: On conformally covariant energy-momentum tensor and vacuum solutions, in: Conformal Groups and Related Symmetries. Physical Results and Mathematical Background, Proc. Symposium held at the A. Sommerfeld Inst. for Math. Phys. (ASI), Clausthal, 12-14 August 1985, A.O. Barut and H.-D. Doebner, eds., Lecture Notes in Physics Vol. 261 (Springer, Berlin 1986) p. 111.
- [728] C.N. Yang: Integral formalism for gauge fields, Phys. Rev. Lett. 33 (1974) 445.
- [729] K. Yano: Integral Formulas in Differential Geometry (Marcel Dekker, New York 1970).
- [730] P. Yasskin: Metric-connection theories of gravity, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Maryland (1979).
- [731] J.H. Yoon and D.R. Brill: Inflation from extra dimensions, Class. Quantum Grav. 7 (1990) 1253-1260.
- [732] J.W. York: Boundary terms in action principles of general relativity, Found. Phys. 16 (1986) 249-257.
- [733] A. Zee: Spontaneously generated gravity, Phys. Rev. D23 (1981) 858.
- [734] A. Zee: Einstein gravity emerging from quantum Weyl gravity, Ann. Phys. (N.Y.) 151 (1983) 431.
- [735] Ya.B. Zel'dovich and I.D. Novikov: Physical limitations on the topology of the universe, JETP Letters 6 (1967) 236-238.
- [736] C. Zhang and F. Chen: Torsion singularity in Weitzenbock spacetime, Preprint Hebei Institute of Technology, Tianjin, P.R.China (1994).

References added in proof

[737] V.V. Zhytnikov: Conformally invariant Lagrangian in metric-affine and Riemann-Cartan spaces, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A8 (1993) 514.

- [738] Yu.N. Obukhov, S.N. Sołodukhin, and E.W. Mielke: Coupling of lineal Poincaré gauge gravity to scalar fields, Class. Quantum Grav. 11 (1994) 3069-3079.
- [739] A. Macías, E.W. Mielke, and H.A. Morales-Técotl: Gravitational-geometric phases and translations, in: New Frontiers in Gravitation. GSardanashvily and R. Santilli, eds. (Hadronic Press, Inc., to be published 1995).
- [740] A. Macías, E.W. Mielke, H.A. Morales-Técotl, and R. Tresguerres: Projectively invariant metric-affine models of gravity, in: New Frontiers in Gravitation. G. Sardanashvily and R. Santilli, eds. (Hadronic Press, Inc., to be published 1995).